Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

The Perception of Sweet, Bitter and Fatty Acid Taste and Sensitivity to Fat by Mouthfeel and Olfaction: Associations with Dietary Intake, Eating Behaviour and Obesity in Premenopausal Women

A thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Nutritional Science

> At Massey University, Albany, New Zealand

Sophie Jane Kindleysides

2019

Abstract

Background

Individual variability in taste perception may influence diet, possibly modifying eating behaviour and long-term food choice. Research into taste perception and weight status, dietary intake, eating behaviour and endocrine regulators of metabolic health could provide new important insights. Taste perception may be modifiable, and as such may be a target for future intervention strategies which may have the potential to prevent or treat obesity.

Objectives

The aims of this study were to determine associations between (1) fatty acid taste, olfaction, mouthfeel of fat, dietary intake, eating behaviour and body mass index (BMI), and (2) associations between taste perception of glucose (sweet taste), quinine (bitter taste) and milk (fat perception) with body composition and hormonal adiposity signals (fasting insulin and leptin), dietary intake and eating behaviour.

Design

For the first cross-sectional study, 50 premenopausal women assessed oleic acid taste and olfaction thresholds. BMI was calculated from weight (kg) and height (m). Dietary intake and eating behaviour were evaluated using a food frequency and three-factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ), respectively. Binomial regression analysis was used to model fatty acid taste and olfaction data and fatty acid taster status was determined (hypersensitive, n= 22; hyposensitive, n= 28).

For the second cross-sectional study (the PROMISE study), 351 premenopausal Pacific and New Zealand (NZ) European women were recruited and stratified by non-obese and obese groups. Suprathreshold intensity, hedonic liking, and discrimination of taste by a ranking task were measured using a range of concentrations of sweet, bitter, and fat solutions. Participants were classified as likers or dislikers for each tastant using a hierarchical cluster analysis. Body fat (BF) was quantified by dual x-ray absorptiometry. Total energy and macronutrient intake were assessed using a 5-day estimated food record and eating behaviour was assessed by TFEQ. Socioeconomic status was measured by deprivation index (NZDep2013). Logistic and linear regression analyses were used to analyse study outcomes and to adjust for potential confounders (socioeconomic position, age, etc). Both studies were undertaken in Auckland, NZ.

Outcomes

The results of the first study showed taste and olfactory detection for oleic acid were positively correlated (r= 0.325; P< 0.02). The eating behaviour disinhibition and BMI were higher in women who were hyposensitive to oleic acid taste (P< 0.05).

The PROMISE study showed women who incorrectly discriminated sweet taste by ranking task were nearly three times more likely to have >35 BF% (adjusted, OR 2.9, P< 0.01). Cluster analysis revealed distinct patterns of liking for each tastant. NZ European sweet likers were twice as likely to have >35 BF% compared to sweet dislikers (adjusted, OR 2.1, P< 0.05), however, this comparison was not significant in Pacific women. Conversely, bitter likers had a decreased likelihood of having >35 BF% in comparison to bitter dislikers (adjusted, OR 0.4, P< 0.01). Having higher fasting plasma leptin concentration significantly increased the likelihood of being a sweet liker in Pacific and in NZ European combined (adjusted; OR 1.7, P< 0.05), but in NZ European women, the likelihood of this was further increased (adjusted; OR 3.6, P< 0.001). Higher fasting plasma insulin concentration also increased the likelihood of being a sweet liker (adjusted, OR 1.7, P< 0.05).

New Zealand European sweet likers had a significantly higher intake of carbohydrates, all sugars and starch (199.4 \pm 51.1, 87.9 \pm 27.4 and 111.1 \pm 34.6 g/day) when compared to sweet taste dislikers (165.9 \pm 48.7, 71.4 \pm 25.2 and 94.1 \pm 34.7 g/day, P< 0.001, P< 0.01, and P< 0.01, respectively), however, this comparison was not significant in Pacific

women. NZ European women in the sweet likers group had an increased disinhibited eating behaviour score (P < 0.01).

Conclusions

Fatty acid taste perception was found to be associated with olfaction, eating behaviour and body composition. The findings from the PROMISE study have shown differences in sweet taste perception in relation to adiposity which is further associated with circulating plasma leptin and insulin concentrations. Sweet taste perception was associated with dietary intake and eating behaviour in NZ European women. The tastediet associations observed in NZ European women were not observed in Pacific women. Therefore, population groups with lower metabolic disease risk may have dissimilar taste-diet associations compared to those with a higher metabolic disease risk. Taste perception is a promising target for future weight-loss and intervention strategies due to demonstrating links with dietary intake, eating behaviour and body composition.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people who contributed to making the completion of this thesis possible. To my Massey University primary supervisor Professor Bernhard H Breier, many thanks for your knowledge and expertise throughout my PhD journey. I would also like to thank Dr Kathryn Beck and Associate Professor Rozanne Kruger and for their support, guidance and advice. A very special thank you to Professor Jeroen Douwes and Dr Marine Corbin for their generous input and enthusiasm. Thank you to all our study participants. Thank you to the Health Research Council (HRC) and Massey University for funding towards these research projects.

I would like to thank Lisa Henderson for her contribution to the Dessert Taste Study. Additional thanks to Shakeela Jayasinghe, Guojiao (Maggie) Cao and Shivon Singh. Thank you all for being so easy to work with. Thank you to Niamh Brennan, our PROMISE study trial coordinator for all the hard work and dedication. Also thank you to Moana Manukia, for your hard work and commitment throughout the recruitment process. Malo 'aupito. My heartfelt gratitude to Nikki Renall and Jo Slater. Thank you for your dedication and friendship, and for being the best study colleagues one could ever ask for.

I would also like to thank Sherina Holland. You are an amazing friend and I am so delighted to have had a PhD candidate 'twin'. You have such a fun, warm and energetic nature. You always brighten my day! I would also like to thank Owen Mugridge, Cassie Slade, Cameron Haswell, Janice Lim, Anne Hiol and PC Tong for being so encouraging.

I would like to express my warmest love and gratitude to my family – Rosalie, Verity, Jeremy, Sienna and Alyssa. To my wonderful husband Dan. Thank you for your unconditional love, understanding and support. And finally, to my amazing and loving parents, Ted and Ilsa. This thesis is dedicated to you both.

Table of Contents

Abstract1
Acknowledgements
Table of Contents
List of Tables16
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations
Researcher's contribution to the thesis
Chapter I. Introduction
1.1. Background
1.1.1. Taste perception
1.1.2. Taste perception and dietary intake
1.2. Taste perception and metabolic health
1.2.1. Linking taste perception, dietary intake and metabolic health36
1.2.2. Sweet and fatty acid taste perception and obesity
1.3. The link between taste perception and metabolic health consequences 38
1.3.1. Significance of research (conducted in my PhD programme) 39
1.4. Study aims and objectives
1.4.1. Primary aim41
1.4.2. Specific objectives41
1.4.3. Structure of the thesis
1.5. References
Chapter II. Literature review
2.1. OVERVIEW

2.1.1. DETERMINANTS OF FOOD CHOICE	53
2.1.1.1. Society	54
2.1.1.2. Social environment and community	55
2.1.1.3. Individual factors	56
2.2. SENSORY PERCEPTION	58
2.2.1. MULTIMODAL SENSORY PERCEPTION - AN OVERVIEW	58
2.2.1.1. Sensory perception and the digestive system	59
2.2.2. TASTE	60
2.2.2.1. Basic taste physiology	61
2.2.2.2. Tongue, fungiform papillae and taste cell types	61
2.2.2.3. G-protein coupled receptors and taste physiology	62
2.2.2.4. Sweet taste	62
2.2.2.5. Salt taste	63
2.2.2.6. Bitter taste	63
2.2.2.7. Umami taste	64
2.2.2.8. Sour taste	64
2.2.2.9. Fatty acid taste	65
2.2.3. OLFACTION	67
2.2.3.1. Olfaction pathways and physiology	67
2.2.3.2. Olfactory-based fat discrimination	68
2.2.4. MOUTHFEEL / TEXTURE	68
2.2.4.1. Mouthfeel physiology	68
2.2.4.2. Mouthfeel-based fat and sugar discrimination	70
2.2.5. REGULATORS OF METABOLIC HEALTH AND DIGESTIVE	Ξ
PHYSIOLOGY	71

 2.2.5.2. Signalling and interactions of the enteroendocrine system	2.2.5.1. Gastrointestinal tract physiology71
 2.2.5.3. Insulin, leptin and appetite regulation	2.2.5.2. Signalling and interactions of the enteroendocrine system72
 2.2.5.4. Blood glucose regulation	2.2.5.3. Insulin, leptin and appetite regulation
 2.2.5.5. Obesity, metabolic health and the current public health setting 75 2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION	2.2.5.4. Blood glucose regulation74
2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION	2.2.5.5. Obesity, metabolic health and the current public health setting 75
 2.3.1. GENETICS	2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION
 2.3.2. AGE (GESTATION, CHILDHOOD, ADULT TO AGING)	2.3.1. GENETICS
2.3.3. GENDER	2.3.2. AGE (GESTATION, CHILDHOOD, ADULT TO AGING) 79
2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY	2.3.3. GENDER
	2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY
2.4. SENSOKY PERCEPTION MEASUREMENTS	2.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION MEASUREMENTS
2.4.1. TASTE METHODOLOGY 82	2.4.1. TASTE METHODOLOGY
	2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements
 2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology
 2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY85
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology	2.5. DIETARY INTAKE AND EATING BEHAVIOUR
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology822.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings832.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements832.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology842.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY852.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY862.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY862.5. DIETARY INTAKE AND EATING BEHAVIOUR88	2.5.1. DIETARY INTAKE
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology822.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings832.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements832.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology842.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY852.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY862.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY862.5. DIETARY INTAKE AND EATING BEHAVIOUR882.5.1. DIETARY INTAKE88	2.5.1.1. Assessing dietary intake
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology.822.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings832.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements.832.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology.842.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY.852.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY862.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY.862.5. DIETARY INTAKE AND EATING BEHAVIOUR882.5.1. DIETARY INTAKE882.5.1.1. Assessing dietary intake.88	2.5.2. EATING BEHAVIOUR
2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology822.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings832.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements832.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology842.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY852.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY862.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY862.5. DIETARY INTAKE AND EATING BEHAVIOUR882.5.1. DIETARY INTAKE882.5.1. DIETARY INTAKE882.5.2. EATING BEHAVIOUR89	2.5.2.1. Assessing eating behaviour90
2.4.1. TASTE METHODOLOGY	2.4.1. TASTE METHODOLOGY2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology2.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings2.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements2.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology2.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY2.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY2.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY
2.4. SENSOKY PERCEPTION MEASUREMENTS	2.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION MEASUREMENTS
	2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY
	2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY
2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY	2.3.3. GENDER
2.3.3. GENDER	2.3.2. AGE (GESTATION, CHILDHOOD, ADULT TO AGING) 79
 2.3.2. AGE (GESTATION, CHILDHOOD, ADULT TO AGING)	2.3.1. GENETICS
 2.3.1. GENETICS	2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION
2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION	2.2.5.5. Obesity, metabolic health and the current public health setting 75
 2.2.5.5. Obesity, metabolic health and the current public health setting 75 2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION	2.2.5.4. Blood glucose regulation74
2.2.5.4. Blood glucose regulation 74 2.2.5.5. Obesity, metabolic health and the current public health setting 75 2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION 78 2.3.1. GENETICS 78 2.3.2. AGE (GESTATION, CHILDHOOD, ADULT TO AGING) 79 2.3.3. GENDER 80 2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY	2.2.5.3. Insulin, leptin and appetite regulation
 2.2.5.3. Insulin, leptin and appetite regulation	2.2.5.2. Signalling and interactions of the enteroendocrine system
 2.2.5.2. Signalling and interactions of the enteroendocrine system	2.2.5.1. Gastrointestinal tract physiology71

2.3.3. TASTE, DIETAKT INTAKE, EATING BEHAVIOUK AND	2.5.3	. TASTE,	DIETARY	INTAKE,	EATING	BEHAVIOUR	AND
--	-------	----------	---------	---------	--------	-----------	-----

	OBESITY	91
	2.5.3.1. Sweet taste perception and dietary intake	92
	2.5.3.2. Sweet taste perception and eating behaviour	93
	2.5.3.3. Sweet taste perception and body composition	94
	2.5.3.4. Bitter taste perception and dietary intake	98
	2.5.3.6. Bitter taste perception and body composition	99
	2.5.3.7. Fatty acid taste perception and dietary intake	. 104
	2.5.3.8. Fatty acid taste perception and eating behaviour	. 104
	2.5.3.9. Fatty acid taste perception and body composition	. 105
	2.5.3.10. Olfaction, dietary intake, and obesity	. 112
	2.5.3.11. Mouthfeel, dietary intake, and obesity	. 112
2.6. SU	UMMARY OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW	. 113
	2.6.1. Gaps in the current literature	. 115
2.7. Re	eferences	117
		/
Chapter III. F	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link	
Chapter III. F	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour	. 143
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour bstract	. 143 . 143
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A 3.2. In	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour bstract troduction	. 143 . 143 . 143
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A 3.2. In 3.3. M	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour bstract troduction faterials and Methods	. 143 . 143 . 145 . 148
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A 3.2. In 3.3. M	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour bstract troduction faterials and Methods	. 143 . 143 . 143 . 145 . 148 . 148
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A 3.2. In 3.3. M	Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour bstract troduction faterials and Methods 3.3.1. Participants 3.3.2. Stimuli preparation for sensory measurements	. 143 . 143 . 145 . 145 . 148 . 148 . 149
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A 3.2. In 3.3. M	 Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour	. 143 . 143 . 143 . 145 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 149
Chapter III. F with Disinhib 3.1. A 3.2. In 3.3. M	 Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link ited Eating Behaviour. bstract	. 143 . 143 . 143 . 145 . 148 . 148 . 148 . 149 . 149 . 149

3.3.2.4. Subjective mouthfeel measurement test
3.3.3. Eating behaviour and dietary intake questionnaires
3.3.4. Testing procedure155
3.3.5. Statistical analysis156
3.4. Results
3.4.1. Participants158
3.4.2. Taste and olfaction detection curves of oleic acid
3.4.3. Fatty acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity
3.4.4. Relationship between oleic acid taste perception and olfaction 161
3.4.5. Relationship between oleic acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity,
olfaction detection rate, n-butanol olfactory threshold and eating
behaviour162
3.4.6. Relationship between oleic acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity,
mouthfeel rating and olfaction163
3.4.7. Relationships between oleic acid taste perception, oleic acid
olfaction, dietary intake, mouthfeel rating and eating behaviour164
3.4.8. Oleic acid taste perception and olfaction detection rate and body
composition165
3.5. Discussion
3.5.1. Oleic acid taste and olfactory detection rate
3.5.2. Fatty acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity
3.5.3. Relationship between oleic acid taste perception and olfaction 168
3.5.4. Oleic acid taste perception and disinhibited eating behaviour169
3.5.5. Oleic acid taste perception and mouthfeel
3.5.6. Oleic acid taste perception, olfaction and body composition 171 9

3.5.7. Oleic acid taste perception, olfaction and dietary intake
3.5.8. Additional strengths and limitations of this study 173
3.5.9. Conclusions
3.6. References
Chapter IV. Taste perception and its association with adiposity and endocrine regulation
in Pacific and New Zealand European women
4.1. Abstract
4.2. Introduction
4.3. Materials and methods
4.3.1. Design and participant recruitment
4.3.2. Study procedure
4.3.3. Taste perception measurements
4.3.3.1. Stimuli for sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception
measurement
4.3.3.2. gLMS and LAM measurement of sweet, bitter and milk fat
hedonic liking and intensity
4.3.3.3. Taste concentration ranking task
4.3.4. Anthropometric measurements 194
4.3.5. Blood sample collection
4.3.6. Blood sample processing and analysis
4.3.7. Health and demographic face-to-face interview and deprivation
index
4.3.8. Data handling
4.3.8.1. Taste perception hedonic liking groups

4.4. Results	99
4.4.1. Participant characteristics	99
4.4.2. Sweet, bitter and milk fat perception and liking clusters	02
4.4.3. Taste liking and body fat percentage	05
4.4.4. Fasting plasma leptin and insulin and taste perception	07
4.4.5. Sweet taste liking and taste ranking task and markers of blood	
glucose regulation and cholesterol	09
4.4.6. Bitter and milk fat perception liking and ranking task outcome an	ıd
blood glucose regulation and cholesterol concentrations	09
4.5. Discussion	11
4.5.1. Study population	11
4.5.2. Comparisons of taste perception clusters and population groups21	12
4.5.3. Sweet taste ranking task and obesity	12
4.5.4. Sweet taste perception and fasting plasma leptin concentration.21	13
4.5.5. Bitter taste and milk fat perception	16
4.5.6. Strengths and limitations of this study and public health	
implications21	16
4.5.7. Conclusions	19
4.6. References	23
Chapter V. Associations between taste perception, dietary intake and eating behaviour	
in Pacific and NZ European women	33
5.1. Abstract	33
5.2. Introduction	35
5.3. Materials and methods	38
5.3.1. Participants	38

5.3.2. Study procedure	8
5.3.3. Health and demographic face-to-face interview and deprivation	
index	9
5.3.4. Body composition and anthropometric measurements	9
5.3.5. Taste perception measurements	9
5.3.5.1. Preparation of sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception	
solutions	0
5.3.5.2. Intensity and hedonic liking measurements of sweet taste, bitter	
taste and milk fat perception24	-1
5.3.5.3. Taste concentration ranking task	-2
5.3.6. Dietary intake	2
5.3.7. Eating behaviour	.3
5.3.8. Data handling	.3
5.3.8.1. Taste perception measurements	.3
5.3.8.2. Dietary intake measurements	.3
5.3.8.3. Eating behaviour measurements	.4
5.3.8.4. Body composition grouping	.4
5.3.9. Statistical Analysis24	.5
5.4. Results	.7
5.4.1 Participant characteristics and dietary intake	.7
5.4.2. Participant eating behaviour and taste perception	0
5.4.3. Taste perception and dietary intake	2
5.4.4. Associations between taste perception, dietary intake and body fat	
% groups	4
5.4.5. Taste ranking task outcome and dietary intake	5

5.4.6. Relationships between eating behaviour and sweet taste, bitter
taste and milk fat liking and ranking task outcome
5.5. Discussion
5.5.1. Participant demographics, dietary intake and eating behaviour259
5.5.2. Sweet taste liking and dietary intake
5.5.3. Bitter and milk fat perception and dietary intake
5.5.4. Taste perception and eating behaviour
5.5.5. Strengths and limitations
5.5.6. Conclusion
5.6. References
Chapter VI. Overall discussion and conclusions
6.1. Background and rationale
6.2. Summary of results
6.2.1. Associations between fatty acid taste, olfaction, eating behaviour,
dietary intake and adiposity
6.2.2. Associations between sweet taste, bitter taste and fatty acid taste
perception and obesity
6.2.3. Associations between taste perception and dietary intake
6.2.4. Associations between sweet taste perception, dietary intake and
regulators of energy metabolism
6.3. Study strengths and limitations
6.3.1. Participant characteristics
6.3.2. Study design
6.3.3. Taste testing methodology
6.3.4. Dietary intake and eating behaviour assessment tools

6.3.4.1. Food record and food frequency questionnaire (FFQ)
6.3.4.2. Three-factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ)
6.4. Final conclusions
6.4.1. Public health implications
6.4.2. Food industry implications
6.4.3. Final statement of the implications of this work
6.5. Recommendations for future research
6.6. References
APPENDIX
7.1. List of publications, presentations and awards
7.1.1. Publications and abstracts in international journals
7.1.2. Presentations (oral and poster presentations)
7.1.3. Awards
7.1.4. Permission for thesis publication and statements of contribution
7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
 7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
 7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
 7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
 7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
 7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper
7.1.5. PROMISE protocol paper3257.2. Ethics approval, participant information sheet and consent3427.2.1. Low-risk ethics approval (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)3427.2.2. Ethics approval (PROMISE study, Chapter IV and V)3437.2.3. Participant information sheet and consent (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)3457.2.4. Testing documents and SOP for the Dessert Taste Study (Chapter III)3507.2.5. Participant information and consent (PROMISE study, Chapter IV)

7.2.6. Testing documents and SOP for the PROMISE study (Chapter IV
and V)
7.3. Questionnaire templates
7.3.1. Food frequency questionnaire (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)
7.3.2. Three Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ)
7.3.3. Sensory questionnaire for custard (fat mouthfeel sensation)
questionnaire (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)414
7.3.4. Hedonic liking and intensity rating LAM scale and gLMS template
(PROMISE study, Chapter IV and V)416
7.3.5. Ranking task questionnaire template (PROMISE study, Chapter IV
and V)
7.3.6. Food Record (PROMISE study, Chapter V)418
7.4. Copyright clearance for images and figures (Chapter II only)

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Outline of current publication status of research chapters
Table 2.1. The U.S. population mouth behaviour classification and categorisation.
Source: The Understanding and Insight Group, Limited Liability Company (LLC)
(Jeltema, Beckley, & Vahalik, 2014). Table used with permission from John Wiley and
Sons
Table 2.2. Peptide secretions triggered by fatty acids in both taste cells and
enteroendocrine cells and the corresponding fatty acid receptors (Pepino et al., 2014).
Table used with permission from Annual Reviews, Inc. 78
Table 2.3. Studies which have investigated sweet taste sensitivity and dietary intake,
eating behaviour and body composition
Table 2.4. Studies which have investigated bitter taste sensitivity and dietary intake,
eating behaviour and body composition
Table 2.5. Studies which have investigated fatty acid taste/aroma sensitivity and dietary
intake, eating behaviour and body composition106
Table 3.1. Trial measurements and methods 152
Table 3.2. Anthropometric characteristics of participants
Table 3.3. Comparison of median $[25^{th} - 75^{th} \text{ quartiles}]$ detection rate and detection
threshold of hypersensitive and hyposensitive fatty acid detection (oleic acid) taste
groups
Table 3.4. Comparison of TFEQ scores and olfactory detection for hyper- and
hyposensitive fatty acid detection (oleic acid) taste groups
Table 4.1. Participant characteristics (n=340)
Table 4.2. Associations between taste liking and ranking, and body fat % (N=304§).206

Table 4.3. Association between plasma leptin and insulin and taste liking and taste
ranking task (N=304§)
Table 4.4. Associations between sweet taste perception liking and ranking and plasma
blood glucose and cholesterol (N= 304§)210
Suppl 4.1. Associations with bitter taste and milk fat perception liking groups and
plasma blood glucose and cholesterol markers (N= 304§)
Table 5.1. Participant characteristics, dietary intake and body fat percentage groups in
Pacific (N=142) and NZ European women (N=162)
Table 5.2. Eating behaviour scores and taste perception parameters in Pacific (N=142)
and NZ European women (N=162)251
Table 5.3. Associations between macronutrient intake and sweet liking in Pacific and
NZ European women (N=304)
Table 5.4. Relationships between eating behaviour and sweet taste liking (compared to
disliking) (N= 304)
Suppl 5.1. Association between daily macronutrient intake and bitter liking clusters in
Pacific and NZ European women (N=304)
Suppl 5.2. Association between daily macronutrient intake and milk fat liking clusters
in Pacific and NZ European women (N=304)
Suppl 5.3. Comparisons of dietary intake by sweet, bitter and milk fat ranking task
outcome in (A) Pacific (N=142) and (B) NZ European women (N=162)271
Suppl 5.4. Eating behaviour outcome by bitter taste likers (compared to dislikers group)
(N= 304)
Suppl 5.5. Eating behaviour outcome by milk fat perception likers (compared to
dislikers group) (N= 304)

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Overview of participant recruitment
Figure 2.1. Factors that influence an individual's eating habits (Story et al., 2008; van
Dongen, 2012). Figure used with permission from Annual Reviews, Inc
Figure 2.2. Basic physiology of taste and smell receptors signalling to the brain. The
combination of sensory signals leads to our interpretation of flavour perception (Society
for Neuroscience, 2012). Image used with permission from the Society for
Neuroscience (SfN)
Figure 2.3. The hypothalamus and brainstem play a crucial role in the control of
ingestive behaviour (Berthoud, 2011, 2012). The brain aids the modulation of food
intake and energy expenditure by (a) external (taste, sight, sound, feel and smell)
sensory input to the hypothalamic energy sensor, (b) input from the reward processing
system, (c) inputs from the emotional motor system, and (d) voluntary behavioural
control (adapted from Berthoud, 2012). Image (adapted) used with permission from
Elsevier
Figure 2.4. Four types of papillae (a) are present on the human tongue (circumvallate,
fungiform, filiform and foliate papillae). Circumvallate, fungiform and foliate contain
taste buds; (b) whereas the filiform papillae detect the texture of food (adapted from
Trivedi, 2012). Image used with permission from Springer Nature
Figure 2.5. Fatty acid receptors and transporters, which have been isolated from
gastrointestinal (GI) enteroendocrine cells of both rodents and humans. Receptors
include a cluster of differentiation-36 (CD36), as well as G protein-coupled receptors
(GPR120, GPR40, GPR41, and GPR43) and delayed rectifying potassium (K ⁺) channels

Figure 3.2. Comparison of (a) taste detection curves and (b) olfactory detection curves of oleic acid (n=50). Participants marked in red showed strong olfactory detection rate (b) and those same participants are shown in the taste model also in red (a). The fitted models of binomial regression for taste and olfaction show successful vs. failed individual trials across all 3 testing days (3-AFC) modelled with a link function. 159 Figure 3.3. Scatterplot of the relationship between oleic acid olfaction and taste Figure 3.4. Comparison of (a) mouthfeel rating and (b) mouthfeel liking of high (15% coconut oil), medium (10% coconut oil), low (5% coconut oil) and no fat custard (0% coconut oil) split by taste hypersensitive (n=22) and hyposensitive (n=28) participants. Figure 4.1. The effect of tastant concentration on subjective ratings of suprathreshold taste intensity (A-C) and liking (D-F) for sweet (glucose), bitter (quinine) and fat (milk fat) solutions by liking cluster as determined by hierarchical cluster analysis (N= 340). Independent samples t-test. C.I. confidence interval; g/L, grams per litre. *P < 0.05,

Figure 4.2. The effect of tastant concentration in Pacific and NZ European women, on subjective gLMS ratings of suprathreshold taste intensity for sweet (glucose, A-B),

bitter (quinine, C-D) and fat (milk fat, E-F) solutions by liking cluster (N= 340).
Independent samples t-test. C.I. confidence interval; g/L, grams per litre. $**P < 0.01$,
*** <i>P</i> < 0.001
Figure 5.1. Comparison of daily macronutrient intake between likers and dislikers
(sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception) in (A, C, E) Pacific (N=142) and (B, D,
F) NZ European (N= 162), unadjusted. Means (95% C.I.). C.I., confidence interval.
Independent samples t-test. ** <i>P</i> < 0.01, *** <i>P</i> < 0.001
Figure 6.1. Venn diagram and summary of key factors that are associated with taste
perception

List of Abbreviations

3-AFC	Three-alternative forced choice
Ach	Acetylcholine
AMDR	Acceptable macronutrient distribution range
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials
BF%	Body fat percentage
BIA	Bioelectrical impedance analysis
BMI	Body mass index
BP	Blood pressure
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ions
CCK	Cholecystokinin
CD36	Cluster of differentiation-36
СНО	Carbohydrate
CI	Confidence interval
CN	Cranial nerve
CNS	Central nervous system
CV	Coefficient of variation
DA	Dietary assessment
DFE	Daily frequency equivalent
DXA	Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
EB	Eating behaviour
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EE	Enteroendocrine

EI	Energy intake
----	---------------

EXPLORE	Examining the Pre	edictors Linking Obes	sity Related Elements ((study)
			2	\

- FFQ Food frequency questionnaire
- fMRI Functional magnetic resonance imaging
- FR Food record
- g Grams
- GABA Gamma-aminobutyric acid
- GI Gastrointestinal
- GIP Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide
- GLM General Linear Model
- gLMS general labelled magnitude scale
- GLP-1 Glucagon-like peptide-1
- GPCR G-protein-coupled receptor
- GPR 40 G-protein receptor 40
- GPR41 G-protein receptor 41
- GPR43 G-protein receptor 43
- GPR120 G-protein receptor 120
- H⁺ Hydrogen ion
- HbA1c Glycated haemoglobin
- HC Hip circumference
- HDL High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
- HNRU Human Nutrition Research Unit (Massey University)
- ICC Intra-class correlation
- ISAK International Society of the Advancement of Kinanthropometry

JAR	Just about right
\mathbf{K}^+	Potassium ion
kcal	Kilocalorie
kJ	Kilojoule
LAM	Labelled affective magnitude
LCFA	Long chain fatty acid
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LMS	Labelled magnitude scale
MJ	Megajoule
mM	Millimolar
MoH	Ministry of Health
ng	Nanograms
Ob	Obese
Ow	Overweight
PBF	Percent body fat
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PKD2L1	Polycystic kidney disease like ion channel (Polycystin 2 Like 1)
PROMISE	PRedictors linking Obesity and gut MIcrobiomE (study)
PROP	6-n-propylthiouracil
PTC	Phenylthiocarbamide
РҮҮ	Peptide YY
mGLUR1	Metabotropic glutamate receptor 1
mGLUR4	Metabotropic glutamate receptor 4
MSG	Monosodium glutamate

NA	Noradrenaline
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NT	Neurotensin
NZDep2013	New Zealand Deprivation index 2013
NZE	New Zealand European
NZW-FFQ	New Zealand Women's Food Frequency Questionnaire
OA	Oleic acid
Ob-Rb	Leptin receptor, long-form
OEA	Oleoylethanolamine
OECD	The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
OFC	Orbitofrontal cortex
OR	Odds ratio
SD	Standard deviation
sem	Standard error of the mean
SFA	Saturated fatty acid
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphism
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
T1R2	Taste receptor type 1 member 2
T1R3	Taste receptor type 1 member 3
TC	Total cholesterol
TDI	Threshold discrimination identification
TRC	Taste receptor cell
TFEQ	Three-factor eating questionnaire

- UHTUltra Heat TreatmentVASVisual analogue scaleWCWaist circumferenceWHOWorld Health Organisation
- WS Western style

Researcher's contribution to the thesis

Contributions to the Dessert Taste study

Researchers	Contributions to the thesis
Sophie Kindleysides	Main researcher/coordinator for the Dessert Taste Study
	Application for ethics
	Study design and sensory methodology development
	Coordinated recruitment and screening
	Data collection
	• Data entry and analysis
	Statistical analysis
	• Interpretation and discussion of the results
	Results and discussion
	• Author of the thesis
Prof Bernhard H Breier	Academic primary supervisor; research conception, strategy and
	direction; development of study design; research funding support;
	supervision of all aspects and interpretation of results; thesis
	revision and approval.
Dr Kathryn Beck	Academic co-supervisor; research strategy; development of the
	dietary component of study design; interpretation of results; thesis
	revision.
Prof Matt Golding	Academic co-supervisor; supervision of study design.
Dr Daniel C I Walsh	Supervision of statistical analysis and interpretation of results.
Lisa Henderson	MSc student; participant recruitment and testing; data entry;
	interpretation and discussion of results.

Contributions to the PROMISE study (HRC funded trial)

Researchers	Contributions to the thesis
Sophie Kindleysides	• Coordinator of the taste testing procedures of the
	PROMISE Study
	Taste testing methodology development
	• Recruitment and screening (shared)
	• Data collection (shared)
	• Data entry and analysis (shared)
	• Laboratory work (biological samples) (shared)
	Statistical analysis
	• Interpretation and discussion of the results
	Results and discussion
	• Author of the thesis
Prof Bernhard H Breier	Primary investigator of the PROMISE study; Academic primary
	supervisor; research conception, strategy and direction;
	development of study design; research funding support;
	supervision of all aspects and interpretation of results; thesis
	revision and approval.
Dr Kathryn Beck	Academic co-supervisor; interpretation of results (Chapter 5);
	thesis revision and approval.
A/Prof Rozanne Kruger	Academic co-supervisor; research conception; development of the
	dietary component of study design; development of body
	composition component of study design; DXA scanning;
	interpretation of results; thesis revision and approval.
Prof Jeroen Douwes	Co-investigator of the PROMISE study. Contribution of study
	design and development; supervision of statistical analysis and
	interpretation of results.

Dr Ridvan FirestoneCo-investigators of the PROMISE study. Contribution of studyProf Gerald Tannockdesign and development; development of recruitment strategies;Dr Anne-Thea McGillgut microbiome analyses and data collection (not included in thisDr Lisa Te Morengathesis); trial clinician and medical advice; Pacific and MāoriA/Prof Leigh Signalcommunity advice and liaison; sleep and physical activity studyProf Philippa Gandercomponents (not included in this thesis); results and discussion.Prof Stephen StannardDr Marilize Richter

Dr Marine Corbin	Supervision of statistical analysis and interpretation of results.
Niamh Brennan	Trial co-ordinator; Application for ethics and trial registration;
	management of participant recruitment; phlebotomy; DXA
	scanning; management of gratuity vouchers and study finances;
	management of staff and primary contact for study participants
	and enquiries.
Moana Manukia	The senior nurse from the Fono (Pacific Healthcare). Recruitment
	and screening of Pacific participants; data collection; phlebotomy;
	management of Pacific arm of the study; primary contact for
	Pacific study participants and enquiries.
Nikki Renall	PhD candidates; Registered dietitians. Coordination of dietary
Jo Slater	component of study design; one-on-one dietary review of food
	record data; recruitment and screening; data collection; blood
	processing and laboratory work (biological samples); data entry;
	results and discussion.
Shivon Singh	MSc student; taste testing data collection and lab work; data
	entry.
Elizabeth Cullen	MSc students; dietary data collection; data entry.
Bronte Anscombe	
Beatrice Drury	
Laura Mickleson	
Guojiao (Maggie) Cao	Taste testing data collection; lab setup and labwork; data entry.
Sunna Jacobsen	
Carolin Friedle	

Eric Thorstensen (Liggins Laboratory analysis of blood markers; study advice. Institute)

Dr. John Ingram (PlantLaboratory analysis of blood markers; proof-reading of chapter 4.and Food Research)

Dr. Martin Dickens	Proof-reading of chapter 4.

Chapter I.

Introduction

1.1. Background

Sensory properties of food influence food selection and the desire to eat. The major sensory properties of food (e.g. taste, texture, aroma, appearance, etc) are perceived by the primary human senses (e.g. gustatory (taste), tactile (touch), olfactory (smell), visual (sight), auditory (hearing), and chemesthesis) (Drewnowski & Almiron-Roig, 2010; Newman, Haryono, & Keast, 2013). Among these sensory properties, taste perception is a key driver of food choice. Taste sensation or perception is triggered by chemicals when they meet taste bud cells (TBCs) of the tongue (Calvo & Egan, 2015). These distinct taste sensations (e.g. sweet, salty, umami, sour) influence the selection and consumption of food or conversely, may trigger the rejection of food due to toxins (e.g. bitter).

Texture is the sensory and functional manifestation of the structural, mechanical and surface properties of foods detected through the senses of vision, hearing, touch, and kinesthetics. In contrast to other sensory food attributes (e.g. taste), there are no single and specific receptors for texture because of its complex multimodal representation (Rolls, 2004). Most textural properties are perceived when the food is deformed on chewing with the teeth, manipulated and moved by the tongue around the oral cavity (Szczesniak, 2002).

Stimulation of smell (olfaction) occurs through odour receptors which bind to specific volatile (mostly organic) aroma compounds. Volatile odour compounds are first detected in the nasal neuroepithelium by olfactory receptor neurons. The interaction of odorous molecules with receptors results in consecutive transduction events that initiate the opening of ion channels in neuronal cell membranes (Swiegers, Chambers, & Pretorius, 2005). Compared to taste, we can detect thousands of different odorants,

which are critical in perceiving differences in flavour.

Some researchers have emphasised the role of food appearance and colour in the selection of foods, for example, phytochemicals account for various colours of fruit and vegetables (Barnes, Prasain, & Kim, 2013). The intensity of fruit colour is intimately associated with ripeness and food acceptance (Delwiche, 2012). Food saliency, visibility and portion size can increase food intake (Dube et al., 2010), and visual presentation can impact the appeal of a food product (i.e. fresh apple compared to an apple puree) (Keller & Duizer, 2014). The multimodal sensory perception of appearance, mouthfeel, aroma, taste (i.e. flavour) and auditory cues impact food choice (Prescott, 2015).

1.1.1. Taste perception

Taste perception is the sensation that results when taste buds convey information about the chemical composition of a soluble stimulus (Bradbury, 2004). Taste and its associated signalling pathways help govern the body's response to incoming food (Trivedi, 2012a). The physiological mechanisms of taste signal the appeal of food items and provide feedback to the digestive system to assist in the regulation of satiety (Trivedi, 2012b). Binding of taste molecules (e.g. glucose, fructose, etc) to specific taste receptors (i.e. G-protein coupled receptors) causes chemical signalling (Lin, 2013). To date there are five recognised primary tastes (bitter, sweet, salt, sour and umami), and the newly recognised fatty acid taste ('oleogustus') (Running, Craig, & Mattes, 2015) which can be described as 'nutrient sensors', facilitating variety seeking and the intake of essential dietary components (van Dongen, van den Berg, Vink, Kok, & de Graaf, 2012). For example, sweet taste facilitates the consumption of energy providing foods which contain sugar (i.e. glucose) (van Dongen et al., 2012) and salt taste facilitates the consumption of sodium which is an essential micronutrient (Liem, Miremadi, & Keast, 2011).

Dependent on life stage, individuals have been shown to vary in their responsiveness to detect and recognise taste (Methven, Allen, Withers, & Gosney, 2012). There is some
evidence that increased density of the fungiform papillae on the tongue is responsible for heightened oral sensitivity for sweet, bitter, and salt tastes (Delwiche, Buletic, & Breslin, 2001; Doty et al., 2016; Haryono, Sprajcer, & Keast, 2014). An individual's responsiveness to a taste stimulus is directly dependent on the concentration of the stimulus. However, there is a wide distribution of detection and recognition thresholds for individual tastants when measured across a population (Keast & Roper, 2007). This heterogeneity in taste behaviour is reflective of the plasticity and the adaptive mechanism of taste receptor expression, as well as a range of other influential factors such as gender, age, and genetics (Dando, 2015).

In order to accurately characterise taste perception, corresponding taste testing methodologies need to be valid, reproducible, and consistent. Taste perception can be measured in a variety of ways, including detection threshold, recognition threshold, discrimination tasks, and ratings of suprathreshold intensity and hedonic liking, which all have important yet distinct characteristics (Haryono et al., 2014; Keast & Roper, 2007). Previous studies on taste perception have mainly used two measures, namely detection threshold, which is defined as 'the weakest stimulus that can be detected', and secondly recognition threshold, which is defined as 'the level at which the stimulus can not only be detected but also recognised' (Bartoshuk, 1978; Cox, Hendrie, & Carty, 2015; Tan & Tucker, 2019). Taste perception can be further defined by the following criteria: (1) there must be a distinct class of affective stimuli; (2) transduction mechanisms include receptors to change the chemical stimulus to an electrical signal; (3) there must be neurotransmission of the electrical signal to the brain; (4) it must have perceptual independence from other taste qualities; (5) there must be physiological effects after activation of taste bud cells, and; (6) it must provide an adaptive (evolutionary) advantage (Mattes, 2011).

1.1.2. Taste perception and dietary intake

Variation in oral sensation and taste hedonics has been proposed to influence dietary intake, as individuals eat what they like and avoid what they dislike (Duffy, 2007). Taste perception or sensitivity to taste may also influence dietary intake through

appetite and satiety mechanisms (Duffy, 2007). Establishing how taste perception is associated with dietary intake may produce significant opportunities for health improvement. However, dietary intake and eating behaviour have been inconsistently linked with taste sensitivity and therefore requires further investigation using robust methodology (Cox et al., 2015).

Recent evidence suggests that taste threshold measurements may have limited use in dietary intake studies, as real-world experiences are not at the low concentrations that are used and measured in threshold studies (Low, Lacy, McBride, & Keast, 2016). The development of the generalised labelled magnitude scale (gLMS) and labelled affective magnitude (LAM) scale has allowed investigating the rating of both intensity and hedonic liking of taste respectively. Measurements using the gLMS can be compared across groups by anchoring each end of the scale (i.e. "strongest imaginable sensation of any kind") negating when taste is perceived differently between individuals (Bartoshuk et al., 2004; Kaufman, Choo, Koh, & Dando, 2018, Schutz and Cardello, 2001). Use of the gLMS at suprathreshold concentration levels has revealed convincing associations between sweet taste perception and dietary intake in more recent studies (Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Low et al., 2016).

There are a range of methods for assessing dietary intake: weighed or estimated food record (in which all foods and beverages are recorded at the time of consumption), and the food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) (in which individuals report how often they have consumed particular foods from a predefined list over a chosen time period, either with or without portion estimation) (Biro, Hulshof, Ovesen, & Amorim Cruz, 2002). Additionally, there is the 24-hour recall (in which individuals recall all foods and beverages consumed over the previous 24-hours), and the diet history (which consists of a series of methods; (i) an interview to determine usual meal patterns, (ii) a food frequency questionnaire, and (iii) a 3 day diet record) (Biro et al., 2002). To date, there is no consensus as to the best dietary assessment method for identifying taste-diet relationships (Tan & Tucker, 2019). It has been recommended that taste-diet studies should measure the whole diet, as opposed to only the comparisons of interest (e.g. associations between bitter taste perception and vegetable intake) to reduce outcome bias (Cox et al., 2015).

The Western-style diet provides a wide range of highly palatable food choices, resulting in dietary intake which is higher in saturated fat and added sugar (Stevenson et al., 2016). Interestingly, intervention studies of both low fat (Newman, Bolhuis, Torres, & Keast, 2016) and low-sugar (Wise, Nattress, Flammer, & Beauchamp, 2016) diets have been shown to increase fat and sweet taste sensitivity, respectively. This suggests that sensitivity for a specific taste can act as a marker of dietary habits in relation to the associated nutrients. Supportive of this, is that taste cells are continually renewed with the average taste cell lifespan of approximately 10-14 days, where normal function of taste buds is dependent on a continuous supply of properly differentiated taste receptor cells (Kaufman et al., 2018). This dynamic taste receptor expression and subsequent taste sensitivity is adaptive, which may be associated with satiety and reward signalling pathways across population groups (Silhan, Robinett, Deshpande, & Liggett, 2012). How the modern food environment interacts with adaptive taste perception mechanisms and subsequent appetite and signalling pathways is yet to be established.

1.2. Taste perception and metabolic health

Despite the emerging evidence of associations between taste perception and dietary intake, individual responsiveness to taste stimuli has not yet been clearly linked to longterm weight status. There is evidence that taste is indicative of appetite regulation and satiety due to its critical role in the signalling of incoming nutrients (Touzani, Bodnar, & Sclafani, 2010). Further signalling occurs as dietary components of the ingested nutrients continues throughout the gastrointestinal (GI) tract (Roper & Chaudhari, 2017). Dysregulation of these signalling and appetitive pathways may be linked to the conditioning of food preferences (Sclafani & Ackroff, 2012).

Causes of obesity are multifaceted and involve complex interactions between genetic, metabolic, cultural, environmental, socio-economic and behavioural factors (Heymsfield & Wadden, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2017). Obesity reflects a state of positive energy balance and arises because of how the body regulates energy intake, energy expenditure, and energy storage. This imbalance occurs through dietary behaviours that do not trigger strong biological opposition (Hill, 2006). Obesity leads to a state of excessive insulin secretion and a series of metabolic responses that produce systemic insulin resistance (Thompson et al., 2007). Desensitisation to insulin action is accompanied by increased oxidative stress (Hayes & Dinkova-Kostova, 2014), leptin secretion, and inflammation. Subsequent changes in the functioning of endocrine regulators include insulin, leptin, ghrelin and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) which disturb appetite regulation (Sumithran et al., 2011). High sugar and fat intake have been proposed as a potential cause of the increasing prevalence of obesity (WHO, 2015, 2018).

1.2.1. Linking taste perception, dietary intake and metabolic health

Sensory perception and the physiological mechanism underlying our taste experience are known to play a role in long-term food choice and eating behaviour (Dando, 2015; Keast, 2016). However, the range of determinants of dietary intake are extensive and include genetic, economic, social, cultural, physiological, environmental, and psychological influences (Story, Kaphingst, Robinson-O'Brien, & Glanz, 2008). By focusing on the biology of taste perception, we gain insight into why people are more vulnerable to a food environment rich in high-fat, sweetened and highly processed foods. Excess energy intake is linked with a multifaceted metabolic condition, it involves interactions between taste, hedonic responses and dietary intake (Calvo & Egan, 2015). Obesity, alongside inflammation, has recently been associated with dysregulation of the renewal of taste buds (Kaufman et al., 2018). Taste perception research may support future intervention studies involving specific dietary approaches to reduce obesity. In turn, weight management and the reduction in metabolic health dysregulation will decrease the risk of type 2 diabetes, some cancers, and heart disease (Dube et al., 2010).

Commonly-cited causes of obesity include major changes in our food environment which have led to over-consumption of inexpensive, highly palatable energy-dense and nutrient-poor foods (Schwartz et al., 2017). Current economic policies expose the population to strong cues that favour energy availability and a positive energy balance (Story et al., 2008; Swinburn et al., 2013). Previous studies which have observed tastediet interactions have not adjusted findings for factors such as socioeconomic status. However, this is important as living in a deprived residential setting may lead to decreased dietary choices or variety due to availability and cost (Pechey & Monsivais, 2016). In a recent meta-analysis (Seidelmann et al., 2018), it was found that socioeconomic status was associated with an increased percentage of energy from carbohydrates, primarily associated with higher intakes of refined carbohydrates such as white rice. The prevalence of obesity increases alongside low income, low education and low socioeconomic status (Dube et al., 2010). Associations made between obesity, diet and taste perception should take into consideration the socioeconomic status and health inequities, to determine the key drivers of weight gain (New Zealand Medical Association., 2014).

1.2.2. Sweet and fatty acid taste perception and obesity

Despite knowing that overeating is harmful, many people who are overweight are unable to control their food intake (Calvo & Egan, 2015). The satisfaction gained from eating highly palatable, energy-dense food overcomes satiety feedback mechanisms (Berthoud, 2012). Mechanistic studies suggest that consumption of sugar and fat is driven by taste hedonics, which may exacerbate dietary intake (Keast, 2016). Sweetness and fat have a powerful hedonic appeal, so preferences for sweet and fatty foods are important contributors to increases in body weight and metabolic disease risk (Laffitte, Neiers, & Briand, 2014; Martínez-Ruiz, López-Díaz, Wall-Medrano, Jiménez-Castro, & Angulo, 2014).

Hormones may further modify the intensity of taste perception (Kubasova, Burdakov, & Domingos, 2015; Yoshida et al., 2015). People learn to associate the taste properties from foods with the metabolic consequences of ingestion (e.g. increased feelings of fullness, decreased food cravings, etc), which results in a cycle of learning, expectations, and reward feedback, driving subsequent food selection (Rolls, 2016). Studies in mice have indicated that leptin might function to prevent over-consumption of sugar by interacting directly with sweet taste receptors at the taste bud (Kawai, Sugimoto, Nakashima, Miura, & Ninomiya, 2000; Yoshida et al., 2015). However, in the leptin-resistant state, such as obesity, this mechanism of regulating sweet-food intake might be blunted (Calvo & Egan, 2015). Additional studies support the existence of functional and homeostatic interactions between glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and leptin activity at the level of the taste bud (Martin et al., 2010). If gustatory cues were altered in the obese state, this may lead to increased consumption of food in order to experience the same 'food reward' or satiety signals that a normal weight individual would experience (Maliphol, Garth, & Medler, 2013; Thanos et al., 2015).

In addition, the emergence of unique sweet taster patterns (i.e. 'sweet likers' and 'sweet dislikers') (Kim, Prescott, & Kim, 2014) suggests that a 'one size fits all' dietary recommendation strategy may not be effective. There is recent compelling evidence that in a normal, metabolically healthy state, sweet taste hedonic liking is positively associated with the intake of dietary carbohydrates and sugars (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). Other studies on sweet taste perception have found associations with the hedonic liking of sweet taste and the increased intake of sweet-tasting food and beverages (Garneau, Nuessle, Mendelsberg, Shepard, & Tucker, 2018; Turner-McGrievy, Tate, Moore, & Popkin, 2013). However, taste perception may be inherently different for an obese person in comparison to a normal weight individual, due to the dysregulation of appetite-regulating pathways (Sanematsu, Nakamura, Nomura, Shigemura, & Ninomiya, 2018). Further investigation into taste-diet associations in the non-obese and obese state is warranted.

1.3. The link between taste perception and metabolic health consequences

In our Western society, there is an abundance of energy-dense foods, such as sugarsweetened beverages and sweet or savoury snacks (Bray et al., 2018). An evolutionary perspective on food and human taste perception suggests that easy access to tasty, energy-dense foods exploits our sensitivities for sugary, and fatty foods that are linked with nutrition-related diseases, such as obesity and type 2 diabetes (Breslin, 2013). In our current food supply, where many foods are highly processed (van Dongen et al., 2012), it may be that taste perception and the underlying signalling mechanisms associated with taste are to some extent disconnected from the energy content that is being consumed.

Previous studies on taste perception have found associations between psychophysical measurements of taste function and dietary intake. For sweet taste perception studies, sensitivity testing and intensity measures have often lacked any association with dietary intake, whereas hedonic liking ratings have shown clear taste-diet associations (Tan & Tucker, 2019). In contrast, fatty acid taste perception studies have shown taste-diet associations using sensitivity or threshold testing (Cox et al., 2015). Increased sensitivity to fatty acid taste (i.e. hypersensitivity) has been associated with decreased intake of dietary fat (Heinze et al., 2018; Liang et al., 2012; Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014) and total energy intake (Stewart et al., 2010). The hedonic liking of fatty acid taste in isolation is difficult to measure, as these solutions can evoke 'scratchy' and unlikable taste sensations (Burgess et al., 2018).

Although many studies have investigated the link between sweet and sensitivity to wider associations of fat (i.e. mouthfeel) and/or fatty acid taste perception and obesity, the findings of these studies are inconsistent to date (Cox et al., 2015; Feeney, O'Brien, Scannell, Markey, & Gibney, 2017). These inconsistent and contradicting results highlight the need for further investigation in larger cohorts, with well-defined body fat measurements, using established and validated sensory techniques and assessment of dietary intake.

1.3.1. Significance of research (conducted in my PhD programme)

The current PhD research aims to advance knowledge of the role of taste perception in food choice, food intake, energy balance and weight management. Taste perception phenotypes and taste preferences, with a focus on sweet, bitter and fatty acid taste, will be investigated alongside body composition, dietary intake and eating behaviour measurements. As well as this, the comparison of taste sensitivity, taste preferences and

food choice in different physiological settings (e.g. non-obese and obese) will be conducted. The study population selected for this PhD research are premenopausal women of 18 - 45 years. Women of child-bearing age are an important population to study in this context as increased maternal adiposity has been shown to be related to adverse health outcomes in the next generation (Eriksson, Sandboge, Salonen, Kajantie, and Osmond, 2014). This cross-sectional investigation will expand upon the current literature and will help identify distinct associations between diet and taste perception, and in turn, associations with body composition. Translation of this knowledge will help to identify novel targets for improving dietary intake, eating behaviour and metabolic health.

1.4. Study aims and objectives

1.4.1. Primary aim

The overall aim of this PhD research was to advance our understanding of the relationship between sweet taste, fatty acid taste, bitter taste, additional measurements of sensory perception (i.e. mouthfeel of fat and olfaction) and dietary intake and eating behaviour, and, how this may be associated with biomarkers and endocrine regulators of energy metabolism in premenopausal women in the context of obesity.

1.4.2. Specific objectives

1) To investigate the relationships between (Chapter 3):

1.1. Detection threshold of oleic acid taste, olfactory detection of oleic acid, olfactory detection of *n*-butanol and measurements of fat mouthfeel, and;

1.2. How oleic acid taste, olfactory measurements and measurements of fat mouthfeel may relate to dietary intake and eating behaviour.

The secondary objectives included to:

(i) measure oleic acid taste, olfactory detection and test re-test repeatability;

(ii) explore links between oleic acid taste, olfaction and mouthfeel perception of fat and;(iii) investigate oleic acid taste detection and associations with eating behaviour, dietary intake, and body composition.

 \rightarrow Hypothesis 1: Hypersensitivity to fatty acid taste detection, olfactory detection of fatty acids and measurements of fat mouthfeel is associated with specific measurements of eating behaviour, adiposity, and dietary intake.

2) To investigate the association between suprathreshold measurements of sweet,

bitter and milk fat mouthfeel perception, intensity, liking and discrimination by ranking task, with (Chapter 4):

2.1. Adiposity in 18-45-year-old women with markedly different metabolic disease risks (Pacific and NZ European women), and;

2.2. The long-term adiposity signals, insulin and leptin, which are known to influence energy balance, body weight and food intake.

The secondary objectives included to:

(i) measure and characterise the perception of suprathreshold concentrations of sweet, bitter and milk fat mouthfeel by intensity rating, liking rating and discrimination by ranking task;

(ii) investigate the liking of suprathreshold concentrations of sweet, bitter and milk fat mouthfeel by hierarchical cluster analysis, alongside comparing different population groups;

(ii) explore associations between measurements of blood glucose regulation and blood cholesterol with sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat mouthfeel perception and;(iv) determine the nature of the associations between taste perception and markers of metabolic health by adjusting for additional factors which may influence dietary intake

(e.g. age, socioeconomic status).

 \rightarrow Hypothesis 2: Hedonic liking of sweet taste, bitter taste, and milk fat mouthfeel perception varies between people and is associated with specific differences in adiposity and metabolic regulators of adiposity.

3) To increase our understanding of the influence of sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat mouthfeel perception, intensity, liking and discrimination by ranking task, on (Chapter 5):

3.1. Dietary intake measured by a 5-day non-consecutive estimated food record, and;3.2. Eating behaviour measured by the three-factor eating questionnaire.

The secondary objectives included to:

(i) determine the strength of the associations between taste perception and dietary intake by adjusting for additional factors which may influence dietary intake (e.g. age, socioeconomic status); and

(ii) determine the strength of the associations between taste perception and eating behaviour by adjusting for additional factors (e.g. age, socioeconomic status).

 \rightarrow Hypothesis 3: Increased hedonic liking of suprathreshold taste solutions (sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat mouthfeel perception) is associated with specific differences in dietary intake. In addition, hedonic liking of suprathreshold taste solutions is associated with specific differences in cognitive measurements of eating behaviour (i.e. dietary restraint, disinhibition of control and susceptibility to hunger).

1.4.3. Structure of the thesis

This thesis begins with a review of the literature focusing on influences of food choice, the physiology of taste perception, the methodology used in sensory research and links between sensory perception and metabolic health. This is followed by three manuscripts presenting the results of this research (Table 1.1). As each study is presented in the form of a manuscript suitable for publication, there may be some repetition throughout the thesis. For example, there is repetition in the material and methods sections of chapter 4 and 5 as both chapters use data from the same study.

To reach our objectives (or to test these hypotheses) we developed two cross-sectional studies. The first study titled the 'Dessert Taste study' was a cross-sectional study which investigated fatty acid taste perception alongside olfactory and mouthfeel perception, with further associations between eating behaviour and adiposity reported (chapter three). This manuscript was published in the journal '*Nutrients*' (Kindleysides et al., 2017).

Outline of current publication status of research chapters				
Chapter	Current status	Journal		
III	Published	Kindleysides, S.; Beck, K.L.; Walsh, D.C.I.; Henderson,		
		L.; Jayasinghe, S.N.; Golding, M.; Breier, B.H. Fat		
		Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity		
		and the Link with Disinhibited Eating		
		Behaviour. Nutrients 2017, 9, 879.		
IV	Peer reviewed	International Journal of Obesity		
V	To be submitted	Nutrients OR American Journal of Clinical Nutrition		

Table 1.1. Outline of current publication status of research chapters

The second cross-sectional study titled the 'PROMISE study' was a larger study conducted in healthy, premenopausal Pacific and NZ European women, with different

body fat measurements (chapter four and five; Figure 1). The second manuscript explores the perception of sweet taste, bitter taste, and milk fat and compares differences in taste perception with markers of metabolic health (chapter four). The third research manuscript investigates dietary intake and how sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception influence dietary intake and eating behaviour (chapter five). The study protocol and recruitment strategy manuscript for the PROMISE study was published in the journal '*JMIR Research Protocols*' (Kindleysides et al., 2019). This publication is presented in the appendix (Appendix 1.5).

The overview of participant recruitment for the two studies is shown in Figure 1. The thesis concludes with a discussion on the main results, new insights and the studies' strengths and limitations. The the final discussion also highlights the new knowledge presented in this PhD thesis.



Figure 1.1. Overview of participant recruitment

1.5. References

- Barnes, S., Prasain, J., & Kim, H. (2013). In nutrition, can we "see" what is good for us? Advances in Nutrition (Bethesda, Md.), 4(3), 327S-34S. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.112.003558
- Bartoshuk, L. M. (1978). The psychophysics of taste. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*.
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Green, B. G., Hoffman, H. J., Ko, C.-W., Lucchina, L. A., ... Weiffenbach, J. M. (2004). Valid across-group comparisons with labeled scales: the gLMS versus magnitude matching. *Physiology & Behavior*, 82(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.02.033
- Berthoud, H.-R. (2012). The neurobiology of food intake in an obesogenic environment. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *71*(04), 478–487. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665112000602
- Biro, G., Hulshof, K., Ovesen, L., & Amorim Cruz, J. A. (2002). Selection of methodology to assess food intake. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56, S25–S32. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601426
- Bradbury, J. (2004). Taste Perception: Cracking the Code. *PLoS Biology*, 2(3), e64. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0020064
- Bray, G. A., Heisel, W. E., Afshin, A., Jensen, M. D., Dietz, W. H., Long, M., ... Inge, T. H. (2018). The Science of Obesity Management: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocrine Reviews*, 39(2), 79–132. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00253
- Breslin, P. A. S. (2013). An Evolutionary Perspective on Food and Human Taste. *Current Biology*, 23(9), R409–R418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.010
- Burgess, B., Melis, M., Scoular, K., Driver, M., Schaich, K., Keller, K. L., ... Tepper, B. J. (2018). Effects of CD36 Genotype on Oral Perception of Oleic Acid Supplemented Safflower Oil Emulsions in Two Ethnic Groups: A Preliminary Study. *Journal of Food Science*, 83(5), 1373–1380. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.14115
- Calvo, S. S., & Egan, J. M. (2015). The endocrinology of taste receptors. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *11*(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.7
- Cox, D. N., Hendrie, G. A., & Carty, D. (2015). Sensitivity, hedonics and preferences for basic tastes and fat amongst adults and children of differing weight status: A comprehensive review. *Food Quality & Preference*, 41(Part B), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.014
- Dando, R. (2015). The Plasticity of Taste Function Links the Appetitive Taste of Fats with Obesity. *Chemosensory Perception*, 8(2), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-015-9187-6
- Delwiche, J. (2012). You eat with your eyes first. *Physiology & Behavior*, 107(4), 502–504. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.07.007
- Delwiche, J., Buletic, Z., & Breslin, P. (2001). Relationship of papillae number to bitter intensity of quinine and PROP within and between individuals. *Physiology & Behavior*, 74(3), 329–337.
- Doty, R. L., Heidt, J. M., MacGillivray, M. R., Dsouza, M., Tracey, E. H., Mirza, N., & Bigelow, D. (2016). Influences of age, tongue region, and chorda tympani nerve sectioning on signal detection measures of lingual taste sensitivity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 155, 202–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2015.12.014

- Drewnowski, A., & Almiron-Roig, E. (2010). *Human Perceptions and Preferences for Fat-Rich Foods*. (J.-P. Montmayeur & J. le Coutre, Eds.), *Fat Detection: Taste, Texture, and Post Ingestive Effects*. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press/Taylor & Francis.
- Dube, L., Bechara, A., Dagher, A., Drewnowski, A., LeBel, J., James, P., & Yada, R. (2010). Obesity Prevention. Obesity Prevention. Elsevier Inc.
- Duffy, V. B. (2007). Variation in oral sensation: Implications for diet and health. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*, *23*(2). https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.0b013e3280147d50
- Eriksson, J. G., Sandboge, S., Salonen, M. K., Kajantie, E., and Osmond, C. (2014). Long-term consequences of maternal overweight in pregnancy on offspring later health: Findings from the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. Annals of Medicine, 46(6). https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2014.919728
- Feeney, E. L., O'Brien, S. A., Scannell, A. G. M., Markey, A., & Gibney, E. R. (2017). Suprathreshold measures of taste perception in children - Association with dietary quality and body weight. *Appetite*, *113*, 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2017.02.026
- Garneau, N. L., Nuessle, T. M., Mendelsberg, B. J., Shepard, S., & Tucker, R. M. (2018). Sweet liker status in children and adults: Consequences for beverage intake in adults. *Food Quality & Preference*, 65, 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.10.005
- Haryono, R., Sprajcer, M., & Keast, R. (2014). Measuring oral fatty acid thresholds, fat perception, fatty food liking, and papillae density in humans. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, (88). https://doi.org/10.3791/51236.
- Hayes, J. D., & Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. (2014). The Nrf2 regulatory network provides an interface between redox and intermediary metabolism. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *39*(4), 199–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2014.02.002
- Heinze, J., Costanzo, A., Baselier, I., Fritsche, A., Frank-Podlech, S., & Keast, R. (2018). Detection thresholds for four different fatty stimuli are associated with increased dietary intake of processed high-caloric food. *Appetite*, 123, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.12.003
- Heymsfield, S. B., & Wadden, T. A. (2017). Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and management of obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*(3). https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1514009
- Hill, J. O. J. O. (2006). Understanding and addressing the epidemic of obesity: an energy balance perspective. *Endocrine Reviews*, 27(7), 750–761. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2006-0032
- Jayasinghe, S. N., Kruger, R., Walsh, D. C. I., Cao, G., Rivers, S., Richter, M., & Breier, B. H. (2017). Is sweet taste perception associated with sweet food liking and intake? *Nutrients*, *9*(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070750
- Kaufman, A., Choo, E., Koh, A., & Dando, R. (2018). Inflammation arising from obesity reduces taste bud abundance and inhibits renewal. *PLOS Biology*, 16(3), e2001959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001959
- Kawai, K., Sugimoto, K., Nakashima, K., Miura, H., & Ninomiya, Y. (2000). Leptin as a modulator of sweet taste sensitivities in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(20), 11044–11049. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.190066697
- Keast, R. (2016). Effects of sugar and fat consumption on sweet and fat taste, 9, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.12.003

- Keast, R., & Roper, J. (2007). A Complex Relationship among Chemical Concentration, Detection Threshold, and Suprathreshold Intensity of Bitter Compounds. *Chemical Senses*, 32(3), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bj1052
- Keller, H. H., & Duizer, L. M. (2014). What Do Consumers Think of Pureed Food? Making the Most of the Indistinguishable Food. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 33(3), 139–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2014.927302
- Kim, J. Y., Prescott, J., & Kim, K. O. (2014). Patterns of sweet liking in sucrose solutions and beverages. *Food Quality & Preference*, 36, 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.03.009
- Kindleysides, S., Beck, K. L., Walsh, D. C. I., Henderson, L., Jayasinghe, S. N., Golding, M., & Breier, B. H. H. (2017). Fat Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited Eating Behaviour. *Nutrients*, 9(8), 879. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9080879
- Kindleysides, S., Kruger, R., Douwes, J., Tannock, G. W., Renall, N., Slater, J., ... Breier, B. H. (2019). Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity. *JMIR Res Protoc*, 8(8), e14529. https://doi.org/10.2196/14529
- Kubasova, N., Burdakov, D., & Domingos, A. I. (2015). Sweet and Low on Leptin: Hormonal Regulation of Sweet Taste Buds: Figure 1. *Diabetes*, 64(11), 3651–3652. https://doi.org/10.2337/dbi15-0004
- Laffitte, A., Neiers, F., & Briand, L. (2014). Functional roles of the sweet taste receptor in oral and extraoral tissues. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 17(4), 379–385. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.000000000000058
- Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., Breen, C., Driggin, E., Tepper, B. J., ... Keller, K. L. (2012). Fat discrimination: a phenotype with potential implications for studying fat intake behaviors and obesity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(2), 470–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.002
- Liem, D., Miremadi, F., & Keast, R. (2011). Reducing sodium in foods: The effect on flavor. *Nutrients*, *3*(6), 694–711. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu3060694
- Lin, H.-H. (2013). G-protein-coupled receptors and their (Bio) chemical significance win 2012 Nobel Prize in Chemistry. *Biomedical Journal*, *36*(3), 118–124. https://doi.org/10.4103/2319-4170.113233
- Low, J., Lacy, K., McBride, R., & Keast, R. (2016). The Association between Sweet Taste Function, Anthropometry, and Dietary Intake in Adults. *Nutrients*, 8(5), 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8040241
- Maliphol, A. B., Garth, D. J., & Medler, K. F. (2013). Diet-induced obesity reduces the responsiveness of the peripheral taste receptor cells. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079403
- Martin, B., Shin, Y. K., White, C. M., Ji, S., Kim, W., Carlson, O. D., ... Egan, J. M. (2010). Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide-Null Mice Demonstrate Enhanced Sweet Taste Preference, Dysglycemia, and Reduced Taste Bud Leptin Receptor Expression. *Diabetes*, 59(5), 1143–1152. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-0807
- Martínez-Ruiz, N. R., López-Díaz, J. A., Wall-Medrano, A., Jiménez-Castro, J. A., & Angulo, O. (2014). Oral fat perception is related with body mass index, preference and consumption of high-fat foods. *Physiology and Behavior*, 129, 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.010

Mattes, R. D. (2011). Accumulating evidence supports a taste component for free fatty

acids in humans. *Physiology & Behavior*, *104*(4), 624–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.05.002

- Methven, L., Allen, V. J., Withers, C. A., & Gosney, M. A. (2012). Ageing and taste. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 71(4), 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665112000742
- New Zealand Medical Association. (2014). Policy Briefing Tackling Obesity, NZMA calls for action on obesity.
- Newman, L., Bolhuis, D., Torres, S., & Keast, R. (2016). Dietary fat restriction increases fat taste sensitivity in people with obesity. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 24(2), 328–334. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21357
- Newman, L., Haryono, R., & Keast, R. (2013). Functionality of fatty acid chemoreception: a potential factor in the development of obesity? *Nutrients*, 5(4), 1287–1300. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu5041287
- Pechey, R., & Monsivais, P. (2016). Socioeconomic inequalities in the healthiness of food choices: Exploring the contributions of food expenditures. *Preventive Medicine*, 88, 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.04.012
- Prescott, J. (2015). Multisensory processes in flavour perception and their influence on food choice. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, *3*, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2015.02.007
- Rolls, E. T. (2004). Smell, Taste, Texture, and Temperature Multimodal Representations in the Brain, and Their Relevance to the Control of Appetite. *Nutrition Reviews*, 62(11), 193–204. https://doi.org/10.1301/nr.2004.nov.S193-S204
- Rolls, E. T. (2016). Reward Systems in the Brain and Nutrition. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, *36*, 435–470. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-050725
- Roper, S. D., & Chaudhari, N. (2017). Taste buds: cells, signals and synapses. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18(8), 485–497. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2017.68
- Running, C. A., Craig, B. A., & Mattes, R. D. (2015). Oleogustus: The Unique Taste of Fat. *Chemical Senses*, 40(7), 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv036
- Sanematsu, K., Nakamura, Y., Nomura, M., Shigemura, N., & Ninomiya, Y. (2018). Diurnal Variation of Sweet Taste Recognition Thresholds Is Absent in Overweight and Obese Humans. *Nutrients*, 10(3), 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10030297
- Schutz, H. G., and Cardello, A. V. (2001). A labeled affective magnitude (LAM) scale for assessing food liking/disliking. Journal of Sensory Studies, 16(2), 117–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2001.tb00293.x
- Schwartz, M. W., Seeley, R. J., Zeltser, L. M., Drewnowski, A., Ravussin, E., Redman, L. M., & Leibel, R. L. (2017). Obesity Pathogenesis: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocrine Reviews*, 38(4), 267–296. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00111
- Sclafani, A., & Ackroff, K. (2012). Role of gut nutrient sensing in stimulating appetite and conditioning food preferences. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 302(10), R1119–R1133. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00038.2012
- Seidelmann, S. B., Claggett, B., Cheng, S., Henglin, M., Shah, A., Steffen, L. M., ... Solomon, S. D. (2018). Dietary carbohydrate intake and mortality: a prospective cohort study and meta-analysis. *The Lancet. Public Health*, 3(9), e419–e428. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30135-X
- Silhan, L. L., Robinett, K. S., Deshpande, D. A., & Liggett, S. B. (2012). Upregulation Of Bitter Taste Receptor Cell Surface Expression By Chronic Agonist: A Novel

Trafficking Outcome That May Minimize Tachyphylaxis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 185, A6271–A6271.

https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm-conference.2012.185.1_MeetingAbstracts.A6271

- Stevenson, R. J., Boakes, R. A., Oaten, M. J., Yeomans, M. R., Mahmut, M., & Francis, H. M. (2016). Chemosensory abilities in consumers of a western-style diet, 41(6), 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw053
- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., Golding, M., Delahunty, C., Clifton, P., & Keast, R. (2010). Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510000267
- Story, M., Kaphingst, K. M., Robinson-O'Brien, R., & Glanz, K. (2008). Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 29(1), 253–272. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090926
- Sumithran, P., Prendergast, L. A., Delbridge, E., Purcell, K., Shulkes, A., Kriketos, A., & Proietto, J. (2011). Long-term persistence of hormonal adaptations to weight loss. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 365(17), 1597–1604. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1105816
- Swiegers, J. H., Chambers, P. J., & Pretorius, I. S. (2005). Olfaction and taste: Human perception, physiology and genetics. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research*, 11(2), 109–113.
- Swinburn, B., Sacks, G., Vandevijvere, S., Kumanyika, S., Lobstein, T., Neal, B., ... Walker, C. (2013). INFORMAS (International Network for Food and Obesity/noncommunicable diseases Research, Monitoring and Action Support): Overview and key principles. *Obesity Reviews*, 14(S1). https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12087
- Szczesniak, A. S. (2002). Texture is a sensory property. *Food Quality and Preference*, *13*(4), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0950-3293(01)00039-8
- Tan, S.-Y., & Tucker, R. (2019). Sweet Taste as a Predictor of Dietary Intake: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients*, *11*(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010094
- Thanos, P. K., Michaelides, M., Subrize, M., Miller, M. L., Bellezza, R., Cooney, R. N., ... Hajnal, A. (2015). Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Alters Brain Activity in Regions that Underlie Reward and Taste Perception. *PloS One*, *10*(6), e0125570. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0125570
- Thompson, N. M., Norman, A. M., Donkin, S. S., Shankar, R., Vickers, M. H., Miles, J. L., & Breier, B. H. (2007). Prenatal and Postnatal Pathways to Obesity: Different Underlying Mechanisms, Different Metabolic Outcomes. *Endocrinology*, 148(5), 2345–2354. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2006-1641
- Touzani, K., Bodnar, R. J., & Sclafani, A. (2010). Neuropharmacology of Learned Flavor Preferences. *Pharmacology Biochemical Behaviour*, 97(1), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2010.06.001
- Trivedi, B. P. (2012a). Gustatory system: The finer points of taste. *Nature*, 486(7403 SUPPL.), S2–S3. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S2a
- Trivedi, B. P. (2012b). Neuroscience: hardwired for taste. *Nature*, *486*(7403), S7-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S7a
- Turner-McGrievy, G., Tate, D. F., Moore, D., & Popkin, B. (2013). Taking the Bitter with the Sweet: Relationship of Supertasting and Sweet Preference with Metabolic Syndrome and Dietary Intake. *Journal of Food Science*, 78(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.12008
- van Dongen, M. V, van den Berg, M. C., Vink, N., Kok, F. J., & de Graaf, C. (2012).

Taste-nutrient relationships in commonly consumed foods. *The British Journal Of Nutrition*, *108*(1), 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511005277

WHO. (2015). WHO | Healthy diet. https://doi.org/10.4158/EP161365.GL

- WHO. (2018). Obesity and Overweight factsheet from the World Health Organisation WHO [online] 2018.
- Wise, P. M., Nattress, L., Flammer, L. J., & Beauchamp, G. K. (2016). Reduced dietary intake of simple sugars alters perceived sweet taste intensity but not perceived pleasantness. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 103(1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.115.112300
- Yoshida, R., Noguchi, K., Shigemura, N., Jyotaki, M., Takahashi, I., Margolskee, R. F., & Ninomiya, Y. (2015). Leptin Suppresses Mouse Taste Cell Responses to Sweet Compounds. *Diabetes*, 64(11), 3751–3762. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-1462

Chapter II.

Literature review

2.1. OVERVIEW

In this literature review, determinants of food choice including sensory perception and taste are explored. The role of taste is critically evaluated to better understand its overall physiological function. This review compares taste perception to other primary senses and reviews how recent studies provide evidence for a link between taste sensitivity and health outcomes. The current methodology for the evaluation of taste and aroma is critically evaluated. Individual responsiveness to taste is investigated, as it can vary across different population groups which may be connected to alterations in food selection and long-term dietary behaviour. Dietary intake and eating behaviour methodology are also assessed, with a key focus on developing a link with taste perception. Finally, a critical review of the current literature connecting taste perception, dietary intake and body composition completes this chapter.

2.1.1. DETERMINANTS OF FOOD CHOICE

When choosing food and beverages to eat or drink, taste appears to have a strong influence. Many individuals choose exciting tastes and intense flavours to satisfy their hunger or thirst. However, other influences, both external and internal impact on foods and beverages selected for consumption. These influences may encourage or deter an individual from overeating (Story, Kaphingst, Robinson-O'Brien, & Glanz, 2008; van Dongen, 2012) (see Figure 2.1).

Society	Social environment and community	Individual factors
 Society and cultural norms Food industry Food marketing Food production and distribution Government and political systems 	 Family and friends Home Workplace School Neighbours Restaurants and fast food outlets Supermarkets 	 Food preferences Attitude Culture and religion Knowledge and education Skills Demographics Lifestyle Biological factors <i>Genetics</i> Age Gender Taste & sensory perception

Figure 2.1. Factors that influence an individual's eating habits (Story et al., 2008; van Dongen, 2012). Figure used with permission from Annual Reviews, Inc.

2.1.1.1. Society

Societal influences on dietary behaviour and intake include socio-cultural influences, the food industry, government and political systems. Socio-cultural norms influence long-term dietary habits through traditional ideas within a society (Jahoda, 2012). For example, in New Zealand (NZ), differences in eating habits are seen in Pacific people, who have a greater focus on sharing food than NZ European people (Tupai-Firestone et al., 2016). The food industry drives food availability, alongside the industry being profit-driven, which often conflicts with healthy eating recommendations and portion control (Roberto et al., 2015). A range of food products have higher quantities of sugar, fat, and salt, which increases the reward value of foods (Roberto et al., 2015; Wansink & Sobal, 2007). However, there are many products which are marketed as low in sugar, fat, or salt to meet consumer demand (Hutchings, Low, & Keast, 2018). The food industry in NZ is investing in digital media which enables food marketers to directly engage with their target audiences in dynamic ways to sell food products (Vandevijvere, Sagar, Kelly, & Swinburn, 2017). Additionally, there is an association between

geographic access to fast food outlets and neighbourhood deprivation in NZ, which influences food choice and may contribute to obesity (Pearce, Blakely, Witten, & Bartie, 2007).

The political environment can positively influence health and well-being if policies, food regulation and education in schools are carefully instated. For example, the introduction of high salt warning labels in Finland has been successful in reducing the intake of salt and encouraging food manufacturers to develop foods with lower salt content (Pietinen, Valsta, Hirvonen, & Sinkko, 2008). In NZ, there is an ongoing drive to tax sugar which is supported by the World Health Organisation, academics, local health groups and health professionals (Cropp, 2017). A sugar tax is expected to reduce consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, with a corresponding small decrease in caloric intake, based on the data from high and middle-income countries that have successfully instated a sugar tax (Backholer et al., 2016; Nakhimovsky et al., 2016).

2.1.1.2. Social environment and community

The social environment and the community (e.g. family, friends, workplaces, schools, etc) have an influence on food choice. Families have an influence on food choice due to providing the social environment where eating patterns and food preferences develop during childhood (Story et al., 2008). In children and adolescents, the presence of peers and friends can increase energy intake, except in situations where peers exhibit healthy eating (Salvy, de la Haye, Bowker, & Hermans, 2012). Therefore, friends and social facilitation have a major influence on food and beverage choices, particularly during adolescence (Herman, Roth, & Polivy, 2003). Schools and workplaces can also impact which foods are available to eat and may provide opportunities to facilitate or hinder healthy eating (Gerritsen & Wall, 2017). Accessibility of fast food outlets and takeaway options are increasingly prevalent but may contribute to poorer-quality diets in NZ (Mackay, Vandevijver, Xie, Lee, & Swinburn, 2017).

Health intervention strategies can be implemented through the social changes of communities. An example of such a health intervention strategy addresses the increase

in levels of childhood obesity in NZ is that of 'Project Energize', which is a region-wide whole-school nutrition and physical activity programme (Rush et al., 2014). Results of this work have shown that the long-term regional commitment to the programme in schools may enhance healthy eating and a reduction in weight gain (Rush et al., 2014).

2.1.1.3. Individual factors

Individual determinants of food choice include food preferences, individual attitudes, culture and religion, knowledge and education, skills, demographics, lifestyle and biological factors. Food preferences can have an important influence on dietary habits that can last over a lifetime. Culture and religion may impact food choice by restricting food intake (i.e. Ramadan) or by eliminating distinct food items from the diet (i.e. restrictions on the consumption of pork in Jews and Muslims) (Ali & Abizari, 2018; Meyer-Rochow, 2009). Knowledge and education may improve dietary intake. It has been previously shown that education level is positively correlated with improved diet quality (Thiele, Mensink, & Beitz, 2004). Conversely, those who are less educated alongside having a lower income, are at an increased risk of weight gain (Johnston & Lordan, 2014). In addition, individual skills (i.e. cooking skills) increase the probability of eating meals at home, which is associated with improved diet quality and therefore a decreased risk of obesity (Zong, Eisenberg, Hu, & Sun, 2016).

Demographics can further impact food choice, for example, males typically consume more food than females due to their higher physiological requirements (Rolls, Fedoroff, & Guthrie, 1991). Lifestyle factors, in addition, can play an important role in dietary intake. For example, it has been shown that individuals who are shift workers skip more meals and have increased intake of foods which are high in sugar and fat (Souza, Sarmento, de Almeida, & Canuto, 2019).

In the current PhD study, biological factors which include genetics, age, gender, taste and sensory perception, are acknowledged as critical influencers of food choice. However, one of the most influential factors governing food intake is taste perception (Breslin, 2013). Consumer behaviour, long-term habits and hedonic liking of food are affected by taste and flavour perception. For example, sugar-sweetened beverages are a major contributor to weight gain and obesity (Malik, Pan, Willett, & Hu, 2013), and one key reason for high consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages is their enhanced taste and palatability (Garneau, Nuessle, Mendelsberg, Shepard, & Tucker, 2018). The following sections will describe the physiology of taste perception, alongside olfactory and mouthfeel sensory modalities as important factors that impact, influence and motivate food choice.

2.2. SENSORY PERCEPTION

2.2.1. MULTIMODAL SENSORY PERCEPTION - AN OVERVIEW

The ability to 'sense' comes from the physiological capacity of an organism to translate external information into a feeling or sensation. This perception requires sensory cell types that are able to respond to a specific physical input and corresponds to a group of regions within the brain where the information is received and decoded (Rolls, 2007). The physical properties of food can affect many of our senses, including taste, touch (e.g. texture), sound (e.g. crunchiness), smell, thermoception, kinaesthetic sense and even pain. Figure 2.2 shows the physiology and the receptors for taste and aroma and how these signals are transmitted to the brain.



Figure 2.2. Basic physiology of taste and smell receptors signalling to the brain. The combination of sensory signals leads to our interpretation of flavour perception (Society for Neuroscience, 2012). Image used with permission from the Society for Neuroscience (SfN).

2.2.1.1. Sensory perception and the digestive system

Variation in individual responses to sensory stimuli has been reported over a number of decades (Pangborn, 1959). Genetics, age, gender and body composition are all proposed to have differentiated effects on an individual's sensory perception. Further, sensory preferences are thought to be a result of positive energy intake in the gastrointestinal tract creating a feedback loop which induces hunger and craving for familiar foods (Figure 2.3.). For example, the consumption of a highly palatable meal (e.g. a hamburger) is reinforced by appetitive sensory stimulation. As the meal is consumed the person will decide on how much to consume. Satiation occurs during or after the consumption of the meal, which triggers a cascade of hormones that drive short-term (e.g. Glucagon-like peptide 1, Peptide YY) and long-term (e.g. insulin, leptin) appetite regulation (Figure 3). These signals apply the 'brake' on eating when digestive components transit through the small intestine (Shin, Ingram, McGill, & Poppitt, 2013; Steinert et al., 2017).



Figure 2.3. The hypothalamus and brainstem play a crucial role in the control of ingestive behaviour (Berthoud, 2011, 2012). The brain aids the modulation of food intake and energy expenditure by (a) external (taste, sight, sound, feel and smell) sensory input to the hypothalamic energy sensor, (b) input from the reward processing system, (c) inputs from the emotional motor system, and (d) voluntary behavioural

control (adapted from Berthoud, 2012). Image (adapted) used with permission from Elsevier.

The brain plays a critical role in anticipating food intake and responds to sensory cues which prepare the body for digestion and absorption of nutrients. The preparation for digestion already occurs during the tasting process and even prior to the experience of taste perception, initiated by the visual and olfaction cues of the food, such as the non-conscious salivating response in anticipation of eating (Krishna, Morrin, & Sayin, 2014). Therefore, taste and oro-sensory cues are quickly and strongly associated with the post-ingestive cues of eating, which includes hormonal and metabolic pre-absorptive reflexes (Swithers & Davidson, 2008).

Appetitive sensory cues (e.g. taste, aroma, mouthfeel) may lead to the programming of food craving and habits, so when signals of hunger are increased, there will be a drive to consume food. This drive will continue until the point at which nutrients are sensed in the gastrointestinal tract, which triggers the release of appetite-regulating hormones indicating fullness (Maljaars, Peters, Mela, & Masclee, 2008; Shin et al., 2013). It has been suggested that this predictive control pathway may be compromised by highly processed food (e.g. flavour or aroma enhancers), due to a discrepancy between sensory signalling and the actual energy content consumed (van Dongen, van den Berg, Vink, Kok, & de Graaf, 2012).

2.2.2. TASTE

Human beings eat in order to meet the energy and nutrient requirement essential for survival. From an evolutionary perspective, taste perception has theoretically evolved primarily as a way to decide if the selected food is safe, suitable and whether or not it will contribute to energy and nutrient demands (Niven & Laughlin, 2008). For example, bitter taste can signal the presence of toxic compounds (Drewnowski, 1997), whereas sour taste can represent the presence of acidic or unripe foods (Huang et al., 2006). The cognitive translation of these signals leads to the development of long-term dietary preferences and habits. The next part of the literature review will describe the physiology of taste perception and the primary tastes (e.g. sweet, salty, bitter).

2.2.2.1. Basic taste physiology

The gustatory system recognises chemical stimuli that trigger distinct qualities: sweet, salty, bitter, umami and sour. In addition, a proposed sixth taste for fatty acids termed 'oleogustus' has strong supportive evidence of being defined as a basic taste (Running, Craig, & Mattes, 2015). Taste detection occurs primarily through cells present on the tongue, and activation of these taste cells by specific stimuli releases neurotransmitters onto afferent cranial nerve fibres to elicit taste information (Fernstrom et al., 2012). The interaction of taste and flavour (i.e. flavour is the combined sense of taste and odour) occurs during the chewing process (Prescott, 2012). If food is sensed as being unsuitable during this process it will be immediately rejected or it may result in a learned association to avoid that food or taste in future (Mennella, Reiter, & Daniels, 2016).

2.2.2.2. Tongue, fungiform papillae and taste cell types

The tongue is a complex organ containing a variety of papillae types (circumvallate, filiform, fungiform, and foliate papillae). Within each of these papillae, there are taste buds. There are 50 – 100 taste buds per papillae (see Figure 2.4), that are anatomically classified into four types of taste bud (Trivedi, 2012a). It has been proposed that most of the taste cells on the tongue are short-lived, lasting only for a few days (Chandrashekar, Hoon, Ryba, & Zuker, 2006), but that some taste cells are longer-lived cells lasting up to 10 weeks (Hamamichi, Asano-Miyoshi, & Emori, 2006). Whilst specialist taste cells are tuned to one taste quality only (i.e. sweet), there appears to be cell to cell communication (paracrine transmission) between specialist and generalist cell types, which work in unison to send a transmission signal to the brain (Roper & Chaudhari, 2009, 2017). The interaction of multiple tastes and how the signals are transmitted is complex and there are still several interactions that are yet to be understood.



Figure 2.4. Four types of papillae (a) are present on the human tongue (circumvallate, fungiform, filiform and foliate papillae). Circumvallate, fungiform and foliate contain taste buds; (b) whereas the filiform papillae detect the texture of food (adapted from Trivedi, 2012). Image used with permission from Springer Nature.

2.2.2.3. G-protein coupled receptors and taste physiology

The discovery of taste perception via G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) was highlighted by the Nobel Prize in chemistry awarded to Lefkowitz and Kobilka in 2012 (Lefkowitz, 2013; Lin, 2013). The receptors for sweet, bitter and umami are GPCRs (Gravitz, 2012), as well as fatty acid taste by GPR120 (Galindo et al., 2012). There is a fast transition from the taste stimulant (ligand) binding to the appropriate GPCR, initiating a signalling cascade that activates a chain of signalling events that lead to taste recognition (Hausch & Holsboer, 2012). Taste sensation is transmitted to the brain by multiple pathways, therefore the total loss of taste is very uncommon (Bromley, 2000).

2.2.2.4. Sweet taste

The innate preference for sweet is present early in life and is arguably one of the key sensory drivers to consume breast milk, which is vital for our survival during infancy (Mennella, 2014). Sweet taste stimuli bind to and activate the taste receptor type 1 member 2 (T1R2) and taste receptor type 1 member 3 (T1R3) receptors present on taste buds on the tongue. Sucrose, aspartame, cyclamate, saccharin and a range of other compounds taste 'sweet' by triggering the T1R2 and T1R3 receptors, however, chemically these compounds are relatively diverse (Fernstrom et al., 2012).

2.2.2.5. Salt taste

Salt is an essential micronutrient. Salt or sodium chloride (NaCl) has highly palatable influence on a wide range of foods (McLean & Hoek, 2014). The salt taste mechanism was confirmed in 2010, as an ion channel called the epithelium sodium channel (ENaC) sodium-salt taste receptor (Chandrashekar et al., 2010; Trivedi, 2012a). The brain is said to be finely tuned and highly selective when discerning 'salt taste' and this may be attributed to a strong innate preference for NaCl. This craving or an increased desire for 'salt taste' has been attributed to the importance of salt in our diet which influences many important physiological functions (Liem, Miremadi, & Keast, 2011).

2.2.2.6. Bitter taste

Bitter tastants trigger bitter taste receptors, which also belong to the superfamily of GPCRs. However, unlike the positive response that sweet taste has, bitter taste leads to an adverse reaction and is typically and instinctively 'disliked' (e.g. bitter vegetables, medicine). In some cases, however, bitter taste can be highly enjoyable (e.g. coffee, tea). The initial physiological reaction to bitter taste may be similar to that of poison or something that should not be ingested (Garcia-Burgos & Zamora, 2013; Mennella, 2014). Over time, however, there tends to be a change in the perception of bitter taste components in that individuals accept a wider range of vegetables, or products like coffee and tea, leading to long-term acceptability (Mennella, 2014).

In previous studies, bitter taste was described as a key indicator of taste ability, with the term 'supertaster' applied to those who could perceive the presence of phenylthiocarbamide (PTC) or its chemical relative, 6-n-propylthiouracil (PROP) (Bartoshuk, Duffy, & Miller, 1994). The origins of this classification stem from a laboratory accident in 1931, whereby PTC unintentionally was inhaled and tasted bitter to one individual, but not to the other individual (Anonymous, 1931; Wooding, 2006). Further inquiry by Fox and colleagues determined that some individuals are "taste blind" to PTC/PROP and others are not. Much later it was found that differences in the perception of bitterness recognition can be accounted for by differences in polymorphisms in the bitter receptor gene *hTAS2R38*, coding for distinct receptor types

(Bufe et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2003). A single specific gene detects bitterness in PTC/PROP, but that gene represents one of approximately 25 bitter taste receptors (TAS2R) (Behrens & Meyerhof, 2006; Lossow et al., 2016).

2.2.2.7. Umami taste

The taste 'umami' is a description of the savoury-like taste that results from the amino acid taste receptor. The umami taste is linked with activation of the GPCRs T1R1 and T1R3, which have been termed as broadly tuned to respond to most of the 20 amino acids, but not their D-enantiomers or other compounds (Nelson et al., 2002). It is thought that these savoury tasting percept's binding to the GPCR dimer can also bind to other receptors called metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 and 4 (mGluR1 and mGluR4) (Chaudhari, Pereira, & Roper, 2009). The umami taste is predominately associated with the taste of monosodium glutamate (MSG), which is often used as a flavour enhancer in processed foods and is found naturally in tomatoes, mushrooms and parmesan cheese.

2.2.2.8. Sour taste

Sour taste is triggered by the presence of protons (H⁺), a breakdown product from acidic foods. The mechanism of sensing sour is hypothesised to prevent the ingestion of unripe or acidic food choices which may cause acute sickness or harm (Baeyens, Vansteenwegen, De Houwer, & Crombez, 1996). Sour taste can have some appeal and the biological instinct to reject this taste can be altered through habituation, in a similar way to bitter taste. Changes to the sensitivity to sour taste has been further proposed to aid in the detection of key vitamins in the context of deficiency (i.e. Vitamin C) (Teng et al., 2019).

The mechanism for sour taste has been recently described by Teng et al as a protonselective ion channel Otop1 (Teng et al., 2019). These ion channels are expressed by type III taste receptor cells (TRCs), located in taste buds across the tongue which selectively detect the presence of acidic stimuli (i.e. H+). When studying sour taste recognition and hedonic liking, the most common substance used is citric acid (Wise & Breslin, 2013). Acceptance of citric acid has been shown to relate to fruit intake and sour taste acceptance in toddlers (Blossfeld et al., 2007).

2.2.2.9. Fatty acid taste

Studies have shown that humans can detect fatty acid taste at low concentrations (Chalé-Rush, Burgess, & Mattes, 2007; Keast & Costanzo, 2015; Mattes, 2005), however, the sensation is extremely complex. Unlike other tastes (e.g. sweet, bitter) the taste of a pure short-chain fatty acid is difficult to describe and can be confused with 'sour' (Running et al., 2015). Fat has gustatory, olfactory, and somatosensory cues, reflecting the broad sensitivity to fatty acid stimuli. There are several proposed receptors for fatty acids which are present on the tongue, as well as on entero-endocrine cells throughout the gastrointestinal (GI) tract (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5. Fatty acid receptors and transporters, which have been isolated from gastrointestinal (GI) enteroendocrine cells of both rodents and humans. Receptors include a cluster of differentiation-36 (CD36), as well as G protein-coupled receptors (GPR120, GPR40, GPR41, and GPR43) and delayed rectifying potassium (K⁺) channels (Stewart, Feinle-Bisset, & Keast, 2011). Figure (adapted) used with permission from Elsevier.

The gustatory receptor elements that have been attributed to fatty acid taste are CD36, GPR120, GPR40 and two long chain fatty acid (LCFA) specific receptors (Galindo et al., 2012). Evidence suggests that fatty acid stimulation could involve a cascade of more than one of the above receptor candidates (Galindo et al., 2012).

2.2.2.10. Sensory perception of fat terminology

Dietary fats are perceived by multiple sensory pathways. As such, it is important to clearly define each mode of the sensory perception of fat:

(1) Oral perception of fatty acids (**fat taste or fatty acid taste**). Fat taste has been recognised as a primary taste (Running et al., 2015). For fatty acid taste to be perceived, free fatty acids must activate fat taste receptors located on taste cells. Lingual lipases in the oral cavity can hydrolyse triacylglycerides which will increase free fatty acid exposure to taste receptors. However, in large amounts, free fatty acids elicit a rancid taste (Costanzo et al., 2017).

(2) Texture or mouthfeel perception of fat (**fat mouthfeel**). The perception of triacylglycerides differs from the perception of free fatty acids (e.g. fatty acid taste) as triacylglycerides impart odour, textural and irritant dimensions. Textural properties of fat are perceived by multiple routes (i.e. somatosensory). These fat textural cues are transmitted via trigeminal neurons (DiPatrizio, 2014).

(3) Olfaction or odour perception of fat (**fat olfaction**). Aroma of fat (i.e. odour) is perceived by volatiles which are perceived by olfactory receptors (Boesveldt and Lundström, 2014).

(4) Overall perception of dietary fats (**fat perception**). The combined perceived sensation of all the sensory properties of fat (i.e. taste, mouthfeel, olfaction, etc) can be described as fat perception.

2.2.3. OLFACTION

2.2.3.1. Olfaction pathways and physiology

Olfaction is a result of odorants binding to specific sites on olfactory receptors located in the nasal cavity, which form the sense of smell. Humans have around 400 functional olfactory receptors which stem from one of the largest gene families known across all animal species. The olfactory receptor cells themselves are primarily bipolar sensory neurons where the axon extends without synapsing to the central nervous system (Ache & Young, 2005). Due to olfactory receptors working in combination, it has been suggested that humans can detect 1 trillion different olfactory stimuli (Bushdid, Magnasco, Vosshall, & Keller, 2014). In other words, a single receptor is able to recognise multiple odours, and a single odorant is recognised by multiple receptors (Ghinea & Ademoye, 2010). This complex mapping of different combinations of odorant receptors creates a vast array of odours which are interpreted by the brain. Only 10% of olfactory receptors have known agonists and very little is known about specific human olfactory receptors (Gonzalez-Kristeller, do Nascimento, Galante, & Malnic, 2015).

Odorous chemicals enter the nasal passage during inhalation, and they dissolve in the olfactory mucus, where they diffuse or are actively transported to receptors on the cilia of olfactory receptor cells (Bromley, 2000). The anatomic ties between the olfactory system and the hypothalamus, amygdala, and hippocampus help explain the intimate associations between odour perception and cognitive functions such as memory, motivation, activity, and digestion (Doty & Bromley, 2012).

When food is chewed, volatiles are released that are sensed by bipolar neurons which are orthonasal (olfaction arising from odour compounds passing through the external nares or nose) and retronasal (odour compounds passing through the internal nares or through the mouth, more commonly sensed after swallowing) (Small, Gerber, Mak, & Hummel, 2005). Complex aroma signals are interpreted by the brain and the interplay between that input and other sensations (e.g. taste, textural attributes, visual) creates the final interpretation of the aroma. For example, the perception of strawberries and their flavour is enhanced substantially by breaking down the fruit via homogenisation, which releases more odorant compounds equivalent to chewing (Ingham, 1995).

The reciprocal effects of odour and taste are of interest, due to different types of exposure and learning over our lifetime (Prescott, 2012). When presented simultaneously, 'strawberry odour' with sweet taste (i.e. sucrose) and 'grapefruit odour' with sour taste (i.e. citric acid) will significantly improve taste recognition speed (White & Prescott, 2007). This phenomenon is thought to be a result of prior co-occurrence and repeated exposure. It is apparent that not only the taste preference but in fact the unique somatosensory interaction, is driving individual dietary behaviour.

2.2.3.2. Olfactory-based fat discrimination

Detection of fatty acids is unique in that humans are able to detect high concentrations of fatty acid by the sense of smell alone. Humans may be able to detect the fat content of food via olfaction due to the evolutionary pressure to detect fat as an important energy source (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014). In contrast, other tastes (e.g. sweet, bitter) are sole 'taste' sensations that do not elicit a sense of smell. Recently, a study has revealed that humans are able to discriminate the presence of varying levels of fat in milk samples using smell and that this ability reflects the ability to detect fat content in a range of real food products (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014). Another study has demonstrated that odour thresholds for a range of free fatty acids (e.g. linoleic, oleic and stearic acids) can be measured, however, a lack of association was observed between these threshold measures suggesting they function independently (Chalé-Rush et al., 2007). New and innovative future approaches towards a reduction in dietary fat intake may benefit from a better understanding of the physiology of olfactory-based fat discrimination.

2.2.4. MOUTHFEEL / TEXTURE

2.2.4.1. Mouthfeel physiology
Mouthfeel or texture is a product's interaction with the mouth, which can be experienced through the physical interaction of biting, chewing (mastication) and swallowing. During each stage of food fracture and breakdown, the perception of how the product feels in the mouth will change. Mouthfeel can be defined in detail, throughout each stage of mastication. Typical descriptions of the perception of mouthfeel include density, dryness, graininess, gumminess, hardness, heaviness, mouth-coating, roughness, slipperiness and smoothness (Hutchings, Foster, Hedderley, & Morgenstern, 2014). Descriptions such as these often give food their unique quality or characteristic, so the association of mouthfeel with flavour is a crucial relationship for food acceptance. Oral processing is becoming more critical in the understanding of overall sensory perception and hedonic preference. A recent development in this area is the classifications of oral processing in individuals and the way food is orally perceived (see Table 2.1).

Classification	Qualitative hedonic preference for chocolate	Approx. % of U.S. population
Chewers	Prefer chocolate that has a good chewing texture.	43
Crunchers	Prefer chocolate that contains nuts.	33
Smooshers	Prefer chocolate that melts fast.	16
Suckers	Prefer chocolate that is hard enough to suck on. Prefer to alternate chewing and sucking on chocolates.	8

Table 2.1. The U.S. population mouth behaviour classification and categorisation. Source: The Understanding and Insight Group, Limited Liability Company (LLC) (Jeltema, Beckley, & Vahalik, 2014). Table used with permission from John Wiley and Sons.

Mouth behaviour alters the perception of flavour intensity and the availability of aroma volatiles, which in turn, may influence dietary intake and eating behaviour (Jeltema et al., 2014). An example of this is that 'chewers' will breakdown food in the oral cavity more so than 'suckers' would, resulting in an increase in aroma volatiles interacting

with olfactory receptors, which subsequently increases flavour intensity.

2.2.4.2. Mouthfeel-based fat and sugar discrimination

The textural qualities of highly palatable foods will contribute to the overall appeal, which can be altered by ingredients such as fat and sugar (i.e. found in foods such as chocolate). The quantity of fat present in a food product or liquid will significantly alter mouthfeel and textural qualities. Some measurements of the textural properties of dairy products include the tribological measurement, which includes lubricating qualities which can be compared to the oral breakdown rate in the mouth (Nguyen, Bhandari, & Prakash, 2016). It has been reported by trained panels that fattiness perception is highest in emulsions of fat that melts at body temperature, being high in saturated fat (e.g. solid milk fat) in comparison to other oils such as sunflower oil (Vingerhoeds, de Wijk, Zoet, Nixdorf, & van Aken, 2008). The higher degree of saturated fat leans itself toward shear-induced coalescence of these emulsions and therefore increased fat-related textural attributes. Fattiness perception may be determined by the mouthfeel of the fat itself, or instead, by taste receptor interaction of the fatty acid. The combination of taste and textural attributes, as well as olfaction, may enhance fatty acid recognition (Stevenson et al., 2016).

Such an ability to perceive fat content may vary between fatty acid taste hypo- and hypersensitive individuals (Stewart et al., 2010). This question of the liking of textural attributes is of interest, as it is well known that commercial products with 'fat replacers' that mimic the textural attributes of fat often fail to attain the same level of hedonic liking or craving response than that of a full fat equivalent (Jervis, Gerard, Drake, Lopetcharat, & Drake, 2014).

Sugar not only contributes sweetness to a product, but it also contributes to the body and mouthfeel of foods and beverages. Significant differences are found between artificially sweetened and caloric sugar equivalents when evaluating mouthfeel (Oliveira et al., 2015). Sucrose mouthfeel detection thresholds have been measured in studies (Hewson, Hollowood, Chandra, & Hort, 2008; Kappes, Schmidt, & Lee, 2006). Therefore, reformulation of products with reduced sugar has the added complexity of impacting the contribution sugar has on texture, viscosity, and mouthfeel (Hutchings et al., 2018).

2.2.5. REGULATORS OF METABOLIC HEALTH AND DIGESTIVE PHYSIOLOGY

2.2.5.1. Gastrointestinal tract physiology

The physiology of nutrient-sensing involves the multimodal perception of oral taste, olfaction and mouthfeel chemo-sensation, but taste is also further sensed within the GI tract (Janssen & Depoortere, 2013). Food learning in itself has been proposed to involve multiple processes, where oral and post-oral properties of nutrients (e.g. nutrient feedback) allow for the preference of an associated taste (Touzani, Bodnar, & Sclafani, 2010). Gut chemosensors are thought to be linked to digestive effects, providing positive feedback which may condition food preferences over time (Sclafani & Ackroff, 2012). Receptors in the gut have been found to be homologous to the taste receptors found in the oral cavity and consist of GPCR mediated signalling and ion channel pathways (Reimann, Tolhurst, & Gribble, 2012). GPCRs are distributed throughout the stomach, intestine, and pancreas, acting to aid the digestive process by influencing appetite and regulating insulin production.

The GI tract is the largest endocrine organ and hormones (e.g. cholecystokinin (CCK), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)) within the GI tract act on the central nervous system to regulate appetite and glycemia post-meal consumption (Côté, Zadeh-Tahmasebi, Rasmussen, Duca, & Lam, 2014). The T1R2 and T1R3 'sweet' receptors are present on enteroendocrine cells, which are homologous to taste receptor cells on the tongue (Spreckley & Murphy, 2015). T1R2 and T1R3 'sweet' receptor cells in the intestine secrete hormones called incretins, which in turn stimulate insulin secretion (Jang et al., 2007). As research continues into this area, it becomes more apparent how the presence of such receptors is vital for normal physiological function (Figure 2.6). As an example, the presence of 'bitter' receptors are thought to be protective in the GI tract, as the presence of bitter chemicals (i.e. poison) in the large intestine evokes secretion of anions triggering the entrance of water, which leads to diarrhoea removing the toxins

from the body (Kaji, Karaki, Fukami, Terasaki, & Kuwahara, 2009).



Figure 2.6. Image of the receptors found in the digestive tract that are nutrient sensors homologous to receptors (GPCRs) found in the oral cavity, nasal epithelium and trachea (Trivedi, 2012b). Image used with permission from Springer Nature.

2.2.5.2. Signalling and interactions of the enteroendocrine system

Information regarding incoming nutrients is conveyed by hormones that originate from epithelial cells or bile acids, together with neural signals (Monteiro & Batterham, 2017). Key hormones that are secreted from enteroendocrine cells, which are critical in appetite and food intake control include GLP-1, Peptide YY (PYY), gastric leptin, somatostatin, and CCK, as well as others (Bauer, Hamr, & Duca, 2016). GLP-1 levels increase when nutrients enter the proximal GI tract, leading to a biphasic response of a rapid increase of GLP-1, followed by another peak after 60 - 90 minutes (Monteiro & Batterham, 2017). PYY is co-secreted with GLP-1, and with other peptides such as CCK, secretin, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP), and neurotensin (NT). In response to nutrient ingestion, PYY levels increase rapidly and remain elevated

for several hours, with energy content and macronutrient composition impacting upon secretion. In contrast, circulating ghrelin increases before meals and falls rapidly after nutrient ingestion in proportion to the energy intake consumed (Hopkins & Blundell, 2016). Ghrelin, GLP-1, GIP, and CCK are all associated with gastrointestinal taste receptors that may play a functional role in detecting luminal nutrients which affect glucose and energy homeostasis (Janssen et al., 2011).

2.2.5.3. Insulin, leptin and appetite regulation

The early insulin response to meal ingestion is important for the regulation of subsequent glucose tolerance as post-absorptive nutrient status is in part managed by insulin levels (Blundell et al., 2010). It has been suggested that a blunted pre-absorptive insulin response is associated with obesity, which can exacerbate already dysregulated metabolic pathways (Hopkins & Blundell, 2016). Interestingly, the sweet taste receptor is expressed in β -cells, and activation of this receptor further acts to induce insulin secretion (Nakagawa et al., 2009). Chronic, acquired diseases such as type 2 diabetes (T2D) occur when normal physiologic control goes awry, so it is crucial that blood glucose homeostasis and metabolite levels are maintained within physiological parameters (Kotas & Medzhitov, 2015). Therefore, the interaction of the sweet taste receptor with subsequent insulin secretion in β -cells may play a critical role in the long-term regulation of glucose homeostasis and metabolic health.

Insulin increases body fat mass (Benoit, Clegg, Seeley, & Woods, 2004). However, insulin stimulates the production and secretion of leptin, the satiety hormone, that acts centrally to reduce food intake and increase energy expenditure (Amitani, Asakawa, Amitani, & Inui, 2013). Leptin then suppresses insulin secretion by both central and direct actions on the pancreas (Kieffer & Habener, 2000). Leptin is predominantly produced by adipose tissue and enterocytes in the small intestine. As a consequence, plasma levels of leptin are directly proportional to body fat mass (Seufert, 2004). The most significant roles of leptin include regulation of energy homeostasis, neuroendocrine function, energy metabolism and energy expenditure (Covey et al., 2006). Leptin activates a complex neural circuit in the hypothalamus including

anorexigenic (appetite-diminishing) and orexigenic (appetite-stimulating) neuropeptides to control food intake (Amitani et al., 2013). Outside of the hypothalamus, leptin interacts with the mesolimbic dopamine system, which is involved in motivation for and reward of feeding, and the nucleus of the solitary tract of the brainstem to contribute to satiety (Besnard, 2016).

In a healthy physiological state, an increase of adiposity and therefore plasma leptin, results in decreasing insulin production and reducing fat mass (Amitani et al., 2013). However, in the obese state, dysregulation of the insulin-leptin feedback system occurs, characterised by hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia, and endocrine desensitisation (Owei, Umekwe, Provo, Wan, & Dagogo-Jack, 2017; Tchernof & Després, 2013). Leptin also aids to control sugar reward via the central nervous system by acting on glucose-sensing neural circuitry and thus maintains long-term homeostatic control of adipose tissue mass (Kubasova, Burdakov, & Domingos, 2015). Gastric leptin regulates food intake in the short-term and is rapidly secreted in response to both food and peptide hormones, such as CCK and insulin (Monteiro & Batterham, 2017). Further, leptin has been shown to modulate sweet taste sensitivities in mice (Kawai, Sugimoto, Nakashima, Miura, & Ninomiya, 2000). Sweet taste receptors are expressed in taste buds but also in enteroendocrine cells acting as sensors for sugar (Nakagawa et al., 2009).

2.2.5.4. Blood glucose regulation

Blood glucose regulation involves maintaining blood glucose at a constant level. Insulin and glucagon act to maintain an optimal range of blood glucose, where insulin is released when blood glucose levels are elevated, and glucagon is released when there are low levels (Jones, Tan, & Bloom, 2012). However, with obesity, insulin resistance can occur where cells in the muscles, liver and in adipose tissue resist the hormone insulin, resulting in elevated circulating blood glucose. High blood glucose levels over a prolonged period are associated with serious health complications, including T2D (Jones et al., 2012).

Taste receptors are important in the regulation of food intake and nutrient assimilation and therefore may be intimately linked with blood glucose regulation and endocrine responses (Dotson et al., 2008). Differences in sweet and bitter taste receptor efficacy have been hypothesised to influence glucose homeostasis (Dotson et al., 2008). This efficacy or sensitivity to nutrients may be homologous across both oral and gastrointestinal receptors. One study showed a positive correlation between taste responsiveness to sucrose and the number of metabolic disturbances in female adolescents (Pasquet, Laure Frelut, Simmen, Marcel Hladik, & Monneuse, 2007). Additionally, a range of studies has investigated the role of intestinal sweet taste receptors, where low energy sweeteners have been shown to impact on glucose absorption, GLP-1 release and GIP release (Renwick & Molinary, 2010). The role of the sweet taste and bitter taste receptors in regulating metabolic processes indicates that it is a potential target for novel therapeutic treatments of obesity and metabolic dysfunctions (Laffitte, Neiers, & Briand, 2014).

2.2.5.5. Obesity, metabolic health and the current public health setting

Obesity is a global health issue (Ng et al., 2014). The current obesogenic environment suggests that across many people living in westernised countries, energy homeostasis is impaired (Berthoud, 2012). For example, the prevalence in NZ has increased over the last decade, with 1.2 million adults (32% of the population) currently being obese (Ministry of Health, 2016) and NZ ranking as the third most obese country in the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (Ng et al., 2014). In NZ, Pacific (69%) and Māori (50%) are disproportionately affected by obesity compared with the general population in NZ (32%), and rates are highest in the most deprived areas (Ministry of Health., 2017). Major influences on deprivation and socioeconomic status include employment, income, qualifications, home ownership, family structure and housing (Atkinson, Salmond, & Crampton, 2014). In turn, deprived socioeconomic status is associated with weight gain and obesity risk due to the increased intake of cheap, highly palatable and processed food options (Swinburn et al., 2013), lower adherence to current dietary recommendations (Schwartz et al., 2017) and unhealthy lifestyle choices and habits (Duca & Lam, 2014).

Interventions and government led strategies to halt the obesity epidemic have been unsuccessful to date (Dubé, 2010; Ng et al., 2014). Obesity increases the risk of developing a range of diseases including cardiovascular disease (CVD), T2D and cancer (Heymsfield & Wadden, 2017; Huxley, Mendis, Zheleznyakov, Reddy, & Chan, 2010). The underlying causes of obesity are complex; however, excess energy intake is increased by several factors including cognition, habit-forming, brain reward, nutrient sensing in the gut and predictive control (see Figure 2.3). Obesity is further associated with a mild inflammatory state, which is impacted by elevated circulating leptin (Bauer et al., 2016; Monteiro & Batterham, 2017). Insulin and leptin resistance can both occur as a result of obesity, resulting in the impaired regulation of appetite and metabolism. Other known factors contributing to obesity include imbalances in pathways of glucose and lipid metabolism that occur as a consequence of variations in quantity and quality of the diet, sedentary lifestyle and genetic predisposition (Phillips, 2017; Tchernof & Després, 2013). Obesity arises because of how the body regulates energy intake, energy expenditure and energy storage, and reflects a state of positive energy balance.

Current public health research in obesity aims at generating effective food and nutrition policies (Swinburn et al., 2013), increasing the availability of and access to healthier food choices (Ni Mhurchu et al., 2013) and community-based interventions (Rush et al., 2014). It has become clear that obesity is due to a complex interplay between the central nervous system and metabolic processes that over time contribute to a large range of comorbidities and deterioration in health (Dube et al., 2010). Progress in obesity management will require a greater understanding of the biological, behavioural, and environmental factors associated with lifestyle changes including both diet and taste perception (Hill, 2006; McGill, 2014; N. Thompson et al., 2014). Taste perception, eating behaviour and dietary intake may be important biological factors that require further understanding. Given that both sweet taste and fat have a powerful hedonic appeal, associated preferences for sweet and fatty foods are important contributors to increases in body weight and metabolic disease risk (Laffitte et al., 2014; Martínez-Ruiz, López-Díaz, Wall-Medrano, Jiménez-Castro, & Angulo, 2014). Recent studies have indicated that overweight and obese groups may experience a diminished taste perception compared to normal weight groups (Dando, 2015; Kaufman, Choo, Koh, &

Dando, 2018; Proserpio et al., 2016). This further suggests that overweight and obese groups may have altered taste preferences based on the concentration level of taste (Kure Liu et al., 2019; Proserpio et al., 2016). Taste perception, dietary intake and body composition associations will be reviewed in more detail in section 5.3.

2.3. POTENTIAL INFLUENCES ON TASTE PERCEPTION

Taste perception can be impacted by a range of other biological factors. These important influences on sensory perception are genetics, age, gender, and body weight. Each of these will be discussed as follows.

2.3.1. GENETICS

Humans show substantial differences in taste perception and in part this is due to genetics (Reed & Xia, 2015). For example, differences observed in the CD36 fatty acid taste receptor genotype may lead to weight gain over time (Keast & Costanzo, 2015; Pepino, Kuda, Samovski, & Abumrad, 2014; Sayed et al., 2015). However, this type of association brings up the question '*what came first, the chicken or the egg*' scenario for fat intake; is it an initial impairment in fatty acid taste sensitivity that may lead to obesity, or do individuals with obesity develop this impaired chemoreception overtime? Does this impaired chemoreception lead to overeating and therefore weight gain? In support of this, a recent investigation has found a significantly higher CD36-A allele frequency in young children with obesity when compared to lean children (Sayed et al., 2015). Another study found that acceptance of added fats and oils and perceived creaminess varied between individuals with different CD36 polymorphisms (Keller et al., 2012). Based on molecular evidence, GPCRs and CD36 function in the presence of fatty acids to trigger peptide secretions in the oral cavity and in the gut (see Table 2.2).

Table 2.2. Peptide secretions triggered by fatty acids in both taste cells and
enteroendocrine cells and the corresponding fatty acid receptors (Pepino et al., 2014).
Table used with permission from Annual Reviews, Inc.

	Peptide	Primary site	Fat ligand	FA receptor
Taste cells	GLP-1	Circumvallate papillae	LCFA	GPR120
	Serotonin	Circumvallate papillae	LCFA	CD36

EE cells

K cells	GIP	Duodenum/Jejunum	LCFA	GPCR40, 119, 120
S cells	Secretin	Duodenum/Jejunum	LCFA	CD36
I cells	CCK	Duodenum/Jejunum	LCFA	CD36, GPCR40
L cells	PYY	Ileum/Colon	ShFA	GPCR41, 43
L cells	GLP-1	Ileum/Colon	LCFA, OEA	GPCR40, 119, 120

CCK, cholecystokinin; CD36, cluster of differentiation 36; EE, enteroendocrine; FA, fatty acid; GIP, glucose insulinotropic peptide; GLP, glucagon-like peptide; GPCR, G-protein coupled receptor; LCFA, long-chain fatty acid; OEA, oleoylethanolamide; PYY, peptide YY.

2.3.2. AGE (GESTATION, CHILDHOOD, ADULT TO AGING)

The association of early life exposure and taste preferences later in life are still being established. During development, it has been shown that periods of heightened sensitivity to environmental exposure, such as sensory experiences, can strongly influence food preferences (Mennella, 2014). Longitudinal studies suggest that some food habits can be tracked from infancy into adolescence, which is particularly important for fruit and vegetable intake (Lioret, McNaughton, Spence, Crawford, & Campbell, 2013; Mikkilä, Räsänen, Raitakari, Pietinen, & Viikari, 2005; Skinner, Carruth, Bounds, Ziegler, & Reidy, 2002). It is the hedonic liking of specific foods (e.g. broccoli, kale or other bitter-tasting cruciferous vegetables) that may be most influenced by this early exposure. Theoretically, if such 'bitter' taste experiences are acceptable in early life, then the daily intake of healthy vegetables is more likely to occur throughout adult life (Mennella, 2014). Genetic influences interact with this behaviour as it has been found that non-taster PROP children (i.e. less sensitive to bitter taste) consume more vegetables in a free-choice setting (Bell & Tepper, 2006) and those who are sensitive to bitter taste consume fewer vegetables (Keller, Steinmann, Nurse, & Tepper, 2002).

Taste perception has been found to decline with age (Methven, Allen, Withers, & Gosney, 2012) a trend which is seen across all primary tastes. Taste acuity has also been shown to decline with the onset of some diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary

disease (Wardwell, Chapman-Novakofski, & Brewer, 2009).

2.3.3. GENDER

There is conflicting evidence as to whether or not there is any difference in sensitivity to primary taste by gender (Chang, Chung, Kim, Chung, & Kho, 2006; Gudziol & Hummel, 2007; James, Laing, & Oram, 1997; Landis et al., 2009; Pingel, Ostwald, Pau, Hummel, & Just, 2010; Wardwell et al., 2009). The studies which have found women to be more sensitive to taste may have observed differences due to hormonal differences between genders (Kuga, Ikeda, & Suzuki, 1999; McNeil, Cameron, Finlayson, Blundell, & Doucet, 2013), behavioural differences (e.g. dieting, restrictive behaviours), differences in neural or endocrine systems and potentially variation in subjective scoring, decision-making and psychology (Doty, 1978; Haase, Green, & Murphy, 2011; Running, Mattes, & Tucker, 2013).

2.3.4. BODY WEIGHT AND OBESITY

A number of studies have raised the question of whether there is a link between increased adiposity and taste perception, or sensitivity to taste (Bartoshuk, Duffy, Hayes, Moskowitz, & Snyder, 2006; Donaldson, Bennett, Baic, & Melichar, 2009; Pepino, Finkbeiner, Beauchamp, & Mennella, 2010; Salbe, DelParigi, Pratley, Drewnowski, & Tataranni, 2004; Sartor et al., 2011). However, testing methods used across these studies are inconsistent (Cox, Hendrie, & Carty, 2015; Low, Lacy, McBride, & Keast, 2017).

Interestingly, the most successful therapeutic treatment for morbid obesity to date has been bariatric surgery (Ashrafian & le Roux, 2009). Bariatric surgery modulates gut and adipose hormones. It has been found that bypass and foregut exclusion operations (i.e. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass) produce stronger gut hormone responses than banding or restrictive procedures (Buchwald et al., 2009). So, what effect does bariatric surgery have on taste perception? Initially, it has been suggested that taste sensation for those who have undergone bariatric surgery increases, with sweet and fatty tastes becoming less pleasant at higher concentrations. Gastric bypass is therefore thought to reverse taste hedonics (Miras & Le Roux, 2014), for example, the palatability of sweetness as measured by taste testing has been shown to shift from pleasant to unpleasant (Nance, Eagon, Klein, & Pepino, 2017). Roux-en-Y gastric bypass has been found to alter brain activity in areas involved in reward expectation and taste processing upon anticipation of fatty food in rats (Thanos et al., 2015). This information is of great interest as the cerebellar regions related to altered metabolism following gastric bypass may help to highlight novel therapeutic targets for prevention of weight gain.

Establishment of taste perception alongside the measurements of the regulators of appetite and fat storage may elucidate important mechanisms and taste-appetite associations. For example, the adipocyte hormone leptin aids to control sugar reward via the central nervous system by acting on glucose-sensing neural circuitry and may have a distinct influence on sweet taste perception (Kubasova et al., 2015). Compelling work has shown that circulating leptin concentrations correspond with diurnal variation in sweet taste recognition in humans (Nakamura et al., 2008). These associations are complex, as both TAS1R and TAS2R taste receptors detect both sweet and bitter-tasting stimuli (Dotson et al., 2008). The determination of distinct hormonal influences on each primary taste response may reveal important associations between taste perception, body weight and body composition.

2.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION MEASUREMENTS

2.4.1. TASTE METHODOLOGY

Taste perception can be measured by a wide range of techniques. A commonly utilised taste perception measurement is that of 'sensitivity', or the absolute minimum concentration of a stimulus that can be perceived (i.e. detection threshold). An additional measurement that is commonly used is the minimum concentration of a stimulus that can be recognised, or 'named' (i.e. recognition threshold). The perceived intensity and hedonic ratings of suprathreshold concentrations are rated using a scale, general linear magnitude scale (gLMS), or labelled affective magnitude (LAM) scale which have been increasingly used in recent studies (Noel, Sugrue, & Dando, 2017). Other methods include, but are not limited to: ranking tasks, paired comparison taste tests, and discrimination tasks (Ettinger, Duizer, & Caldwell, 2012; Haryono, Sprajcer, & Keast, 2014; Kim, Prescott, & Kim, 2014; Newman, Torres, Bolhuis, & Keast, 2016). These taste testing methodologies are further described below.

2.4.1.1. Taste threshold and taste recognition methodology

Detection thresholds are evaluated using specific testing methods, the two most commonly used methods are 1. staircase method and 2. ascending forced choice procedure (ASTM, 2011; Tucker & Mattes, 2013). Each method has its own advantages; however, the ascending forced choice method has the distinct benefit of minimising desensitisation, as it starts from the lowest concentration and increases until the taste is detected. Furthermore, the ascending forced choice method avoids bias as it doesn't start from a higher concentration or predetermined midpoint (Haryono et al., 2014), and it has less probability of random chance influencing results (3.7%), as opposed to the staircase method (11.1%). Recognition threshold is typically measured from an ascending order, with the detection threshold concentration used as the starting point (Low et al., 2017). Participants continue to trial taste samples until they reach the point at which they can correctly identify the taste quality (i.e. "sour") two or three

times consecutively (Pasquet, Monneuse, Simmen, Marez, & Hladik, 2006).

The ability to recognise a taste (i.e. the ability to describe a taste as 'sweet' or 'salty') is different from the ability to detect a taste (i.e. noticing the presence of the agonist, without being able to define what it is). For example, the test re-test of salty and sour taste mechanisms were investigated by Wise and Breslin (2013) who suggested that recognition and detection abilities are likely to be controlled by different physiological processes (Wise & Breslin, 2013). More recent studies have found clear differences between detection thresholds and recognition thresholds of taste, as well as suprathreshold intensity ratings of taste (Giguère et al., 2016; Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Low, Lacy, McBride, & Keast, 2016). It is critical that these descriptions of taste perception are clearly distinguished as there appears to be a complex relationship between chemical concentration, detection and suprathreshold intensity (Keast & Roper, 2007).

2.4.1.2. Suprathreshold taste ratings

The suprathreshold intensity assessment of taste uses higher concentration levels than that of the recognition levels of taste. Usually, only a small range of taste concentrations are selected that have been previously described as distinct concentration levels (i.e. 'weak', 'moderate' and 'strong') (Low et al., 2016). Each concentration of stimuli is then rated by participants, often using a validated scale; the most frequently used is the gLMS following a standard protocol (Bartoshuk, 2000). Measurements using these scales (i.e. intensity) are subjective measurements, they can be influenced by opinions or feelings (Hardikar, Höchenberger, Villringer, & Ohla, 2017).

2.4.1.3. Other taste perception measurements

A range of other objective taste perception measurements can be utilised. Previous studies have used ranking tasks, where participants rank four samples from the highest through to the lowest concentration of taste (i.e. 1 = highest concentration of stimulus, 4

= lowest concentration of stimulus). This methodology has been successfully used in previous studies (Haryono et al., 2014; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart, Newman, & Keast, 2011). Taste sensitivity scores derived from ranking tasks have shown similar results to detection threshold measurements (Stewart et al., 2010). Ranking tasks significantly reduce participant fatigue in comparison to threshold testing.

Impregnated taste strips are commonly used in studies as a measure of taste recognition involving large numbers of participants (Fernandez-Garcia et al., 2017), as well as in studies involving children (Overberg, Hummel, Krude, & Wiegand, 2012; Tucker, Nuessle, Garneau, Smutzer, & Mattes, 2015). These studies can be carried out in offsite locations (i.e. schools). Paired comparison tests, or discrimination tasks, can be used to determine if differences can be perceived between two different samples (i.e. apple juice containing either 4g or 10g of sucrose, presented side by side, where the participant determines which has the highest concentration of sugar) (Alexy et al., 2011). However, both impregnated taste strips and discrimination tasks may only provide broad measurements or single concentration measurements which may be difficult to compare with dietary intake data. However, the distinct advantage of these tasks is the 'right or wrong' outcome, which provides non-subjective results with minimal participant fatigue.

2.4.1.4. Fatty acid taste threshold methodology

Unlike the other primary tastes, fat is the most difficult to test because fat has textural, visual and solubility issues when creating test samples. Milk or whey protein-based tasting samples are regarded as a more stable emulsion vehicle, and a number of studies have utilised this milk or protein-based stimuli in lieu of distilled water (Galindo et al., 2012; Keast, Azzopardi, Newman, & Haryono, 2014; Panek-Scarborough, Dewey, & Temple, 2012; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart & Keast, 2012). Fatty acids can be kept longer and retain a more homogenous mixture in milk than a water-based solution. It has been recommended that non-fat, ultra-high temperature (UHT) processed milk is a suitable base for oral fatty acid threshold assessment (Haryono et al., 2014). In order to evaluate the presence of fatty acid, and the fatty acid taste sensitivity that an individual may have, most studies work on determining the lowest concentration of a fatty acid

which can be distinguished from a background sample (e.g. water or ice-cream) lacking fatty acid (Running et al., 2015).

2.4.2. OLFACTORY METHODOLOGY

When measuring the ability to smell a substance, it is important to note that the interaction of odour volatiles is complex. One of the most common procedures for measuring the ability to sense smell is that of the Sniffin' Sticks test (Burghart Messtechnik GmbH, Germany). Sniffin' Sticks is a method for testing orthonasal stimulation (Hummel, Sekinger, Wolf, Pauli, & Kobal, 1997), and retronasal stimulation (the olfactory stimulation sensed when food is in the mouth) (Heilmann, Strehle, Rosenheim, Damm, & Hummel, 2002). A range of studies using Sniffin' Sticks has utilised a total score (TDI), which combines odour threshold, odour discrimination and odour identification ability (Haehner et al., 2009; Hummel, Kobal, Gudziol, & Mackay-Sim, 2007; Hummel et al., 1997). Odour threshold is measured with a series of sticks containing *n*-butanol or phenyl ethyl alcohol alongside control sticks, and when consecutive correct identifications are made, this is considered to be the detection threshold (lowest concentration at which the odour is detected) (Denzer et al., 2014; Hummel et al., 1997). Discrimination is where three odours are presented, and the individual is asked to identify the stick with the different smell. Identification is assessed with common odours (e.g. peppermint, banana, lemon) and from a multiplechoice question, participants are asked to identify the odour (Freiherr et al., 2012). Individually these measurements can give an indication as to whether a person has "normal" olfactory perception (normosmic), has reduced sensitivity to smell (hyposmic) or no sense of smell (anosmic) (Haxel, Fuchs, Fruth, Mann, & Lippert, 2011; Kobal et al., 2000).

Threshold tests have been designed for measuring olfactory sensitivity with targeted food odours, such as dark chocolate (Stafford & Whittle, 2015). Another useful method for measuring odour recognition is the 40-item University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test (UPSIT, Sensonics, Inc. Haddon Heights, NJ, USA) as well as the short version of this - the 8-item test pocket smell test (PST) (Doty, Shaman, & Dann, 1984). These tests have been validated and conducting the test is simple due to the

stimuli being a 'scratch and sniff' card (Fornazieri et al., 2013; Haugen et al., 2016; Rawal, Hoffman, Honda, Huedo-Medina, & Duffy, 2015). Another 40-item identification test is one that uses an olfactometer (OLFACT-ID[™], Osmic Enterprises, Inc.) which provides better control of aroma stimuli with computerised regulation of aroma output and timing (Rawal et al., 2015).

One of the major challenges for olfactory measurement is 'adaptation', which is a phenomenon where intense odours become less intense over time due to physiological desensitisation (Stuck, Fadel, Hummel, & Sommer, 2014). Olfactory tests which test a range of odours at different concentrations (i.e. staircase method) may require repeated testing in order to overcome this limitation at different study visits. Few studies have investigated the test re-test reliability of smell (Rawal et al., 2015).

2.4.3. MOUTHFEEL SENSATION METHODOLOGY

Mouthfeel provides food with desirable qualities that are crucial in product acceptance as well as complimenting taste and flavour attributes (Stokes, Boehm, & Baier, 2013). Textural qualities such as smoothness, fattiness, and creaminess are likely to vary among individuals, however, the measurement of these feelings is challenging.

Measurement of sensation is often subjective and can vary widely between individuals. To overcome this, trained panels are often used who are taught exact mouthfeel or textural sensations. Alternatively, researchers can use visual analogue scales (VAS), or a categorical scale, in an attempt to quantify subjective feelings from untrained panellists (Chaput, Gilbert, Gregersen, Pedersen, & Sjödin, 2010).

2.4.4. SENSORY PERCEPTION SUMMARY

The 'obesity epidemic' cannot be solely contributed to hereditary factors, as it has only been of acute concern in recent years (Swinburn et al., 2013). Therefore, multiple influences explain the 'obesity epidemic' beyond individual factors (Story et al., 2008; Vandenbroeck, Goossens, & Clemens, 2007). However, individual factors and associated biological mechanisms may be the key to specific targets for therapeutic and long-term intervention strategies to reduce population obesity. Associations between taste perception, dietary intake, eating behaviour and obesity are reviewed in detail below.

2.5. DIETARY INTAKE AND EATING BEHAVIOUR

2.5.1. DIETARY INTAKE

Individual dietary intake can be influenced by a range of factors (see Section 1.1.), impacting on total energy intake or the intake of individual macronutrients. Whole diets are complex, and the interaction of multiple tastes which would occur during the consumption of a meal may act to enhance or inhibit sensory perception on the oral surface (Newby & Tucker, 2004). Therefore, measurement of the whole diet alongside taste perception is important to advance our understanding of these associations. One example is that of 'sensory-specific satiety', which is the decline in liking for a consumed item relative to other non-consumed items (Rolls, 2015), which is an explanation for increased intake (altered liking) with variety. Studies have shown that when exposed to a wide variety of foods (i.e. buffet-style meal options) the variety will induce increased consumption of up to 44% in comparison with an item restricted buffet (Raynor & Epstein, 2001).

2.5.1.1. Assessing dietary intake

There is a wide range of dietary intake methodologies which are used in sensory perception and taste perception studies. Weighed and estimated food records are the 'gold standard' method for quantifying nutrient intake (Beck & Heath, 2013). However, in large cohort studies, the use of food records may not be feasible. Additional tools for the measurement of dietary data include food frequency questionnaires. Questionnaires of this nature are faster, often computer-based and require the recall of 'usual' foods consumed over a month or over a year (Carroll et al., 2012). The advantage to this is that foods consumed less frequently (i.e. once a month) will be captured by the food frequency questionnaire, whereas this information would be lost in a food record, or possibly over-represented (Beck & Heath, 2013). Other dietary intake methods include

24-hour recalls and diet histories. These interview-style methods involve a higher researcher burden but require less participant literacy and reduce participant-burden. The limitations of 24-hr recalls are the increased likelihood of underreporting, single day reporting may not be representative of usual intake, and poorer estimation of serving sizes and recipes (F. E. Thompson & Subar, 2013).

To date, there are no studies that have drawn an overall conclusion as to the best dietary intake methodology to use together with taste perception data. A review of fatty acid, bitter taste and sweet taste studies show that meaningful diet-taste associations have been found using food records (see Table 2.3, Table 2.4 and Table 2.5). However, in a recent systematic review, there was no recommendation made for the best dietary assessment method, due to the heterogeneity of study outcomes (Tan & Tucker, 2019). Interestingly, the authors concluded that day-to-day variability in dietary intake could obscure immediate or acute diet-taste relationships (Tan & Tucker, 2019). Therefore, dietary information gathered over multiple days (including both weekdays and weekend days) may be an important consideration for taste perception researchers.

2.5.2. EATING BEHAVIOUR

Eating behaviour is a term that encompasses food choice and motives, dieting, eating practices, and eating-related problems (Story et al., 2008). Eating practices and habits such as dietary restraint are suggested to play an important role in the development of eating disorders and obesity (Blundell & Gillett, 2001). Other types of behaviour such as the loss of control over intake and the tendency to overeat (i.e. disinhibition) are also important contributors to weight gain and dietary intake (Stunkard & Messick, 1985). Research has demonstrated that those who have increased restraint have a lower body mass index (BMI), due to being more conscious of their dietary intake (Moor, Scott, & McIntosh, 2012).

Food preferences can be influenced by cognitive responses to food, such as emotionally driven eating. This form of eating can be increased by external factors, however, those who are 'sensitive to reward' as a personality trait may learn to continue eating in the

absence of hunger (Davis et al., 2007). This trait has been positively correlated with a preference for sweet and fatty food, which is thought to be a physiological and psychological motivation. In part, this could be due to the endogenous opioid release in the brain when palatable foods are consumed (Drewnowski & Bellisle, 2007). Furthermore, it is thought that high energy diets interfere with the hippocampus, impairing the ability to retrieve the memory of the food-related cue, leading to increased food intake.

There is little information on how sensory perception relates to eating behaviour or related characteristics. Mindful eating has been recognised as a new way in which to consciously heighten our recognition of the amount of food we eat (Moor et al., 2012; Wilson & Dillard, 2015). This process of eating with intention and attention acts to strongly enhance our perception and slow eating speed, as each sensory cue (e.g. taste, aroma, mouthfeel, appearance) becomes a stronger point of focus (Wilson & Dillard, 2015). The reason this may be very effective is that it is believed people with higher disinhibition are generally unaware of all the food decisions they make, which means food intake can occur with little conscious recognition. It is thought that these involuntary decisions can lead to weight gain (Wansink & Sobal, 2007) and that people often underestimate portions consumed. Recent studies have found that when eating speed is slow, total food and energy intake can be significantly reduced in normalweight subjects when compared to faster eating (Shah et al., 2014). A functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study measured anticipated responses to the intake of a chocolate milkshake against a tasteless solution, and it was found that the brain response in participants with obesity was different to the response in normal-weight participants, where greater activation of the insular cortex appears to play a role in anticipatory food reward (Stice, Spoor, Bohon, Veldhuizen, & Small, 2008).

2.5.2.1. Assessing eating behaviour

Eating behaviour can be broadly described in terms of three dimensions of human eating behaviour: (1) cognitive dietary restraint (restraint), (2) disinhibition of control

(disinhibition) and (3) susceptibility to hunger (hunger) by calculating scores for these dimensions using the three-factor eating questionnaire (Stunkard & Messick, 1985). Subscales of eating behaviour can be deduced from the same questionnaire; these include flexible and rigid restraint; habitual, emotional and situational susceptibility to disinhibition and internal and external locus of hunger (Bond, McDowell, & Wilkinson, 2001; Westenhoefer, 1991; Westenhoefer, Stunkard, & Pudel, 1999). To score the questionnaire, each item is given either 0 or 1 point with possible scores ranging from '0-0-0' to '21-16-14' (Stunkard & Messick, 1985). High scores denote higher levels of restrained, disinhibited eating or predisposition to hunger.

A range of other validated eating behaviour and associated eating pattern questionnaires can be used to assess specific research questions. Examples of these questionnaires and specific diet-and eating-related assessments are: eating and weight patterns (QEWP), dutch eating behaviour questionnaire (DEBQ), eating attitudes test (EAT), food cravings inventory (FCI) and the binge eating scale (BES) (Bryant et al., 2014; Panek-Scarborough et al., 2012; Pepino & Mennella, 2014).

2.5.3. TASTE, DIETARY INTAKE, EATING BEHAVIOUR AND OBESITY

The prevalence of obesity and excess energy intake among westernised populations is theoretically exacerbated by the increased availability of unhealthy food (Roberto et al., 2015). Therefore, associations between taste sensitivity, dietary intake, eating behaviour and obesity are highly relevant. There is a need to better understand the preferences for specific tastes between people who are obese in order to develop strategies to reduce the prevalence of overweight and obesity (Martinez-Cordero, Malacara-Hernandez, & Martinez-Cordero, 2015).

Generally speaking, increased taste sensitivity to sweet and fatty acids is hypothesised to decrease energy intake (Cox et al., 2015). In contrast, increased taste sensitivity to bitter or sour taste is hypothesised to decrease intake of vegetables and fruit, due to their taste being less palatable to sensitive tasters (Keller & Adise, 2016; Mennella et al., 2016). It is thought that children who reject such tastes and continue to avoid vegetables

will reject these vegetables in later life; as a consequence, bitter taste sensitivity may indirectly influence their future health and wellbeing (Bell & Tepper, 2006). However, genetic factors have been shown to influence taste perception, such as single taste receptor gene variations (i.e. *hTAS2R38*) which leads to taste blindness to PTC and PROP in approximately 20 to 30 percent of individuals (Duffy & Bartoshuk, 2000; Sandell et al., 2014). Genetic differences in *hTAS2R38* have been associated with differences in vegetable and sweet food consumption (Sandell et al., 2014).

There has been little research on savoury taste in relation to dietary intake. However, it is of note that children who are obese eat significantly more savoury snacks than sweet snacks when compared to normal-weight children (Maffeis et al., 2008). This association may be related to the combined effects of salt and savoury taste, which when optimised, is appealing. In addition, monosodium glutamate (MSG) perception may be associated with weight gain, due to MSG enhancing food palatability and increasing overall food intake (Donaldson et al., 2009).

2.5.3.1. Sweet taste perception and dietary intake

The influence of taste and sensory cues on subsequent appetite is of interest, due to the long-term health consequences associated with overeating. Several studies have attempted to measure sensory sensitivity and subsequent food intake, or, measurement of typical food intake and the relationship this may have with taste sensitivity. Sweet taste is a universal trait, however the inter-individual variation in the liking of, and perceived level of sweetness intensity is worthy of further investigation. The level of sweetness in food and the optimal level of sweetness may further influence dietary intake (Sørensen, Møller, Flint, Martens, & Raben, 2003). A key question is whether individuals with obesity or at risk of weight gain have a preferred liking for sweet-tasting foods (Bartoshuk et al., 2006; Ettinger et al., 2012; Jayasinghe et al., 2017). If so, does this lead to increased energy intake and how does this affect the relative perception of sweet taste intensity over time? The ability to detect sweet taste could be improved with an energy-restricted diet (Umabiki et al., 2010), which in turn could strengthen the biological mechanism which triggers satiety.

In Table 3, a range of studies were found that showed positive associations between sweet taste hedonic liking and intake of carbohydrates and sugars (Garneau et al., 2018; Holt, Cobiac, Beaumont-Smith, Easton, & Best, 2000; Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Smith, Ludy, & Tucker, 2016; Turner-McGrievy, Tate, Moore, & Popkin, 2013). In contrast, there was only one study that found a relationship between detection or recognition thresholds of sweet taste, and dietary intake (Martinez-Cordero et al., 2015), and conversely there were a number of studies that found no relationship between these measures (Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Low et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016). In a recent systematic review, sweet taste as a predictor of dietary intake was investigated (Tan & Tucker, 2019) and it was concluded that hedonic measurements of taste were more likely to be associated with dietary measures. In addition, analysing data from sweet likers separately from sweet dislikers derived from cluster analysis were shown to improve sweet taste and dietary intake relationships (Tan & Tucker, 2019).

Ratings of sweet taste with more than one concentration level of sweet stimulus, have resulted in the subsequent reporting of stronger taste-diet relationships (Garneau et al., 2018; Holt et al., 2000; Jayasinghe et al., 2017) than studies that drew conclusions from perception of taste at one concentration level (Cicerale, Riddell, & Keast, 2012; Leong, Forde, Tey, & Henry, 2018a). The gLMS scale rating method was used in a number of studies measuring sweet taste (i.e. intensity) and a major advantage of this approach is its suitability for comparisons across different population groups (Cicerale et al., 2012; Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Low et al., 2016). This review suggests that suprathreshold ratings of intensity and liking of sweet taste are useful measurements for determining taste-diet relationships (Table 2.3).

2.5.3.2. Sweet taste perception and eating behaviour

There were few sweet taste and dietary intake studies that have measured eating behaviour (i.e. using the TFEQ) (Table 2.3). One study that measured restraint from the three-factor eating questionnaire used this to characterise the normal study population but did not compare the restraint measurement to taste sensitivity (Drewnowski, Henderson, Levine, & Hann, 1999). Another study measured food behaviour, however, there were no significant associations between food behaviour scores and sweet taste sensitivity (Cicerale et al., 2012).

2.5.3.3. Sweet taste perception and body composition

When investigating sweet taste perception, an interesting inquiry is whether body weight *per se* may influence taste sensitivity. Several studies have investigated this relationship (Table 2.3). There are studies that have found that obese individuals exhibit higher thresholds for sweet tastants than their normal-weight counterparts (Park et al., 2015; Skrandies & Zschieschang, 2015). However, other studies investigating basic tastes (i.e. sweet) have found no association between any taste response and BMI (Martinez-Cordero et al., 2015). Overall, a direct relationship is not yet established and the variation in evidence for this association is at least in part due to a lack of robust or comparable sensory methodology (Cox et al., 2015; Tucker et al., 2017) (Table 3).

One study found evidence for an association between sweet taste and body weight, where diurnal changes in sweet taste recognition were associated with circulating plasma leptin (Nakamura et al., 2008). However, a follow-up study in obese participants did not find the same association (Sanematsu, Nakamura, Nomura, Shigemura, & Ninomiya, 2018). It remains unknown as to whether changes in nutrient sensing, hormonal signalling, or inflammation can impair our sense of sweet taste or taste recognition (Kaufman et al., 2018).

Study	Population,	Sweet taste	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB	Body	Outcome	DA & chemo-senso
					outcollies	COLLIPOSITIOLI	NI	ED relationship
	Ausuana.	Dalat CIVILE	Z X Z4III FN. 1000 & UICI			DIVIL		INOILE.
Vacat 2012	$\Lambda = 150$ adults	intensity of	quesuonnaire.	quesuonnaire.	micronutrients.		between dietary	
\mathbf{N} Cash, 2012	Age mean±SD	sucrose at one					acuvines, 1000 bellets,	
Cross-sectional	21±4y.	concentration.					& sweet taste intensity.	
observational							Weak association with	
Drewnowski.	USA.	Suprathreshold	3-day food records (N=87)	Restraint scale &	EI. macronutrients.	BMI	Higher preference for	None.
Henderson.	N = 159	hedonic liking	& food preference	eating attitudes	fibre. B-carotene.		sucrose in water was	
Levine. &	women	on a 9-noint	checklist.	test (EAT).			associated with	
Hann 1000	Δ.σ.ο	scala Sucrosa					incrased calf-ranortad	
	ABC ATTA	scale. Juctose						
Cross-sectional	mean(SEM)	c in water at					preierence lor sweet	
observational	27 (0.7) y	concentration					desserts (P<0.05).	
		levels.						
Garneau, et al,	USA.	Suprathreshold	Beverage food frequency	n/a	EI from beverages.	BMI, BF%	Sweet likers (group)	Yes , \uparrow hedonic liking
2018	N=418	intensity &	questionnaire (BEVQ-15).		(e.g. coffee, juice).		had a greater energy	sucrose, [†] sweetened
Cross-sectional	adults	liking on VAS.	1		1		intake from sweetened	beverage intake. & e
ohservational	A ve mean+SD	Sucrose in					inice & sweetened tea	intake
	41 8+16 5v	water at 5					(P<0.05) compared to	
	6.01-011	concentrations.					the sweet neutral group.	
Han Keact &	Anetralia	Sensitivity to	Taste & rating of liking of	TEFO	FLACD	BMI	High sensitivity to	Vac 1 concitivity to c
Roura 2017	N=30 adulte	the QmM	super sour Fnergy intake	271	macronitriant	TIMO	super (aroun)	tacte in CHO intals
Dardamized		and yum	from the correction mark		intelse from hoffer		sweet (group)	
Nalidoliliscu			ITOILLUIE SOUP. FOOD					energy) mount une sou
cross-over	∠/.1±1.0y	sucrose in water	cnoices.		meal.		(% energy) & more	
design		(triangle test).					non-sweet foods. No	
experiment							differences in eating	
Holt Cabioo	A victualia	Cumuthundhald		- 10	Curan intoles (a) an	DMI	No accoriation hatman	Voc + Elline to more
Doursent	Ausuana. M_60	Supraimesiou	Fry (10 loug).	11/ d	Sugai IIIake (g) as	DIVIL	intensity & man	tes, liking to swee
					IEIIIIEU & IUIAI.			lasic, sugai & swee
Smith, Easton,	Australian &	liking rated on					intake. Retined sugar	food.
& Best, 2000	63 Malaysian	VAS. Sucrose					intake is higher in sweet	
Cross-sectional	adults.	in water at 5					likers. Preferred sucrose	
observational	Age mean+SD	concentrations.					level was positively	
	22-2+2.8v	Ratings of					associated with sweet	
	60.1-1.11						food commution P.	
		orange jurce, custard biscuit					sugars intake (P<0.05)	
		Contras of a contrast.					-/	

Study	Population, participants	Sweet taste tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo-sensory / EB relationship
Jayasinghe et al., 2017 Cross-sectional observational	New Zealand. N=44 women. Age mean±SD 28±6y	Detection, recognition thresholds & suprathreshold intensity gLMS glucose in water at 4 concentrations.	4-day weighed FR. Sweet food FFQ & sweet beverage liking questionnaire (visual analog scales).	n/a	EI (kJ) & macronutrient intakes. Sugars consumption (e.g. fructose, lactose, maltose).	BMI, BF%	No association between thresholds of glucose & dietary intake. Both intensity & liking gLMS of sweet taste significantly correlated with EI & CHO intake.	Yes, ↑ liking to sweet taste (at concentrations above 500 mM), ↑ sugar & sweet food & ↓ intensity to sweet taste (at higher concentrations), ↑ energy & CHO intake).
Leong et al., 2018 Cross-sectional observational	Singapore. 100 adults. Age mean±SD 25.7±4.6y	Suprathreshold intensity & liking on a VAS of sucrose in water at one concentration.	2 x 24hr diet recalls.	п/а	EI (kJ), macronutrients, salt, potassium, dietary fibre, & total sugars.	BMI, BF%, BP	No association between sweet-liking or intensity with dietary intake.	None.
Low, Lacy, McBride, & Keast, 2016 Cross-sectional observational	Australia. 60 adults. Age mean±SD 26±7.8y	Detection, recognition thresholds & suprathreshold intensity (gLMS) in 7 sugars & sweeteners.	FFQ.	n/a	EI (kJ) & macronutrient intake.	BMI, WC	No correlations between thresholds & dietary intake. Intensity rating (high-intensity sweetener, sucralose, Rebaudioside A) significantly correlated with total EI. No association BMI, WC.	Yes, ↑ intensity rating to artificial sweetener, ↑ in total energy intake.
Martinez- Cordero et al., 2015 Cross-sectional observational	Mexico. 56 adults. Age mean±SD 33.2±8.7y	The detection threshold of sucrose & aspartame.	7-day FR.	n/a	EI (kcal) & macronutrient intake.	BMI, WC, HC, BF%	No associations with BMI, WC, HC, BF%. Perception threshold of aspartame was negatively associated with energy intake.	Yes, ↑ detection threshold to aspartame, ↓ in total energy intake.
Methven et al., 2016 Cross-sectional observational	UK. N=36 adults. Age median 26y.	Hedonic liking of sucrose in water using VAS at 5 concentrations.	FFQ. Sweetness intensity of jelly & juice samples.	n/a	Total carbohydrate & sugar intakes.	BMI	Dietary intake did not differ between sweet likers & dislikers. Difference in ratings of sweetness between sweet likers & dislikers (P=0.019).	None.

Study	Population, participants	Sweet taste tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo-sensory / EB relationship
Sartor et al., 2011 Cross-sectional observational	UK. Study 1: N=33 (normal & obese); Study 2: N=12 adults Age mean±SD 26±6y	Pleasantness, intensity & preference scores for 5 concentrations of sucrose in water.	14-day FR.	n/a	EI & macronutrient intake.	Body weight, fat & lean mass.	Overweight/obese perceived sweet taste as less intense. No association between taste measurements & dietary intake.	None.
Smith, Ludy, & Tucker, 2016 Cross- sectional/ randomised sleep intervention	USA. N=51 adults Age mean±SD 25±8y	Detection threshold of sucrose (3- AFC). Preferred sweetness concentration using paired tests (sucrose).	2 x 24 hr recalls	n/a	EI & macronutrient intakes.	BMI, BF%	Long-sleepers had a higher sweet taste preference ($P=0.04$). Sweet preference after short sleep night correlated with El & CHO intake ($P<0.05$).	Yes, ↑ sweet preference correlated with ↑ energy intake & CHO intake (after short-sleep night, all participants).
Stevenson et al., 2016 Cross-sectional observational	Australia. N=87 adults. Age mean±SD 21±3y	Liking & intensity of sucrose in water (1 strong & 1 weak solution) rated on LMS.	26-item dietary fat & sugar questionnaire (DFS).	n/a	Questionnaire score (approx. higher fat & sugar intake or 'western- style' diet)	BMI	Western-style diet* associated with hedonic differences in taste & flavor perception. No association between diet & BMI.	None.
Turner- McGrievy, et al, 2013 6-month, 3 groups, randomised weight loss trial	USA. N=196 adults. Age mean±SD 42.6±11y	Liking of 5 suprathreshold concentrations of sucrose in water. Rated on LMS.	2 x 24hr recalls.	n/a	EI & macronutrient (focus on beverages).	BMI, WC, BP	Sweet likers are more likely to be African- Americans. Sweet likers & supertaster (PROP bitter taster) interaction associated with fibre, beverage intake & metabolic syndrome.	Yes, \uparrow sweet liking associated with \uparrow energy intake from beverages & decreased fibre intake.
Abbreviations: EB waist circumferen magnitude scale; k *Dietary pattern '1	t; eating behaviour; ce; HC, hip circum (cal/d, kilocalories Western-Style' diet	; DA, dietary assessi ference; EI, energy i per day; FFQ, food	ment; AFC, alternative-forced (intake; WS, western-style (diet frequency questionnaire; VAS, od frequency data and compare	choice; sem, standard); TFEQ; three-factor , visual analogue scale ed to chemosensory a	error of the mean; SD, eating questionnaire; E :; FR, food record; BF9 bilities.	standard deviation; 3P, blood pressure; g %, body fat percenta;	y, years; OA, oleic acid; BN JLMS, general labelled mag ge; CHO, carbohydrate.	MI, body mass index; WC, nitude scale; LMS, labelled

2.5.3.4. Bitter taste perception and dietary intake

The review on bitter taste perception studies conducted for this PhD thesis suggests that increased sensitivity to bitter taste influences dietary intake. Of the 14 studies reviewed, 10 reported a link between bitter taste and dietary intake and/or food preference (Table 4). However, the most convincing association is that bitter taste sensitivity has an impact on the dietary intake or preference of cruciferous or bitter-tasting vegetables (Barajas-Ramírez, Quintana-Castro, Oliart-Ros, & Angulo-Guerrero, 2016; Drewnowski et al., 1999; Duffy et al., 2010; Inoue et al., 2017; Laureati et al., 2018). In addition, increased bitter taste sensitivity was associated with decreased intake or preference for bitter-tasting foods such as green tea (Pasquet, Oberti, El Ati, & Hladik, 2002), healthy food choices (Sharafi, Rawal, Fernandez, Huedo-Medina, & Duffy, 2018) and beer (Perna et al., 2018) (Table 2.4). Differences between tasters and different tastants are variable, as PROP and PTC taster status follow a bimodal distribution (Duffy et al., 2010; U. Kim et al., 2003; Lawless, 1980). Across these bitter taste perception studies there was high variability in chosen bitter taste stimuli (i.e. quinine, caffeine, PTC, PROP), the psychophysical measurements used (i.e. gLMS intensity ratings, detection thresholds, recognition thresholds) and the number of participants which ranged from N=17 through to N=1225 (Table 2.4).

2.5.3.5. Bitter taste perception and eating behaviour

Few studies to date have explored the relationship between eating behaviour with bitter taste perception. Of the 14 studies reviewed, there were 5 that included an eating behaviour questionnaire or measurement (Table 2.4). Sharafi et al (2018) reported that low sensitivity to quinine was associated with a higher restraint score and low intake of high fat/sweet foods; despite an increased preference of high fat/sweet foods (Sharafi et al., 2018). However, other studies which measured eating behaviour did not report any direct bitter taste and eating behaviour association (Barajas-Ramírez et al., 2016; Drewnowski et al., 1999). For example, participants with high levels of cognitive restraint were excluded from analysis in some studies (Barajas-Ramírez et al., 2016;

Duffy et al., 2010), in order to remove the confounding effect of the conscious control of eating, which may mask the associations between taste sensitivity and body weight.

2.5.3.6. Bitter taste perception and body composition

None of the studies reviewed found an association between body composition and bitter taste sensitivity (Table 2.4.).

DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship	Yes, † PROP sensitivity consumed ↓ vegetables than non-tasters P<0.05). Tasters and ↓ dairy & arin (P<0.05).	Yes , \uparrow caffeine sensitivity \uparrow intake of EI and CHO food record). \uparrow caffeine sensitivity l oil intake.	Zone.	Yes, ↑ PROP sensitivity ↓ oreference for orussel sprouts, cabbage, spinach, coffee (P<0.05)
Outcome	No association between adiposity and PROP threshold. PROP taste sensitivity associated with linoleic acid taste sensitivity (P<0.05).	Bitter threshold significantly correlated with sweet threshold (r= 0.34, P<0.01) and sour (r = 0 0.31, P< 0.05).	Total taste score, and bitter taste intensity ratings at the highest concentration only (PROP and PTC) inversely associated with BMI, WC (P<0.05).	Subjects were free from eating disorders (EAT test) and had normal restraint scores. PROP thresholds exhibited a bimodal distribution.
Body composition	BMI, WC	BMI	BMI, WC, BP	BMI
DA & EB outcomes	Energy & macronutrient intake. Vegetables, fruits, grains, protein-rich, dairy, oils, sweets, added sugars & alcohol.	Food group intake (DFE of 22- groups). EI, macronutrients.	EI, sodium intake, Mediterranean diet adherence.	EI, macronutrients, fibre, β-carotene.
EB tool	TFEQ	n/a	n/a	Restraint scale & eating attitudes test (EAT).
DA tool	7-day FR (two seasons, 6-months between each)	Food and Beverage Questionnaire (FB- FFQ). 7-day food diary.	Validated FFQ. 17-item questionnaire for assessing adherence to energy- restricted Mediterranean diet.	3-day FR (N=87) & food preference checklist.
Bitter taste tests	Detection threshold PROP (water). Ascending 2-AFC procedure "two down -1 up rule". Intensity of PROP. PROP taster status of non-, med-, & supertasters.	Recognition threshold caffeine. 7 concentration levels. 3-AFC procedure.	Category scale ratings of intensity at 5 concentrations of PTC and PROP solutions. Lowest to highest concentration.	Suprathreshold hedonic liking on a 9- point scale. PROP in water at 5 concentration levels.
Population, participants	Mexico. N=76 adults Age mean (sem) 22.8±0.6y.	Italy. N=59 adults Age mean (sem) 23.3±0.3y.	Spain. N=381 adults; including 144 with T2D^. Age mean±SD 65.1±4.7y	USA. N= 159 women Age mean (sem) 27 (0.7) y
Study	Barajas- Ramírez et al, 2016† Cross- sectional observational	Cattaneo, Riso, Laureati, Gargari, and Pagliarini, 2019 Cross- sectional observational	Coltell et al., 2019 Cross- sectional observational	Drewnowski, Henderson, Levine, & Hann, 1999 Cross- sectional observational

Table 2.4. Studies which have investigated bitter taste sensitivity and dietary intake, eating behaviour and body composition.

Study	Population, participants	Bitter taste tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship
Duffy et al., 2010 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=59 adults Age mean (sem) 26.1 (0.55) y	PROP gLMS bitterness and threshold. Quinine gLMS bitterness rating.	5-day non- consecutive FR. Validated FFQ.	TFEQ restraint only (high restraint score excluded from study)	EI (kJ), vegetable intake.	BMI, WC	Carriers of the functional PAV allele consumed less vegetables than AVI/AVI homozygotes, and PROP bitterness was negatively correlated with vegetable intake.	Yes, ↑ intensity (& genotype) ↓ vegetable intake (all types).
Inoue et al., 2017 Cross- sectional observational	Japan. Study 1: N=50 women; Study 2: N=40 women. Age range: 20-22y	Study 1: Intensity ratings PROP (4 concentrations). Study 2: Intensity ratings PROP (2 concentrations) 0-100 scale.	3-day weighed FR.	n/a	EI, sodium (g), total vegetables (g), Brassica vegetables (g).	BMI	Higher PROP sensitivity associated with higher salt intake (P<0.05).	Yes, \uparrow PROP intensity \downarrow brassica vegetable intake & \uparrow salt intake.
Laureati et al., 2018 Cross- sectional observational	Italy. N=1225 adults Age mean±SD 36.9±12.9y	Intensity ratings of dark chocolate pudding at 4 concentrations levels of bitterness. PROP taster status.	Food familiarity & food preference questionnaire.	Food Neophobia Scale (FNS)	Vegetables, beverages & desserts: food familiarity 5-point scale; Preference 9- point scale. Food Neophobia statements.	n/a	High neophobia rated bitterness of dark chocolate more intense than low neophobics.	Yes [*] , ↑ bitter chemosensory intensity (&↑ food neophobia) ↓ liking of bitter vegetables & beverages. No PROP taster association.
Leong, Forde, Tey, and Henry, 2018a Cross- sectional observational	Singapore. N=100 adults. Age mean±SD 25.7±4.6y	Suprathreshold intensity & liking on VAS of PTC or quinine hydrochloride in water.	2 x 24hr diet recalls.	n/a	EI (kJ), macronutrients, salt, potassium, dietary fibre, & total sugars.	BP BP	Bitter-liking and intensity negatively correlated ($t=$ - 0.501, P<0.05). Decreased taste preference for PTC correlated with dietary fibre intake ($t=$ - 0.030, P<0.05).	None.

Study	Population, participants	Bitter taste tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship
Leong, Forde, Tey, and Henry, 2018b Cross- sectional observational	Singapore. N=114 adults. Indian, Chinese. Age mean(SEM) Age 26.6 (0.6)y	7 increasing concentrations of caffeine in water. Sequential monadic order defining. 1) no taste; 2) detection; 3) recognition (defined). Forced choice.	3-day FR.	n/a	EI (kcal), macronutrients, fibre, sodium, potassium.	BMI, BF%, WC	Indians had higher recognition threshold for all tastes, including bitter, compared to Chinese (P<0.05). EI not different between ethnicities.	None.
Lipchock et al., 2017 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=20 Age mean±SD 31±1y	Rated bitterness on gLMS scale for PROP, caffeine, quinine, benzoate & urea.	FFQ caffeine and quinine (i.e. tonic water) questionnaire.	n/a	7- point scale of habitual caffeine & quinine intake.	n/a	Bitterness of caffeine related to mRNA expression of associated receptors.	Yes, ↑ bitterness of caffeine ↑ caffeine daily use (small sample size to compare groups).
Martinez- Cordero et al., 2015 Cross- sectional observational	Mexico. N=56 adults. Age mean±SD 33.2±8.7y	Detection threshold of caffeine and quinine hydrocholoride. 2-AFC.	7-day FR.	n/a	EI (kcal) & macronutrient intake.	BMI, WC, HC, BF%	No associations with BMI, WC, HC, BF%. No gender differences in insulin levels or HOMA-IR.	Yes, ↑ bitter taste (caffeine) sensitivity ↑ in percent of protein energy intake.
Newman and Keast, 2013 Cross- sectional observational	Australia. N=17 adults. Age mean±SD 28.6±3.2y	Detection threshold of caffeine (8 concentrations).	FR on testing days (30 sessions)	n/a	EI (kJ), macronutrients	BMI	Bitter taste threshold repeatable and reliable measure (test re- test).	None.
Pasquet, Oberti, El Ati, and Hladik, 2002 Cross- sectional observational	Tunisia. N=123 adults. Age mean±SD 36.0±10.7y	Recognition threshold (bitter) quinine hydrocholoride (11 concentrations) & PROP (12 concentrations). Staircase method.	Preference of 43 food items using scale rating.	n/a	Hedonic ratings of 43 food groups.	n/a	PROP sensitivity negatively correlated with hedonic response to NaCl solutions. High sensitivity to PROP associated with greater taste sensitivity to sucrose.	Yes, ↑ PROP sensitivity ↑ preference bread, aubergines, oranges, liver & eggs; ↓ preference green tea.

Study	Population, participants	Bitter taste tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship
Perna et al., 2018 Cross- sectional observational	Italy. N=118 adults. Age mean±SD 45.3±12.8y	Detection threshold test caffeine (5 concentrations) and PROP (6 concentrations);	Preference of 30 items using scale rating.	n/a	Hedonic ratings of 30 food groups.	BMI, BF%, Android fat %, Gynoid fat % (DXA)	Subjects with RS713598 polymorphism had higher PROP and caffeine thresholds ('non-tasters').	Yes^{4} , bitter genotype nontasters associated with \uparrow beer & \downarrow butter & meat preference.
Sharafi et al., 2018 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=110 women. Age mean±SD 45.3±8.7y.	PROP taster status from perceived intensity (5 concentrations)	3 24-hr FR. Block98 FFQ. Food preference 47 food items.	TFEQ, Healthy Eating preference Index (HEPI).	Liking for fats, sweets, salty, protein & fruits/vege. Scores intake-based fruit, vegetables, grains, dairy, proteins & fatty acids.	BMI, WC, BP	Low consumption of sweet/high-fat foods associated with high dietary restraint and low quinine taste function. PROP non-tasters lower diet quality; PROP supertasters consume a healthier diet (but low preference).	Yes, ↑ PROP sensitivity ↑ healthy diet consumption.
Abbreviation	IS: EB; eating behavio	ur; DA, dietary assessme	nt; AFC, alternative-forc	ed choice; sem, st	andard error of the me	an; SD, standard o	leviation; y, years; BMI, body mas	ss index; WC, waist

circumterence; HC, hip circumterence; EI, energy intake; TFEQ; three-factor eating questionnaire; BP, blood pressure; gLMS, general labelled magnitude scale; LMS, labelled magnitude scale; kcal/d, kilocalories per day; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; sem, standard error of the mean;VAS, visual analogue scale; FR, food record; BF%, body fat percentage; CHO, carbohydrate; PTC, phenylthiocarbamide; DFE, daily frequency questionnaire; sem, standard error of the mean;VAS, visual analogue scale; FR, food record; BF%, body fat percentage; CHO, carbohydrate; PTC, phenylthiocarbamide; DFE, daily frequency questionnaire; sem, standard error of the mean;VAS, visual analogue scale; FR, food record; BF%, body fat percentage; CHO, carbohydrate; PTC, renterylthiocarbamide; DFE, daily frequency questionnaire; sem, standard food consumption frequency of different food groups analysed. ^Subjects with type 2 diabetes (T2D). ⁴Indirect and an implied relationship based on food neophobia scale or genotype/phenotype relationship.

2.5.3.7. Fatty acid taste perception and dietary intake

In metabolic health research, it is of interest whether dietary fat intake correlates to fatty acid taste sensitivity. The review conducted for this PhD thesis suggests that, overall, increased sensitivity to fatty acid taste (or fat) has a significant influence on dietary intake (Table 2.5). This was observed directly and indirectly in 11 out of 22 studies. Several of the reviewed studies found that increased sensitivity to fatty acid taste was significantly associated with decreased energy intake from fat (Costanzo et al., 2018; Costanzo, Orellana, Nowson, Duesing, & Keast, 2017; Heinze et al., 2018; Keller et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2012; Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014; Stevenson et al., 2016; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart & Keast, 2012; Tucker, Edlinger, Craig, & Mattes, 2014). However, like the bitter taste perception studies reviewed, there were considerable differences in the (1) taste stimuli used, (2) participants recruited, and (3) dietary intake measurements (Table 2.5). This heterogeneity observed in measurements, stimulus concentrations, and the chosen sample size is likely to obscure consistent relationships. As previously concluded in another recently published systematic review, this means that studies on fatty acid taste perception are difficult to directly compare or to draw meaningful conclusions from (Cox et al., 2015).

2.5.3.8. Fatty acid taste perception and eating behaviour

The current review of the literature revealed a few studies that measured eating behaviour (i.e. TFEQ) (Table 2.5). However, this was commonly done in order to use the cognitive restraint score as a variable to control, or adjust, for population differences (Keller et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2012; Panek-Scarborough et al., 2012) as high cognitive restraint may impact dietary intake and body weight. It was observed that the eating behaviour scores were not directly compared to the taste perception outcomes, or else not reported (Keller et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2012; Panek-Scarborough et al., 2012). In one study, participants with high levels of cognitive restraint were excluded from analysis entirely, as this is an important measurement of the conscious control of eating (Barajas-Ramírez et al., 2016). One study found BMI was significantly associated with disinhibition, however, no direct taste-disinhibition relationship was described (Shen, Kennedy, & Methven, 2017). Therefore, a gap in the current literature
is the direct investigation of associations between fatty acid taste and cognitive eating behaviour (Table 2.5).

2.5.3.9. Fatty acid taste perception and body composition

It has been proposed that sensitivity to fatty acid taste is impaired in obese people, at both levels, the oral and GI tract, when compared to normal-weight subjects (Brennan et al., 2012). This may be due to overeating as a result of the reduced satiating effect of fatty foods. Low-sensitivity to fat has been correlated with higher body fat (Stewart et al., 2010) and increased consumption of fatty foods (Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014). Out of the 22 studies reviewed (Table 2.5), 8 studies found associations between fatty acid taste perception and body composition (Barajas-Ramírez et al., 2016; Lanfer et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2012; Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014; Mela & Sacchetti, 1991; Pepino & Mennella, 2014; Ricketts, 1997; Tucker et al., 2014). These studies generally support that increased preference for high-fat foods, or decreased sensitivity to fatty acid taste, are associated with a higher BMI (Table 2.5).

Study	Population, participants	Fatty acid / fat related tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship
Barajas- Ramírez et al, 2016 [†] Cross- sectional observational	Mexico. N=76 adults Age mean (sem) 22.8±0.6y.	Detection threshold linoleic acid (water). Ascending 2-AFC procedure "two down -1 up rule".	7-day FR (two seasons, 6-months between each)	TFEQ	Energy & macronutrient intake. Vegetables, fruits, grains, protein-rich, dairy, oils, sweets, added sugars & alcohol.	BMI, WC	BMI & WC negatively correlated with linoleic acid detection threshold (P <0.05). CHO consumption & linoleic acid detection both negatively correlated with WC (R^2 =0.34).	None.
Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014 Cross- sectional observational	 USA / 2 The Netherlands. N=30 adults & N=30 Normal weight; N=30 ow/ob adults. N=18 adults. N=18 adults Age mean (SD) 26.7±4.2. 	Odour discrimination, intensity & pleasantness of three milk samples (skim, medium, fat) on 100mm VAS. 3-AFC randomised.	Questionnaire about dairy consumption.	n/a	Total dairy per day, full or reduced milk consumption Total fat from dairy.	BMI	Participants were able to discriminate minute differences in fat content by odour alone (significant across all 3 experiments). No relationships between dairy consumption, BMI & ability to discriminate fat in milk samples.	None.
Costanzo et al., 2018 Co-twin randomised control trial	Australia. Adult twins Age mean (SD) 43.7±15.4y.	Detection threshold oleic acid (FATT) rank in food. Liking ratings for high-fat & reduced-fat foods & intensity ratings of tastants.	Three 24-h dietary recalls at pre & post 8-week dietary intervention.	n/a	Energy (kJ), macronutrient (g) & percentage of energy from macronutrients.	BMI, HC, WC	Significant time x diet interaction for FT rank after the 8-week trial (P< 0.001) where low-fat diet intervention decreased detection threshold & high- fat diet intervention increased detection threshold.	Yes, ↑ sensitivity relates to ↓ fat in the diet (intervention)
Costanzo et al, 2017 Baseline from co-twin randomised control trial	Australia. Females, N=69. Age mean (SD) 41.3±15.6y.	Oleic acid detection threshold (milk), fat ranking task (custard samples)	1. 24-h recall 2. FFQ (96 food items)	Food liking based on seven high- & low-fat foods	Total EI (MJ/d), protein (g), fats (g), CHOs (g) & alcohol (g) & % of EI.	BMI, HC, WC	Fat taste threshold associated with % energy from fat & negatively with % energy CHO. Short-term fat intake associated with diet but not body size.	Yes, ↑ sensitivity relates to ↓ % energy from fat & ↑ % energy from CHO

Fisher and Birch, 1995 USA. Rank-order Rank-order Weighed food intake data from 6: 30-hour breterrote for foods data from 6: 30-hour breterrote for foods cross TEQ Energy intake (si intake). Heightweight intake (si intake). Heightweight intake (si intake). Energy intake intake (si intake). Results intake (si intake). Results is intinke. Results is intinke. Results is intinke. Results is intinke. Results is intinke. Results is intinke. Results	Study	Population, participants	Fatty acid / fat related tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship
Heinze et al.,Australia. N=30Oleic acid (milk),1) FFQHunger,Total El, proteinBMI, HC, WCDetection three2018adulusparafiro oli. canola2) 24-hrecall (12 insafiety, &(g), fais (g), CHOsmitake. No assCross-Age mean (SD)oil, & canola oiltotal)total)tillness VAS(g), fais (g), CHOsintake. No assSectional29.2±3/Ty.spiked with oleicspiked with oleic2) 24-hrecall (12 insafiety, &(g), fais (g), CHOsintake. No assObservational29.2±3/Ty.spiked with oleicsection to taststesting (12Food groups (e.g.swoury, high-fait,Observational29.2±3/Ty.acidmacronutient levelssection threesection threesection to taststesting (12Food groups (e.g.swoury, high-fait,SectorsAge mean (SD)Classified hypo- ormacronutient levelssatiety measures(h)prosensitiv(h)prosensitiv2014N=24AFC method (milk)varyingquestionnaire <i>lib</i> lunch.sensitivity to consumed mo2014N=24AFC method (milk)varyingquestionnaire <i>lib</i> lunch.sensitivity to consumed mo2014N=24AFC method (milk)varyingquestionnaire <i>lib</i> lunch.sensitivity to consumed mo2014N=24AFCAFC method (milk)varyingquestionnairesensitivity to consumed mo2014N=24AFCClassified hypo- orint/prowed byof food inense.(h)pro	Fisher and Birch, 1995 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=18 children 3-5 years. Age mean (sem) 4.3±0.2y.	Rank-order preference for foods served at lunch & dinner. Seven items of 5 low-fat & 2 high-fat items alongside samples of food to taste & categorise on a scale.	Weighed food intake data from 6 x30-hour periods of observation (5 meals & 4 snacks during each session). Standard meals used during observational sessions.	TFEQ (parental results only)	Energy intake (kcal/d), macronutrient intake (% intake).	Height/weight triceps & subscapular skinfold measures.	Children who preferred high-fat foods in the ranking task had higher total fat intakes (P <0.05). Fat preferences were significantly related to skinfold measures (P <0.01).	Yes, ↑ preference high-fat food relates to ↑ intake of high-fat foods (children).
Keast et al.,Australia.Oleic, ascending 3-1) Breakfasts withSatietyEI at controlled <i>ad</i> BMIThose with im2014N=24AFC method (milk)varyingquestionnaire <i>lib</i> lunch.sensitivity to c2014N=24AFC method (milk)varyingquestionnaire <i>lib</i> lunch.sensitivity to c2014N=24AFC method (milk)varyingquestionnaire <i>lib</i> lunch.sensitivity to cBlinded cross-Age mean (SD)Classified hypo- ormacronutrient levelsconsumed moconsumed moover study28±15.6y.hyper-sensitive(highorterating), likingat a controlledover study28±15.6y.hyper-sensitive(highorterating), likingat a controlledfat/protein/CHO/balanced) followed bynearointrientintaketo food items EI &horeakfast (<i>P<i< i="">2012N=317 African-fat don Foodintake1FEQ, self-MeanBMI, WCVariation in r2012N=317 African-fat content,intakefat-containingfood of wo foodtreported<td< td=""><td>Heinze et al., 2018 Cross- sectional observational</td><td>Australia. N=30 adults. Age mean (SD) 29.2±3.7y.</td><td>Oleic acid (milk), paraffin oil, canola oil, & canola oil spiked with oleic acid</td><td>1) FFQ 2) 24-h recall (12 in total)</td><td>Hunger, satiety, & fulhess VAS prior to taste testing (12 sessions)</td><td>Total EI, protein (g), fats (g), CHOs (g) & vitamins/minerals. Food groups (e.g. savoury, high-fat, sweet, fruits)</td><td>BMI, HC, WC</td><td>Detection threshold correlated with high-fat food intake. No association with BMI.</td><td>Yes, \uparrow sensitivity relates to \downarrow intake of savoury & high-fat food (R=0.589, P<0.01)</td></td<></i<></i>	Heinze et al., 2018 Cross- sectional observational	Australia. N=30 adults. Age mean (SD) 29.2±3.7y.	Oleic acid (milk), paraffin oil, canola oil, & canola oil spiked with oleic acid	1) FFQ 2) 24-h recall (12 in total)	Hunger, satiety, & fulhess VAS prior to taste testing (12 sessions)	Total EI, protein (g), fats (g), CHOs (g) & vitamins/minerals. Food groups (e.g. savoury, high-fat, sweet, fruits)	BMI, HC, WC	Detection threshold correlated with high-fat food intake. No association with BMI.	Yes, \uparrow sensitivity relates to \downarrow intake of savoury & high-fat food (R=0.589, P<0.01)
Keller et al.,USA.Ratings of oiliness,n/aTFEQ, self-MeanBMI, WCVariation in rs2012N=317 African-fat content,reportedliking/acceptanceassociated wit2012N=317 African-fat content,reportedliking/acceptanceassociated wit2012N=scionalAmerican adults.creaminess of 5%,liking of 83of two foodreported liking/acceptanceCross-American adults.creaminess of 5%,liking of 83of two foodreported liking/acceptancesectionalAge mean (SD)35% & 55% saladfat-containinggroups: high-fat& oils (P=0.0'observational35.5±11.3y.dressings. Rated withfoods, ratedfoods & added fats	Keast et al., 2014 Blinded cross- over study	Australia. N=24 Age mean (SD) 28±15.6y.	Oleic, ascending 3- AFC method (milk) Classified hypo- or hyper- sensitive	 Breakfasts with varying macronutrient levels (high fat/protein/CHO/bala nced) followed by buffet lunch FFQ (Validated) 4-day FR (weighed/estimated) 	Satiety questionnaire	EI at controlled <i>ad</i> <i>lib</i> lunch. Satiety measures (fullness, hunger, overeating), liking of food items EI & macronutrient intake	BMI	Those with impaired sensitivity to oleic acid (hyposensitive, $n=10$) consumed more total energy at a controlled lunch following a high-fat breakfast (P <0.05).	Yes, ↑ sensitivity relates to ↓ intake of energy (MJ) ⁸ .
170-mm VAS. on 170-mm & oils. VAS.	Keller et al., 2012 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=317 African- American adults. Age mean (SD) 35.5±11.3y.	Ratings of oiliness, fat content, creaminess of 5%, 35% & 55% salad dressings. Rated with 170-mm VAS.	n/a	TFEQ, self- reported liking of 83 fat-containing fook, rated on 170-mm VAS.	Mean liking/acceptance of two food groups: high-fat foods & added fats & oils.	BMI, WC	Variation in rs1761667 was associated with a mean reported liking for added fats & oils (P=0.02).	Yes [‡] G/A genotype (↑CD36 expression compared to A/A) associated with ↓ liking of high-fat foods.

Study	Population, participants	Fatty acid / fat related tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationshin
Lanfer et al., 2012 Multi-site Cross- sectional observational	Italy, Estonia, Cyprus, Belgium, Sweden, Germany, Hungary, Spain. N=1,696 children. Age 6-9y.	A sensory testing session where the choice between a high- versus low-fat cracker & a natural versus sugar- sweetened apple juice.	Children's eating habits questionnaire FFQ (43 food items).	Children's eating habits questionnaire	Weekly consumption frequency of food items & food groups.	BMI, BMI <i>z</i> -scores.	Frequent consumption of fatty foods related to fat preference ($P<0.01$). Ow/ob positively associated with fat preference & sweet preference testing (odds ratio 1.8). BMI associated with fat preference for girls ($P=0.02$).	None.
Liang et al., 2012 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=317 African- American adults. Age mean (SD) 35.3±11.3y.	Fat discrimination testing (7 samples, ranging from 5% - 55% fat content). "Same" or "different" against the second sample.	FFQ (83 food items)	TFEQ, Food preference questionnaire (83 food items)	Food group intake (monthly), food group preferences.	BMI, WC	Fat non-discriminators reported greater consumption of added fats & reduced fat foods (P <0.05). Fat non-discriminators had greater abdominal adiposity (P <0.05).	Yes, ↑ sensitivity (fat discriminators) relates to ↓ intake of added fats & reduced fat foods.
Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014 Cross- sectional observational	Mexico. N=121. Age mean (SD) 21.1±3.6y.	Linoleic acid FA (water) Rated with intensity scales (not threshold)	24-hour recall for 30-35 days (online self-administered). Food group analysis of most frequently consumed foods.	Preference rating for foods [↑] .	Total EI (kcal/d) Food liking & preference	BMI, WC, BF% using skinfold measures (bicipital, tricipital, subscapular & suprailiac)	Perceived taste of linoleic acid rated as high intensity correlated with lower consumption of high-fat fast foods (P=0.04). Participants with high-intensity linoleic acid ratings had lower BMI (P=0.04) & WC (P=0.03).	Yes, ↑ sensitivity relates to ↓ intake of high-fat foods.
Mela and Sacchetti, 1991 Cross- sectional observational	USA. N=30 adults. Age mean (SD) 27.5±7y.	Preference testing of 10 fat containing stimuli, 2-5 levels of fat (e.g. scrambled eggs with 5, 10, 20, 30 g oil).	10-day FR (estimated)	n/a	EI (kcal/d), Macronutrient intake (kcal/d), dietary fat intake (% of kcal)	BMI, body fat %	No consistent relationships with sensory & dietary measures. A positive correlation between fat preference & BF% (P <0.01).	None.

High-fat detection threshol
(i.e. insensitivity) predicted the greater reinforcing value of food ratings (P <0.02). N other predictors found.
CD36 genotype grouping did not influence dietary intake, fat preference or fo craving (P>0.20).
HC, WC, Smokers who were obese rated desserts as less crearr & less sweet than other groups (P <0.02). Smokers identified high-fa food as items that 'taste better', as well as crave & eat more than never-smoke (P <0.03).
Tricep & Children who preferred apular high-fat snacks had a high old dietary fat intake as a ures. percentage of daily energy intake (P <0.05). Tricep skinfold & BMI measures positively correlated with high-fat food preferences (P <0.05).

Study	Population, participants	Fatty acid / fat related tests	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB outcomes	Body composition	Outcome	DA & chemo- sensory / EB relationship
Shen, et al., 2017 Randomised dietary intervention (low fat or portion control diet)	UK. N=136 Age 18-55y.	Hedonic liking for ice-cream with four concentration levels of fat (6%, 10%, 15%, & 20%), 9- point hedonic scale. Genotyping of CD36 & CA6.	1 FFQ (133 food items) 2 x 3-day FR	TFEQ	EI (kcal), fat intake (g), dairy food group consumption from (FFQ).	BMI, WC, HC, body fat %.	High-fat liker group found to have higher dairy consumption compared to high-fat dislikers (P <0.05). CA6 genotype is significantly related to fat intake as a percentage of energy intake (P <0.02).	Unclear.
Stevenson et al., 2016* Cross- sectional observational	Australia. N=87 Age mean (SD) 59.9±13.7y.	 Ratings of intensity, fattiness, hedonics, gLMS for test solutions. Sniffin' Sticks test 	Dietary fat & sugar questionnaire (DFS) food frequency.	n/a	High saturated fat & added sugar in diet termed WS diet.	BMI	Odour identification poorer in consumers of western- style diet (<i>P</i> <0.05). Fat discrimination was poorer in consumers of WS diet (<i>P</i> <0.01). No association between diet & BMI.	Yes, ↑ fat discrimination relates to ↓ intake of dietary fat & sugar.
Stewart et al., 2010 Cross- sectional observational	Australia. 1 N=31 Age mean (sem) 29±1.4y. 2 N=54 Age mean (sem) 20±0.3y.	Oleic, linoleic, lauric fatty acids Ascending 3-AFC method. Fat ranking task with vanilla custard.	2-day diet record (weighed/estimated).	n/a	EI (kJ) & macronutrient distribution	BMI	Hypersensitivity (n=12) associated with lower total energy & lower fat intake in the diet (P <0.05) compared to hyposensitivity (n=42).	Yes , \uparrow sensitivity relates to \downarrow intake of energy & fat intake.
Stewart & Keast, 2012 Randomised cross-over dietary intervention (high fat, low- fat diet)	Australia. N=19. Age mean (SD) 33±13y.	Oleic, ascending 3- AFC method (milk) Ranking task with custard	 24-h food recall Dietary intervention (high-fat diet & low-fat diet)- a measure of sensitivity post dietary intervention 	Hedonic liking for full-fat & low-fat foods	EI & macronutrient distribution (intervention) & sensitivity to taste measured after. Sensitivity increased post-low- fat diet.	BMI	Consumption of a low-fat diet appeared to increase sensitivity to oleic acid (P <0.05) & increased the ability to rank fat content in custard samples (P =0.05).	Yes, ↑ sensitivity relates to ↓ intake of dietary fat (intervention ⁸).

Study	Population,	Fatty acid / fat	DA tool	EB tool	DA & EB	Body	Outcome	DA & chemo-
•	participants	related tests			outcomes	composition		sensory / EB
								relationship
Tucker,	USA.	Oleic acid (water)	BRFS Block Rapid	n/a	Total fat, saturated	BMI	Saturated fat intake & the	Yes , baseline \uparrow
Edlinger,	N=48	Modified staircase	Fat Screener – a self-		fat,		oleic acid threshold were	sensitivity relates
Craig, &	Age mean (SD)	procedure	administered survey		monounsaturated,		positively correlated, as fat	to \downarrow intake of
Mattes, 2014	28.5±10.4y.	$\overline{7}$ visits for repeated	of 100-items to		cholesterol intake.		intake increased sensitivity	saturated fat
Cross-		measure	correlate with fat		Sensitivity		decreased ($P < 0.001$). The	intake.
sectional			intake in the diet		decreased with		lean & overweight group had	
observational					higher saturated fat		total fat intake & oleic acid	
					intake in the diet.		threshold positively correlated	
							(P<0.001)	
Zhou, Shen,	UK.	1) Fat intensity	FFQ (Validated)	n/a	EI, fat intake	BMI	Odour increases fat intensity	None.
Parker,	1 N=46	ratings under (i.e.					perception $(P < 0.0001)$.	
Kennedy, and	Age 19-53y.	mouthfeel odour-					Mouthfeel increases fat	
Methven, 2016	2 N=51	masked, etc). OA					intensity perception	
Cross-	Age 18-55y.	threshold 3-AFC,					(P<0.0001). No association	
sectional		staircase procedure.					between taste detection,	
observational		2) Fat intensity					nutrient intake or BMI.	
		ratings. 2-AFC						
		discrimination test.						
		OA threshold 3-AFC						
		staircase procedure.						
		;	· · ·					
Abbreviations: 1	EB; eating behaviour.	; DA, dietary assessment;	AFC, alternative-forced	choice; sem, sta	indard error of the mean	n; SD, standard de	viation; y, years; OA, oleic acid;	BMI, body mass index

WC, waist circumference; HC, hip circumference; EI, energy intake; BIA, bioelectrical impedance analysis; WS, western-style (diet); TFEQ; three-factor eating questionnaire; BP, blood pressure; gLMS, general labelled magnitude scale; LMS, labelled magnitude scale; kcal/d, kilocalories per day; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; VAS, visual analogue scale; FR, food record; BF%, body fat percentage; CHO, carbohydrate; ow/ob, overweigh/obese; QEWP, Questionnaire on Eating and Weight Patterns; BES, binge eating scale.

*Dietary pattern 'Western-Style' diet determined from food frequency data and compared to chemosensory abilities.

[†]Food groups and food consumption frequency of different food groups analysed. [§]One variable controlled in the relationship (i.e. low-fat diet intervention for 6 weeks = increased fatty acid taste sensitivity post-intervention). [‡]Indirect and an implied relationship based on supportive data from the literature (Keller et al., 2012).

2.5.3.10. Olfaction, dietary intake, and obesity

Few studies have been conducted on aroma perception and dietary intake in humans. One study has demonstrated that high aroma intensity was associated with a smaller bite-size of vanilla custard dessert samples (de Wijk, Polet, Boek, Coenraad, & Bult, 2012). In mice, the sense of smell is enhanced, and olfactory circuits are sensitive to changes in energy balance (Palouzier-Paulignan et al., 2012; Soria-Gómez et al., 2014).

Impairment of smell has been associated with eating disorders, such as anorexia (Roessner, Bleich, Banaschewski, & Rothenberger, 2005). The lack of odour recognition in anorexic people has been associated with restrained eating habits (Stafford, Tucker, & Gerstner, 2013). In consideration of weight gain and long-term metabolic health outcomes, how olfactory sensitivity may relate to taste perception and dietary intake is of interest. One study has shown that retro-nasal olfactory perception can be affected by the onset of obesity (Palouzier-Paulignan et al., 2012). Importantly, with increasing BMI the ability to detect and identify odours decreases (Simchen, Koebnick, Hoyer, Issanchou, & Zunft, 2006).

2.5.3.11. Mouthfeel, dietary intake, and obesity

Alongside taste and aroma, the textural influence of food plays another crucial role in overall dietary intake. Previous research on oral processing time and bite-size are linked to the degree of satiety (de Wijk, Zijlstra, Mars, de Graaf, & Prinz, 2008; Zijlstra, de Wijk, Mars, Stafleu, & de Graaf, 2009; Zijlstra, Mars, de Wijk, Westerterp-Plantenga, & de Graaf, 2008). A study on oral processing showed that the intake of hard foods reduces overall energy intake when compared to soft foods (Bolhuis et al., 2014). Studies have found positive associations between body weight status and eating rate speed (Maruyama et al., 2008; Otsuka et al., 2006). This supports the belief that highly processed foods which require minimal oral processing can lead to weight gain and obesity (Stieger & Van de Velde, 2013).

2.6. SUMMARY OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW

From the explored literature it was clear that there are external determinants of food choice such as society, the government and the food industry (Story et al., 2008). For example, the government can introduce policies and taxes which may change long-term dietary habits (i.e. sugar tax) (Cropp, 2017). The second level of influence comes from the social environment and the community. This is where cultural influences, family, friends, schools and workplaces can further shape long-term dietary intake and habits through social facilitation (Gerritsen & Wall, 2017; Herman et al., 2003; Salvy et al., 2012). Finally, individual-level factors which include lifestyle, attitude, and biological factors were reviewed as the third level of influence. Whilst individual and biological factors (e.g. genetics, age, taste and sensory perception) are promising targets for health-related or weight loss intervention studies, it is important that these are addressed in the wider context in which people make decisions.

The biological feedback system is initiated by sensory perception and further leads to hypothalamic signalling, reward processing, and the behavioural control of eating (Rolls, 2015). Adiposity may be associated with taste perception by influencing appetite regulation and satiety (Dando, 2015). The alteration of taste sensitivity and hedonics has been linked to changes in gut-derived appetite signalling hormones (Miras & le Roux, 2014). The most compelling evidence to date of this association is that taste sensitivity has been shown to change after bariatric surgery (Thanos et al., 2015). Taste perception has also been shown to be influenced by genetics, age and life stage, gender and obesity. In addition, olfaction and mouthfeel perception are key drivers of food intake due to their influence on flavour perception and acceptance (Doty & Bromley, 2012; Ingham, 1995; Jeltema et al., 2014).

Detection and recognition threshold measurements have been used to determine individual sensitivity to low concentrations of taste stimuli (Giguère et al., 2016; Tucker et al., 2017). However, a number of recent studies which look to compare dietary intake and taste perception are choosing to measure taste perception with suprathreshold concentrations of taste (Feeney, O'Brien, Scannell, Markey, & Gibney, 2017; Noel et al., 2017). Suprathreshold taste can be measured with gLMS scales to give an indication of intensity perception (Bartoshuk et al., 2004).

Dietary assessment methods such as food records and FFQs appear to be the most commonly used measures to provide robust associations with taste perception. Measurement of the whole diet was considered to be superior in order to draw associations with taste perception (Stevenson et al., 2016). Additionally, eating behaviour measurements which further impact dietary motives are related to cognitive responses to food, which can be measured with validated questionnaires, the most common of which measures dietary restraint, disinhibition of control and susceptibility to hunger (Stunkard & Messick, 1985).

Studies on sweet taste, bitter taste and fatty acid taste perception were reviewed which also measured dietary intake, body composition and/or eating behaviour. Associations between taste perception and dietary intake were observed in bitter taste and fatty acid taste perception studies (Table 2.4 and Table 2.5). Increased sensitivity to bitter taste was most strongly associated with a decreased intake in vegetables (i.e cruciferous vegetables) and increased fatty acid taste perception was associated with decreased intake of total energy intake (kJ) and dietary fat. In contrast, sweet taste hedonic liking measurements or sweet taste liking clusters were associated with the dietary intake of sugars, but detection threshold measurements were not (Table 2.3). However, there was a significant proportion of studies across sweet taste, bitter taste and fatty acid taste perception studies that showed no diet-taste associations (approx. 40% of the studies reviewed).

The review conducted for this PhD supports that there are a number of studies that have found meaningful associations between taste perception and dietary intake and weight status. However, there is no conclusive evidence confirming the biological basis for these taste perception and dietary intake associations. There are recent studies which have found associations between sweet taste perception and long-term appetite regulators such as plasma leptin (Han, Keast, & Roura, 2017; Overberg et al., 2012) which explains some of the day-to-day variations in taste (Tan & Tucker, 2019).

Endocrine regulation and appetite sensation were shown to be associated with reward signalling pathways which are likely to influence cognitive eating behaviour.

2.6.1. Gaps in the current literature

To date, there is no conclusive evidence of an association between taste perception and dietary intake. However, studies continue to investigate whether the decreased sensitivity of a primary taste is associated with the increased dietary intake of the associated macronutrients (Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011). It has been suggested that measurements of hedonic liking of taste may be more strongly associated with long-term dietary habits (Ettinger et al., 2012), but additional research is required to substantiate this link.

Cognitive domains of eating behaviour may also be associated with taste perception. A number of studies have investigated measurements of dietary restraint in taste perception studies, but have used the restraint score to either exclude participants with high dietary restraint (Barajas-Ramírez et al., 2016) or the measurement was used to adjust for study outcomes as a covariate (Keller et al., 2012; Panek-Scarborough et al., 2012). As taste perception may be intimately linked with cognitive reward signalling pathways and appetite regulation, a better understanding of associations with the cognitive domains of eating behaviour may further support associations with food choice. In addition to eating behaviour, there is emerging evidence of a link between endocrine regulation, appetite regulation and taste perception (Kubasova et al., 2015). There are only a few studies which have measured endocrine regulators of appetite and energy metabolism. Additional research in this area may help to establish the distinct role of these signalling pathways alongside taste perception.

Finally, body composition may be associated with taste perception. It is still unclear as to whether or not specific tastes (i.e. sweet taste) is more likely to be associated with body weight status. It may instead be that inflammation which arises from obesity and metabolic dysregulation causes insensitivity to general taste acuity by inhibiting the renewal of taste buds (Kaufman et al., 2018). Conversely, there are studies which have

observed that obesity is associated with increased taste sensitivity (Hardikar et al., 2017; Pasquet et al., 2007). Further investigation into this area is warranted.

In conclusion, food consumption involves complex taste perception interactions, as well as the added complexity of aroma, visual, auditory and mouthfeel sensations. The information on how these components relate to one another, as well as their influence on long term metabolic health, is scarce and needs to be further explored. A better understanding of sensory perception and associations with dietary intake is an important step in further understanding the biological mechanisms which influence body weight. However, taste testing procedures and dietary intake measurements both must be reliable in order to draw valid conclusions. It has been found that a lack of repeatability is a potentially misleading factor in the design of previous studies which have aimed to determine the taste perception capabilities of an individual. More studies are required to determine the reproducibility of methods for taste perception as well as determining quantitative sensory measures which may have an association with metabolic disease risk or body weight gain. In addition, investigation into whether relationships exist between taste perception, dietary intake, eating behaviour and markers of metabolic health is warranted.

- Ache, B. W., & Young, J. M. (2005). Olfaction: diverse species, conserved principles. *Neuron*, 48(3), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.10.022
- Alexy, U., Schaefer, A., Sailer, O., Busch-Stockfisch, M., Huthmacher, S., Kunert, J., & Kersting, M. (2011). Sensory preferences and discrimination ability of children in relation to their body weight status. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 26(6), 409–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2011.00358.x
- Ali, Z., & Abizari, A.-R. (2018). Ramadan fasting alters food patterns, dietary diversity and body weight among Ghanaian adolescents. *Nutrition Journal*, 17(1), 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-018-0386-2
- Amitani, M., Asakawa, A., Amitani, H., & Inui, A. (2013). The role of leptin in the control of insulin-glucose axis. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7, 51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00051
- Anonymous. (1931). Six in ten "tasteblind" to bitter chemical. Science News Letter.
- Ashrafian, H., & le Roux, C. W. (2009). Metabolic surgery and gut hormones A review of bariatric entero-humoral modulation. *Physiology and Behavior*, 97(5), 620–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.03.012
- ASTM. (2011). Standard Practice for Determination of Odor and Taste Thresholds By a Forced Choice Ascending Concentration Series Method of Limits. Retrieved February 4, 2015, from http://www.astm.org/Standards/E679.htm
- Atkinson, J., Salmond, C., & Crampton, P. (2014). *NZDep2013 Index of Deprivation*. Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Backholer, K., Sarink, D., Beauchamp, A., Keating, C., Loh, V., Ball, K., ... Peeters, A. (2016). The impact of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages according to socioeconomic position: a systematic review of the evidence. *Public Health Nutrition*, 19(17), 3070–3084. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001600104X
- Baeyens, F., Vansteenwegen, D., De Houwer, J., & Crombez, G. (1996). Observational conditioning of food valence in humans. *Appetite*, 27(3), 235–250. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.1996.0049
- Barajas-Ramírez, J. A., Quintana-Castro, R., Oliart-Ros, R. M., & Angulo-Guerrero, O. (2016). Bitter taste perception and TAS2R38 genotype: effects on taste sensitivity, food consumption and anthropometry in Mexican adults. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, *31*(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.3319
- Bartoshuk, L. M. (2000). Comparing sensory experiences across individuals: Recent psychophysical advances illuminate genetic variation in taste perception. *Chemical Senses*, 25(4), 447–460.
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Green, B. G., Hoffman, H. J., Ko, C.-W., Lucchina, L. A., ... Weiffenbach, J. M. (2004). Valid across-group comparisons with labeled scales: the gLMS versus magnitude matching. *Physiology & Behavior*, 82(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.02.033

- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Hayes, J. E., Moskowitz, H. R., & Snyder, D. J. (2006). Psychophysics of sweet and fat perception in obesity: problems, solutions and new perspectives. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B*, *Biological Sciences*, 361(1471), 1137–1148. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2006.1853
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., & Miller, I. J. (1994). PTC/PROP tasting: Anatomy, psychophysics, and sex effects. *Physiology & Behavior*, 56(6), 1165–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)90361-1
- Bauer, P. V, Hamr, S. C., & Duca, F. A. (2016). Regulation of energy balance by a gutbrain axis and involvement of the gut microbiota. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 73(4), 737–755. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2083-z
- Beck, K. L., & Heath, A.-L. M. (2013). Dietary approaches to assessing iron-related nutrition. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 16(6), 712– 718. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.0b013e328364f382
- Behrens, M., & Meyerhof, W. (2006). Bitter taste receptors and human bitter taste perception. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, *63*(13), 1501–1509. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-006-6113-8
- Bell, K. I., & Tepper, B. J. (2006). Short-term vegetable intake by young children classified by 6-n-propylthoiuracil bitter-taste phenotype. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 84(1), 245–251.
- Benoit, S. C., Clegg, D. J., Seeley, R. J., & Woods, S. C. (2004). Insulin and leptin as adiposity signals. *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, 59, 267–285.
- Berthoud, H. R. (2011). Metabolic and hedonic drives in the neural control of appetite: Who is the boss? *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *21*(6), 888–896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.004
- Berthoud, H. R. (2012). The neurobiology of food intake in an obesogenic environment. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *71*(4), 478–487. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665112000602
- Besnard, P. (2016). Lipids and obesity: Also a matter of taste? *Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-016-9355-2
- Blossfeld, I., Collins, A., Boland, S., Baixauli, R., Kiely, M., & Delahunty, C. (2007). Relationships between acceptance of sour taste and fruit intakes in 18-month-old infants. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 98(5), 1084–1091. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114507749231
- Blundell, J. E., de Graaf, C., Hulshof, T., Jebb, S., Livingstone, B., Lluch, A., ... Westerterp, M. (2010). Appetite control: methodological aspects of the evaluation of foods. *Obesity Reviews*, 11(3), 251–270. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00714.x
- Blundell, J. E., & Gillett, A. (2001). Control of food intake in the obese. *Obesity Research*, 9 *Suppl* 4, 263S-270S.
- Boesveldt, S., & Lundström, J. N. (2014). Detecting fat content of food from a distance: olfactory-based fat discrimination in humans. *PloS One*, *9*(1), e85977.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085977

- Bolhuis, D. P., Forde, C. G., Cheng, Y., Xu, H., Martin, N., & de Graaf, C. (2014). Slow food: sustained impact of harder foods on the reduction in energy intake over the course of the day. *PloS One*, 9(4), e93370. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093370
- Bond, M. J., McDowell, A. J., & Wilkinson, J. Y. (2001). The measurement of dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger: An examination of the factor structure of the Three Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ). *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(6), 900–906.
- Brennan, I. M., Luscombe-Marsh, N. D., Seimon, R. V, Otto, B., Horowitz, M., Wishart, J. M., & Feinle-Bisset, C. (2012). Effects of fat, protein, and carbohydrate and protein load on appetite, plasma cholecystokinin, peptide YY, and ghrelin, and energy intake in lean and obese men. *American Journal of Physiology -Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 303(1), G129–G140. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00478.2011
- Breslin, P. A. S. (2013). An Evolutionary Perspective on Food and Human Taste. *Current Biology*, 23(9), R409–R418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.010
- Bromley, S. M. (2000). Smell and taste disorders: A primary care approach. *American Family Physician*, 61(2), 427–436.
- Bryant, M., Ashton, L., Brown, J., Jebb, S., Wright, J., Roberts, K., & Nixon, J. (2014). Systematic review to identify and appraise outcome measures used to evaluate childhood obesity treatment interventions (CoOR): evidence of purpose, application, validity, reliability and sensitivity. *Health Technology Assessment*, 18(51), 1–380. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta18510
- Buchwald, H., Estok, R., Fahrbach, K., Banel, D., Jensen, M. D., Pories, W. J., ... Sledge, I. (2009). Weight and Type 2 Diabetes after Bariatric Surgery: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *American Journal of Medicine*, 122(3), 248-256.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2008.09.041
- Bufe, B., Breslin, P. A. S., Kuhn, C., Reed, D. R., Tharp, C. D., Slack, J. P., ... Meyerhof, W. (2005). The molecular basis of individual differences in phenylthiocarbamide and propylthiouracil bitterness perception. *Current Biology*, 15(4), 322–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.01.047
- Bushdid, C., Magnasco, M. O., Vosshall, L. B., & Keller, A. (2014). Humans Can Discriminate More than 1 Trillion Olfactory Stimuli. *Science*, 343(6177), 1370– 1372. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1249168
- Carroll, R. J., Midthune, D., Subar, A. F., Shumakovich, M., Freedman, L. S., Thompson, F. E., & Kipnis, V. (2012). Taking advantage of the strengths of 2 different dietary assessment instruments to improve intake estimates for nutritional epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 175(4), 340–347. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwr317
- Cattaneo, C., Riso, P., Laureati, M., Gargari, G., & Pagliarini, E. (2019). Exploring Associations between Interindividual Differences in Taste Perception, Oral Microbiota Composition, and Reported Food Intake. *Nutrients*, *11*(5), 1167.

https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11051167

- Chalé-Rush, A., Burgess, J. R., & Mattes, R. D. (2007). Multiple routes of chemosensitivity to free fatty acids in humans. *American Journal of Physiology -Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 292(5), G1206–G1212. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00471.2006
- Chandrashekar, J., Hoon, M., Ryba, N. J. P., & Zuker, C. S. (2006). The receptors and cells for mammalian taste. *Nature*, 444(7117), 288–294. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05401
- Chandrashekar, J., Kuhn, C., Oka, Y., Yarmolinsky, D. A., Hummler, E., Ryba, N. J. P., & Zuker, C. S. (2010). The cells and peripheral representation of sodium taste in mice. *Nature*, 464(7286), 297–301. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08783
- Chang, W.-I., Chung, J.-W., Kim, Y.-K., Chung, S.-C., & Kho, H.-S. (2006). The relationship between phenylthiocarbamide (PTC) and 6-n-propylthiouracil (PROP) taster status and taste thresholds for sucrose and quinine. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 51(5), 427–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archoralbio.2005.10.002
- Chaput, J.-P., Gilbert, J.-A., Gregersen, N. T., Pedersen, S. D., & Sjödin, A. M. (2010). Comparison of 150-mm versus 100-mm visual analogue scales in free living adult subjects. *Appetite*, 54(3), 583–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.01.016
- Chaudhari, N., Pereira, E., & Roper, S. D. (2009). Taste receptors for umami: the case for multiple receptors. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *90*(3), 738S-742S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.27462H
- Cicerale, S., Riddell, L., & Keast, R. (2012). The association between perceived sweetness intensity and dietary intake in young adults. *Journal of Food Science*, 77(1), H31-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02473.x
- Coltell, O., Sorlí, J. V, Asensio, E. M., Fernández-Carrión, R., Barragán, R., Ortega-Azorín, C., ... Corella, D. (2019). Association between taste perception and adiposity in overweight or obese older subjects with metabolic syndrome and identification of novel taste-related genes. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 109(6), 1709–1723. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqz038
- Costanzo, A., Nowson, C., Orellana, L., Bolhuis, D., Duesing, K., & Keast, R. (2018). Effect of dietary fat intake and genetics on fat taste sensitivity: a co-twin randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 107(5), 683– 694. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy022
- Costanzo, A., Orellana, L., Nowson, C., Duesing, K., & Keast, R. (2017). Fat taste sensitivity is associated with short-term and habitual fat intake. *Nutrients*, *9*(7), 781. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070781
- Côté, C. D., Zadeh-Tahmasebi, M., Rasmussen, B. A., Duca, F. A., & Lam, T. K. T. (2014). Hormonal signaling in the gut. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(17), 11642–11649. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.O114.556068
- Covey, S. D., Wideman, R. D., McDonald, C., Unniappan, S., Huynh, F., Asadi, A., ... Kieffer, T. J. (2006). The pancreatic β cell is a key site for mediating the effects of leptin on glucose homeostasis. *Cell Metabolism*, 4(4), 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2006.09.005

- Cox, D. N., Hendrie, G. A., & Carty, D. (2015). Sensitivity, hedonics and preferences for basic tastes and fat amongst adults and children of differing weight status: A comprehensive review. *Food Quality & Preference*, 41(Part B), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.014
- Cropp, M. (2017). Petition to tax sugary drinks: NZ obese, kids' teeth rotting | RNZ News. Retrieved March 8, 2019, from https://www.radionz.co.nz/news/national/336756/petition-to-tax-sugary-drinks-nzobese-kids-teeth-rotting
- Dando, R. (2015). The Plasticity of Taste Function Links the Appetitive Taste of Fats with Obesity. *Chemosensory Perception*, 8(2), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-015-9187-6
- Davis, C., Patte, K., Levitan, R., Reid, C., Tweed, S., & Curtis, C. (2007). From motivation to behaviour: A model of reward sensitivity, overeating, and food preferences in the risk profile for obesity. *Appetite*, 48(1), 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2006.05.016
- de Wijk, R. A., Polet, I. A., Boek, W., Coenraad, S., & Bult, J. H. F. (2012). Food aroma affects bite size. *Flavour*, 1(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/2044-7248-1-3
- de Wijk, R. A., Zijlstra, N., Mars, M., de Graaf, C., & Prinz, J. F. (2008). The effects of food viscosity on bite size, bite effort and food intake. *Physiology & Behavior*, 95(3), 527–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.07.026
- Denzer, M. Y., Gailer, S., Kern, D. W., Schumm, L. P., Thuerauf, N., Kornhuber, J., ... Beauchamp, J. (2014). Quantitative Validation of the n-Butanol Sniffin' Sticks Threshold Pens. *Chemosensory Perception*, 7(2), 91–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-014-9168-1
- DiPatrizio, N. V. (2014). Is fat taste ready for primetime? *Physiology and Behavior*, 136, 145–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.03.002
- Donaldson, L. F., Bennett, L., Baic, S., & Melichar, J. K. (2009). Taste and weight: is there a link? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90(3), 800S-803S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.27462Q
- Dotson, C. D., Zhang, L., Xu, H., Shin, Y. K., Vigues, S., Ott, S. H., ... Munger, S. D. (2008). Bitter taste receptors influence glucose homeostasis. *PLoS ONE*, 3(12), e3974. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003974
- Doty, R. L. (1978). Gender and reproductive state correlates of taste perception in humans. *Sex and Behavior: Status and Prospectus*, 337–362.
- Doty, R. L., & Bromley, S. M. (2012). *Disorders of Smell and Taste*. (J. Longo, D.L., Fauci, A.S., Kasper, D.L., Hauser, S.L., Jameson, J.L., Loscalzo, Ed.) (18th ed.). New York: McGraw Hill.
- Doty, R. L., Shaman, P., & Dann, M. (1984). Development of the university of pennsylvania smell identification test: A standardized microencapsulated test of olfactory function. *Physiology & Behavior*, 32(3), 489–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(84)90269-5

Drewnowski, A. (1997). Taste preferences and food intake. Annual Review of Nutrition,

17, 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.17.1.237

- Drewnowski, A., & Bellisle, F. (2007). Is sweetness addictive? Nutrition Bulletin, 32(s1), 52–60. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-3010.2007.00604.x
- Drewnowski, A., Henderson, S. A., Levine, A., & Hann, C. (1999). Taste and food preferences as predictors of dietary practices in young women. Public Health Nutrition, 2(4), 513–519.
- Dubé, L. (2010). Obesity prevention : the role of brain and society on individual behavior. Obesity Prevention. Elsevier/Academic Press.
- Dube, L., Bechara, A., Dagher, A., Drewnowski, A., LeBel, J., James, P., & Yada, R. (2010). Obesity Prevention. Obesity Prevention. Elsevier Inc.
- Duca, F. A., & Lam, T. K. T. (2014). Gut microbiota, nutrient sensing and energy balance. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, 16, 68-76.
- Duffy, V. B., & Bartoshuk, L. M. (2000). Food acceptance and genetic variation in taste. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 100(6), 647–655. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.650
- Duffy, V. B., Hayes, J. E., Davidson, A. C., Kidd, J. R., Kidd, K. K., & Bartoshuk, L. M. (2010). Vegetable intake in college-aged adults is explained by oral sensory phenotypes and TAS2R38 genotype. *Chemosensory Perception*, 3(3–4), 137–148.
- Ettinger, L., Duizer, L., & Caldwell, T. (2012). Body fat, sweetness sensitivity, and preference: determining the relationship. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice & Research, 73(1), 45-48. https://doi.org/10.3148/73.1.2012.45
- Feeney, E. L., O'Brien, S. A., Scannell, A. G. M., Markey, A., & Gibney, E. R. (2017). Suprathreshold measures of taste perception in children - Association with dietary quality and body weight. Appetite, 113, 116-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2017.02.026
- Fernandez-Garcia, J. C., Alcaide, J., Santiago-Fernandez, C., Roca-Rodriguez, M. M., Aguera, Z., Baños, R., ... Garrido-Sanchez, L. (2017). An increase in visceral fat is associated with a decrease in the taste and olfactory capacity. PLoS ONE, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171204
- Fernstrom, J. D., Munger, S. D., Sclafani, A., de Araujo, I. E., Roberts, A., & Molinary, S. (2012). Mechanisms for sweetness. The Journal of Nutrition, (6). https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.111.149567.
- Fisher, J. O., & Birch, L. L. (1995). Fat Preferences and Fat Consumption of 3- to 5year-old Children are Related to Parental Adiposity. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 95(7), 759-764. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00212-X
- Fornazieri, M. A., Doty, R. L., Santos, C. A., Pinna, F. R., Bezerra, T. F., & Voegels, R. L. (2013). A new cultural adaptation of the University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test. Clinics, 68(1), 65-68. https://doi.org/10.6061/clinics/2013(01)OA10
- Freiherr, J., Gordon, A. R., Alden, E. C., Ponting, A. L., Hernandez, M. F., Boesveldt, S., & Lundström, J. N. (2012). The 40-item Monell Extended Sniffin' Sticks 122

Identification Test (MONEX-40). *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 205(1), 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011.12.004

- Galindo, M. M., Voigt, N., Stein, J., van Lengerich, J., Raguse, J.-D., Hofmann, T., ... Behrens, M. (2012). G protein-coupled receptors in human fat taste perception. *Chemical Senses*, *37*(2), 123–139. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjr069
- Garcia-Burgos, D., & Zamora, M. C. (2013). Facial affective reactions to bitter-tasting foods and body mass index in adults. *Appetite*, 71, 178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.08.013
- Garneau, N. L., Nuessle, T. M., Mendelsberg, B. J., Shepard, S., & Tucker, R. M. (2018). Sweet liker status in children and adults: Consequences for beverage intake in adults. *Food Quality & Preference*, 65, 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.10.005
- Gerritsen, S., & Wall, C. (2017). *How We Eat: Reviews of the evidence on food and eating behaviours related to diet and body size*. Wellington, New Zealand.
- Ghinea, G., & Ademoye, O. A. (2010). Olfaction-enhanced multimedia: perspectives and challenges. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 55(3), 601–626. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-010-0581-4
- Giguère, J.-F., de Moura Piovesana, P., Proulx-Belhumeur, A., Doré, M., de Lemos Sampaio, K., & Gallani, M.-C. (2016). Reliability of a Simple Method for Determining Salt Taste Detection and Recognition Thresholds. *Chemical Senses*, 41(3), 205–210. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv080
- Gonzalez-Kristeller, D. C., do Nascimento, J. B. P., Galante, P. A. F., & Malnic, B. (2015). Identification of agonists for a group of human odorant receptors. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 6, 35. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00035
- Gravitz, L. (2012). Food science: taste bud hackers. *Nature*, 486(7403), S14-5. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S14a
- Gudziol, H., & Hummel, T. (2007). Normative values for the assessment of gustatory function using liquid tastants. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *127*(6), 658–661. https://doi.org/10.1080/00016480600951491
- Haase, L., Green, E., & Murphy, C. (2011). Males and females show differential brain activation to taste when hungry and sated in gustatory and reward areas. *Appetite*, 57(2), 421–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2011.06.009
- Haehner, A., Mayer, A.-M., Landis, B. N., Pournaras, I., Lill, K., Gudziol, V., & Hummel, T. (2009). High test-retest reliability of the extended version of the "Sniffin" Sticks" test." *Chemical Senses*, 34(8), 705–711. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjp057
- Hamamichi, R., Asano-Miyoshi, M., & Emori, Y. (2006). Taste bud contains both short-lived and long-lived cell populations. *Neuroscience*, *141*(4), 2129–2138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.05.061
- Han, P., Keast, R., & Roura, E. (2017). Salivary leptin and TAS1R2/TAS1R3 polymorphisms are related to sweet taste sensitivity and carbohydrate intake from a buffet meal in healthy young adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 118(10), 763–

770. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114517002872

- Hardikar, S., Höchenberger, R., Villringer, A., & Ohla, K. (2017). Higher sensitivity to sweet and salty taste in obese compared to lean individuals. *Appetite*, *111*, 158–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2016.12.017
- Haryono, R., Sprajcer, M., & Keast, R. (2014). Measuring oral fatty acid thresholds, fat perception, fatty food liking, and papillae density in humans. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, (88). https://doi.org/10.3791/51236.
- Haugen, J., Müller, M. L. T. M., Kotagal, V., Albin, R. L., Koeppe, R. A., Scott, P. J. H., ... Bohnen, N. I. (2016). Prevalence of impaired odor identification in Parkinson disease with imaging evidence of nigrostriatal denervation. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 123(4), 421–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-016-1524-7
- Hausch, F., & Holsboer, F. (2012). The seven pillars of molecular pharmacology: GPCR research honored with Nobel Prize for chemistry. *Angewandte Chemie* (*International Ed. in English*), 51(49), 12172–12175. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201208565
- Haxel, B. R., Fuchs, C., Fruth, K., Mann, W. J., & Lippert, B. M. (2011). Evaluation of the efficacy of the "nasal airflow-inducing manoeuvre" for smell rehabilitation in laryngectomees by means of the Sniffin' Sticks test. *Clinical Otolaryngology : Official Journal of ENT-UK ; Official Journal of Netherlands Society for Oto-Rhino-Laryngology & Cervico-Facial Surgery*, 36(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-4486.2011.02261.x
- Heilmann, S., Strehle, G., Rosenheim, K., Damm, M., & Hummel, T. (2002). Clinical assessment of retronasal olfactory function. *Archives of Otolaryngology - Head* and Neck Surgery, 128(4), 414–418.
- Heinze, J., Costanzo, A., Baselier, I., Fritsche, A., Frank-Podlech, S., & Keast, R. (2018). Detection thresholds for four different fatty stimuli are associated with increased dietary intake of processed high-caloric food. *Appetite*, 123, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.12.003
- Herman, C. P., Roth, D. A., & Polivy, J. (2003). Effects of the Presence of Others on Food Intake: A Normative Interpretation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(6), 873–886. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.6.873
- Hewson, L., Hollowood, T., Chandra, S., & Hort, J. (2008). Taste–aroma interactions in a citrus flavoured model beverage system: Similarities and differences between acid and sugar type. *Food Quality and Preference*, 19(3), 323–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2007.10.008
- Heymsfield, S. B., & Wadden, T. A. (2017). Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and management of obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*(3). https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1514009
- Hill, J. O. J. O. (2006). Understanding and addressing the epidemic of obesity: an energy balance perspective. *Endocrine Reviews*, 27(7), 750–761. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2006-0032
- Holt, S. H. ., Cobiac, L., Beaumont-Smith, N. ., Easton, K., & Best, D. . (2000). Dietary habits and the perception and liking of sweetness among Australian and Malaysian

students: A cross-cultural study. *Food Quality and Preference*, *11*(4), 299–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0950-3293(99)00076-2

- Hopkins, M., & Blundell, J. E. (2016). Energy balance, body composition, sedentariness and appetite regulation: Pathways to obesity. *Clinical Science*, 130(18). https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20160006
- Huang, A. L., Chen, X., Hoon, M. A., Chandrashekar, J., Guo, W., Tränkner, D., ... Zuker, C. S. (2006). The cells and logic for mammalian sour taste detection. *Nature*, 442(7105), 934–938. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05084
- Hummel, T., Kobal, G., Gudziol, H., & Mackay-Sim, A. (2007). Normative data for the "Sniffin" Sticks" including tests of odor identification, odor discrimination, and olfactory thresholds: an upgrade based on a group of more than 3,000 subjects." *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology : Official Journal of the European Federation of Oto-Rhino-Laryngological Societies (EUFOS) : Affiliated with the German Society for Oto-Rhino-Laryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*, 264(3), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-006-0173-0
- Hummel, T., Sekinger, B., Wolf, S. R., Pauli, E., & Kobal, G. (1997). 'Sniffin' Sticks': Olfactory Performance Assessed by the Combined Testing of Odour Identification, Odor Discrimination and Olfactory Threshold. *Chemical Senses*, 22(1), 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/22.1.39
- Hutchings, S. C., Foster, K. D., Grigor, J. M. V., Bronlund, J. E., & Morgenstern, M. P. (2014). Temporal dominance of sensations: A comparison between younger and older subjects for the perception of food texture. *Food Quality and Preference*, *31*(1), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2013.08.007
- Hutchings, S. C., Foster, K. D., Hedderley, D. I., & Morgenstern, M. P. (2014). Differences between Age Groups in the Use of the Temporal Dominance of Sensations Technique across a Range of Food Textures. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 45(3), 206–219. https://doi.org/10.1111/jtxs.12066
- Hutchings, S. C., Low, J., & Keast, R. (2018). Sugar reduction without compromising sensory perception. An impossible dream? *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1450214
- Huxley, R., Mendis, S., Zheleznyakov, E., Reddy, S., & Chan, J. (2010). Body mass index, waist circumference and waist:hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular riska review of the literature. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 64(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2009.68
- Ingham, K. (1995). The effect of eating on aroma release from strawberries. *Food Chemistry*, 54(3), 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/0308-8146(95)00048-N
- Inoue, H., Kuwano, T., Yamakawa-Kobayashi, K., Waguri, T., Nakano, T., & Suzuki, Y. (2017). Perceived 6-n-Propylthiouracil (PROP) Bitterness Is Associated with Dietary Sodium Intake in Female Japanese College Students. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 63(3), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.3177/jnsv.63.167
- Jahoda, G. (2012). Critical reflections on some recent definitions of "culture." *Culture & Psychology*, *18*(3), 289–303. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354067X12446229

- James, C. E., Laing, D. G., & Oram, N. (1997). A Comparison of the Ability of 8–9-Year-Old Children and Adults to Detect Taste Stimuli. *Physiology & Behavior*, 62(1), 193–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(97)00030-9
- Jang, H.-J., Kokrashvili, Z., Theodorakis, M. J., Carlson, O. D., Kim, B.-J., Zhou, J., ... Egan, J. M. (2007). Gut-Expressed Gustducin and Taste Receptors Regulate Secretion of Glucagon-Like Peptide-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(38), 15069–15074. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0706890104
- Janssen, S., & Depoortere, I. (2013). Nutrient sensing in the gut: new roads to therapeutics? *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM*, 24(2), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2012.11.006
- Janssen, S., Laermans, J., Verhulst, P.-J., Thijs, T., Tack, J., & Depoortere, I. (2011). Bitter taste receptors and α-gustducin regulate the secretion of ghrelin with functional effects on food intake and gastric emptying. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(5), 2094–2099. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1011508108
- Jayasinghe, S. N., Kruger, R., Walsh, D. C. I., Cao, G., Rivers, S., Richter, M., & Breier, B. H. (2017). Is sweet taste perception associated with sweet food liking and intake? *Nutrients*, *9*(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070750
- Jeltema, M., Beckley, J. H., & Vahalik, J. (2014). Food Texture Design and Optimization. (Y. L. Dar & J. M. Light, Eds.). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118765616
- Jervis, S. M., Gerard, P., Drake, S., Lopetcharat, K., & Drake, M. A. (2014). The Perception of Creaminess in Sour Cream. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 29(4), 248– 257. https://doi.org/10.1111/joss.12098
- Johnston, D. W., & Lordan, G. (2014). Weight perceptions, weight control and income: An analysis using British data. *Economics and Human Biology*, *12*, 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2013.02.004
- Jones, B. J., Tan, T., & Bloom, S. R. (2012). Minireview: Glucagon in Stress and Energy Homeostasis. *Endocrinology*, *153*(3), 1049–1054. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2011-1979
- Kaji, I., Karaki, S., Fukami, Y., Terasaki, M., & Kuwahara, A. (2009). Secretory effects of a luminal bitter tastant and expressions of bitter taste receptors, T2Rs, in the human and rat large intestine. *American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal* and Liver Physiology, 296(5), G971-81. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.90514.2008
- Kappes, S. M., Schmidt, S. J., & Lee, S.-Y. (2006). Descriptive Analysis of Cola and Lemon/Lime Carbonated Beverages. *Journal of Food Science*, 71(8), S583–S589. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2006.00162.x
- Kaufman, A., Choo, E., Koh, A., & Dando, R. (2018). Inflammation arising from obesity reduces taste bud abundance and inhibits renewal. *PLOS Biology*, 16(3), e2001959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001959
- Kawai, K., Sugimoto, K., Nakashima, K., Miura, H., & Ninomiya, Y. (2000). Leptin as a modulator of sweet taste sensitivities in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(20), 11044–11049.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.190066697

- Keast, R., Azzopardi, K., Newman, L., & Haryono, R. (2014). Impaired oral fatty acid chemoreception is associated with acute excess energy consumption. *Appetite*, 80, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.04.022
- Keast, R., & Costanzo, A. (2015). Is fat the sixth taste primary? Evidence and implications. *Flavour*, 4(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/2044-7248-4-5
- Keast, R., & Roper, J. (2007). A Complex Relationship among Chemical Concentration, Detection Threshold, and Suprathreshold Intensity of Bitter Compounds. *Chemical Senses*, 32(3), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bj1052
- Keller, K. L., & Adise, S. (2016). Variation in the Ability to Taste Bitter Thiourea Compounds: Implications for Food Acceptance, Dietary Intake, and Obesity Risk in Children. *The Annual Review of Nutrition*, 36, 157–182. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-050916
- Keller, K. L., Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., van Belle, C., Breen, C., ... Chung, W. K. (2012). Common variants in the CD36 gene are associated with oral fat perception, fat preferences, and obesity in African Americans. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 20(5), 1066–1073. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2011.374
- Keller, K. L., Steinmann, L., Nurse, R. J., & Tepper, B. J. (2002). Genetic taste sensitivity to 6-n-propylthiouracil influences food preference and reported intake in preschool children. *Appetite*, 38(1), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.2001.0441
- Kieffer, T. J., & Habener, J. F. (2000). The adipoinsular axis: effects of leptin on pancreatic β-cells. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology & Metabolism, 278(1), E1–E14. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.2000.278.1.E1
- Kim, J. Y., Prescott, J., & Kim, K. O. (2014). Patterns of sweet liking in sucrose solutions and beverages. *Food Quality & Preference*, 36, 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.03.009
- Kim, U., Jorgenson, E., Coon, H., Leppert, M., Risch, N., & Drayna, D. (2003). Positional cloning of the human quantitative trait locus underlying taste sensitivity to phenylthiocarbamide. *Science*, 299(5610), 1221–1225. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1080190
- Kobal, G., Klimek, L., Wolfensberger, M., Gudziol, H., Temmel, A., Owen, C. M., ... Hummel, T. (2000). Multicenter investigation of 1,036 subjects using a standardized method for the assessment of olfactory function combining tests of odor identification, odor discrimination, and olfactory thresholds. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 257(4), 205–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004050050223
- Kotas, M. E., & Medzhitov, R. (2015). Homeostasis, inflammation, and disease susceptibility. *Cell*, 160(5), 816–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.010
- Krishna, A., Morrin, M., & Sayin, E. (2014). Smellizing Cookies and Salivating: A Focus on Olfactory Imagery. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 41(1), 18–34. https://doi.org/10.1086/674664
- Kubasova, N., Burdakov, D., & Domingos, A. I. (2015). Sweet and Low on Leptin:

Hormonal Regulation of Sweet Taste Buds. *Diabetes*, 64(11), 3651–3652. https://doi.org/10.2337/dbi15-0004

- Kuga, M., Ikeda, M., & Suzuki, K. (1999). Gustatory Changes Associated With the Menstrual Cycle. *Physiology & Behavior*, 66(2), 317–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00307-2
- Kure Liu, C., Joseph, P. V., Feldman, D. E., Kroll, D. S., Burns, J. A., Manza, P., ... Wang, G.-J. (2019). Brain Imaging of Taste Perception in Obesity: a Review. *Current Nutrition Reports*, 8(2), 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-019-0269-y
- Laffitte, A., Neiers, F., & Briand, L. (2014). Functional roles of the sweet taste receptor in oral and extraoral tissues. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 17(4), 379–385. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.000000000000058
- Landis, B. N., Welge-Luessen, A., Brämerson, A., Bende, M., Mueller, C. A., Nordin, S., & Hummel, T. (2009). "Taste Strips" - a rapid, lateralized, gustatory bedside identification test based on impregnated filter papers. *Journal of Neurology*, 256(2), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-009-0088-y
- Lanfer, A., Knof, K., Barba, G., Veidebaum, T., Papoutsou, S., De Henauw, S., ... Lissner, L. (2012). Taste preferences in association with dietary habits and weight status in European children: Results from the IDEFICS study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.164
- Laureati, M., Spinelli, S., Monteleone, E., Dinnella, C., Prescott, J., Cattaneo, C., ... Pagliarini, E. (2018). Associations between food neophobia and responsiveness to "warning" chemosensory sensations in food products in a large population sample. *Food Quality and Preference*, 68, 113–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2018.02.007
- Lawless, H. (1980). A comparison of different methods used to assess sensitivity to the taste of phenylthiocarbamide (PTC). *Chemical Senses*, *5*(3), 247–256. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/5.3.247
- Lefkowitz, R. J. (2013). A Brief History of G-Protein Coupled Receptors (Nobel Lecture). *Angewandte Chemie (International Ed. in English)*, 52(25), 6366–6378. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201301924
- Leong, C. S.-F., Forde, C. G., Tey, S. L., & Henry, C. J. (2018a). Taste perception and diet in people of Chinese ancestry. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 27(2), 478–486. https://doi.org/10.6133/apjcn.052017.08
- Leong, C. S.-F., Forde, C. G., Tey, S. L., & Henry, C. J. (2018b). Taste sensitivities and diet of Chinese and Indians in Singapore. Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 27(3), 681–685. https://doi.org/10.6133/apjcn.062017.04
- Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., Breen, C., Driggin, E., Tepper, B. J., ... Keller, K. L. (2012). Fat discrimination: a phenotype with potential implications for studying fat intake behaviors and obesity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(2), 470–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.002
- Liem, D., Miremadi, F., & Keast, R. (2011). Reducing sodium in foods: The effect on flavor. *Nutrients*, *3*(6), 694–711. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu3060694

- Lin, H.-H. (2013). G-protein-coupled receptors and their (Bio) chemical significance win 2012 Nobel Prize in Chemistry. *Biomedical Journal*, 36(3), 118–124. https://doi.org/10.4103/2319-4170.113233
- Lioret, S., McNaughton, S. A., Spence, A. C., Crawford, D., & Campbell, K. J. (2013). Tracking of dietary intakes in early childhood: The Melbourne InFANT Program. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 67(3), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2012.218
- Lipchock, S. V., Spielman, A. I., Mennella, J. A., Mansfield, C. J., Hwang, L.-D., Douglas, J. E., & Reed, D. R. (2017). Caffeine Bitterness is Related to Daily Caffeine Intake and Bitter Receptor mRNA Abundance in Human Taste Tissue. *Perception*, 46(3–4), 245–256. https://doi.org/10.1177/0301006616686098
- Lossow, K., Hübner, S., Roudnitzky, N., Slack, J. P., Pollastro, F., Behrens, M., & Meyerhof, W. (2016). Comprehensive analysis of mouse bitter taste receptors reveals different molecular receptive ranges for orthologous receptors in mice and humans. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(29), 15358–15377. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.718544
- Low, J., Lacy, K., McBride, R., & Keast, R. (2016). The Association between Sweet Taste Function, Anthropometry, and Dietary Intake in Adults. *Nutrients*, 8(5), 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8040241
- Low, J., Lacy, K., McBride, R., & Keast, R. (2017). Carbohydrate Taste Sensitivity Is Associated with Starch Intake and Waist Circumference in Adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, jn254078. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.117.254078
- Mackay, S., Vandevijvere, S., Xie, P., Lee, A., & Swinburn, B. (2017). Paying for convenience: comparing the cost of takeaway meals with their healthier homecooked counterparts in New Zealand. *Public Health Nutrition*, 20(13), 2269–2276. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980017000805
- Maffeis, C., Grezzani, A., Perrone, L., Del Giudice, E. M., Saggese, G., & Tatò, L. (2008). Could the savory taste of snacks be a further risk factor for overweight in children? *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 46(4), 429–437. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.0b013e318163b850
- Malik, V. S., Pan, A., Willett, W. C., & Hu, F. B. (2013). Sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain in children and adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 98(4), 1084–1102. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.058362
- Maljaars, P. W. J., Peters, H. P. F., Mela, D. J., & Masclee, A. A. M. (2008). Ileal brake: a sensible food target for appetite control. A review. *Physiology & Behavior*, 95(3), 271–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.07.018
- Martinez-Cordero, E., Malacara-Hernandez, J. M., & Martinez-Cordero, C. (2015). Taste perception in normal and overweight Mexican adults. *Appetite*, *89*, 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.015
- Martínez-Ruiz, N. R., López-Díaz, J. A., Wall-Medrano, A., Jiménez-Castro, J. A., & Angulo, O. (2014). Oral fat perception is related with body mass index, preference and consumption of high-fat foods. *Physiology and Behavior*, 129, 36–42.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.010

- Maruyama, K., Sato, S., Ohira, T., Maeda, K., Noda, H., Kubota, Y., ... Iso, H. (2008). The joint impact on being overweight of self reported behaviours of eating quickly and eating until full: cross sectional survey. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 337(7678), a2002. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.a2002
- Mattes, R. D. (2005). Fat taste and lipid metabolism in humans. *Physiology & Behavior*, 86(5), 691–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.08.058
- McGill, A.-T. (2014). Past and future corollaries of theories on causes of metabolic syndrome and obesity related co-morbidities part 2: A composite unifying theory review of human-specific co-adaptations to brain energy consumption. *Archives of Public Health*, 72(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-3258-72-31
- McLean, R., & Hoek, J. (2014). Sodium and nutrition labelling: a qualitative study exploring New Zealand consumers' food purchasing behaviours. *Public Health Nutrition*, 17(5), 1138–1146. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980013001079
- McNeil, J., Cameron, J. D., Finlayson, G., Blundell, J. E., & Doucet, É. (2013). Greater overall olfactory performance, explicit wanting for high fat foods and lipid intake during the mid-luteal phase of the menstrual cycle. *Physiology & Behavior*, 112– 113, 84–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.02.008
- Mela, D. J., & Sacchetti, D. A. (1991). Sensory preferences for fats: Relationships with diet and body composition. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 53(4), 908– 915.
- Mennella, J. A. (2014). Ontogeny of taste preferences: basic biology and implications for health. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99(3), 704S-711S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.067694
- Mennella, J. A., Reiter, A. R., & Daniels, L. M. (2016). Vegetable and Fruit Acceptance during Infancy: Impact of Ontogeny, Genetics, and Early Experiences. Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.3945/an.115.008649
- Methven, L., Allen, V. J., Withers, C. A., & Gosney, M. A. (2012). Ageing and taste. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 71(4), 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665112000742
- Methven, L., Xiao, C., Cai, M., & Prescott, J. (2016). Rejection thresholds (RjT) of sweet likers and dislikers. *Food Quality & Preference*, *52*, 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2016.03.012
- Meyer-Rochow, V. B. (2009). Food taboos: their origins and purposes. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, *5*(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4269-5-18
- Mikkilä, V., Räsänen, L., Raitakari, O. T., Pietinen, P., & Viikari, J. (2005). Consistent dietary patterns identified from childhood to adulthood: The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *93*(6), 923–931.
- Ministry of Health. (2017). Annual Data Explorer 2016/17: New Zealand Health Survey [Data File]. Retrieved from https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/nz-health-survey-

2016-17-annual-update

- Ministry of Health. (2016). Annual Update of Key Results 2015/16: New Zealand Health Survey. Wellington, New Zealand.
- Miras, A. D., & le Roux, C. W. (2014). Can medical therapy mimic the clinical efficacy or physiological effects of bariatric surgery? *International Journal of Obesity* (2005), 38(3), 325–333. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2013.205
- Monteiro, M. P., & Batterham, R. L. (2017). The Importance of the Gastrointestinal Tract in Controlling Food Intake and Regulating Energy Balance. *Gastroenterology*, 152(7), 1707-1717.e2. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.053
- Moor, K. R., Scott, A. J., & McIntosh, W. D. (2012). Mindful Eating and Its Relationship to Body Mass Index and Physical Activity Among University Students. *Mindfulness*, 4(3), 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0124-3
- Nakagawa, Y., Nagasawa, M., Yamada, S., Hara, A., Mogami, H., Nikolaev, V. O., ... Kojima, I. (2009). Sweet Taste Receptor Expressed in Pancreatic β-Cells Activates the Calcium and Cyclic AMP Signaling Systems and Stimulates Insulin Secretion. *PLoS ONE*, 4(4), e5106. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005106
- Nakamura, Y., Sanematsu, K., Ohta, R., Shirosaki, S., Koyano, K., Nonaka, K., ... Ninomiya, Y. (2008). Diurnal variation of human sweet taste recognition thresholds is correlated with plasma leptin levels. *Diabetes*, 57(10), 2661–2665. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-1103
- Nakhimovsky, S. S., Feigl, A. B., Avila, C., O'Sullivan, G., Macgregor-Skinner, E., & Spranca, M. (2016). Taxes on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages to Reduce Overweight and Obesity in Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(9), e0163358. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163358
- Nance, K., Eagon, J., Klein, S., & Pepino, M. (2017). Effects of Sleeve Gastrectomy vs. Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass on Eating Behavior and Sweet Taste Perception in Subjects with Obesity. *Nutrients*, 10(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10010018
- Nelson, G., Chandrashekar, J., Hoon, M., Feng, L., Zhao, G., Ryba, N. J. P., & Zuker, C. S. (2002). An amino-acid taste receptor. *Nature*, 416(6877), 199–202. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature726
- Newby, P. K., & Tucker, K. L. (2004). Empirically Derived Eating Patterns Using Factor or Cluster Analysis: A Review. *Nutrition Reviews*, 62(5), 177–203. https://doi.org/10.1301/nr.2004.may.177-203
- Newman, L., & Keast, R. (2013). The Test–Retest Reliability of Fatty Acid Taste Thresholds. *Chemosensory Perception*, 6(2), 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-013-9143-2
- Newman, L., Torres, S., Bolhuis, D., & Keast, R. (2016). The influence of a high-fat meal on fat taste thresholds. *Appetite*, *101*, 199–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.03.011
- Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N., Margono, C., ... Gakidou, E. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in

children and adults during 1980-2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, *384*(9945), 766–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60460-8

- Nguyen, P. T. M., Bhandari, B., & Prakash, S. (2016). Tribological method to measure lubricating properties of dairy products. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *168*, 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2015.07.011
- Ni Mhurchu, C., Eyles, H., Schilling, C., Yang, Q., Kaye-Blake, W., Genç, M., & Blakely, T. (2013). Food Prices and Consumer Demand: Differences across Income Levels and Ethnic Groups. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0075934
- Niven, J. E., & Laughlin, S. B. (2008). Energy limitation as a selective pressure on the evolution of sensory systems. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, *211*(Pt 11), 1792–1804. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.017574
- Noel, C. A., Sugrue, M., & Dando, R. (2017). Participants with pharmacologically impaired taste function seek out more intense, higher calorie stimuli. *Appetite*, *117*, 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2017.06.006
- Oliveira, D., Antúnez, L., Giménez, A., Castura, J. C., Deliza, R., & Ares, G. (2015). Sugar reduction in probiotic chocolate-flavored milk: Impact on dynamic sensory profile and liking. *Food Research International (Ottawa, Ont.)*, 75, 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2015.05.050
- Otsuka, R., Tamakoshi, K., Yatsuya, H., Murata, C., Sekiya, A., Wada, K., ... Toyoshima, H. (2006). Eating Fast Leads to Obesity: Findings Based on Selfadministered Questionnaires among Middle-aged Japanese Men and Women. *Journal of Epidemiology*, *16*(3), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.2188/jea.16.117
- Overberg, J., Hummel, T., Krude, H., & Wiegand, S. (2012). Differences in taste sensitivity between obese and non-obese children and adolescents. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 97(12), 1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2011-301189
- Owei, I., Umekwe, N., Provo, C., Wan, J., & Dagogo-Jack, S. (2017). Insulin-sensitive and insulin-resistant obese and non-obese phenotypes: role in prediction of incident pre-diabetes in a longitudinal biracial cohort. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care*, 5(1), e000415. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2017-000415
- Palouzier-Paulignan, B., Lacroix, M., Aimé, P., Baly, C., Caillol, M., Congar, P., ... Fadool, D. A. A. (2012). Olfaction under metabolic influences. *Chemical Senses*, 37(9), 769–797. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjs059
- Panek-Scarborough, L. M., Dewey, A. M., & Temple, J. L. (2012). Sensation and perception of sucrose and fat stimuli predict the reinforcing value of food. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(5), 1242–1249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.01.001
- Pangborn, R. M. (1959). Influence of Hunger on Sweetness Preferences and Taste Thresholds. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 7(3), 280–287. Retrieved from http://ajcn.nutrition.org/cgi/content/long/7/3/280
- Park, D. C., Yeo, J. H., Ryu, I. Y., Kim, S. H., Jung, J., & Yeo, S. G. (2015). 132

Differences in taste detection thresholds between normal-weight and obese young adults. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *135*(5), 478–483. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489.2014.975370

- Pasquet, P., Laure Frelut, M., Simmen, B., Marcel Hladik, C., & Monneuse, M.-O. (2007). Taste perception in massively obese and in non-obese adolescents. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 2(4), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1080/17477160701440521
- Pasquet, P., Monneuse, M.-O., Simmen, B., Marez, A., & Hladik, C.-M. (2006). Relationship between taste thresholds and hunger under debate. *Appetite*, 46(1), 63–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2005.09.004
- Pasquet, P., Oberti, B., El Ati, J., & Hladik, C. M. (2002). Relationships between threshold-based PROP sensitivity and food preferences of Tunisians. *Appetite*, 39(2), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.2002.0503
- Pearce, J., Blakely, T., Witten, K., & Bartie, P. (2007). Neighborhood Deprivation and Access to Fast-Food Retailing. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 32(5), 375–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.01.009
- Pepino, M. Y., Finkbeiner, S., Beauchamp, G. K., & Mennella, J. A. (2010). Obese women have lower monosodium glutamate taste sensitivity and prefer higher concentrations than do normal-weight women. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 18(5), 959–965. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2009.493
- Pepino, M. Y., Kuda, O., Samovski, D., & Abumrad, N. A. (2014). Structure-function of CD36 and importance of fatty acid signal transduction in fat metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 34, 281–303. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071812-161220
- Pepino, M. Y., Love-Gregory, L., Klein, S., & Abumrad, N. A. (2012). The fatty acid translocase gene CD36 and lingual lipase influence oral sensitivity to fat in obese subjects. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 53(3), 561–566. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M021873
- Pepino, M. Y., & Mennella, J. A. (2014). Cigarette smoking and obesity are associated with decreased fat perception in women. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 22(4), 1050–1055. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20697
- Perna, S., Riva, A., Nicosanti, G., Carrai, M., Barale, R., Vigo, B., ... Rondanelli, M. (2018). Association of the bitter taste receptor gene TAS2R38 (polymorphism RS713598) with sensory responsiveness, food preferences, biochemical parameters and body-composition markers. A cross-sectional study in Italy. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 69(2), 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637486.2017.1353954
- Phillips, C. M. (2017). Metabolically healthy obesity across the life course: Epidemiology, determinants, and implications. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1391(1), 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13230
- Pietinen, P., Valsta, L. M., Hirvonen, T., & Sinkko, H. (2008). Labelling the salt content in foods: A useful tool in reducing sodium intake in Finland. *Public Health Nutrition*, 11(4), 335–340.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980007000249

- Pingel, J., Ostwald, J., Pau, H. W., Hummel, T., & Just, T. (2010). Normative data for a solution-based taste test. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 267(12), 1911–1917. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-010-1276-1
- Prescott, J. (2012). Chemosensory learning and flavour: Perception, preference and intake. *Physiology and Behavior*, *107*(4), 553–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.04.008
- Proserpio, C., Laureati, M., Bertoli, S., Battezzati, A., & Pagliarini, E. (2016). Determinants of Obesity in Italian Adults: The Role of Taste Sensitivity, Food Liking, and Food Neophobia. *Chemical Senses*, 41(2), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv072
- Rawal, S., Hoffman, H. J., Honda, M., Huedo-Medina, T. B., & Duffy, V. B. (2015). The Taste and Smell Protocol in the 2011–2014 US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES): Test–Retest Reliability and Validity Testing. *Chemosensory Perception*, 8(3), 138–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-015-9194-7
- Raynor, H. A., & Epstein, L. H. (2001). Dietary variety, energy regulation, and obesity. *Psychological Bulletin*, *127*(3), 325–341. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.127.3.325
- Reed, D. R., & Xia, M. B. (2015). Recent advances in fatty acid perception and genetics. *Adv Nutr*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.3945/an.114.007005
- Reimann, F., Tolhurst, G., & Gribble, F. M. (2012). G-protein-coupled receptors in intestinal chemosensation. *Cell Metabolism*, 15(4), 421–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.12.019
- Renwick, A. G., & Molinary, S. V. (2010). Sweet-taste receptors, low-energy sweeteners, glucose absorption and insulin release. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(10), 1415–1420. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510002540
- Ricketts, C. D. (1997). Fat preferences, dietary fat intake and body composition in children. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 51(11).
- Roberto, C. A., Swinburn, B., Hawkes, C., Huang, T. T.-K., Costa, S. A., Ashe, M., ... Brownell, K. D. (2015). Patchy progress on obesity prevention: Emerging examples, entrenched barriers, and new thinking. *The Lancet*, 385(9985). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61744-X
- Roessner, V., Bleich, S., Banaschewski, T., & Rothenberger, A. (2005). Olfactory deficits in anorexia nervosa. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 255(1), 6–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-004-0525-y
- Rolls, B. J., Fedoroff, I. C., & Guthrie, J. F. (1991). Gender differences in eating behavior and body weight regulation. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 10(2), 133– 142. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.10.2.133
- Rolls, E. T. (2007). Sensory processing in the brain related to the control of food intake. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *66*(1), 96–112.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665107005332

- Rolls, E. T. (2015). Taste, olfactory, and food reward value processing in the brain. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 127–128, 64–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.03.002
- Roper, S. D., & Chaudhari, N. (2009). Processing umami and other tastes in mammalian taste buds. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1170, 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04107.x
- Roper, S. D., & Chaudhari, N. (2017). Taste buds: cells, signals and synapses. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18(8), 485–497. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2017.68
- Running, C. A. (2014). High false positive rates in common sensory threshold tests. *Attention, Perception & Psychophysics*, 77(November 2014), 692–700.
- Running, C. A., Craig, B. A., & Mattes, R. D. (2015). Oleogustus: The Unique Taste of Fat. *Chemical Senses*, 40(7), 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv036
- Running, C. A., Mattes, R. D., & Tucker, R. M. (2013). Fat taste in humans: sources of within- and between-subject variability. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 52(4), 438– 445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2013.04.007
- Rush, E., McLennan, S., Obolonkin, V., Vandal, A. C., Hamlin, M., Simmons, D., & Graham, D. (2014). Project Energize: whole-region primary school nutrition and physical activity programme; evaluation of ody size and fitness 5 years after the randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *111*(2), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114513002316
- Salbe, A. D., DelParigi, A., Pratley, R. E., Drewnowski, A., & Tataranni, P. A. (2004). Taste preferences and body weight changes in an obesity-prone population. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 79(3), 372–378.
- Salvy, S.-J., de la Haye, K., Bowker, J. C., & Hermans, R. C. J. (2012). Influence of peers and friends on children's and adolescents' eating and activity behaviors. *Physiology & Behavior*, 106(3), 369–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.03.022
- Sandell, M., Hoppu, U., Mikkilä, V., Mononen, N., Kähönen, M., Männistö, S., ... Raitakari, O. T. (2014). Genetic variation in the hTAS2R38 taste receptor and food consumption among Finnish adults. *Genes & Nutrition*, 9(6), 433. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12263-014-0433-3
- Sanematsu, K., Nakamura, Y., Nomura, M., Shigemura, N., & Ninomiya, Y. (2018). Diurnal Variation of Sweet Taste Recognition Thresholds Is Absent in Overweight and Obese Humans. *Nutrients*, 10(3), 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10030297
- Sartor, F., Donaldson, L. F., Markland, D. A., Loveday, H., Jackson, M. J., & Kubis, H. P. P. (2011). Taste perception and implicit attitude toward sweet related to body mass index and soft drink supplementation. *Appetite*, 57(1), 237–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2011.05.107
- Sayed, A., Šerý, O., Plesnik, J., Daoudi, H., Rouabah, A., Rouabah, L., & Khan, N. A. (2015). CD36 AA genotype is associated with decreased lipid taste perception in young obese, but not lean, children. *International Journal of Obesity*, 39(6), 920–

924. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.20

- Schwartz, M. W., Seeley, R. J., Zeltser, L. M., Drewnowski, A., Ravussin, E., Redman, L. M., & Leibel, R. L. (2017). Obesity Pathogenesis: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocrine Reviews*, 38(4), 267–296. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00111
- Sclafani, A., & Ackroff, K. (2012). Role of gut nutrient sensing in stimulating appetite and conditioning food preferences. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 302(10), R1119–R1133. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00038.2012
- Seufert, J. (2004). Leptin effects on pancreatic beta-cell gene expression and function. *Diabetes*, 53 Suppl 1, S152-8.
- Shah, M., Copeland, J., Dart, L., Adams-Huet, B., James, A., & Rhea, D. (2014). Slower eating speed lowers energy intake in normal-weight but not overweight/obese subjects. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *114*(3), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2013.11.002
- Sharafi, M., Rawal, S., Fernandez, M. L., Huedo-Medina, T. B., & Duffy, V. B. (2018). Taste phenotype associates with cardiovascular disease risk factors via diet quality in multivariate modeling. *Physiology & Behavior*, 194, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.05.005
- Shen, Y., Kennedy, O. B., & Methven, L. (2017). The effect of genotypical and phenotypical variation in taste sensitivity on liking of ice cream and dietary fat intake. *Food Quality and Preference*, 55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.08.010
- Shin, H. S., Ingram, J. R., McGill, A.-T., & Poppitt, S. D. (2013). Lipids, CHOs, proteins: Can all macronutrients put a 'brake' on eating? *Physiology & Behavior*, 120, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.07.008
- Simchen, U., Koebnick, C., Hoyer, S., Issanchou, S., & Zunft, H. J. F. (2006). Odour and taste sensitivity is associated with body weight and extent of misreporting of body weight. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 60(6), 698–705. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602371
- Skinner, J. D., Carruth, B. R., Bounds, W., Ziegler, P., & Reidy, K. (2002). Do foodrelated experiences in the first 2 years of life predict dietary variety in school-aged children? *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *34*(6), 310–315.
- Skrandies, W., & Zschieschang, R. (2015). Olfactory and gustatory functions and its relation to body weight. *Physiology & Behavior*, 142, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.01.024
- Small, D. M., Gerber, J. C., Mak, Y. E., & Hummel, T. (2005). Differential neural responses evoked by orthonasal versus retronasal odorant perception in humans. *Neuron*, 47(4), 593–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.07.022
- Smith, S. L., Ludy, M.-J., & Tucker, R. M. (2016). Changes in taste preference and steps taken after sleep curtailment. *Physiology & Behavior*, *163*, 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.05.002

- Society for Neuroscience. (2012). Brain facts: A primer on the brain and nervous system. (7th ed., pp. 21–22). Washington DC: Society for Neuroscience.
- Sørensen, L. B., Møller, P., Flint, A., Martens, M., & Raben, A. (2003). Effect of sensory perception of foods on appetite and food intake: a review of studies on humans. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 27(10), 1152– 1166. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0802391
- Soria-Gómez, E., Bellocchio, L., Reguero, L., Lepousez, G., Martin, C., Bendahmane, M., ... Marsicano, G. (2014). The endocannabinoid system controls food intake via olfactory processes. *Nature Neuroscience*, 17(3), 407–415. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3647
- Souza, R. V., Sarmento, R. A., de Almeida, J. C., & Canuto, R. (2019). The effect of shift work on eating habits: a systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Work*, *Environment & Health*, 45(1), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3759
- Spreckley, E., & Murphy, K. G. (2015). The L-Cell in Nutritional Sensing and the Regulation of Appetite. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 2, 23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2015.00023
- Stafford, L. D., Tucker, M., & Gerstner, N. (2013). A bitter sweet asynchrony. The relation between eating attitudes, dietary restraint on smell and taste function. *Appetite*, 70, 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.06.084
- Stafford, L. D., & Whittle, A. (2015). Obese individuals have higher preference and sensitivity to odor of chocolate. *Chemical Senses*, 40(4), 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv007
- Steinert, R. E., Feinle-Bisset, C., Asarian, L., Horowitz, M., Beglinger, C., & Geary, N. (2017). Ghrelin, CCK, GLP-1, and PYY(3–36): Secretory Controls and Physiological Roles in Eating and Glycemia in Health, Obesity, and After RYGB. *Physiological Reviews*, 97(1), 411–463. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00031.2014
- Stevenson, R. J., Boakes, R. A., Oaten, M. J., Yeomans, M. R., Mahmut, M., & Francis, H. M. (2016). Chemosensory abilities in consumers of a western-style diet. *Chemical Senses*, 41(6), 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw053
- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., Golding, M., Delahunty, C., Clifton, P., & Keast, R. (2010). Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510000267
- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., & Keast, R. (2011). Fatty acid detection during food consumption and digestion: Associations with ingestive behavior and obesity. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 50(3), 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2011.02.002
- Stewart, J., & Keast, R. (2012). Recent fat intake modulates fat taste sensitivity in lean and overweight subjects. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36(6), 834–842. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.155
- Stewart, J., Newman, L., & Keast, R. (2011). Oral sensitivity to oleic acid is associated 137

with fat intake and body mass index. *Clinical Nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, *30*(6), 838–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2011.06.007

- Stice, E., Spoor, S., Bohon, C., Veldhuizen, M. G. G., & Small, D. M. M. (2008). Relation of Reward From Food Intake and Anticipated Food Intake to Obesity: A Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *117*(4), 924–935. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013600
- Stieger, M., & Van de Velde, F. (2013). Microstructure, texture and oral processing: New ways to reduce sugar and salt in foods. *Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cocis.2013.04.007
- Stokes, J. R., Boehm, M. W., & Baier, S. K. (2013). Oral processing, texture and mouthfeel: From rheology to tribology and beyond. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science*, 18(4), 349–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cocis.2013.04.010
- Story, M., Kaphingst, K. M., Robinson-O'Brien, R., & Glanz, K. (2008). Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 29(1), 253–272. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090926
- Stuck, B. A., Fadel, V., Hummel, T., & Sommer, J. U. (2014). Subjective olfactory desensitization and recovery in humans. *Chemical Senses*, 39(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt064
- Stunkard, A. J., & Messick, S. (1985). The three-factor eating questionnaire to measure dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 29(1), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(85)90010-8
- Swinburn, B., Sacks, G., Vandevijvere, S., Kumanyika, S., Lobstein, T., Neal, B., ... Walker, C. (2013). INFORMAS (International Network for Food and Obesity/noncommunicable diseases Research, Monitoring and Action Support): Overview and key principles. *Obesity Reviews*, 14(S1). https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12087
- Swithers, S. E., & Davidson, T. L. (2008). A role for sweet taste: Calorie predictive relations in energy regulation by rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *122*(1), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.122.1.161
- Tan, S.-Y., & Tucker, R. (2019). Sweet Taste as a Predictor of Dietary Intake: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients*, *11*(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010094
- Tchernof, A., & Després, J.-P. (2013). Pathophysiology of Human Visceral Obesity: An Update. *Physiological Reviews*, 93(1), 359–404. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00033.2011
- Teng, B., Wilson, C. E., Tu, Y. H., Joshi, N. R., Kinnamon, S. C., and Liman, E. R. (2019). Cellular and Neural Responses to Sour Stimuli Require the Proton Channel Otop1. Current Biology, 29(21), 3647–3656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.077
- Thanos, P. K., Michaelides, M., Subrize, M., Miller, M. L., Bellezza, R., Cooney, R. N., ... Hajnal, A. (2015). Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Alters Brain Activity in Regions that Underlie Reward and Taste Perception. *PloS One*, *10*(6), e0125570. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0125570

- Thiele, S., Mensink, G. B. M., & Beitz, R. (2004). Determinants of diet quality. *Public Health Nutrition*, 7(1), 29–37.
- Thompson, F. E., & Subar, A. F. (2013). Dietary assessment methodology. In A. M. Coulson, J. Boushey, & G. Ferruzzi (Eds.), *Nutrition in the prevention and treatment of disease* (Third ed, pp. 5–30). Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Thompson, N., Huber, K., Bedürftig, M., Hansen, K., Miles-Chan, J., & Breier, B. H. (2014). Metabolic programming of adipose tissue structure and function in male rat offspring by prenatal undernutrition. *Nutrition and Metabolism*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-11-50
- Touzani, K., Bodnar, R. J., & Sclafani, A. (2010). Neuropharmacology of Learned Flavor Preferences. *Pharmacology Biochemical Behaviour*, 97(1), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2010.06.001
- Trivedi, B. P. (2012a). Gustatory system: The finer points of taste. *Nature*, 486(7403 SUPPL.), S2–S3. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S2a
- Trivedi, B. P. (2012b). Neuroscience: hardwired for taste. *Nature*, *486*(7403), S7-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S7a
- Tucker, R. M., Edlinger, C., Craig, B. A., & Mattes, R. D. (2014). Associations between BMI and fat taste sensitivity in humans. *Chemical Senses*, 39(4), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bju006
- Tucker, R. M., Kaiser, K. A., Parman, M. A., George, B. J., Allison, D. B., & Mattes, R. D. (2017). Comparisons of fatty acid taste detection thresholds in people who are lean vs. overweight or obese: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169583
- Tucker, R. M., & Mattes, R. D. (2013). Influences of repeated testing on nonesterified fatty acid taste. *Chemical Senses*, 38(4), 325–332. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt002
- Tucker, R. M., Nuessle, T. M., Garneau, N. L., Smutzer, G., & Mattes, R. D. (2015). No Difference in Perceived Intensity of Linoleic Acid in the Oral Cavity between Obese and Nonobese Individuals. *Chemical Senses*, 40(8), 557–563. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv040
- Tupai-Firestone, R., Tuisano, H., Manukia, M., Kaholokula, K., Foliaki, S., Kingi, T. K., ... Ellison-Loschmann, L. (2016). Understanding Pasifika youth and the obesogenic environment, Auckland and Wellington, New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 129(1434), 23–35. https://doi.org/2
- Turner-McGrievy, G., Tate, D. F., Moore, D., & Popkin, B. (2013). Taking the bitter with the sweet: relationship of supertasting and sweet preference with metabolic syndrome and dietary intake. *Journal of Food Science*, 78(2), S336-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.12008
- Umabiki, M., Tsuzaki, K., Kotani, K., Nagai, N., Sano, Y., Matsuoka, Y., ... Higashi, A. (2010). The Improvement of Sweet Taste Sensitivity with Decrease in Serum Leptin Levels During Weight Loss in Obese Females. *The Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 220(4), 267–271. https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.220.267

- van Dongen, M. V. (2012). Food characteristics and dietary intake : the role taste, eating rate and energy density. *Doctoral Thesis*, (ISBN 978-94-6173-250-7), 140.
- van Dongen, M. V, van den Berg, M. C., Vink, N., Kok, F. J., & de Graaf, C. (2012). Taste-nutrient relationships in commonly consumed foods. *The British Journal Of Nutrition*, 108(1), 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511005277
- Vandenbroeck, P., Goossens, J., & Clemens, M. (2007). Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Building the Obesity System Map. *Foresight*. https://doi.org/10.1037/e602972011-001
- Vandevijvere, S., Sagar, K., Kelly, B., & Swinburn, B. (2017). Unhealthy food marketing to New Zealand children and adolescents through the internet. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, *130*(1450), 32–43.
- Vingerhoeds, M. H., de Wijk, R. A., Zoet, F. D., Nixdorf, R. R., & van Aken, G. A. (2008). How emulsion composition and structure affect sensory perception of lowviscosity model emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 22(4), 631–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2007.02.011
- Wansink, B., & Sobal, J. (2007). Mindless Eating: The 200 Daily Food Decisions We Overlook. *Environment and Behavior*, 39(1), 106–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916506295573
- Wardwell, L., Chapman-Novakofski, K., & Brewer, M. S. (2009). Effects of age, gender and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease on taste acuity. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 60 Suppl 6(SUPPL. 6), 84–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637480802710224
- Westenhoefer, J. (1991). Dietary restraint and disinhibition: Is restraint a homogeneous construct? *Appetite*, *16*(1), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0195-6663(91)90110-E
- Westenhoefer, J., Stunkard, A. J., & Pudel, V. (1999). Validation of the flexible and rigid control dimensions of dietary restraint. *The International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 26(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199907)26:1<53::AID-EAT7>3.0.CO;2-N
- White, T. L., & Prescott, J. (2007). Chemosensory cross-modal stroop effects: Congruent odors facilitate taste identification. *Chemical Senses*, *32*(4), 337–341. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjm001
- Wilson, D. R. ose, & Dillard, D. (2015). Mindful Eating: Body, Mind, and Oxytocin. *Beginnings (American Holistic Nurses' Association)*, 35(1).
- Wise, P. M., & Breslin, P. A. S. (2013). Individual differences in sour and salt sensitivity: detection and quality recognition thresholds for citric acid and sodium chloride. *Chemical Senses*, 38(4), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt003
- Wooding, S. (2006). Phenylthiocarbamide: a 75-year adventure in genetics and natural selection. *Genetics*, *172*(4), 2015–2023.
- Yasuo, T., Suwabe, T., and Sako, N. (2019). Behavioral and Neural Responses to Vitamin C Solution in Vitamin C-deficient Osteogenic Disorder Shionogi/Shi Jclod/od Rats. Chemical Senses, 44(6), 389–397. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjz028
- Zhou, X., Shen, Y., Parker, J. K., Kennedy, O. B., & Methven, L. (2016). Relative Effects of Sensory Modalities and Importance of Fatty Acid Sensitivity on Fat Perception in a Real Food Model. *Chemosensory Perception*, 9(3), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-016-9211-5
- Zijlstra, N., de Wijk, R. A., Mars, M., Stafleu, A., & de Graaf, C. (2009). Effect of bite size and oral processing time of a semisolid food on satiation. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90(2), 269–275. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.27694
- Zijlstra, N., Mars, M., de Wijk, R. A., Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S., & de Graaf, C. (2008). The effect of viscosity on ad libitum food intake. *International Journal of Obesity* (2005), 32(4), 676–683. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803776
- Zong, G., Eisenberg, D. M., Hu, F. B., & Sun, Q. (2016). Consumption of Meals Prepared at Home and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: An Analysis of Two Prospective Cohort Studies. *PLoS Medicine*, 13(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002052

Chapter III.

Fat Sensation: Oleic Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited Eating Behaviour

3.1. Abstract

Perception of fatty acid taste, aroma and texture are proposed to influence food preferences, thus shaping dietary intake and eating behaviour and consequently longterm health. In this study, we investigated associations between fatty acid taste, olfaction, the mouthfeel of fat, dietary intake, eating behaviour and body mass index (BMI). Fifty women attended three sessions to assess oleic acid taste and olfaction thresholds, the olfactory threshold for *n*-butanol and subjective mouthfeel ratings of custard samples. Dietary intake and eating behaviour were evaluated using a food frequency and three-factor eating questionnaire, respectively. Binomial regression analysis was used to model fatty acid taste and olfaction data. Taste and olfactory detection for oleic acid were positively correlated (r=0.325; P<0.02). Oleic acid taste hypersensitive women had significantly increased *n*-butanol olfactory sensitivity (P< 0.03). The eating behaviour disinhibition and BMI were higher in women who were hyposensitive to oleic acid taste (P < 0.05). Dietary intake of nuts, nut spreads and seeds were significantly correlated with high olfactory sensitivity to oleic acid (r_s = -0.410, < 0.01). These findings demonstrate a clear link between fatty acid taste sensitivity and olfaction and suggest that fatty acid taste perception is associated with specific

characteristics of eating behaviour and body composition.

<u>Kindleysides, S</u>.; Beck, K.L.; Walsh, D.C.I.; Henderson, L.; Jayasinghe, S.N.; Golding, M.; Breier, B.H. Fat Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited Eating Behaviour. *Nutrients* **2017**, *9*, 879.

3.2. Introduction

Taste is the sensation experienced when a chemical stimulus or tastant in the mouth is recognised by receptors of the taste buds. There are five established taste modalities including sweet, salty, sour, bitter, and umami (savoury). Sweet, umami and bitter molecular sensors have been identified as G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), salt is recognised by an ion channel receptor (ENaC) and the sour taste receptor mechanism (yet to be identified) responds to the presence of acid (Trivedi, 2012a, 2012b; Ye et al., 2016).

Fat creates a range of textural qualities which are considered to be the well-known sensory properties of fat, such as creaminess, oiliness and thickness (Chen & Eaton, 2012; Szczesniak, 2002). Until recently, fat was considered only to be perceived through mouthfeel and olfaction, but there is now considerable evidence that fatty acids can be perceived by specific taste receptors of the tongue (Chalé-Rush, Burgess, & Mattes, 2007a; Keast & Costanzo, 2015; Running, Craig, & Mattes, 2015). Several studies have demonstrated varying gustatory sensitivities to fatty acids at low concentrations (Mattes, 2009; Running, Mattes, & Tucker, 2013; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart, Newman, & Keast, 2011). Furthermore, detection of volatile fatty acids by odour (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014; Chalé-Rush, Burgess, & Mattes, 2007b) or mouthfeel have been implicated in enhancing enjoyable eating experiences (Liou & Grün, 2007). The oral perception of fatty acids (fat taste or fatty acid taste) is distinct from that of wider textural fat sensations. Fatty acid taste can be confused with or perceived as a 'sour' or 'bitter' taste sensation. Fatty acid taste is also different to the perception of oxidised or degraded fatty acids, which is instead an irritant 'rancid' or 'acidic' profile that is perceived via trigeminal signalling pathways (Running, Craig, & Mattes, 2015).

Increasingly, taste is being investigated for its role in the signalling pathways which govern the body's response to incoming food (Cvijanovic, Feinle-Bisset, Young, & Little, 2015). The physiological mechanisms of taste have multiple functions which include: signalling appeal or safety of items in the oral cavity, providing feedback to the

digestive system about incoming food, and supporting the regulation of satiety (Liu, Archer, Duesing, Hannan, & Keast, 2016). It has recently been suggested that overconsumption of dietary fat might alter the sensitivity or the expression of taste receptors (Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011) and that high-fat diet exposure can decrease sensitivity to fatty acid taste in lean participants (Stewart & Keast, 2012). These data suggest sensitivity to fatty acid taste may have a significant impact on eating behaviour and long-term dietary intake with important health consequences (Cox, Hendrie, & Carty, 2015). Commonly cited causes of obesity include major changes in our food environment (Swinburn et al., 2013) which have led to over-consumption of inexpensive, highly palatable energy-dense and nutrient-poor foods. Given that fat rich foods have a powerful hedonic appeal, preferences for fatty foods are important contributors to increases in body weight and metabolic disease risk (Martínez-Ruiz, López-Díaz, Wall-Medrano, Jiménez-Castro, & Angulo, 2014).

To date, only a few studies have investigated the relationship between olfactory sensitivity to fatty acids and dietary intake, eating behaviour or obesity development (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014; Stevenson et al., 2016). Human studies have shown that the fat content level of milk can be discriminated by odour alone, however, this ability was shown to have no relationship with BMI or dairy consumption (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014). Stevenson et al (2016) found that a western-style diet was associated with poor odour identification as well as poor fat discrimination by taste (Stevenson et al., 2016). Other studies have reported that olfaction may be desensitised in individuals who are morbidly obese (Jurowich et al., 2014; Richardson, Vander Woude, Sudan, Thompson, & Leopold, 2004). This may be due to changes in olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), with a decline of OSNs shown to occur over time during high-fat intake in animal studies (Thiebaud et al., 2014). In contrast, another study found participants with obesity had a stronger hedonic response towards the smell of dark chocolate than nonobese participants, rating the odour as significantly more pleasant (Stafford & Whittle, 2015). Furthermore, there is emerging evidence that variations in human olfactory receptor gene expression can influence eating behaviour, resulting in increased adiposity (Choquette et al., 2012). Similarly, it has been suggested that individuals who are obese may have a better sense of smell for food odours but not to non-food odours

(Stafford & Welbeck, 2011; Stafford & Whittle, 2015). Despite some authors suggesting olfactory cues may be dispensable for the detection of dietary fats (Mattes, 2009), it is not clear whether olfactory sensitivity for fatty acid runs in parallel with an individual's sensitivity to fatty acid taste.

Recent work has found the ability to detect different levels of fat in a food matrix is related to taste sensitivity by comparing results of a fat ranking task with threshold sensitivity to oleic acid (Stewart et al., 2010). Similar fat ranking tasks have classified participants as being fat 'discriminators' or 'non-discriminators', where non-discriminators consumed greater amounts of dietary fat and had higher abdominal adiposity (Liang et al., 2012). Despite mouthfeel perception and the dynamic nature of eating being critical for food acceptance (Appelqvist, Poelman, Cochet-Broch, & Delahunty, 2016), there are still relatively few studies on how mouthfeel perception relates to other sensory attributes such as taste and olfactory modalities (Proserpio, Laureati, Invitti, et al., 2016; Zhou, Shen, Parker, Kennedy, & Methven, 2016).

In the present study, we designed a series of experiments to investigate the relationships between fatty acid taste, olfaction and mouthfeel modalities, and how fatty acid taste perception measurements may relate to dietary intake and eating behaviour. The present study aimed to (i) measure oleic acid taste and olfactory detection, (ii) explore links between oleic acid taste, olfaction and mouthfeel perception of fat, and (iii) investigate oleic acid taste detection and associations with eating behaviour, dietary intake and body composition.

3.3. Materials and Methods

Fatty acid taste and olfactory detection rate of oleic acid were determined in this study by extending the commonly used 3-alternative forced choice (AFC) procedure testing past the assumed taste threshold level and by carrying out three repeated sessions to increase accuracy and precision. The relationship between these sensory modalities was established as well as comparison with eating behaviour, dietary intake, olfactory detection of *n*-butanol, mouthfeel perception of fat and body composition.

3.3.1. Participants

Participants included premenopausal, non-pregnant, non-lactating New Zealand (NZ) European women aged 18-45 years living in Auckland, NZ. All participants selfreported being healthy, had no cold or flu symptoms on test days, had no food allergies or intolerances, nor a dislike towards milk, coconut or dairy based products, were nonsmokers and had no medical history or evidence of conditions that could alter gustatory function e.g. undergoing chemotherapy, having diabetes, nor had taken antibiotics over the past three months (Kruger et al., 2015; Steinbach et al., 2009). Participants were recruited using posters, flyers, social media (e.g. Facebook, Twitter) and via email lists (e.g. Massey University staff and student lists). Participants were screened with an online questionnaire to assess the inclusion and exclusion criteria. This study was conducted according to guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki and all procedures were considered to be low-risk by the Massey University Human Ethics Committee, NZ. Written, informed consent was obtained from all the participants prior to participating in the study.

Participants were required to attend three morning sessions in a fasted state at which they were tested on taste, olfactory and mouthfeel measurements. Participant height and weight were measured at the first visit using a standardised protocol. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated (weight (kg) / height (m²)). Body fat percentage was measured at the first visit using bioelectrical impedance (BIA) measurement (InBody230, Biospace Co. Ltd, Seoul, Korea) and standardised techniques (von Hurst et al., 2015). In-between study visits participants were required to complete two online questionnaires to assess dietary intake and eating behaviour.

3.3.2. Stimuli preparation for sensory measurements

3.3.2.1. Stimuli for fatty acid taste measurement

The methodology for taste testing is described in further detail by Haryono et al. (Haryono, Sprajcer, & Keast, 2014). In brief, a milk emulsion vehicle was used and made from non-fat UHT milk (Homebrand, NZ), added to a glass beaker along with food grade gum arabic (Hawkins Watts, NZ). The addition of 0.01% EDTA (FCC, Spectrum Laboratory Products Inc., Gardena CA, USA) was added to prevent oxidation. The milk base had 5% mineral oil added (Purity FCC grade, Canadian Oil Company, Ontario, Canada). This solution was homogenised thoroughly with a Silverson L4RT homogeniser. The milk base solution was divided in half so that a series of the fatty acid vehicle with increasing concentrations of oleic acid could be created. Half of the milk base was used for the blank testing solutions. Each concentration in the series of active stimuli required a separate beaker. In each beaker, in the series, the appropriate amount of oleic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) was added to the milk. Homogenisation of each beaker was undertaken in ascending order. The homogeniser was sanitised after contact with oleic acid to prevent any contamination of non-oleic acid solutions. Testing stimuli were made fresh on the day of evaluation. This oleic acid in milk emulsion concentration series (0.02, 0.06, 1, 1.4, 2, 2.8, 3.8, 5, 6.4, 8, 9.8, 12 and 20mM) has previously been used in several studies (Keast, Azzopardi, Newman, & Haryono, 2014; Panek-Scarborough, Dewey, & Temple, 2012; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart & Keast, 2012).

3.3.2.2. Stimuli for fatty acid olfactory measurement

Olfactory stimuli were created from oleic acid to create a series with an increasing concentration of fatty acid content. The stimuli and procedure were developed in order to align with the taste testing (Haryono et al., 2014), however, our internal testing showed that higher concentrations of oleic acid were required for olfactory detection. The stimuli were prepared by adding the oleic acid to odourless light mineral oil (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) in a concentration series. All blank testing solutions bottles contained 5 mL of odourless light mineral oil. The series of active stimuli concentrations ranged from a 6 mM oleic acid solution to a 380 mM oleic acid solution (6, 12, 24, 48, 95, 190 and 380 mM). Olfactory stimuli were kept in small, individual containers with a screw top lid (Figure 3.1). Oleic acid required mixing by drawing 3-4 times with a 10 mL pipette, to ensure an even emulsion of fatty acid and mineral oil. All olfactory stimuli were made fresh on the day of evaluation. All oleic acid used was from the same batch as the tasting procedure and obtained from the same supplier to allow for comparison across testing stimuli. The methodology for olfactory testing used the same procedure as taste testing (3-AFC) but with a decreased number of concentrations (see Table 3.1).



Figure 3.1. Image of sniffing bottles for oleic acid olfactory measurement using the ascending 3-AFC procedure.

3.3.2.3. *n*-butanol threshold test

The overall olfactory performance of each participant was established using a test kit 'Sniffin' Sticks' which has been widely used in research (Hummel, Kobal, Gudziol, & Mackay-Sim, 2007) in order to compare results with the oleic acid olfaction test. The 'Sniffin' Sticks' kit contains 16 pen sets (triplets) with increasing thresholds of the volatile *n*-butanol, alongside blank odour pens (Burghart Instruments, Wedel, Germany). The 16 pen sets require presentation of three pens each time with only one of the three pens containing the target odourant (forced choice procedure). Pen no. 1 is the highest concentration and pen no. 16 is the lowest, with a high score representing increased sensitivity to *n*-butanol, and a score over 6.5 considered to be 'normosmia' (Denzer et al., 2014; Hummel et al., 2007).

methods	
and	
measurements	
Trial	
able 3.1 .	
Ë	

Measurement	Methods	Reference	Equipment	Outcomes
Body composition profile	Anthropometric measurements (height, weight) and BIA	Ling et al., 2011; von Hurst et al., 2015	Direct segmental measurement (DSM) BIA (InBody230, Biospace Co. Ltd, Seoul, Korea). Stadiometer	Body composition - BMI profiling (height and weight) - fat and lean mass
Taste perception oleic acid (C18:1)	3-AFC procedure ascending method with 6 correct responses (3 at the same concentration and 3 at consecutive higher concentrations)	Developed in this study with reference to Haryono et al., 2014; Keast et al., 2014; Mattes, 2007; Running, 2014; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart, Feinle- Bisset, et al., 2011; Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011; Tucker & Mattes, 2013	Silverson homogeniser (L4RT)	Sensitivity to oleic acid (C18:1) threshold measurement. Identification of 'hypo' or 'hypersensitivity'
Olfactory perception oleic acid (C18:1)	3-AFC procedure. Maximum of 7 concentration levels	Developed in this study with reference to Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014; Hummel et al., 1997; Kallas & Halpern, 2011		Sensitivity to oleic acid (C18:1) olfactory threshold measurement
<i>n</i> -butanol olfactory perception	3-AFC procedure. 16 concentration levels presented in rising order (pens 16, 14, 12, etc)	Denzer et al., 2014; Hummel et al., 2007	Burghart Sniffin' Sticks smell test	Sensitivity to <i>n</i> -butanol (Sniffin' Sticks) olfactory threshold
Mouthfeel perception	Subjective hedonic and intensity linear scales, JAR scales	Developed in this study with reference to Ares et al., 2009; Keller et al., 2012; Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014; Popper, 2014; Worch et al., 2012		Subjective rating of mouthfeel (intensity, liking, etc)
Dietary intake	220-item FFQ	Houston, 2014; Kruger et al., 2015	Analysis using Foodworks 7 2012 (Xyris Software, Australia). Questionnaire completed on SurveyMonkey TM online platform	Daily energy, macronutrient and food group intake
Eating behaviour	TFEQ	Stunkard & Messick, 1985	Questionnaire completed on SurveyMonkey TM online platform	Restraint, disinhibition and hunger measurement
Abbreviations: BIA about right; TFEQ, 1	, bioelectrical impedance; B.	MI, body mass index; AFC, alternat laire	ive-forced choice; FFQ, food freq	uency questionnaire; JAR, just

3.3.2.4. Subjective mouthfeel measurement test

For testing of mouthfeel and textural influence of fat, vanilla custard tasting stimuli were designed. Test stimuli were created using coconut oil, which has a high saturated fat content providing a high level of fat-related textural attributes (Vingerhoeds, de Wijk, Zoet, Nixdorf, & van Aken, 2008). The base for vanilla custard involved mixing 3 tablespoons of cornstarch (Edmonds, NZ), 3 tablespoons of sugar (Homebrand, NZ), 1 teaspoon vanilla essence (Hansells, NZ), ¼ teaspoon of yellow food colouring (Hansells, NZ) and 500 mL of non-fat milk (Homebrand, NZ). The mixture was heated in a microwave (4 minutes, stirred, 3 minutes, stirred) and homogenised. Coconut oil (Blue Coconut, Canterbury, NZ) was added to each bowl at 0%, 5%, 10%, and 15% quantities and then custard added to give a total weight of 50 g. Each bowl was thoroughly and consistently mixed. Smaller portion cups (35 mL cups) were labelled with individual 3-digit codes and filled with 20 g of custard and then refrigerated. Testing stimuli were made approximately 12 hours prior to taste testing (see Table 1 for details of methodology).

Subjective evaluation of vanilla custard was recorded on paper by placing a vertical line through 150 mm linear scales. The questionnaire and overall evaluation used to assess the vanilla custard (real world food model) was similar to that of consumer sensory evaluation techniques (Haryono et al., 2014; Popper, 2014). At each fat concentration level, a separate questionnaire was administered, with no side-by-side comparisons. Participants were not informed of the fat content levels and were untrained, as we were looking for naïve ratings of attributes and ratings of hedonic liking associated with a real world food model (Ares, Barreiro, & Giménez, 2009). Prior to the assessment, the participant was told that there were no 'right or wrong' answers. On each visit, participants evaluated two out of the four custard stimuli. These were selected in a randomised order so that all four custard stimuli were tested at the first two visits. The questions asked related to liking ("How much do you like or dislike the aroma / taste / mouthfeel / sweetness of the vanilla custard?"), ideal preferences ("Compared to your ideal vanilla custard, what do you think of the aroma / flavour strength / mouthfeel / sweetness?"), overall like or dislike ("Overall, how much do you like or dislike this

vanilla custard?"), fat content ("How would you rate the fat content level?"), and fat taste intensity ("How would you rate the intensity of the fat taste?)" (Keller et al., 2012; Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014). The scales were anchored at either end by statements; "Strongest imaginable dislike / Too weak / Not enough flavour / Too dry / Not sweet enough / Very low fat content (The lowest I have ever tasted in custard)/ Very low fat taste" on the left and "Strongest imaginable like / Too strong / Too much flavour / Too fatty oily / Too sweet / Very high fat content (The highest I have ever tasted in custard / Very high fat taste" on the right. The final question was to circle the % of fat thought to be present in the vanilla custard stimuli from a range of options (0%, 1%, 2%, 5%, 10% or 15%).

3.3.3. Eating behaviour and dietary intake questionnaires

Eating behaviour was assessed using the validated three-factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ) to measure cognitive dietary restraint (21 items), disinhibition of control (16 items) and susceptibility to hunger (14 items) (Stunkard & Messick, 1985). Each item scores either 0 or 1 point with possible scores ranging from 0-0-0 to 21-16-14 (Stunkard & Messick, 1985). TFEQ scores were allocated for each category and associated subscales were calculated under each of the three factors (Bond, McDowell, & Wilkinson, 2001; Westenhoefer, 1991; Westenhoefer, Stunkard, & Pudel, 1999), where higher scores denote higher levels of restrained eating, disinhibited eating and predisposition to hunger (Stunkard & Messick, 1985).

Dietary intake (energy, macronutrients, food groups) was measured by a 220-item food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) developed for the Women's EXPLORE study ("EXamining Predictors Linking Obesity Related Elements") and adapted from the FFQ used in the National Nutrition Survey in NZ (Houston, 2014; Kruger et al., 2015; Quigley & Watts, 1997; Russell, Parnell, & Wilson, 1997). Approximate frequency of food and beverage intake was for items consumed over the previous month. Dietary data from the FFQ were combined into key food groups as recommended by the Eating and Activity Guidelines for NZ Adults of i. fruit, ii. vegetables, iii. grains, iv. milk and milk products, v. nuts, nut spreads and seeds, vi. eggs, poultry and fish, vii, red meat, viii, takeaways, ix, sugary treats, x. butter, margarine and oil, xi. legumes and xii. alcohol (Ministry of Health. & Health, 2015). Dietary intake data are expressed as daily frequency equivalent's (DFE's) where frequency responses were calculated as a per day value (i.e. '4-6x/week' was calculated as 5 / 7 days = 0.71 DFE's (da Silva, Sichieri, Pereira, da Silva, & Ferreira, 2013). Data from the FFQ and was entered into Foodworks version 7 (Xyris Software 2012, Queensland, Australia). Foodworks uses the NZ Food Composition Database and FOODfiles (New Zealand Institute for Plant and Food Research, 2011) to determine total energy (kJ) and macronutrient (g) intake. In-depth analysis of the dietary intake data collected in this study is reported elsewhere (Henderson, 2016).

3.3.4. Testing procedure

Each participant attended three testing sessions which took place on nonconsecutive days within a period of one month. During all three testing sessions, oleic acid taste and olfaction threshold testing was conducted. Participants were asked not to eat, drink, wear perfume, or taste any other products prior to testing and on arrival had fasted for approximately 12 hours. Testing took place between 0700 and 0930 hours. All stimuli were evaluated at room temperature (20°C) in individual taste testing booths. Tasting stimuli were whole mouth samples which were evaluated using a sip-and-spit procedure with no solution ingested (Mattes, 2009). Participants were asked to wear a nose clip for the taste evaluation only. Prior to sensory testing, a short training procedure was conducted to familiarise each participant with the unique taste of the oleic acid solution (9.8 mM) while wearing a nose-clip and to compare this taste to that of a blank milk emulsion (R. Keast, personal communication, June 2015). If the participant failed to notice any difference between the target (9.8 mM) and the blank, they were asked to try again with higher concentrations, until the participant recognised the taste. During the testing procedure, participants rinsed out their mouth with water between each set of tasting stimuli. Oleic acid taste perception testing was conducted first (wearing noseclip), followed by oleic acid olfactory testing (nose-clip removed). Red lights were left on throughout the tasting, olfactory and custard stimuli evaluation. To finish, evaluation of vanilla custard tasting stimuli was conducted (visit 1 and 2) or the *n*-butanol

threshold test (visit 3). All testing took approximately an hour to complete. The TFEQ and FFQ were answered in one sitting on SurveyMonkey[™] in-between study visits in a location where participants had minimal distraction.

3.3.5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS software for Windows (version 22.0; SPSS Inc, Armonk, NY: IBM Corp, USA). The sample size calculation was performed based on a pilot study which measured linoleic acid fatty acid taste threshold. It was estimated that 50 participants were required based on alpha risk at 0.05 and beta risk at 0.2 (power 80%) to find a difference in oleic acid taste perception between concentration levels. The sample size is similar to other studies investigating oleic acid taste perception (Stewart et al., 2010; Tucker, Edlinger, Craig, & Mattes, 2014; Zhou et al., 2016). Binomial regression models were performed using R version 3.2.5. Data were checked for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Normally distributed data are presented as mean±SD and non-normally distributed data as median [25, 75 percentiles]. Correlations of fatty acid taste detection, *n*-butanol detection, oleic acid olfaction and dietary intake were tested using Pearson's correlation coefficient and Spearman's correlation coefficient depending on the normality of the data. Intra-class correlation (ICC) using two-way random effects model, single measures was performed to detect associations between fatty acid detection thresholds and proportion of correct trials across testing days. The fitted fatty acid taste models of the probability of correct detection used binomial regression to model the success or failure of taste and olfaction detection. Binomial regression employs a link function to connect the binary outcome variable with the continuous predictor variables. The link functions that gave the most stable fit to each data set were applied, these were the logit link function for the olfaction data, and the complementary-log-log function for the taste data at all three testing sessions (Lawless, 2010). The rationale to interpolate at 0.66 probability was based on the publication by Lawless, 2010 (Lawless, 2010). Lawless (2010) describes an alternative analysis of forced-choice threshold data sets (ASTM, 2011; Lawless, 2010). The interpolation of chance-corrected thresholds does not discount correct responses of early concentrations but does take into account the probability that

guessing correctly may have. This analysis does not exhibit the downward bias that can occur from correct guessing and has proven practical applications (Lawless, 2010).

The probability of guessing would be 0.33 or 1/3 correct trials. Therefore, the probability of 0.66 or 2/3 correct samples ensures that the detection rate is above "chance" level. By using a single 0.66 probability cut-off for all participants we were able to assess their sensitivity at the same point identified by the binomial regression model. A similar approach has been used by Giguère et al, 2016 and Jayasinghe et al, 2017 (Giguère et al., 2016; Jayasinghe et al., 2017). The probability of 0.66 differentiated between participants at a common intercept and is a chance-corrected detection rate.

Sensitivity to oleic acid was treated as a grouping variable and was defined as 'hypersensitive' or 'hyposensitive' to taste similar to previous publications (Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart, Feinle-Bisset, & Keast, 2011). For this purpose, we chose the cut-off of 5.7 mM as this was the median detection threshold on average, across the three days. Group differences between taste detection rate, taste detection threshold, olfactory scores, eating behaviour scores, energy intake, macronutrient intake, food group intake and mouthfeel ratings (continuous variables) were investigated using independent samples t-tests and Mann-Whitney U test for non-normally distributed data. BMI categories and taste sensitivity (hypersensitive versus hyposensitive) were compared using a chi-squared test. A P value of <0.05 was considered as significant.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Participants

A total of fifty-one female NZ European participants were recruited to take part in the study (Table 3.2). Of these, 50 women completed all three required visitations. The majority of the participants were of normal weight (BMI between 18.5 and 24.9 kg/m²; 62%), with some overweight (BMI 25-29.9 kg/m²; 22%) and some obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²; 16%) participants.

Table 3.2. Anthropometric characteristics of participants

Variable	All (n=50)
Age $(y)^1$	26 [22, 32]
Height $(cm)^2$	166 ± 6
Weight (kg) ¹	67 [57, 76]
BMI $(kg/m^2)^1$	24 [21, 28]
$PBF(\%)^{2}$	30 ± 8

Abbreviations: y, years; PBF, percentage body fat; SD, standard deviation. ¹Median [25th-75thquartiles]; ²Values are means±SD.

3.4.2. Taste and olfaction detection curves of oleic acid

Detection curves were modelled from the data obtained from all three sessions in order to interpolate the detection rate of oleic acid taste perception for each individual. Each taste trial, which comprised a set of three samples containing two controls and one oleic acid 'target' sample, was used to create a binomial regression model (incorrect vs. correct identification per 3-AFC set). Figure 3.2a shows the taste detection curvesⁱ of

ⁱ Detection curves: concentration of taste stimulus (mM) vs. the probability of correctly identifying taste.

oleic acid using the probabilityⁱⁱ of correctly identifying a taste stimulus at each trial. Each line represents an individual participant showing that detection ability increases with increasing concentration of oleic acid.



Figure 3.2. Comparison of (a) taste detection curves and (b) olfactory detection curves of oleic acid (n=50). Participants marked in red showed strong olfactory detection rate (b) and those same participants are shown in the taste model also in red (a). The fitted models of binomial regression for taste and olfaction show successful vs. failed individual trials across all 3 testing days (3-AFC) modelled with a link function.

We evaluated between session repeatability of the probability of detection (taste) for each participant, where moderate significant correlations were found across all testing sessions 1, 2 and 3 (ICC=0.52, CI=0.36-0.67, P < 0.001, two-way random effects model, single measures). When comparing side-by-side sessions '1 and 2', and '2 and 3', repeatability was stronger, showing significant moderate correlations (ICC=0.67, CI=0.48-0.80, P < 0.001 and ICC=0.59, CI=0.38-0.75, P < 0.001, respectively). Detection curves for taste were variable across the group of participants but significantly repeatable within an individual's data sets across sessions 1, 2 and 3. In addition, there were no significant differences between taste detection thresholds across the three sessions.

ⁱⁱ Probability of detection: the probability of a trial being correctly identified at each concentration (3-AFC method). One in three trials will be correctly identified by chance alone (0.333, or 33.3%).

Figure 3.2b shows the olfactory detection curves using the probability of correctly identifying oleic acid odour at each trial. Olfactory detection curves increased with higher concentrations of oleic acid (data obtained from all three sessions). When evaluating the repeatability of the probability of detection for oleic acid odour, moderate correlations were found across visits for sessions 1, 2 and 3 (ICC=0.41, CI=0.23-0.58, P < 0.001, two-way random effects model, single measures). When comparing side-by-side sessions '1 and 2', and '2 and 3', olfactory repeatability was consistent with comparing all three sessions showing significant moderate correlations (ICC=0.44, CI=0.19-0.64, P < 0.001 and ICC=0.39, CI=0.13-0.6, P < 0.002, respectively). There were no significant differences between olfactory detection thresholds across the three sessions.

3.4.3. Fatty acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity

Previous studies have defined oleic acid taste hypersensitivity empirically as a detection thresholdⁱⁱⁱ at a concentration of less than 3.8 mM (Haryono et al., 2014). In this current study, we used a model to determine taste detection rate. Interpolation of each detection curve was required to characterise participants as hypo- or hypersensitive to oleic acid taste perception. In order to create an equivalent classification to previous studies (Haryono et al., 2014; Keast et al., 2014; Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011), the concentration (mM) at which detection is 0.66 (66%; equivalent to successfully obtaining 2 out of 3 correct trials at that given concentration) was considered to be the detection rate^{iv}. Taste hypersensitive participants (n=22) were defined as individuals who obtained a detection rate of less than or equal to 5.7 mM at 0.66 (66%) of the trials, based on their taste detection curve.

ⁱⁱⁱ Detection threshold: the lowest concentration at which a stimulus is detected, determined by 3 consecutively correct taste trials at that given concentration (3-AFC method).

^{iv} Detection rate: concentration of stimulus at which an individual would correctly identify 2 out of 3 (0.66 or 66%) of trials, using the predictive detection rate curves.

Table 3.3. Comparison of median $[25^{th} - 75^{th} \text{ quartiles}]$ detection rate and detection threshold of hypersensitive and hyposensitive fatty acid detection (oleic acid) taste groups.

Variable	Hypersensitive (n=22)	Hyposensitive (n=28)	<i>P</i> -value
Detection rate ¹	3.36 mM [2.14, 5.53]	12.12 mM [8.91, 19.37]	< 0.001
Detection threshold ²	2.58 mM [1.47, 3.35]	11.10 mM [6.07, 12.73]	< 0.001
(Haryono et al., 2014; Keast et al.,			
2014; Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011)			

¹Detection rate: concentration of stimulus at which an individual would correctly identify 2 out of 3 (0.66 or 66%) of trials, using the predictive detection rate curves; ²Detection threshold: the lowest concentration at which a stimulus is detected, determined by 3 consecutively correct taste trials at that given concentration (3-AFC method).

3.4.4. Relationship between oleic acid taste perception and olfaction

A significant, positive correlation between taste probability of detection and the olfactory probability of detection (r=0.325, n=50, P< 0.02) of oleic acid was found (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3. Scatterplot of the relationship between oleic acid olfaction and taste (probability of detection), the weighted average across all three sessions.

3.4.5. Relationship between oleic acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity, olfaction detection rate, n-butanol olfactory threshold and eating behaviour

Taste hypersensitive participants had a lower olfactory detection rate (higher sensitivity) than the hyposensitive taster group (Table 3.4, P < 0.05). Scores obtained for *n*-butanol threshold demonstrated a similar relationship to oleic acid olfactory detection rate, taste hypersensitive participants obtained a higher mean score (higher sensitivity) for *n*-butanol threshold 'Sniffin' Sticks' (P < 0.03). The mean score for *n*-butanol threshold was 8.7±2.2. Based on normative values, 43 participants were classified as normosmic (test score >6.5), and 7 as hyposmic to odour (test score <6.5, less sensitive). There was a trend for the olfactory oleic acid detection rate (mM) to correlate with *n*-butanol threshold score (r_s = -0.263, P= 0.07).

The three eating behaviours assessed by the TFEQ were cognitive restraint, disinhibition and hunger as well as associated subscales. Results from the questionnaire were analysed based on scoring criteria established by Stunkard and Messick (1985). For cognitive restraint, the majority of participants (68%) reported low scores (0-10 out of a possible score of 21). Participants also reported mostly low scores for disinhibition (74% scored 0-8 out of 16). For susceptibility to hunger, 80% of participants scored low (0-7 out of 14) (Shen, Kennedy, & Methven, 2017). A significant difference in disinhibition score and emotional disinhibition (subscale) was observed between hypersensitive and hyposensitive groups (P < 0.05; P < 0.03, respectively). There were no significant correlations between eating behaviour factors when compared to oleic acid olfactory detection or *n*-butanol threshold (all, P > 0.05).

	Hypersensitive (n=22)	Hyposensitive (n=28)	TOTAL (n=50)	<i>P</i> -value
Oleic acid olfactory detection				4
rate ¹ $(mM)^2$	24.2 [11, 61]	97.3 [24, 181]	45.4 [16, 158]	0.041 ⁴
<i>n</i> -butanol threshold score ³	$9.5{\pm}1.8$	8.1±2.3	8.7±2.2	0.029 ⁴
Cognitive dietary restraint ²	8.0 [4, 11]	10 [7, 12]	9.0 [5, 11]	0.232
Flexible restraint ²	3.0 [1, 4]	3.5 [2, 5]	3.0 [1.8, 4]	0.159
Rigid restraint ²	2.0 [1, 3]	3.0 [1.5, 4]	3.0 [1, 4]	0.133
Disinhibition ²	4.0 [3, 6]	6.5 [3, 10]	5.0 [3, 9]	0.046 ⁴
Habitual susceptibility ²	0.0 [0, 1]	0.5 [0, 2]	0.0 [0, 1]	0.197
Emotional susceptibility ²	0.0 [0, 1]	2.0 [0, 3]	1.0 [0, 2]	0.029 ⁴
Situational susceptibility ²	2.0 [2, 4]	3.0 [1, 4]	3.0 [1, 4]	0.538
Hunger ²	3.5 [2, 6]	4.0 [2, 7.5]	4.0 [2, 6.3]	0.313
Internal locus ²	2.0 [0, 3]	2.0 [1, 3]	2.0 [0, 3]	0.638
External locus ²	1.0 [0, 2]	2.0 [1, 4]	1.5 [0.8, 3]	0.125

Table 3.4. Comparison of TFEQ scores and olfactory detection for hyper- and hyposensitive fatty acid detection (oleic acid) taste groups.

Abbreviations: TFEQ, three-factor eating questionnaire; mM, millimolar; SD, standard deviation. ¹Detection rate (mM), defined as the concentration at which correct detection is 0.66 (66% correct trials over 3 days) using the odour detection curves; ²Median [25th-75th quartiles]; ³Values are means±SD; ⁴Significant difference found between hypersensitive and hyposensitive taste groups (P < 0.05).

3.4.6. Relationship between oleic acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity, mouthfeel rating and olfaction

Distinct from fatty acid taste is the ability to feel the texture of fat in food or drinks in the mouth, which are the tactile sensations that can be described as 'creamy' or 'oily' (Vingerhoeds et al., 2008). Significant differences were found between hyposensitive and hypersensitive participants when asked to subjectively rate how much they liked the mouthfeel of high-fat custard (P< 0.05) and when rating the mouthfeel of the medium fat custard in comparison to what they perceived as an ideal level of fat content (P< 0.05) (see Figure 3.4). Additional vanilla custard rating questions (e.g. sweetness intensity, flavour liking, etc.) were not significantly different between hyper- and hyposensitive taste groups (all, P> 0.05).



Figure 3.4. Comparison of (a) mouthfeel rating and (b) mouthfeel liking of high (15% coconut oil), medium (10% coconut oil), low (5% coconut oil) and no fat custard (0% coconut oil) split by taste hypersensitive (n=22) and hyposensitive (n=28) participants. Data presented as mean \pm sem. **P*< 0.05.

Mouthfeel perception of high-fat custard (15% coconut oil) was correlated with *n*butanol sensitivity, where a rating of 'too fatty/oily' being associated with higher olfactory sensitivity (r=0.393, P< 0.01). No other noteworthy significant associations were found between the mouthfeel ratings of custard, *n*-butanol threshold or oleic acid olfactory threshold.

3.4.7. Relationships between oleic acid taste perception, oleic acid olfaction, dietary intake, mouthfeel rating and eating behaviour

In the current study, food group intake was measured, and energy intake evaluated across the study population. An in-depth analysis of dietary patterns and food group data is reported elsewhere (Henderson, 2016). Nuts, nut spreads and seeds food group intake (DFE's) was significantly correlated with oleic acid olfactory detection rate (mM), where high sensitivity (low detection rate) correlated with higher intake of nuts, nut spreads and seeds (r_s = -0.410, P< 0.01). We found no other significant relationships between oleic acid olfactory detection rate, *n*-butanol threshold or oleic acid taste

perception and food group intakes, energy and macronutrient intake. Additionally, there were no significant differences in food groups, energy or macronutrient intake between hypo- and hypersensitive taste groups.

Restraint and hunger eating behaviour factors were related to intake of specific food groups in our sample population. A high hunger score was correlated with higher intake of takeaways (r_s = 0.33, P< 0.02) and butter, margarine and oil (r_s = 0.32, P< 0.03). High sugary treat food intake was inversely associated with restraint (r_s = -0.39, P< 0.01). Vegetable intake was positively correlated with restraint score (r_s = 0.32, P< 0.03) and negatively with hunger score (r_s = -0.31, P< 0.03). No other significant relationships between eating behaviour, food group intake, energy or macronutrient intakes were found.

3.4.8. Oleic acid taste perception and olfaction detection rate and body composition

Oleic acid taste hypersensitive participants were significantly more likely to have a low BMI (be lean) (X^2 (1, n=50) =3.89, P< 0.05) and hyposensitive participants were 3.4 times more likely to be overweight or obese than hypersensitive participants. There was a trend for hypersensitive participants to have a lower PBF than hyposensitive participants (27.8%±7.2 vs. 32.2%±8.8; P= 0.06). There were no relationships found between oleic acid olfactory detection rate and BMI as a continuous variable or between BMI categories or percentage body fat. There were no significant differences in oleic acid olfactory detection rate, oleic acid mouthfeel perception, *n*-butanol threshold, food group intake, energy, macronutrient intakes or eating behaviour between BMI categories.

3.5. Discussion

The present study investigated the relationship between oleic acid taste and olfaction detection rates, and how these measurements may relate to dietary intake, eating behaviour, mouthfeel ratings of fat added to test custard and body composition. The results show that sensitivity to oleic acid taste perception and olfaction varies considerably between participants, with individual detection rates covering three orders of magnitude. The present study shows for the first time that fatty acid olfactory sensitivity is clearly linked with fatty acid taste sensitivity albeit acting through separate pathways. Hyposensitivity to fatty acid taste was associated with disinhibited eating behaviour. Furthermore, participants who were hypersensitive to oleic acid taste perception had lower BMI values than those who were hyposensitive. The findings of this study show remarkable parallels in fatty acid taste and olfaction detection rates with clear and consistent individual differences in detection ability. These individual differences in fat detection appear to be linked with disinhibited eating behaviour that may have implications for long-term metabolic health outcomes (Hays & Roberts, 2008).

3.5.1. Oleic acid taste and olfactory detection rate

In this study, we created tailored models to characterise the detection curves of taste and olfaction with increasing oleic acid concentrations in healthy women. Our data confirm that there is great variability in taste sensitivity between individuals, which is consistent with previous studies in presenting a range of taste detection thresholds across different participants (Chalé-Rush et al., 2007a; Stewart et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2016). In humans, sensing of 'fat' has been attributed to CD36 receptors in taste cells, as well as GPR120, 41, 40 and 43 receptors (Baillie, Coburn, & Abumrad, 1996; Galindo et al., 2012; Pepino, Kuda, Samovski, & Abumrad, 2014). It is thought that CD36 receptors may function in fatty acid recognition at low concentrations, whereas GPR120 may be functioning at higher concentrations, acting to enhance the signalling of fatty acids and

providing sustained taste experiences (Ozdener et al., 2014). Thus, oral detection of fatty acids may be a result of dual, complementary mechanisms (Besnard, Passilly-Degrace, & Khan, 2016). We, therefore, chose to identify the probability of oleic acid taste detection over a wider range of concentrations in the present study, given that fatty acid taste may be detected by multiple receptors and a range of transduction pathways (Abdoul-Azize, Selvakumar, Sadou, Besnard, & Khan, 2014; Besnard et al., 2016; Gilbertson & Khan, 2014; Liu et al., 2016; Ozdener et al., 2014).

In consideration of a postulated multiple receptor mechanism that detects fatty acids, we chose to extend the ascending 3-AFC method to continue testing past three correct evaluations, by adding an additional three higher concentrations past the commonly used 'stopping point' (Mattes, 2007). An extension of the stopping rule was further implemented to collect enough data points across the three repeated sessions to create the binomial regression models. We were then able to interpolate an individual's performance using the model and from this, we were able to classify individuals as hypo- or hypersensitive as a grouping variable. This approach decreases the number of false-positives which can occur through guessing the correct solution by chance alone (Running, 2014). The extension of the stopping rule further enhanced the quality of our data by broadening the range of concentration levels evaluated, which allowed us to model taste behaviour for each participant. One of the limitations of extending the procedure is inducement of fatigue, but the integration of the probability of correct detection at each concentration level obtained from multiple visits decreases the influence of this effect on the detection rate (Mattes, 2007; Running, 2014). The fatty acid detection rates applied in this study account for the possibility of guessing correctly but do not discount the correct responses which may occur at low concentrations. The between-participant variance was further reduced in this study by limiting our participants to the same gender, age range (premenopausal only) and to one ethnic group.

3.5.2. Fatty acid taste hypo- and hypersensitivity

We were able to identify a detection rate for all participants to then further establish our classification into hypo- or hypersensitive fatty acid taster groups, based on their performance across three days of testing, as opposed to a single session measurement. The ratio of participants classified as hypersensitive in our study, based on their detection rate, was comparable to findings in previous studies (Keast et al., 2014; Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011). The repeatability of fatty acid taste threshold assessments has been investigated previously (Newman & Keast, 2013; Tucker & Mattes, 2013), and consistent with these studies, we found significant repeatability across all sessions. Whilst we found that fatty acid taste detection was clearly repeatable, we would recommend a minimum of three testing sessions to measure fatty acid taste or olfaction detection rates, in order to obtain enough data to determine the probability of correctly identifying taste at each concentration level (Newman & Keast, 2013; Tucker et al., 2014; Tucker & Mattes, 2013). In the present study, all sessions were conducted in the morning, prior to consuming breakfast, which we believe enhanced the repeatability of the taste perception data in this study.

3.5.3. Relationship between oleic acid taste perception and olfaction

Our results show that the ability to detect fatty acid by taste was significantly associated with that of olfaction. In a 'real-world' food setting, the recognition of fatty acid taste would be further enhanced by mastication behaviour (chewing), due to the enhanced release of organic odour volatiles (Ployon, Morzel, & Canon, 2017). In support of a fatty acid taste and olfactory relationship, the previous research identified that the expression of the CD36 receptors in the olfactory epithelium may be related to the long-chain fatty acid taste receptor mechanisms (Xavier et al., 2016). There is a possible role in odorant detection by this scavenger receptor (Xavier et al., 2016), suggesting individuals with higher CD36 taste expression potentially have a homologous olfactory detection ability. This has been observed in CD36-deficient mice who displayed altered olfactory behaviour when exposed to long-chain fatty acids (Xavier et al., 2016). In support of our findings, *in vitro* work on human olfactory mucus has found an odorant binding protein which has a strong affinity for long-chain fatty acids, including lauric acid and capric acids (Xavier et al., 2016). Additionally, the variability in a human

odorant-binding protein OBPIIa was associated with individual differences in the bitterness perception of oleic acid (Abdoul-Azize et al., 2014). It would be interesting to investigate in future studies whether individuals who are more sensitive to oleic acid olfaction are carriers of the variation in the olfactory binding protein described by Tomassini Barbarossa et al. (Tomassini Barbarossa et al., 2017). Interestingly, in humans, olfactory-based discrimination of the fat content of milk and specific fatty acids at a range of concentration levels has been demonstrated and supports the notion that humans are able to detect small differences in fat content by odour alone (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014; Kallas & Halpern, 2011).

In comparison to the oleic acid tasting procedure in this study, the concentration of oleic acid used in the olfactory detection tests went to a considerably higher concentration. This was required due to the stimuli being tested orthonasally, at room temperature (20°C) with fresh oleic acid in partially filled bottles to generate an open headspace for inhalation. Because this is a new procedure we covered a wider range of concentrations but used fewer steps (seven concentrations) as we wanted to avoid adaptation effects which have been reported in some previous olfactory studies (Stuck, Fadel, Hummel, & Sommer, 2014; Thompson & Spencer, 1966).

Our results indicate that there is a difference between hypo- and hypersensitive groups in sensitivity to *n*-butanol odour ('Sniffin' Sticks' score). The *n*-butanol odour sensitivity test is widely used for the evaluation of human olfactory performance and can be used by medical practitioners to assess olfactory dysfunction (Denzer et al., 2014). In the present study, the *n*-butanol threshold test was incorporated to see if a well-established olfactory assessment method may relate to the oleic acid olfactory test introduced in this study. We found that *n*-butanol sensitivity is weakly associated with oleic acid olfactory perception.

3.5.4. Oleic acid taste perception and disinhibited eating behaviour

Significant associations were found between oleic acid taste sensitivity and 'disinhibition' and the eating behaviour sub-category 'emotional disinhibition', where higher disinhibition scores were obtained by the oleic acid taste hyposensitive group. Disinhibition refers to opportunistic eating behaviour, which could play a role in weight gain (Bryant, King, & Blundell, 2008). Previous studies have found emotional disinhibition significantly predicts body fat percentage in young NZ women (Kruger, De Bray, Beck, Conlon, & Stonehouse, 2016), and another study in a young French cohort found higher disinhibition scores were associated with a higher BMI (Lesdéma et al., 2012). It has been suggested that an inability to detect fat efficiently may result in compensation of cognitive satisfaction with other tastes, such as 'sweet' (Asano et al., 2016) which may account for additional weight gain over time (Newman, Haryono, & Keast, 2013; Rolls, 2007). Eating behaviour and fatty acid taste sensitivity have not been directly compared in previous studies (Liang et al., 2012; Panek-Scarborough et al., 2012; Shen et al., 2017). This study is the first to report a relationship between fatty acid taste sensitivity and disinhibited eating behaviour.

3.5.5. Oleic acid taste perception and mouthfeel

The subjectively rated mouthfeel of fat in the food matrix in the present study varied between hypo- and hypersensitive participants. Given the textural properties of fat, it was important to investigate whether fatty acid taste sensitivity (which is independent of texture or mouthfeel) can be compared to the liking of 'real-world' foods. In this study, we found that oleic acid taste hypersensitivity was significantly related to increased rating of 'oily/fatty' mouthfeel perception, as well as negatively impacting the hedonic liking of a high-fat product. The hedonic liking of fat textural attributes in comparison to fatty acid taste sensitivity was of interest, as it is well known that commercial products with 'fat replacers' often fail to attain the craving response of a full fat equivalent (Jervis, Gerard, Drake, Lopetcharat, & Drake, 2014). This study provides further evidence that fatty acid taste itself (i.e. the presence of fatty acid ligands), in addition to mouthfeel, plays a critical role in the recognition and perception of fat. It is recognised that the presence of fatty acid ligands are critical throughout the digestion process as receptors in the gut are considered to be homologous with oral taste receptors, which may further support an individual's satiety response (Shin, Ingram, McGill, & Poppitt, 2013). In animal studies, it has been shown that consumption of a

high-fat diet related to an increase in CD36 mRNA expression (Primeaux, Braymer, & Bray, 2013). CD36 mRNA expression was found to occur on circumvallate papillae as well as duodenal enterocytes, supporting the possibility that there is complementary sensing of long-chain fatty acids in the two different regions (Primeaux et al., 2013). Receptors isolated from human intestinal enteroendocrine cells include CD36 and G-protein coupled receptors (GPR120, GPR40) (Rasoamanana, Darcel, Fromentin, & Tomé, 2012). The CD36 protein, in particular, is expressed in the duodenum and jejunum and has been proposed to play a role in signaling pathways that mediate fatty acid detection in the gut (Rasoamanana et al., 2012; Shin et al., 2013).

3.5.6. Oleic acid taste perception, olfaction and body composition

The results of the present study showed that participants who were hypersensitive to oleic acid taste had a significantly lower BMI, a finding consistent with previous studies on oleic acid taste perception (Asano et al., 2016; Proserpio, Laureati, Bertoli, Battezzati, & Pagliarini, 2016; Stewart et al., 2010; Stewart, Newman, et al., 2011) and linoleic acid taste perception (Martínez-Ruiz et al., 2014). Positive correlations have also been found between fat preference scores and percent body fat estimates (Mela & Sacchetti, 1991). A comprehensive review by Cox et al. concluded that low sensitivity to fatty acid taste, as well as liking and preference for fat, is related to higher weight status (Cox et al., 2015). However, not all studies have found an association between taste sensitivity and BMI (Chevrot et al., 2014; Tucker, Nuessle, Garneau, Smutzer, & Mattes, 2015; Zhou et al., 2016). A recent meta-analysis of studies on taste sensitivity has concluded that fatty acid taste sensitivity does not precede or result in obesity (Tucker et al., 2017). Of particular interest are studies which have found that a low-fat diet or a high-fat diet can modulate taste sensitivity, where a low-fat diet was shown to significantly increase taste sensitivity to oleic acid over a four-week period while there was no significant difference in sensitivity at baseline (Stewart & Keast, 2012). In support of this, a six-week, low-fat dietary intervention study in overweight and obese participants showed that fatty acid taste sensitivity can be enhanced significantly during this time period (Newman, Bolhuis, Torres, & Keast, 2016). These studies support the notion that fatty acid taste sensitivity can be related to body fat mass in some settings.

Our results did not suggest any direct relationship between oleic acid olfactory sensitivity and body composition. Interestingly, a report by Fernandez-Garcia et al (Fernandez-Garcia et al., 2017) suggests that olfactory function may be desensitised in response to changing levels of endocrine regulation in the obese state (Palouzier-Paulignan et al., 2012). Increased visceral body fat functions as an endocrine gland with increased secretion of adipokines (Fernandez-Garcia et al., 2017). Another recent study has found that a decreased sense of both taste and olfaction correlated with visceral fat rating (Fernandez-Garcia et al., 2017). However, in patients that have had gastric bypass surgery, olfactory function does not change, while in contrast taste sensitivity can improve (Richardson, Vanderwoude, Sudan, Leopold, & Thompson, 2012). Our data further suggests that overall olfactory sensitivity is not directly linked to eating behaviour or dietary intake. In support of this, a previous study found that milk odour discrimination performance was not related to BMI (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014). Future studies focusing on sensory sensitivities across different BMI categories are required to explore the relationship between taste and odour sensitivity in conjunction with metabolic health status. It is important to note that body fat percentage values are clinically more relevant than BMI categories (Ho-Pham, Lai, Nguyen, & Nguyen, 2015). In the present study we obtained body fat percentage values from BIA measurements, however, it has been shown that typically a BIA will underestimate body fat percentage by 2% (von Hurst et al., 2015). We would recommend that future studies ascertain body fat percentage, ideally from air displacement plethysmography (ADP) or dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and compare these values to chemosensory perception.

3.5.7. Oleic acid taste perception, olfaction and dietary intake

In this study, no major associations were found between taste sensitivity and dietary intake. However, we did find a significant association between sensitivity to olfactory oleic acid and the intake of 'nuts, nut spreads and seeds'. Olfaction has been identified as an important means for the interpretation of food flavours, and hedonic liking is due to the presence of odour volatiles released during the eating process (Ployon et al.,

2017). It is possible that participants who had a higher intake of nuts and seeds may have an increased ability to recognise the associated odours. To date, there has been no consensus about whether there is a relationship between fatty acid taste sensitivity and dietary intake. It is likely that discrepancies between studies are due to differences in the study participants (e.g. gender, ethnicity, age), assessment methods of fatty acid taste perception (psychophysical measurement, type of fatty acid stimulus) or dietary intake assessment methods which in turn generates inconsistencies about the potential biological or functional relationships (Cox et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2016). The FFQ used in this study is a retrospective account of dietary intake, which was used to obtain individual energy (kJ), macronutrient (fat, protein, carbohydrate and saturated fat) and food group intakes. A recommendation for future studies would be to measure dietary intake with a four-day food diary directly prior to taste testing. Whilst all self-reported dietary intake assessments are influenced by under- or over-reporting (Gemming, Jiang, Swinburn, Utter, & Mhurchu, 2014), we consider the FFQ would be better used as a population tool for larger studies as opposed to individual comparisons to physiological mechanisms.

3.5.8. Additional strengths and limitations of this study

In this study, the sample size was powered for determining significant differences in oleic acid taste perception. The additional aspects investigated in the study (e.g. mouthfeel ratings, eating behaviour, BMI, etc.) were exploratory variables that were ancillary to the modelling of fatty acid taste perception. In order to extend any of the findings from this study to the wider population, an incorporation of additional participants and representative demographic groupings would be required.

3.5.9. Conclusions

Fatty acid taste detection mechanisms are complex and cannot be explained by a single receptor mechanism (Galindo et al., 2012). Therefore, the methodology chosen for this study optimised taste perception measurements by detection rate of a single fatty acid

across a broad range of concentrations, which modelled each participant's individual taste behaviour. The modelling of taste behaviour was based on the probability of correctly identifying the oleic acid taste at each concentration level, which was unique to this study and was a refined version of previously applied approaches. Furthermore, we were able to apply the same binomial regression model to olfactory detection which allowed us to compare the chemosensitivity of each sensory modality. This study is the first to report a link between fatty acid taste and olfaction sensitivity in humans. Furthermore, we drew conclusions about specific characteristics of disinhibited eating behaviour in hypo- and hypersensitive fatty acid taste groups which were determined from taste detection rate.

Although the ability to perceive fatty acid taste varied markedly between participants, the association between fatty acid taste perception and disinhibited eating behaviour observed in the present study suggests that fatty acid taste perception may influence dietary habits that have long-term metabolic health consequences. Additionally, sensitivity to fatty acid taste was related to body composition and hyposensitivity to oleic acid was clearly associated with a higher BMI. In conclusion, our study presents strong evidence for a link between oleic acid taste perception, olfactory perception and the mouthfeel perception of fat; suggesting there are intimate relationships between multiple modalities of fat sensation in humans. Further research is required to investigate whether there is a causal relationship between fatty acid taste perception and olfaction in the etiology of obesity, especially in an obesogenic environment of highly palatable energy-dense and nutrient-poor foods.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the participants for their devoted participation in this trial. This present study was funded by the Massey University Research Fund and the School of Food and Nutrition, Massey University. B.H.B. is supported by the Health Research Council of New Zealand. We would like to thank Associate Professor Rozanne Kruger for the permission to use the validated FFQ. The authors would like to thank Professor Russell Keast for his advice on fatty acid taste testing methodology.

3.6. References

Abdoul-Azize, S., Selvakumar, S., Sadou, H., Besnard, P., & Khan, N. A. (2014). Ca2+ signaling in taste bud cells and spontaneous preference for fat: Unresolved roles of CD36 and GPR120. *Biochimie*, 96(1), 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2013.06.005

Appelqvist, I. A. M., Poelman, A. A. M., Cochet-Broch, M., & Delahunty, C. M. (2016). Impact of model fat emulsions on sensory perception using repeated spoon to spoon ingestion. *Physiology & Behavior*, 160, 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.03.035

Ares, G., Barreiro, C., & Giménez, A. (2009). Comparison of attribute liking and JAR scales to evaluate the adequecy of sensory attributes of milk desserts. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 24(5), 664–676. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2009.00232.x

Asano, M., Hong, G., Matsuyama, Y., Wang, W., Izumi, S., Izumi, M., ... Kudo, T. aki. (2016). Association of oral fat sensitivity with body mass index, taste preference, and eating habits in healthy Japanese young adults. *Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 238(2), 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.238.93

ASTM. (2011). Standard Practice for Determination of Odor and Taste Thresholds By a Forced Choice Ascending Concentration Series Method of Limits. Retrieved February 4, 2015, from http://www.astm.org/Standards/E679.htm

Baillie, A. G. S., Coburn, C. T., & Abumrad, N. A. (1996). Reversible Binding of Longchain Fatty Acids to Purified FAT, the Adipose CD36 Homolog. *Journal of Membrane Biology*, 153(1), 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002329900111

Besnard, P., Passilly-Degrace, P., & Khan, N. A. (2016). Taste of Fat: A Sixth Taste Modality? *Physiological Reviews*, 96(1), 151–176. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00002.2015

Boesveldt, S., & Lundström, J. N. (2014). Detecting fat content of food from a distance: olfactory-based fat discrimination in humans. *PloS One*, *9*(1), e85977. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085977

Bond, M. J., McDowell, A. J., & Wilkinson, J. Y. (2001). The measurement of dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger: An examination of the factor structure of the Three Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ). *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(6), 900–906.

Bryant, E. J., King, N. A., & Blundell, J. E. (2008). Disinhibition: Its effects on appetite and weight regulation. *Obesity Reviews*, *9*(5), 409–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00426.x

Chalé-Rush, A., Burgess, J., & Mattes, R. (2007a). Evidence for human orosensory (taste?) sensitivity to free fatty acids. *Chemical Senses*, *32*(5), 423–431. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjm007

Chalé-Rush, A., Burgess, J. R., & Mattes, R. D. (2007b). Multiple routes of chemosensitivity to free fatty acids in humans. *American Journal of Physiology -Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 292(5), G1206–G1212. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00471.2006

Chen, J., & Eaton, L. (2012). Multimodal mechanisms of food creaminess sensation.
Food & Function, 3(12), 1265–1270. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2fo30116d

- Chevrot, M., Passilly-Degrace, P., Ancel, D., Bernard, A., Enderli, G., Gomes, M., ... Besnard, P. (2014). Obesity interferes with the orosensory detection of long-chain fatty acids in humans. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99(5), 975–983. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.077198
- Choquette, A. C., Bouchard, L., Drapeau, V., Lemieux, S., Tremblay, A., Bouchard, C., ... Pérusse, L. (2012). Association between olfactory receptor genes, eating behavior traits and adiposity: results from the Quebec Family Study. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(3), 772–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.10.015
- Cox, D. N., Hendrie, G. A., & Carty, D. (2015). Sensitivity, hedonics and preferences for basic tastes and fat amongst adults and children of differing weight status: A comprehensive review. *Food Quality & Preference*, 41(Part B), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.014
- Cvijanovic, N., Feinle-Bisset, C., Young, R. L., & Little, T. J. (2015). Oral and intestinal sweet and fat tasting: impact of receptor polymorphisms and dietary modulation for metabolic disease. *Nutrition Reviews*, 73(5), 318–334. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuu026
- da Silva, N. F., Sichieri, R., Pereira, R. A., da Silva, R. M. V. G., & Ferreira, M. G. (2013). Reproducibility, relative validity and calibration of a food frequency questionnaire for adults | Reprodutibilidade, validade relativa e calibração de um questionário de frequência alimentar elaborado para adultos. *Cadernos de Saude Publica*, 29(9). https://doi.org/10.1590/0102-311X00120312
- Denzer, M. Y., Gailer, S., Kern, D. W., Schumm, L. P., Thuerauf, N., Kornhuber, J., ... Beauchamp, J. (2014). Quantitative Validation of the n-Butanol Sniffin' Sticks Threshold Pens. *Chemosensory Perception*, 7(2), 91–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-014-9168-1
- Fernandez-Garcia, J. C., Alcaide, J., Santiago-Fernandez, C., Roca-Rodriguez, M. M., Aguera, Z., Baños, R., ... Garrido-Sanchez, L. (2017). An increase in visceral fat is associated with a decrease in the taste and olfactory capacity. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171204
- Galindo, M. M., Voigt, N., Stein, J., van Lengerich, J., Raguse, J.-D., Hofmann, T., ... Behrens, M. (2012). G protein-coupled receptors in human fat taste perception. *Chemical Senses*, *37*(2), 123–139. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjr069
- Gemming, L., Jiang, Y., Swinburn, B., Utter, J., & Mhurchu, C. N. (2014). Underreporting remains a key limitation of self-reported dietary intake: an analysis of the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68(2), 259–264. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.242
- Giguère, J.-F., de Moura Piovesana, P., Proulx-Belhumeur, A., Doré, M., de Lemos Sampaio, K., & Gallani, M.-C. (2016). Reliability of a Simple Method for Determining Salt Taste Detection and Recognition Thresholds. *Chemical Senses*, 41(3), 205–210. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv080
- Gilbertson, T. A., & Khan, N. A. (2014). Cell signaling mechanisms of oro-gustatory detection of dietary fat: advances and challenges. *Progress in Lipid Research*, *53*(1), 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2013.11.001
- Haryono, R., Sprajcer, M., & Keast, R. (2014). Measuring oral fatty acid thresholds, fat perception, fatty food liking, and papillae density in humans. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE*, (88). https://doi.org/10.3791/51236.

- Hays, N. P., & Roberts, S. B. (2008). Aspects of eating behaviors disinhibition and restraint are related to weight gain and BMI in women. *Obesity*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.12
- Henderson, L. (2016). Exploring the relationship between dietary patterns, eating behaviour and fat taste detection thresholds. (Masters of Science), Massey University, Albany, Aucklan
- Ho-Pham, L. T., Lai, T. Q., Nguyen, M. T. T., & Nguyen, T. V. (2015). Relationship between body mass index and percent body fat in Vietnamese: Implications for the diagnosis of obesity. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127198
- Houston, Z. L. (2014). *Development and validation of a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire to assess dietary intake of adult women living in New Zealand*. MSc Nutrition and Dietetics (thesis), Massey University, Auckland.
- Hummel, T., Kobal, G., Gudziol, H., & Mackay-Sim, A. (2007). Normative data for the "Sniffin" Sticks" including tests of odor identification, odor discrimination, and olfactory thresholds: an upgrade based on a group of more than 3,000 subjects." *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology : Official Journal of the European Federation of Oto-Rhino-Laryngological Societies (EUFOS) : Affiliated with the German Society for Oto-Rhino-Laryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*, 264(3), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-006-0173-0
- Hummel, T., Sekinger, B., Wolf, S. R., Pauli, E., & Kobal, G. (1997). 'Sniffin' Sticks': Olfactory Performance Assessed by the Combined Testing of Odour Identification, Odor Discrimination and Olfactory Threshold. *Chemical Senses*, 22(1), 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/22.1.39
- Jayasinghe, S. N., Kruger, R., Walsh, D. C. I., Cao, G., Rivers, S., Richter, M., & Breier, B. H. (2017). Is sweet taste perception associated with sweet food liking and intake? *Nutrients*, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070750
- Jervis, S. M., Gerard, P., Drake, S., Lopetcharat, K., & Drake, M. A. (2014). The Perception of Creaminess in Sour Cream. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 29(4), 248– 257. https://doi.org/10.1111/joss.12098
- Jurowich, C. F., Seyfried, F., Miras, A. D., Bueter, M., Deckelmann, J., Fassnacht, M., ... Thalheimer, A. (2014). Does bariatric surgery change olfactory perception? Results of the early postoperative course. *International Journal of Colorectal Disease*, 29(2), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-013-1795-5
- Kallas, O., & Halpern, B. P. (2011). Retronasal Discrimination Between Vapor-Phase Long-Chain, Aliphatic Fatty Acids. *Chemosensory Perception*, 4(1–2), 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-011-9085-5
- Keast, R., Azzopardi, K., Newman, L., & Haryono, R. (2014). Impaired oral fatty acid chemoreception is associated with acute excess energy consumption. *Appetite*, *80*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.04.022
- Keast, R., & Costanzo, A. (2015). Is fat the sixth taste primary? Evidence and implications. *Flavour*, 4(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/2044-7248-4-5
- Keller, K. L., Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., van Belle, C., Breen, C., ... Chung, W. K. (2012). Common variants in the CD36 gene are associated with oral fat perception, fat preferences, and obesity in African Americans. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 20(5), 1066–1073. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2011.374
- Kruger, R., De Bray, J. G., Beck, K. L., Conlon, C. A., & Stonehouse, W. (2016). Exploring the relationship between body composition and eating behavior using

the three factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ) in young New Zealand women. *Nutrients*, 8(7), 386. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8070386

- Kruger, R., Shultz, S. P., McNaughton, S. A., Russell, A. P., Firestone, R. T., George, L., ... Stonehouse, W. (2015). Predictors and risks of body fat profiles in young New Zealand European, Māori and Pacific women: study protocol for the women's EXPLORE study. *SpringerPlus*, 4(1), 128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-015-0916-8
- Lawless, H. T. (2010). A simple alternative analysis for threshold data determined by ascending forced-choice methods of limits. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 25(3), 332–346.
- Lesdéma, A., Fromentin, G., Daudin, J.-J., Arlotti, A., Vinoy, S., Tome, D., & Marsset-Baglieri, A. (2012). Characterization of the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire scores of a young French cohort. *Appetite*, 59(2), 385–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.05.027
- Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., Breen, C., Driggin, E., Tepper, B. J., ... Keller, K. L. (2012). Fat discrimination: a phenotype with potential implications for studying fat intake behaviors and obesity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(2), 470– 475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.002
- Ling, C. H. Y., de Craen, A. J. M., Slagboom, P. E., Gunn, D. A., Stokkel, M. P. M., Westendorp, R. G. J., & Maier, A. B. (2011). Accuracy of direct segmental multifrequency bioimpedance analysis in the assessment of total body and segmental body composition in middle-aged adult population. *Clinical Nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, 30(5), 610–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2011.04.001
- Liou, B. K., & Grün, I. U. (2007). Effect of fat level on the perception of five flavor chemicals in ice cream with or without fat mimetics by using a descriptive test. *Journal of Food Science*, 72(8), S595-604. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00494.x
- Liu, D., Archer, N., Duesing, K., Hannan, G., & Keast, R. (2016). Mechanism of fat taste perception: Association with diet and obesity. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 63, 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2016.03.002
- Martínez-Ruiz, N. R., López-Díaz, J. A., Wall-Medrano, A., Jiménez-Castro, J. A., & Angulo, O. (2014). Oral fat perception is related with body mass index, preference and consumption of high-fat foods. *Physiology and Behavior*, 129, 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.010
- Mattes, R. D. (2007). Effects of linoleic acid on sweet, sour, salty, and bitter taste thresholds and intensity ratings of adults. *American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 292(5), G1243-8. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00510.2006
- Mattes, R. D. (2009). Oral detection of short-, medium-, and long-chain free fatty acids in humans. *Chemical Senses*, *34*(2), 145–150. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjn072
- Mela, D. J., & Sacchetti, D. A. (1991). Sensory preferences for fats: Relationships with diet and body composition. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 53(4), 908– 915.
- Ministry of Health., & Health, M. of. (2015). *Eating and Activity Guidelines for New Zealand Adults. Wellington, New Zealand; Ministry of Health.* Wellington, New Zealand: Wellington: Ministry of Health. Retrieved from

 $http://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/eating-activity-guidelines-for-new-zealand-adults-oct15_0.pdf$

- New Zealand Institute for Plant and Food Research. (2011). *New Zealand FOODfiles* (2010) Version 01. Palmerston North, New Zealand: New Zealand Institute for Plant and Food Research and Ministry of Health.
- Newman, L., Bolhuis, D., Torres, S., & Keast, R. (2016). Dietary fat restriction increases fat taste sensitivity in people with obesity. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 24(2), 328–334. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21357
- Newman, L., Haryono, R., & Keast, R. (2013). Functionality of fatty acid chemoreception: a potential factor in the development of obesity? *Nutrients*, 5(4), 1287–1300. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu5041287
- Newman, L., & Keast, R. (2013). The Test–Retest Reliability of Fatty Acid Taste Thresholds. *Chemosensory Perception*, 6(2), 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-013-9143-2
- Ozdener, M. H., Subramaniam, S., Sundaresan, S., Sery, O., Hashimoto, T., Asakawa, Y., ... Khan, N. A. (2014). CD36- and GPR120-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling in human taste bud cells mediates differential responses to fatty acids and is altered in obese mice. *Gastroenterology*, 146(4), 995–1005. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2014.01.006
- Palouzier-Paulignan, B., Lacroix, M., Aimé, P., Baly, C., Caillol, M., Congar, P., ... Fadool, D. A. A. (2012). Olfaction under metabolic influences. *Chemical Senses*, 37(9), 769–797. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjs059
- Panek-Scarborough, L. M., Dewey, A. M., & Temple, J. L. (2012). Sensation and perception of sucrose and fat stimuli predict the reinforcing value of food. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(5), 1242–1249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.01.001
- Pepino, M. Y., Kuda, O., Samovski, D., & Abumrad, N. A. (2014). Structure-function of CD36 and importance of fatty acid signal transduction in fat metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 34, 281–303. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071812-161220
- Ployon, S., Morzel, M., & Canon, F. (2017). The role of saliva in aroma release and perception. *Food Chemistry*, 226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.01.055
- Popper, R. (2014). Use of just-about-right scales in consumer research. *Novel Techniques in Sensory Characterization and Consumer Profiling*, 137–155.
- Primeaux, S. D., Braymer, H. D., & Bray, G. A. (2013). CD36 mRNA in the gastrointestinal tract is differentially regulated by dietary fat intake in obesity-prone and obesity-resistant rats. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 58(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-012-2364-4
- Proserpio, C., Laureati, M., Bertoli, S., Battezzati, A., & Pagliarini, E. (2016). Determinants of Obesity in Italian Adults: The Role of Taste Sensitivity, Food Liking, and Food Neophobia. *Chemical Senses*, 41(2), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv072
- Proserpio, C., Laureati, M., Invitti, C., Pasqualinotto, L., Bergamaschi, V., & Pagliarini, E. (2016). Cross-modal interactions for custard desserts differ in obese and normal weight Italian women. *Appetite*, 100, 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.033

Quigley, R., & Watts, C. (1997). Food comes first: Methodologies for the national

nutrition survey of New Zealand. Food Comes First: Methodologies for the National Nutrition Survey of New Zealand. Public Health Group, Ministry of Health, 1997. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-0004023233&partnerID=tZOtx3y1

- Rasoamanana, R., Darcel, N., Fromentin, G., & Tomé, D. (2012). Nutrient sensing and signalling by the gut. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *71*(4), 446–455.
- Richardson, B., Vander Woude, E., Sudan, R., Thompson, J., & Leopold, D. (2004). Altered olfactory acuity in the morbidly obese. *Obesity Surgery*, *14*(7), 967–969. https://doi.org/10.1381/0960892041719617
- Richardson, B., Vanderwoude, E., Sudan, R., Leopold, D., & Thompson, J. (2012). Gastric bypass does not influence olfactory function in obese patients. *Obesity Surgery*, 22(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-011-0487-x
- Rolls, E. T. (2007). Sensory processing in the brain related to the control of food intake. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *66*(1), 96–112. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665107005332
- Running, C. A. (2014). High false positive rates in common sensory threshold tests. *Attention, Perception & Psychophysics*, 77(November 2014), 692–700.
- Running, C. A., Craig, B. A., & Mattes, R. D. (2015). Oleogustus: The Unique Taste of Fat. *Chemical Senses*, 40(7), 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv036
- Running, C. A., Mattes, R. D., & Tucker, R. M. (2013). Fat taste in humans: sources of within- and between-subject variability. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 52(4), 438– 445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2013.04.007
- Russell, D., Parnell, W., & Wilson, N. (1997). NZ Food: NZ People Key results of the 1997 National Nutrition Survey NZ Food: NZ People Key results of the 1997. Wellington, New Zealand; Ministry of Health. National government publication.
- Shen, Y., Kennedy, O. B., & Methven, L. (2017). The effect of genotypical and phenotypical variation in taste sensitivity on liking of ice cream and dietary fat intake. *Food Quality and Preference*, 55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.08.010
- Shin, H. S., Ingram, J. R., McGill, A.-T., & Poppitt, S. D. (2013). Lipids, CHOs, proteins: Can all macronutrients put a 'brake' on eating? *Physiology & Behavior*, 120, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.07.008
- Stafford, L. D., & Welbeck, K. (2011). High hunger state increases olfactory sensitivity to neutral but not food odors. *Chemical Senses*, 36(2), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjq114
- Stafford, L. D., & Whittle, A. (2015). Obese individuals have higher preference and sensitivity to odor of chocolate. *Chemical Senses*, 40(4), 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv007
- Steinbach, S., Hummel, T., Böhner, C., Berktold, S., Hundt, W., Kriner, M., ... Harbeck, N. (2009). Qualitative and quantitative assessment of taste and smell changes in patients undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer or gynecologic malignancies. *Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 27(11), 1899–1905. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.19.2690
- Stevenson, R. J., Boakes, R. A., Oaten, M. J., Yeomans, M. R., Mahmut, M., & Francis, H. M. (2016). Chemosensory abilities in consumers of a western-style diet. *Chemical Senses*, 41(6), 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw053

- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., Golding, M., Delahunty, C., Clifton, P., & Keast, R. (2010). Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510000267
- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., & Keast, R. (2011). Fatty acid detection during food consumption and digestion: Associations with ingestive behavior and obesity. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 50(3), 225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2011.02.002
- Stewart, J., & Keast, R. (2012). Recent fat intake modulates fat taste sensitivity in lean and overweight subjects. *International Journal of Obesity*, *36*(6), 834–842. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.155
- Stewart, J., Newman, L., & Keast, R. (2011). Oral sensitivity to oleic acid is associated with fat intake and body mass index. *Clinical Nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, 30(6), 838–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2011.06.007
- Stuck, B. A., Fadel, V., Hummel, T., & Sommer, J. U. (2014). Subjective olfactory desensitization and recovery in humans. *Chemical Senses*, 39(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt064
- Stunkard, A. J., & Messick, S. (1985). The three-factor eating questionnaire to measure dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 29(1), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(85)90010-8
- Swinburn, B., Sacks, G., Vandevijvere, S., Kumanyika, S., Lobstein, T., Neal, B., ... Walker, C. (2013). INFORMAS (International Network for Food and Obesity/noncommunicable diseases Research, Monitoring and Action Support): Overview and key principles. *Obesity Reviews*, 14(S1). https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12087
- Szczesniak, A. S. (2002). Texture is a sensory property. *Food Quality and Preference*, *13*(4), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0950-3293(01)00039-8
- Thiebaud, N., Johnson, M. C., Butler, J. L., Bell, G. A., Ferguson, K. L., Fadool, A. R., ... Fadool, D. A. (2014). Hyperlipidemic diet causes loss of olfactory sensory neurons, reduces olfactory discrimination, and disrupts odor-reversal learning. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 34(20), 6970–6984. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3366-13.2014
- Thompson, R. F., & Spencer, W. A. (1966). Habituation: A model phenomenon for the study of neuronal substrates of behavior. *Psychological Review*, 73(1), 16–43. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0022681
- Tomassini Barbarossa, I., Ozdener, M. H., Melania, Love-Gregory, L., Mitreva, M., Abumrad, N. A., & Pepino, M. Y. (2017). Variant in a common odorant-binding protein gene is associated with bitter sensitivity in people. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.05.015
- Trivedi, B. P. (2012a). Gustatory system: The finer points of taste. *Nature*, 486(7403 SUPPL.), S2–S3. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S2a
- Trivedi, B. P. (2012b). Neuroscience: hardwired for taste. *Nature*, *486*(7403), S7-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/486S7a
- Tucker, R. M., Edlinger, C., Craig, B. A., & Mattes, R. D. (2014). Associations between BMI and fat taste sensitivity in humans. *Chemical Senses*, 39(4), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bju006
- Tucker, R. M., Kaiser, K. A., Parman, M. A., George, B. J., Allison, D. B., & Mattes, R. D. (2017). Comparisons of fatty acid taste detection thresholds in people who are

lean vs. overweight or obese: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169583

- Tucker, R. M., & Mattes, R. D. (2013). Influences of repeated testing on nonesterified fatty acid taste. *Chemical Senses*, 38(4), 325–332. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt002
- Tucker, R. M., Nuessle, T. M., Garneau, N. L., Smutzer, G., & Mattes, R. D. (2015). No Difference in Perceived Intensity of Linoleic Acid in the Oral Cavity between Obese and Nonobese Individuals. *Chemical Senses*, 40(8), 557–563. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv040
- Vingerhoeds, M. H., de Wijk, R. A., Zoet, F. D., Nixdorf, R. R., & van Aken, G. A. (2008). How emulsion composition and structure affect sensory perception of lowviscosity model emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 22(4), 631–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2007.02.011
- von Hurst, P. R., Walsh, D. C. I., Conlon, C. A., Ingram, M., Kruger, R., & Stonehouse, W. (2015). Validity and reliability of bioelectrical impedance analysis to estimate body fat percentage against air displacement plethysmography and dual-energy Xray absorptiometry. *Nutrition & Dietetics*, 73(2), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/1747-0080.12172
- Westenhoefer, J. (1991). Dietary restraint and disinhibition: Is restraint a homogeneous construct? *Appetite*, *16*(1), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0195-6663(91)90110-E
- Westenhoefer, J., Stunkard, A. J., & Pudel, V. (1999). Validation of the flexible and rigid control dimensions of dietary restraint. *The International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 26(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199907)26:1<53::AID-EAT7>3.0.CO;2-N
- Worch, T., Lê, S., Punter, P., & Pagès, J. (2012). Extension of the consistency of the data obtained with the Ideal Profile Method: Would the ideal products be more liked than the tested products? *Food Quality and Preference*, 26(1), 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2012.03.010
- Xavier, A. M., Ludwig, R. G., Nagai, M. H., de Almeida, T. J., Watanabe, H. M., Hirata, M. Y., ... Costes, S. V. (2016). CD36 is expressed in a defined subpopulation of neurons in the olfactory epithelium. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 25507. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25507
- Ye, W., Chang, R. B., Bushman, J. D., Tu, Y.-H., Mulhall, E. M., Wilson, C. E., ... Liman, E. R. (2016). The K+ channel KIR2.1 functions in tandem with proton influx to mediate sour taste transduction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(2), E229-38. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1514282112
- Zhou, X., Shen, Y., Parker, J. K., Kennedy, O. B., & Methven, L. (2016). Relative Effects of Sensory Modalities and Importance of Fatty Acid Sensitivity on Fat Perception in a Real Food Model. *Chemosensory Perception*, 9(3), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-016-9211-5

Chapter IV.

Taste perception and its association with adiposity and endocrine regulation in Pacific and New Zealand European women

4.1. Abstract

Taste perception may influence food consumption, which can affect long-term weight status and metabolic health. The aims of this study were to determine the association between measures of taste perception, body composition and hormonal adiposity signals (fasting insulin and leptin) in obese and non-obese women from Pacific and NZ European population groups. Participants (n = 351; aged 18 - 45) were recruited in Auckland, New Zealand (NZ). Taste perception was assessed by perceived suprathreshold intensity, hedonic liking, and discrimination of taste by a ranking task using a range of concentrations of sweet (glucose), bitter (quinine), and fat (milk fat) solutions. Participants were classified as likers or dislikers for each tastant using a hierarchical cluster analysis. Body composition was quantified by dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA).

Women who incorrectly discriminated sweet taste by ranking task were nearly three times more likely to have higher body fat (BF) >35% (adjusted, P< 0.01). Cluster analysis revealed distinct patterns of liking for each tastant. NZ European sweet likers were twice as likely to have >35 BF% compared to sweet dislikers (adjusted, P< 0.05), however, this comparison was not significant in Pacific women. Conversely, bitter likers had a decreased likelihood of having >35 BF% in comparison to bitter dislikers (adjusted; OR 0.4, P< 0.01). Having higher fasting plasma leptin concentration significantly increased the likelihood of being a sweet liker in Pacific and NZ European

combined (adjusted; OR 1.7, P < 0.05), but in NZ European women, the likelihood of this was further increased (adjusted; OR 3.6, P < 0.001). Higher fasting plasma insulin concentration also increased the likelihood of being a sweet liker (adjusted, P < 0.05).

The present study has shown differences in sweet taste perception in relation to adiposity, which is further associated with circulating plasma leptin and plasma insulin concentrations.

Contributing authors: Sophie Kindleysides, Rozanne Kruger, Jeroen Douwes, Marine Corbin, Martin Dickens, John R Ingram, Bernhard H Breier.

4.2. Introduction

Obesity is a worldwide health issue of epidemic proportion and interventions to halt the epidemic have been largely unsuccessful (WHO, 2018). Commonly-cited causes of obesity include the obesogenic food environment (Lenard & Berthoud, 2008) which has led to over-consumption of inexpensive, highly palatable, energy dense and nutrient poor foods. Foods high in caloric density with added sugar and fat, coupled with a low intake of vegetables and dietary fibre, are associated with weight gain (Swinburn et al., 2011).

The perception of the taste of food is a complex experience based on multiple senses including taste, olfaction and touch (mouthfeel), visual, and other sensory cues (Loper, La Sala, Dotson, & Steinle, 2015). Primary tastes include sweet, sour, salty, bitter, umami and the proposed fatty acid taste (Running, Craig, & Mattes, 2015). Taste detection is carried out by specific chemosensors located on taste buds found in fungiform, foliate and circumvallate papillae (Besnard, 2016). Stimulation of specific chemosensors by a tastant (e.g. glucose) triggers a signalling cascade leading to neurotransmitter release and these signals are subsequently transmitted by nerves to the brain (Besnard, 2016). Individual variation exists in both genotype and taste receptor mRNA expression (Lipchock, Mennella, Spielman, & Reed, 2013) and the cognitive processing of these taste signals (Hayes, Feeney, & Allen, 2013).

Associations between body composition and sweet or fat taste phenotype are of interest because sweet and fat are associated with foods of high energy density, which may contribute to increases in body weight and metabolic disease risk (Burgess, Rao, & Tepper, 2016; Dando, 2015). A range of studies have investigated the perception of sweet or fatty acid taste and have found significant associations between poor taste sensitivity and increased adiposity (Asano et al., 2016; Ettinger, Duizer, & Caldwell, 2012; Pepino, Finkbeiner, Beauchamp, & Mennella, 2010; Proserpio, Laureati, Bertoli, Battezzati, & Pagliarini, 2016). However, the majority of studies to date have not found a conclusive link between taste perception and obesity in human studies (Cox, Hendrie, & Carty, 2015). Genotypic variation in bitter taste receptors (e.g. T2R38) has been linked to differences in bitter taste perception that influence food preference and intake (Chamoun et al., 2016). For example, increased bitter taste sensitivity has been shown to reduce the intake of healthier food choices, such as cruciferous vegetables (Keller & Adise, 2016). While there are inconsistent data about a proposed link between taste perception and obesity there is a dearth of convincing evidence of physiological mechanisms that may link taste perception and obesity in humans (Laffitte, Neiers, & Briand, 2014; Loper et al., 2015).

Obesity arises as a consequence of how the body regulates energy intake, expenditure and storage, and reflects a state of positive energy balance. The dual hormonal feedback system involving insulin and leptin, produced by the pancreas and adipose tissue respectively, are involved in long-term adiposity signals and the regulation of body weight as well as energy storage as fat (Kieffer & Habener, 2000). Insulin increases body fat mass, and stimulates the production and secretion of leptin, the satiety hormone, that acts centrally to reduce food intake and increase energy expenditure. Leptin in turn suppresses insulin secretion by both central actions and direct actions on the pancreas (D'souza, Neumann, Glavas, & Kieffer, 2017). Plasma levels of leptin are directly proportional to body fat mass. In a healthy physiological state, an increase of adiposity increases plasma leptin, thereby decreasing insulin production and reducing fat mass (Seufert, 2004). However, in the obese state dysregulation of the insulin-leptin feedback system, characterised by hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia, leads to endocrine desensitisation (Owei, Umekwe, Provo, Wan, & Dagogo-Jack, 2017; Tchernof & Després, 2013). With advancing obesity, a decreased ability to metabolise lipid and default energy storage as adipose tissue occurs (D'souza et al., 2017; Kieffer & Habener, 2000). Furthermore, changes in the action of insulin and leptin disturb appetite regulation in the obese state, rendering sustained weight loss difficult to achieve (Amitani, Asakawa, Amitani, & Inui, 2013).

New evidence suggests an important mechanistic link between leptin and sweet taste perception. Yoshida et al. discovered that leptin specifically regulates sweet taste responses in taste buds, and they described a novel peripheral mechanism linking leptin receptors (Ob-Rb) to the suppression of sweet taste in mice. In humans, patterns of sweet taste recognition thresholds are correlated with circulating leptin levels in nonobese subjects (Nakamura et al., 2008). These findings are further supported by a study which found associations between high salivary leptin levels and decreased sweet taste sensitivity in normal weight children, but not in obese children (Rodrigues et al., 2017). In addition, reduced taste sensitivity to sucrose has been associated with an increased salivary leptin level and higher carbohydrate intake (Han, Keast, & Roura, 2017). Similarly, Sanematsu et al. reported that in obese subjects increased plasma leptin levels may inhibit the modulation of sweet taste intensity (Sanematsu, Nakamura, Nomura, Shigemura, & Ninomiya, 2018). Leptin suppresses sweet taste via specific leptin receptors, but it does not suppress taste cell responses to bitter tasting compounds (Yoshida et al., 2015). Sweet and bitter taste are both mediated by G-protein coupled receptors and their function is associated with shared genes (Hwang et al., 2016). However, sweet and bitter tastes clearly have unique neural and behavioural responses which occur as a result of differentiated molecular pathways (Bufe et al., 2005).

Tasting sweet food stimulates insulin release prior to an increase in plasma glucose levels; this is known as the cephalic phase insulin release and is characterised by the initiation of insulin secretion before the post-absorptive rise in plasma glucose level (Power & Schulkin, 2008). Based on studies in mice, a link between the sweet taste receptor system and insulin has recently been proposed (Maruoka et al., 2015). Although functional insulin receptors have not been identified in taste cells of the tongue, there is increasing evidence that circulating insulin concentrations may influence sweet taste perception indirectly (Behrens & Meyerhof, 2019; Glendinning et al., 2015). These indirect influences of circulating insulin on taste perception may involve central or peripheral pathways. In an obese state, they may be linked with the changing leptin-feedback system and changes in insulin sensitivity and a rise in circulating glucose concentrations discussed above (Schwartz et al., 2017). Therefore, sweet taste perception may be modulated by the long-term adiposity signals, insulin and leptin, that influence energy balance, body weight and food intake (Blundell et al., 2010). The gustatory perception of fat is an interesting contrast to sweet and bitter taste perception, as fat is a key nutrient that is related to energy storage but the mechanistic pathways of fatty acid taste differ markedly from those of sweet and bitter taste (Mattes, 2011).

Underlying the biological mechanisms of taste perception are the diverse taste preferences which exist between different population groups due to genetic, cultural and socio-economic factors (Sable, Warren, DuFlo, Bartoshuk, & Skarulis, 2012; Williams, Bartoshuk, Fillingim, & Dotson, 2016). External influences on different population groups (level of income or socioeconomic setting) have also been shown to further explain metabolic disease risk with the highest obesity rates most prevalent in deprived areas (Ministry of Health., 2017). In New Zealand (NZ), obesity is linked to significant health inequities. Pacific peoples have a higher rate of obesity (69%) compared to the general population (32%). The specific aims of this study were to assess in premenopausal (18-45-year-old) obese and non-obese women from Pacific and NZ European population groups the association between taste perception, body composition and long-term adiposity signals (fasting insulin and leptin). Identification of distinct relationships between taste perception and the endocrine regulation of adiposity will advance our understanding of the aetiology of obesity and may open new avenues for therapeutic targets.

4.3. Materials and methods

4.3.1. Design and participant recruitment

The main research programme in which this study was nested is described in the study protocol (Kindleysides et al., 2019). The screening process was based on self-reported measurements of height and weight, with women invited to participate that had either a normal weight profile (body mass index (BMI): $18.5 - 24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$) or an obese profile $(BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$. Subsequently, in this study we grouped women into high and low body fat (BF) %, using a cut point of 35% (Oliveros, Somers, Sochor, Goel, & Lopez-Jimenez, 2014), based on initial screening and inclusion criteria we expected an approximately equal proportion of women in each group. The BF% cut point was used in accordance with the AACE/ACE guidelines (obesity in women was defined as >35 BF%) (Dickey et al., 1998; Jo & Mainous, 2018; Oliveros et al., 2014). Inclusion criteria were: age 18-45 years, being post-menarche and pre-menopausal (as defined by a regular menstrual cycle for the last year), ethnicity (self-identified as NZ European and having lived in NZ for a minimum of 5 years, or self-identified as Pacific and having at least one parent of full Pacific ethnicity), willingness to comply with study requirements and being healthy. Exclusion criteria were: BMI ≤18.5 kg/m², pregnant or lactating, presence of any diagnosed chronic illness (e.g. type 2 diabetes, CVD, cancer, etc), bariatric surgery, severe food allergy, use of medication that interferes with appetite or the immune system, smoking, severe dietary restriction or avoidances (e.g. vegan) and antibiotic use in the last three months.

Participants were recruited in Auckland, New Zealand between July 2016 and September 2017 and comprised of 174 Pacific and 177 New Zealand (NZ) European women. Initial participant screening was conducted either online, in-person or over the phone. Further details have been published in the study protocol paper (Kindleysides et al., 2019). The study was approved by the Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee (16/STH/32) and written informed consent was provided by each participant. The trial was registered at anzctr.org.nz as ACTRN12618000432213. This study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki for medical research involving human subjects.

4.3.2. Study procedure

All participants attended two clinic visits, 11-14 days apart. At visit one, participants completed a health and demographic face-to-face interview and had their height and weight measured. In addition, they provided a blood sample and underwent taste testing of three tastants (sweet, bitter and milk fat), in a (10-hour) fasted state. Three measurements of taste perception were determined by taste testing; hedonic liking rating, intensity rating and discrimination of taste concentration by ranking task. Participants initially sampled the blank water solution (labelled "sweet"), prior to tasting the four individual 10 mL sweet taste solutions, followed by the sweet taste ranking task. This procedure was repeated for bitter taste solutions and finally for milk fat solutions. All taste stimuli were evaluated at room temperature (20°C) in individual taste testing booths as whole mouth samples which were evaluated using a sip-and-spit procedure (Martinez-Cordero, Malacara-Hernandez, & Martinez-Cordero, 2015; Mattes, 2009). Before taste testing, a short one-on-one training procedure took place to familiarise each participant with the general labelled magnitude scale (gLMS; see below), labelled affective magnitude (LAM) scale and facilities. Taste testing took place between 07:00 and 09:00 at visit one. At visit two, participants underwent a whole-body scan using dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA).

4.3.3. Taste perception measurements

4.3.3.1. Stimuli for sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception measurement

All taste solutions were prepared on the day of testing. Sweet taste solutions comprised of dissolved glucose (dextrose monohydrate, Sherratt Ingredients, Auckland, New Zealand) in distilled water, similar to previous studies (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). Bitter taste solutions were prepared from a refrigerated stock solution, prepared on a weekly basis, of quinine hydrochloride dehydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis MO, USA) 192 dissolved in distilled water. Milk fat samples were made from full-fat milk (Anchor[™] Blue Top standardised milk, New Zealand) and cream (Anchor[™] Fresh Cream, New Zealand) which, once opened were used on the day of testing. Each individual milk fat sample was thoroughly mixed by drawing the solution 5-6 times with a 10 mL pipette. These were chosen to create a series of milk fat perception tastants using the whole mouth sip and spit technique (Chen & Eaton, 2012).

Glucose was the stimulus chosen for sweet taste perception measurement, as it has been used in similar studies and cited as having clearly defined links with sweet taste perception being a simple sugar (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). Glucose also has clearly defined metabolic links and direct association with intestinal glucose-mediated receptors, subsequent insulin release and energy utilisation (Calvo and Egan, 2015). Quinine has been described as a practical measure for broader bitter taste functioning (Rawal, Hoffman, Honda, Huedo-Medina, & Duffy, 2015). Milk and cream were chosen to create a series of milk fat perception solutions (Zhou, Shen, Parker, Kennedy, & Methven, 2016). Milk and cream is a complex tastant due to comprising of at least three further elements responsible for the sensory properties of milk, including: (1) pleasant mouthfeel due to presence of macromolecules, such as fat globules and colloidal proteins, (2) salt and sweet taste due to milk salts and lactose, respectively, and (3) an aroma profile (Cadwallader, 2010). As such, milk fat solutions were used to measure the perception of fat, but not taste perception.

4.3.3.2. gLMS and LAM measurement of sweet, bitter and milk fat hedonic liking and intensity

The intensity and hedonic liking rating scales were evaluated simultaneously on the same single-sided questionnaire, for each of the individual taste solutions. The blank water solution was evaluated first, followed by individual glucose solutions presented in a randomised order (30 g/L, 60 g/L, 120 g/L and 240 g/L), with no side-by-side comparisons, each identified by a random 3-digit code. The intensity and hedonic liking of quinine samples was evaluated at concentrations of 0.008 g/L, 0.016 g/L, 0.03 g/L and 0.06 g/L (randomised) and milk fat perception samples at concentrations of 3.3%,

11.8%, 20.3% and 37.3% milk fat (randomised). Participants rinsed their palate with distilled water and expelled the water between tasting samples.

Hedonic liking for each solution was rated using a LAM scale with the anchors: 'Strongest imaginable dislike of any kind' (scale score -50) through to 'Strongest imaginable like of any kind' (50). Intermediate labels on the LAM liking scale were: 'very strongly dislike' (-26.5), 'strongly dislike' (-17.5), 'moderately dislike' (-8.5), 'weakly dislike' (-3), 'neutral' (0), 'weakly like' (3), 'moderately like' (8.5), 'strongly like' (17.5), and 'very strongly like' (26.5) (Schutz and Cardello, 2001). Sweet taste intensity for each solution was rated alongside hedonic liking, using a gLMS with the anchors 'No sensation' (scale score =0) and 'Strongest imaginable sensation of any kind' (100), with intermediate labels 'barely detectable' (1.5), 'weak sensation' (6), 'moderate sensation' (17), 'strong sensation' (35), and 'very strong sensation' (53) (Bartoshuk et al., 2004).

4.3.3.3. Taste concentration ranking task

After tasting all the individual solutions of the same type, starting with glucose, four new solutions (30 g/L, 60 g/L, 120 g/L and 240 g/L glucose) were presented as a taste ranking task. All four solutions were presented at once, randomised and identified with unique 3-digit random codes. The four samples were tasted by the participant and placed in order from the highest to the lowest perceived concentration of taste. Similarly, after evaluation of the individual quinine solutions, the ranking task procedure took place for bitter taste (0.008 g/L, 0.016 g/L, 0.03 g/L and 0.06 g/L quinine). To end, the milk fat perception ranking task was completed after evaluating the milk fat solutions. The milk fat ranking task solutions (3.3%, 11.8%, 20.3% and 37.3% fat) were covered in aluminium foil and tasted through a straw to prevent any visuals cues.

4.3.4. Anthropometric measurements

Stretched height (stadiometer) and weight (Sauter platform scale E1200, GmbH, Germany) were measured using the International Society of the Advancement of Kinanthropometry (ISAK) protocols and used to calculate BMI (Stewart, Marfell-Jones, Olds, and de Ridder, 2011). Body composition was measured by DXA to obtain BF% data (Hologic QDR Discovery A, Hologic Inc, Bedford, MA with APEX V. 3.2 software). Prior to DXA scanning, participants changed into appropriate clothing (i.e. tight fitting activewear, swimwear, etc), emptied their bladder, removed jewellery and glasses and re-asked if they were pregnant, had a pacemaker or any metal implants. Research staff conducting these measures were Level 1 ISAK trained.

4.3.5. Blood sample collection

Fasting venous blood samples were collected into pre-chilled tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) with dipeptidyl-aminopeptidase IV inhibitor (2 mL Becton Dickinson Vacutainer®, Proprietary Cocktail of Protease, Esterase and DPP-IV Inhibitors; BD P800 hemogardTM closure, NZ) and plain vacutainer tubes (10 mL Becton Dickinson vacutainer® red top, BD hemogardTM closure, NZ) and whole blood EDTA containing vacutainer (10 mL Becton Dickinson vacutainer @ lavender top, whole blood tube, BD hemogardTM closure, NZ).

4.3.6. Blood sample processing and analysis

The blood in the EDTA aminopeptidase tube was centrifuged (1500 g, 4°C, 15 min) to obtain a plasma sample for the determination of leptin. The blood in the plain tube was allowed to clot and the tube was then centrifuged (1500 g, 4°C, 15 min) to obtain a serum sample for determination of insulin, glucose and blood cholesterol. The blood in the whole blood EDTA tube was used for determination of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c). Appropriate aliquots of plasma and serum were transferred into 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tubes (Eppendorf[®] safe-lock PCR clean tubes, Hamburg, Germany) and stored immediately at -80°C. Serum insulin, glucose and blood cholesterol markers were analysed with the use of an autoanalyser (Roche Cobas e411). Serum insulin

values are expressed as ng/mL (Rodriguez-Cabaleiro, Van Uytfanghe, Stove, Fiers, & Thienpont, 2007). The serum insulin assay range was 0.10 - 5.06 ng/mL [interassay CV: 0.51%]. Serum glucose range was 4.4 - 15.6 mmol/L [interassay CV: 0.7%]; serum HDL range was 0.86 - 2.94 mmol/L [interassay CV: 6.08%]; serum LDL range was 0.93 - 8.74 mmol/L [interassay CV: 0.92%]; serum triglyceride range was 0.29 - 4.06mmol/L [interassay CV: 0.84%]; serum cholesterol range was 2.44 - 10.6 mmol/L [interassay CV: 1.97%] and whole blood HbA1c range was 25.3 - 87.1 mmol/mol [interassay CV: 1.56%]. Plasma leptin was analysed using the MILLIPLEX MAP Human Metabolic Hormone Magnetic Bead Panel 96-Well Metabolism Multiplex Assay (Millipore, USA, Cat # HMHEMAG-34K) (Poppitt et al., 2017). Leptin samples were assayed in duplicate, and plates were read with a Bioplex 100 Analyzer System (Bio-Rad). The leptin assay range was 0.37 - 66.0 ng/mL [interassay CV: 4.1%].

4.3.7. Health and demographic face-to-face interview and deprivation index

General information was obtained by a one-on-one interview with participants which included a range of questions about occupation, number of children, alcohol consumption and work patterns (data not reported). The 2013 New Zealand Deprivation (NZDep) index was used as a measurement of socioeconomic status, based on the participant's home address. It is a scale from 1-10, with 1 representing the least deprived and 10 the most deprived (Atkinson, Salmond, & Crampton, 2014).

4.3.8. Data handling

4.3.8.1. Taste perception hedonic liking groups

A hierarchical cluster analysis was conducted to classify participants into sweet/bitter/fat liking/disliking clusters using LAM hedonic ratings (5 concentrations for sweet and 4 concentrations for bitter and milk fat). This analysis grouped participants into either sweet, bitter and milk fat liking status or into disliking status. This analysis was chosen as it clusters seemingly homogenous data together and does not require any *a priori* decisions regarding the number of clusters, or groups, produced (Garneau, Nuessle, Mendelsberg, Shepard, & Tucker, 2018).

4.3.8.2. Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were reported as mean and standard deviation (SD) or median and 25th, 75th percentiles, and group data presented as the number of participants (n) and %. Data were checked for normality using the Shapiro-Wilks test. Differences between groups were evaluated by t-test for normally distributed data and by Mann-Whitney U test for data that were not normally distributed (Field, 2013). Chi-square tests were used to compare the ranking task outcome (correct vs. incorrect) or taste liking clusters (likers vs. dislikers). We used linear mixed models with a random intercept for subject (taking into account repeated measurements) to assess the association between concentration and taste perception.

A hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using LAM liking ratings for sweet, bitter and milk fat perception. Clusters were assessed using the agglomerative method with Ward's minimum variance algorithm (Asao et al., 2015). Distinct taste liker phenotypes were identified. This method derives meaningful groups (clusters) of participants who shared similar liking patterns within each group but were heterogenous in the betweengroup contrasts. The squared Euclidean distance between pairs of cases or clusters and the between-groups (averages) linkage method were selected to assist with the merging process (Iatridi et al., 2019). These results were checked with the elbow method, silhouette method and gap statistics to observe the optimal number of clusters. Using the majority rule for each method checked, two liking clusters for each tastant (sweet, bitter and milk fat) were selected (Rousseuw & Kaufman, 1990).

Logistic regression was used to estimate the effects of taste perception (by liking clusters or ranking task) on BF% (high compared to low BF%). Analyses were adjusted for age, deprivation, and ethnicity. Additional analyses were conducted to estimate the effects of fasting plasma leptin and plasma insulin concentration, on taste perception

outcome (by liking clusters or ranking task), adjusted for age, deprivation and ethnicity. Analyses to estimate the effects of taste perception (by liking cluster or ranking task) on fasting blood glucose regulation and cholesterol concentrations were conducted, adjusting for age, deprivation and ethnicity.

In logistic regression models, a median cut-off was used to determine associations between higher compared to lower plasma leptin levels (median = 12 ng/mL) and plasma insulin levels (median = 0.46 ng/mL) as independent variables. Median cut-offs for associations between higher and lower blood glucose and HbA1c concentrations, and blood cholesterol concentrations were used as outcome variables: glucose = 5.30mmol/L; HbA1c = 32.0 mmol/L; HDL cholesterol = 1.52 mmol/L; LDL cholesterol = 2.92 mmol/L; Total cholesterol = 4.74 mmol/L; Triglycerides = 0.90 mmol/L.

All analyses were conducted separately for Pacific and NZ European women. A *P*-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Analyses were conducted using SPSS version 25 (IBM Corporation, New York, USA). Linear mixed model and cluster analyses were conducted using SAS (v9.3, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Participant characteristics

A total of 351 women were recruited. Overall, eleven women were excluded due to exclusion criteria (e.g. pregnancy, medication use). Anthropometric and adiposity characteristics of the study participants are presented in Table 4.1. Pacific women were significantly younger than NZ European women (P< 0.001) and measurements of weight, BMI and BF% (with exception of gynoid body fat) were significantly higher among Pacific women with low BF% compared to NZ European women of the same BF% group (P< 0.001). Similarly, BMI and weight were significantly higher among Pacific women with high BF% compared to NZ European women of the same BF% group (P< 0.05); however, there were no differences in BF% distribution measurements.

Pacific women with <35 BF% had a significantly higher plasma leptin, plasma insulin and glucose concentration than NZ European women of the same BF% group (P< 0.01, Table 4.1). Furthermore, Pacific women with >35 BF% had a significantly higher fasting plasma insulin concentration compared to NZ European women with >35 BF% (P< 0.001). HbA1c was higher in Pacific women in comparison to NZ European women, irrespective of BF% (P< 0.05, Table 4.1). HDL cholesterol was lower in Pacific women compared to NZ European women (P< 0.05, Table 4.1) and LDL and total cholesterol levels were higher in NZ European women with >35 BF%, compared to Pacific women with >35 BF% (P< 0.05, Table 4.1).

In Pacific women, there were more (64%) sweet dislikers compared to NZ European women (55%). NZ European women with >35 BF% had the highest percentage of sweet likers (51%), significantly higher than in Pacific women of the same BF% group (P< 0.05, Table 4.1). A higher percentage of Pacific women with <35 BF% correctly ranked the sweet taste task (89%) compared to those with >35 BF% (73%) (Table 4.1). Pacific women with <35 BF% had a significantly higher number of bitter likers (23%)

compared to Pacific women with >35 BF% (11%). No differences across the groups were observed in terms of milk fat liking.

I	۲ د د			
	Pacific		NZ European	
	Low BF (<35%)	High BF (>35%)	Low BF (<35%)	High BF (>35%)
	N=75	N= 94	N= 87	N=84
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD
BMI (kg/m ²)	$25.8 \pm 3.78 ^{+, \#}$	35.9 ± 6.56 #	22.6 ± 2.06 *	33.6 ± 4.07
Weight (kg)	73.9 ± 11.5 ^{†, #}	101.9 ± 20.5 #	63.1 ± 7.47 *	94.4 ± 13.9
Height (cm)	169.1 ± 6.84	168.3 ± 6.58	167.2 ± 5.57	167.5 ± 6.90
Body fat (%)	$30.0 \pm 3.23^{+, \#}$	40.3 ± 3.84	28.0 ± 4.89 †	41.2 ± 3.76
Android fat (%) [§]	29.5 ± 5.24 ^{†,#}	42.3 ± 5.12	24.9 ± 5.15 *	41.5 ± 4.90
Gynoid fat (%) [§]	34.8 ± 3.43 $^{\circ}$	41.7 ± 3.70	33.5 ± 4.19 *	42.6 ± 4.13
Visceral fat (%) [§]	27.2 ± 5.67 [*] , #	40.5 ± 5.29	22.3 ± 5.87 *	39.6 ± 5.14
	Median (25. 75 percentiles)	Median (25. 75 percentiles)	Median (25, 75 percentiles)	Median (25. 75 percentiles)
Age (vrs)	23.0 (20.0, 29.0) *	23.0 (21.0, 27.0) *	29.0 (24.0, 36.0) *	34.0 (28.0, 40.0)
NZDep2013 [§]	$7.5~(5.0,~10.0)^{+}$	8.0 (7.0, 9.0) #	$3.0(2.0, 6.0)^{+}$	5.0 (3.0, 6.0)
Fasting leptin (ng/mL) [§]	7.67 (5.02, 12.3) ^{+, #}	21.5 (15.7, 29.9)	$4.95(2.79, 8.65)^{\dagger}$	20.3 (13.7, 30.6)
Fasting insulin (ng/mL) [§]	0.47 (0.32, 0.65) †,#	$0.86\ (0.56,\ 1.28)^{\#}$	$0.29\ (0.19,\ 0.35)^{+}$	$0.52\ (0.40,0.76)$
Glucose (mmol/L) [§]	5.25 (5.02 , 5.48) $^{\dagger, \#}$	5.43 (5.13, 5.85)	5.09 (4.86, 5.34) †	5.56 (5.12, 5.75)
HbA1c (mmol/mol) [§]	32.1 (30.8, 33.8) †,#	33.8 (32.3, 36.5)#	$30.6~(29.0,~31.9)^{\dagger}$	31.1 (28.8, 33.3)
HDL (mmol/L) [§]	$1.50(1.33,1.81)^{\dagger,\#}$	$1.32 (1.18, 1.56)^{\#}$	$1.83 (1.63, 2.04)^{\dagger}$	1.43 (1.28, 1.66)
LDL (mmol/L) [§]	2.80 (2.42, 3.26)	2.92 (2.44, 3.32)#	2.76 (2.35, 3.39) †	3.43 (2.72, 4.09)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L) [§]	$4.50(4.11, 5.07)^{\#}$	$4.52 \ (4.14, 5.09)^{\#}$	4.89 $(4.31, 5.43)$ ^{\ddagger}	5.23 (4.68, 6.09)
Triglycerides (mmol/L) [§]	$0.79~(0.67,1.07)^{\dagger}$	$0.99\ (0.85, 1.48)$	$0.70~(0.57,~0.94)$ †	1.05 (0.79, 1.50)
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Sweet likers (group)	28 (37%)	32 (35%) #	34 (39%)	43 (51%)
Bitter likers (group)	$17~(23\%)^{\dagger}$	10(11%)	18 (21%)	10 (12%)
Milk fat likers (group)	54 (72%)	58 (63%)	63 (72%)	63 (75%)
Sweet ranking task (correct)	$67 (89\%)^{\dagger}$	67 (73%)	76 (87%)	64 (77%)
Bitter ranking task (correct)	22 (29%) #	33 (36%)	43 (49%)	41 (49%)
Milk fat ranking task (correct)	28 (37%)	25 (27%) #	37 (43%)	42 (50%)
Means \pm SD; independent sample	es t-test. Median (25, 75 percenti	iles); Mann-Whitney U test. Ch	ii-square test for taste liking/ra	unking task groups, categorical
group comparisons. $\ddagger P < 0.05$ for	r test comparing body fat groups	s within the ethnic group. ${}^{\#}P < C$).05 for test comparing betwee	en ethnic groups within body fat
group. BMI, body mass index. §C	Calculated from complete datase	ts only (n=304). n (%) refers to	the number and the percentag	ge of participants that are
likers/taste ranking task correct w	vithin the group, compared to dis	slikers/taste ranking task incorre	ect.	

Table 4.1. Participant characteristics (n=340).

4.4.2. Sweet, bitter and milk fat perception and liking clusters

Linear mixed model analyses showed that increased glucose concentrations were associated with increased intensity ratings (P < 0.001) and a decrease in sweet taste hedonic liking (P < 0.001). Bitter taste intensity ratings increased (P < 0.001) and liking decreased (P < 0.001) with increasing quinine concentration. Ratings of milk fat intensity significantly increased with increasing milk fat concentration (P < 0.001), however, milk fat hedonic liking were similar across all concentrations (data not shown).

Hierarchical cluster analysis identified taste 'likers' and 'dislikers' for sweet, bitter and milk fat. Sweet likers rated the intensity of each glucose concentration level as significantly less intense than sweet dislikers at 30 g/L (P< 0.05), 60 g/L, 120 g/L and 240 g/L (P< 0.001) (Figure 4.1, A). Similarly, bitter dislikers rated all concentrations as significantly more intense than bitter likers (Figure 4.1, B). There was little difference in the intensity rating between milk fat likers and dislikers, with milk fat likers rating intensity of taste as more intense only at the 20.3% concentration level (P< 0.05) (Figure 4.1, C).

In NZ European women, the intensity ratings of 30 g/L glucose were significantly higher in sweet likers than dislikers (P< 0.01); this was not observed in Pacific women (Figure 4.2, A-B). Similarly, in NZ European women, the intensity rating of 0.008 g/L quinine concentration was significantly higher in bitter likers than dislikers (P< 0.001) and this was not observed in Pacific women (Figure 4.2, C-D). In Pacific women, intensity ratings of 20.3% milk fat were higher in sweet likers compared to sweet dislikers (P< 0.01); this was not observed in NZ European women (Figure 4.2, E-F).



Figure 4.1. The effect of tastant concentration on subjective ratings of suprathreshold taste intensity (A-C) and liking (D-F) for sweet (glucose), bitter (quinine) and fat (milk fat) solutions by liking cluster as determined by hierarchical cluster analysis (N= 340). Independent samples t-test. C.I. confidence interval; g/L, grams per litre. **P*< 0.05, ***P*< 0.01, ****P*< 0.001.



Figure 4.2. The effect of tastant concentration in Pacific and NZ European women, on subjective gLMS ratings of suprathreshold taste intensity for sweet (glucose, A-B), bitter (quinine, C-D) and fat (milk fat, E-F) solutions by liking cluster (N= 340). Independent samples t-test. C.I. confidence interval; g/L, grams per litre. **P< 0.01, ***P< 0.001.

4.4.3. Taste liking and body fat percentage

In NZ European women, sweet likers were twice as likely to have a high >35 BF% compared to sweet dislikers (P < 0.05). In contrast, in Pacific women, sweet liking was not associated with BF% (Table 4.2).

Women (Pacific and NZ European combined) who incorrectly discriminated taste by sweet ranking task were nearly three times more likely to have a high >35 BF% compared to those who correctly ranked the task (P< 0.01; Table 4.2). This effect was most pronounced in Pacific women (OR 3.8, P< 0.01; Table 4.2). In contrast, across both populations, women who were bitter likers had a decreased likelihood (OR = 0.4, P< 0.01; Table 4.2) of being in the >35 BF% group, when compared to bitter dislikers. There were no significant associations found when comparing milk fat perception by liking or ranking task outcomes across BF% groups.

		Unadjusted			Adjusted	
	High	vs low BF% (OR, 9	5% C.I.)	High	vs low BF% (OR, 95	5% C.I.)
	Pacific	NZ European	TOTAL ‡	Pacific #	NZ European #	TOTAL ^
	(n=142)	(n=162)	(n=304)	(n=142)	(n=162)	(n=304)
Sweet likers (vs dislikers)	$0.99\ (0.50,\ 1.96)$	1.53 (0.82, 2.85)	1.25 (0.79, 1.99)	1.02 (0.51, 2.07)	2.06 (1.04, 4.11)*	1.39 (0.86, 2.24)
Sweet ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	3.23 (1.27, 8.22)**	1.91 (0.82, 4.42)	2.43 (1.31, 4.52)**	3.77 (1.39, 10.2)**	2.41 (0.98, 5.93)	2.94 (1.53, 5.65)**
Bitter likers (vs dislikers)	0.45 (0.18, 1.10)	0.59 (0.25, 1.37)	$0.52\ (0.28,\ 0.96)^*$	0.35~(0.14, 0.89)*	0.51 (0.21, 1.28)	$0.42 \ (0.22, \ 0.80)^{**}$
Bitter ranking task incorre- (vs correct)	ct 0.77 (0.38, 1.56)	1.00 (0.54, 1.86)	0.89 (0.56, 1.42)	0.79 (0.38, 1.62)	0.97 (0.50, 1.87)	0.89 (0.55, 1.45)
Milk fat likers (vs dislikers	s) 0.67 (0.32, 1.37)	0.98 (0.49, 1.95)	0.81 (0.50, 1.34)	0.75 (0.36, 1.58)	1.23 (0.58. 2.61)	0.94 (0.56, 1.58)
Milk fat ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	1.78 (0.88, 3.60)	0.65 (0.35, 1.21)	1.01 (0.63, 1.60)	1.61 (0.75, 3.42)	0.64 (0.33, 1.25)	0.94 (0.58, 1.53)
BF, body fat; OR, odds rati	io; C.I. confidence int	erval. Adjusted for:	<pre>‡ ethnicity; # Age and</pre>	NZDep2013; ^ ethni	icity, age and NZDer	02013. *P< 0.05, **P<

 Table 4.2. Associations between taste liking and ranking, and body fat % (N=304§).

0.01. §Calculated from complete datasets only (i.e. excludes dropouts and participants with missing blood data).

4.4.4. Fasting plasma leptin and insulin and taste perception

High fasting leptin in NZ European women was strongly associated with the likelihood of being a sweet liker (OR 3.6, P < 0.001), whereas no association was observed in Pacific women (Table 4.3). Also, NZ European women with high plasma insulin levels were nearly three times more likely to be a sweet liker (P < 0.01; Table 4.3). Again, no association was observed in Pacific women.

Higher plasma insulin increased the likelihood of incorrectly ranking the sweet taste ranking task, but this was only statistically significant for insulin for the combined (Pacific and NZ European women) group, without adjusting for BF% (OR 2.3, P< 0.05; Table 4.3). Additional adjustment for BF% to account for study design did not significantly alter the associations between leptin and insulin and taste perception. There were no associations between plasma insulin or leptin levels and bitter and milk fat liking, nor ranking task outcomes (Table 4.3).

	Pacific # $(n=142)$ $Highty$	NZ European # (n= 162) versus low nlasma lentin (OR 95%	TOTAL ^ (n= 304)
		and the second manual was second	
Sweet likers (vs dislikers) Sweet ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	0.82 (0.40, 1.66) 1.49 (0.61, 3.65)	3.64 (1.82, 7.27) *** 1.91 (0.82, 4.49)	1.72 (1.06, 2.78)* 1.70 (0.92, 3.16)
Bitter likers (vs dislikers) Bitter ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	$0.96\ (0.46,\ 2.04)\ 0.65\ (0.31,\ 1.36)$	$0.54 \ (0.22, 1.33) \\ 0.94 \ (0.50, 1.78)$	$0.70 \ (0.38, 1.30)$ $0.81 \ (0.51, 1.31)$
Milk fat likers (vs dislikers) Milk fat ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	0.82 (0.40, 1.66) 1.36 (0.63, 2.92)	1.05 (0.51, 2.19) 0.81 (0.43, 1.53)	0.99 (0.59, 1.67) 1.00 (0.62, 1.61)
	High v	versus low plasma insulin (OR, 95%	C.I.)
Sweet likers (vs dislikers) Sweet ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	$1.04 \ (0.50, 2.19)$ $2.37 \ (0.82, 6.82)$	2.86 (1.43, 5.72) ** 2.27 (0.97, 5.32)	1.74 (1.06, 2.88)* 2.26 (1.17, 4.36)*
Bitter likers (vs dislikers) Bitter ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	$0.84 (0.34, 2.09) \\ 0.90 (0.42, 1.92)$	$0.56\ (0.21,\ 1.49)\ 0.90\ (0.46,\ 1.75)$	$0.65 (0.34, 1.23) \\ 0.91 (0.55, 1.49)$
Milk fat likers (vs dislikers) Milk fat ranking task incorrect (vs correct)	0.69 (0.31, 1.54) 1.08 (0.49, 2.39)	$1.61 \ (0.74, 3.53) \\ 0.94 \ (0.49, 1.84)$	$1.06\ (0.62,\ 1.81)\\0.92\ (0.56,\ 1.51)$

4.4.5. Sweet taste liking and taste ranking task and markers of blood glucose regulation and cholesterol

Due to finding significant associations between sweet taste perception and metabolic regulators of adiposity, the effects that taste perception may have on blood glucose regulation and cholesterol were further investigated. In Pacific women, sweet likers had decreased fasting HbA1c, LDL cholesterol and total cholesterol concentration in comparison to sweet dislikers (P < 0.05; Table 4.4).

NZ European sweet likers had fasting circulating glucose concentration which was three times higher than sweet dislikers (P < 0.01; Table 4.4). NZ European sweet likers had a decrease in fasting HDL cholesterol compared to sweet dislikers (OR 0.4, P < 0.01; Table 4.4). In NZ European and Pacific combined, HDL cholesterol was decreased in sweet likers (OR 0.5, P < 0.05). Adjustment for BF% to account for study design did not significantly alter blood glucose regulation or cholesterol associations with taste perception in Pacific and NZ European women. Further, analysis of blood glucose regulation markers and cholesterol as continuous variables (linear regression) gave similar results.

4.4.6. Bitter and milk fat perception liking and ranking task outcome and blood glucose regulation and cholesterol concentrations

Pacific women who incorrectly ranked the bitter taste task were twice as likely to have high HbA1c (OR 2.2, P < 0.05) compared to Pacific women who correctly ranked the task. No other clear associations were found between blood glucose regulation markers and cholesterol with bitter taste or milk fat perception outcomes in Pacific or NZ European women (Suppl. 1). Adjusting for BF% did not significantly alter associations between blood glucose or cholesterol and taste perception.

	Pacific # (n= 142)	NZ European # $(n=162)$	TOTAL $^{(n)}$
	(11-172)		(TOC -II)
	Sv	weet likers versus dislikers (OR, 95% C	L.)
Glucose (mmol/L)	0.71 (0.35, 1.44)	$3.18 (1.62, 6.26)^{**}$	1.50 (0.94, 2.40)
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	$0.44 \ (0.21, \ 0.95)*$	1.80(0.89, 3.66)	$0.92\ (0.55,1.54)$
HDL (mmol/L)	1.31 (0.63, 2.73)	$0.40 \ (0.20, 0.77)^{**}$	$0.72\ (0.45,\ 1.17)$
LDL (mmol/L)	$0.46\ (0.21,\ 0.98)*$	1.28 (0.66, 2.48)	0.82(0.50, 1.32)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	$0.44 \ (0.20, \ 0.97)*$	1.11 (0.57, 2.18)	$0.76\ (0.46,1.24)$
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.00 (0.49, 2.03)	$1.10\ (0.59,\ 2.08)$	1.05 (0.66, 1.67)
	Sweet ranki	ing task incorrect versus correct (O	R, 95% C.I.)
Glucose (mmol/L)	1.82(0.74, 4.48)	1.11 (0.48, 2.58)	1.39 (0.76, 2.55)
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	1.43 (0.52, 3.94)	2.07 (0.86, 5.01)	1.77 (0.90, 3.46)
HDL (mmol/L)	$0.49\ (0.18, 1.33)$	$0.48\ (0.21,1.12)$	0.50 (0.26, 0.95)*
LDL (mmol/L)	1.37 (0.56, 3.36)	2.25 (0.88, 5.76)	1.68(0.89, 3.16)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	0.74 (0.29, 1.92)	$1.76\ (0.69,4.49)$	1.11(0.59, 2.10)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.15(0.47, 2.77)	1.65(0.71, 3.82)	1.41(0.77, 2.58)

Table 4.4. Associations between sweet taste perception liking and ranking and plasma blood glucose and cholesterol (N= 304§).

4.5. Discussion

This cross-sectional study characterises sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception in two population groups with markedly different metabolic disease risk and different body fat measurements. Our study describes that taste perception is significantly influenced by levels of body fat, ethnic-cultural and socio-economic characteristics. We further demonstrate links between taste perception and the long-term adiposity signals, insulin and leptin that influence energy balance, body weight and food intake.

4.5.1. Study population

The present report describes a segment of the PROMISE (PRedictors linking Obesity and gut MIcrobiomE) study (Kindleysides et al., 2019) which investigates obesity in Pacific women, known to have a high metabolic disease risk, and NZ European women, known to have a moderate metabolic disease risk. The study explores whether findings are different in terms of physical, ethnic-cultural and socio-economic characteristics. Pacific women with lower total body fat (<35%) had a higher proportion of android and visceral fat, despite having the same proportion of gynoid fat, when compared to NZ European women. Overall, Pacific women had higher levels of fasting plasma leptin and insulin concentrations. In addition, Pacific women had a significantly higher deprivation index (i.e. more deprived) when compared to NZ European women. In NZ European women, those with higher body fat (>35%) had a significantly higher deprivation index than those with lower body fat. These findings indicate there is marked socio-economic inequity observed between these two ethnic groups, which appears to be linked with obesity profiles. In addition, variability in taste perception and hedonic taste preferences were observed across our study population. Previous studies have shown associations between taste receptors and glucose and insulin homeostasis (Dotson et al., 2008; Park & Song, 2019). Taste perception classification and how this is linked with endocrine and metabolic regulation will be explored in more detail below.

4.5.2. Comparisons of taste perception clusters and population groups

In Pacific women, there were a higher number of sweet dislikers (64%) than in NZ European women (55%). Pacific women were twice as likely to be sweet taste dislikers compared with NZ European women with high BF%. In both Pacific and NZ European, women with lower body fat % had a higher proportion of bitter likers (~22%) compared to women with higher body fat % (~12%). In contrast, more than half of the participants in this study were milk fat likers (~71%) irrespective of ethnicity.

In a recent study by Szajer et al, sweet taste liking was compared between different ethnicities. Comparisons were made between Hispanic and non-Hispanic young adults, where Hispanic overweight individuals had a decreased liking for sweet taste compared to non-Hispanics (Szajer, Jacobson, Green, & Murphy, 2017). Furthermore, the Hispanic group had significantly lower hedonic reward processing during the evaluation of sucrose when compared to the non-Hispanic group (Szajer et al., 2017). Our study may be showing that Pacific women do not perceive the same reward value from higher concentrations of sweet taste. In this context, it is important to acknowledge that dietary intake varies as a function of cultural and socio-economic background, current environment and upbringing, which may have influenced the hedonic evaluation in this study (Shintani & Hughes, 1994). This study suggests that a different sweet taster profile exists for Pacific women in comparison to NZ European women, which may be reflective of differences in genetics (Risso et al., 2017), environmental upbringing or socio-cultural differences (Tupai-Firestone et al., 2016).

4.5.3. Sweet taste ranking task and obesity

In this study of our population of pre-menopausal healthy women, 20% of women incorrectly discriminated sweet taste concentrations. Discrimination of taste at suprathreshold levels was measured using a ranking task, similar to previous studies (Costanzo et al., 2018; Fushan, Simons, Slack, Manichaikul, and Drayna, 2009; Stewart et al., 2010). Both Pacific and NZ European women who incorrectly ranked sweet taste were nearly three times more likely to have more body fat compared to those who
correctly ranked the task. In a study by Fushan and colleagues, a ranking task using sucrose solutions was used to measure sweet taste sensitivity, and they found that the grading of solutions was related to genetic differences in taste receptor type 1 member 3 (T1R3) transcription (Fushan et al., 2009). This sweet taste sensitivity explained 16% of population variability, which was correlated with the T1R3 coding sequence (Fushan et al., 2009), however other studies to date have not replicated these findings (Running & Hayes, 2016). The genetic differences observed by Fushan and colleagues (2009) may be existent in our participants, which would partially explain the differences observed in the grading of sweet ranking task solutions. However, further investigation into genetic data would be required in order to substantiate this.

Complementary to the sweet taste ranking task results, our study further showed a significant difference in body fat between NZ European sweet likers and dislikers. NZ European sweet likers had twice the likelihood of increased body fat in comparison to sweet dislikers. Previous studies have found no differences between normal weight and obese women in sweet taste liking (Alexy et al., 2011; Cox et al., 2015; Garneau et al., 2018). However, there is emerging evidence that there may be some link between decreased taste sensitivity in an obese state with increased markers of inflammation (Kaufman, Choo, Koh, & Dando, 2018). As previously reported, our current data support the notion that obesity and parameters of metabolic health are influenced by income and socioeconomic status (Bray et al., 2018), as well as age (Dubé, 2010). However, after adjusting for these factors, our data strongly suggest that differences in sweet taste perception may be an important contributor to the complex causes of obesity (Donaldson, Bennett, Baic, & Melichar, 2009).

4.5.4. Sweet taste perception and fasting plasma leptin concentration

Women with higher fasting plasma leptin concentrations were more likely to be sweet likers compared to those with lower fasting plasma leptin concentrations. This is in contrast to bitter taste and milk fat perception where no association was found. A possible mechanism for a link between increased sweet taste liking and circulating concentrations of leptin is that leptin specifically inhibits the response to sweet substances at the level of the sweet receptor of the tongue (Kawai, Sugimoto, Nakashima, Miura, & Ninomiya, 2000). The leptin receptor (Ob-Rb) co-localises with approximately 40% of T1R3 expressing sweet-sensing taste cells (Kubasova, Burdakov, & Domingos, 2015). The important finding of a significant positive association between circulating leptin levels and taste liking was specific to sweet taste perception in our present study which supports the notion of a specific molecular association between sweet taste perception and leptin pathways (Yoshida et al., 2015).

This study suggests that sweet taste suppression by higher levels of circulating fasting leptin may have resulted in decreased gLMS ratings of sweet taste intensity, resulting in the differences observed between sweet likers and dislikers. Additionally, the associations between high fasting insulin and sweet taste liking are of interest, as there is no receptor for insulin on taste cells engaged in sweet taste perception (Behrens & Meyerhof, 2019). Therefore, the observation of an association between sweet taste liking and increased insulin may be due to leptin regulating peripheral insulin sensitivity (D'Elia, Strazzullo, Iacone, Russo, & Galletti, 2019). Leptin levels, in association with the adipoinsular axis (Kieffer & Habener, 2000), have been shown to be predictive of the development of insulin resistance in normal weight individuals (D'Elia et al., 2019). In the pancreas, beta cells located in the islets of Langerhans are involved in the regulation of blood glucose level via insulin secretion (Calvo & Egan, 2015). All the components necessary for the detection of sweet-tasting compounds (e.g. T1R2, T1R3 and α -gustducin) are present on the human beta cell surface (Henquin, 2012) and the presence of sweet compounds results in an increase in insulin (Laffitte et al., 2014). NZ European women in this study who were sweet likers were significantly more likely to have hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia and they also had decreased levels of HDL cholesterol and increased levels of fasting glucose concentrations. The maintenance of body weight and glucose homeostasis is regulated by leptin, which in turn acts to regulate insulin secretion (Covey et al., 2006; D'souza et al., 2017). These results demonstrate that leptin and insulin associations were mirrored by sweet taste perception. Interestingly, these regulators of adiposity were not associated with either bitter taste or milk fat perception.

Interestingly, the link between sweet taste liking and higher fasting leptin levels in NZ 214

European women was not observed in Pacific women. The reason for this may be due to a state of relative leptin resistance, as Pacific women in our study population had significantly higher fasting leptin concentrations than NZ European women. In a recent study, increased circulating leptin levels were considered to exceed the level at which leptin can be effective in modulating the recognition of sweet taste (Sanematsu et al., 2018). For individuals with higher body fat, correspondingly increased levels of circulating leptin leads to leptin resistance, impacting the reward system of the brain (Lenard & Berthoud, 2008). For example, in the leptin resistant state, the permeability of the blood-brain barrier to leptin is decreased, resulting in insufficient signalling at the hypothalamus, impacting feeding behaviour and appetite (Amitani et al., 2013). In the present study, it is plausible that in the leptin-sensitive state, sweet taste intensity ratings which are influenced by circulating leptin may be significantly influencing sweet taste liking. In contrast, in the leptin resistant state, these associations may be dysregulated. Further investigation into these associations is warranted.

Studies have shown that sweet taste sensitivity increases after bariatric surgery (Shoar, Naderan, Shoar, Modukuru, & Mahmoodzadeh, 2019; Zakeri & Batterham, 2017) alongside altered taste acuity is the decreased liking, enjoyment or desire for sweet and fatty tasting foods (Gero et al., 2017; Nance, Eagon, Klein, & Pepino, 2017; Van Vuuren, Strodl, White, & Lockie, 2017). The exact reason for these changes is unknown, however gut derived signals and appetite signalling mechanisms are considered to be causal factors (Zakeri & Batterham, 2017). In addition to taste changes, rapid improvements in insulin sensitivity and release occur immediately after surgery (Casimiro, Sam, & Brady, 2019). These effects on pancreatic beta cells are mostly due to increased gut hormone secretion due to the improvement of nutrient delivery to the small intestine. Hyperleptinemia may be further alleviated in parallel with reducing fat mass (Sinclair, Docherty, & Roux, 2018). Such changes in gut derived signalling mechanisms are intimately linked with regulating food intake and reward-processing, resulting in favourable changes in eating behaviour and reduced energy intake (Zakeri & Batterham, 2017). Future studies will reveal more detail on associations between the taste perception, food hedonics, brain reward system responses to food, eating behaviours, body fat content, microbiome and insulin sensitivity (Glaysher et al., 2017).

Preventative measures may be introduced to enhance taste perception, potentially improving signalling mechanisms associated with endocrine regulators of adiposity.

4.5.5. Bitter taste and milk fat perception

In this study, being a bitter liker decreased the likelihood of having higher body fat (>35%), compared to those who were bitter dislikers. Differences in bitter liking influencing weight status is feasible. Increased sensitivity and aversion to bitterness may lead to a decrease in the consumption of healthy, bitter tasting foods (i.e. cruciferous vegetables), resulting in weight gain (Ortega et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2018). Minor ethnic-cultural differences in bitter taste perception may have been observed due to differences in long-term adaption, bitter taste recognition or bitter taste genes (Breslin, 2013; Risso et al., 2017). In contrast, no clear associations were found between milk fat perception measurements and BF%, or between milk fat perception adaptors of adiposity.

4.5.6. Strengths and limitations of this study and public health implications

One of the strengths of this study was the use of the gLMS and LAM scale and the administration of a range of concentration levels for the measurement of taste perception, as food and beverage consumption generally takes place at suprathreshold concentration levels (Hardikar, Höchenberger, Villringer, & Ohla, 2017). Studies investigating taste status have increasingly supported rating suprathreshold taste solutions with the validated gLMS, to align responses from different population groups such as normal weight and obese (Bartoshuk et al., 2004). An additional strength was the measurement of taste perception using the ranking task, as it did not require the interpretation of a scale it is considered a non-subjective comparative tool. In addition, this study used hierarchical cluster analysis, so the likelihood of misclassifying sweet likers was reduced, in comparison to previously used cut-off approaches (Garneau et al., 2018; Methven, Xiao, Cai, & Prescott, 2016). Hierarchical cluster analysis allowed for the determination of taster status measured from a range of different concentration

levels (Asao et al., 2015; Garneau et al., 2018; Iatridi et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2014). Similar results have been observed in other studies, identifying either two groups (sweet likers and dislikers) (Asao et al., 2015; Kim, Prescott, and Kim, 2017), or three groups (sweet likers, neutral and dislikers) (Garneau et al., 2018; Iatridi et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2014; Puputti, Aisala, Hoppu, and Sandell, 2018).

There are some limitations that need to be considered. In this study, all taster groups were described as either 'liker' or 'disliker' groups for ease of interpretation. However, when comparing the average hedonic liking rating at each concentration level, the group 'bitter likers' may be more accurately described as 'bitter neutral'. In addition, the group 'milk fat dislikers' may be more accurately described as 'milk fat neutral'. In sweet taste studies where three groups are derived from hierarchical cluster analysis, the intermediate group or taster 'neutral' group is a distinct and important phenotype (Garneau et al., 2018; Iatridi et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2014). It is acknowledged that in this study the lack of an intermediate phenotype for each taste type may have obfuscated potential relationships between each phenotype and health outcomes of interest.

In this study the sweet taste stimulus chosen was glucose because glucose is a simple sugar/monosaccharide that has clearly defined metabolic links and glucose sensors are ubiquitous throughout the body, including the GI tract and hypothalamus (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). However, the majority of previous studies have used sucrose as a sweet taste stimulus (Cox et al, 2015, Tan and Tucker, 2019). The choice of sweet stimulus and the range of concentrations tested (0 g/L - 240 g/L) may partially explain the lack of an intermediate or neutral phenotype derived from the hierarchical cluster analysis. A broader range of sweetness or the use of sucrose, which is perceived differently to glucose (Peng, Hautus, Oey, and Silcock, 2016), may have also resulted in a decreased number of sweet taste dislikers, which would be more consistent with the proportion of sweet taste likers and dislikers found in data from the US (Garneau et al., 2018), Korea (Kim et al., 2017) and the UK (Iatridi et al., 2019) where typically 20-25% of participants are sweet dislikers. Future studies will continue to compare different types of sweeteners and how these influence sweet taste phenotype by hierarchical cluster analysis for clarification of these associations.

Measurements of milk fat perception (liking, intensity, and ranking task) were not a direct measurement of 'taste', primarily due to the presence of non-taste sensory inputs such as mouthfeel and aroma. Due to the study aims, it was inappropriate to measure the hedonic liking of a single fatty acid, as it is generally an unrecognisable taste which evokes 'irritation' or 'scratchy' sensations at suprathreshold levels (Burgess et al., 2018). In this study, the milk fat perception samples were administered without the use of a nose-clip. For measurements of hedonic liking, it seemed inappropriate to block the nares as the true experience and sensation of fat in the mouth includes aroma (Boesveldt & Lundström, 2014). Further, in previous studies conducted in our lab (Kindleysides et al., 2017), we found that nose-clips can cause moderate discomfort and sinus irritation which in some cases causes a runny nose. Therefore, we chose to create an environment which enhanced engagement and minimised fatigue, particularly as the study included rating the hedonic liking of solutions. However, in order to determine associations with adiposity and markers of metabolic health, we recommend that future studies incorporate a measurement of fatty acid taste perception (Kindleysides et al., 2017; J. Stewart et al., 2010).

A further limitation of this study is the cross-sectional design, which was chosen to characterise women with different body fat measurements (normal and obese) in two population groups (Pacific and NZ European). The allocation of participants into distinct categories (i.e. lower BF% and higher BF%) allows for stratification and effect modification. A cross-sectional study does not infer causality (Hanage, 2014), however, it is a highly efficient approach that may help to inform future longitudinal and intervention studies.

In New Zealand, health inequities exist between population groups which are impacting on health and wellbeing, resulting in weight gain, obesity and the onset of poor metabolic health outcomes (Roberto et al., 2015). Of major concern is that these health inequities are impacting younger adults, adolescents, and children (Schwartz et al., 2017; Tupai-Firestone et al., 2016; Verbiest et al., 2018). Poor metabolic health outcomes are further influenced by ethnic-cultural and socio-economic characteristics (Dubé, 2010; Wen, Rush, & Plank, 2010). Government and political actions, such as the introduction of a 'sugar tax', could be a successful approach to reduce population weight gain (Backholer et al., 2016; Nakhimovsky et al., 2016). Weight loss interventions, which may further improve sweet taste acuity, may have the long-term effect of reducing hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia which would improve cephalic responses and regulatory actions determined by the hypothalamus (Amitani et al., 2013). Improved appetite response mechanisms and signalling by the hypothalamus may diminish food reward and enhance the response to satiety signals that are generated during food consumption (Farooqi et al., 2007). Future studies may look at determining the most efficient intervention strategies to improve insulin sensitivity to reverse the cascade of metabolic dysregulation occurring prior to the onset of metabolic disease. For example, one previous intervention study demonstrated the successful enhancement of the perception of sweet-taste intensity ratings with dietary intervention (Wise, Nattress, Flammer, & Beauchamp, 2016). Taste modification could be administered in the form of a pill or functional food ingredient, such as taste-modifying proteins similar to that of 'Miraculin' (Misaka, 2013; Swamy, Hadi, Sekaran, & Pichika, 2014), alongside dietary intervention and weight loss.

4.5.7. Conclusions

In this study, we found that decreased sweet taste perception is associated with higher body fat mass. In contrast, increased bitter taste liking was associated with lower body fat mass. Our data show a relationship between obesity and sweet taste perception. Given the cross-sectional nature of this study, our results do not allow us to explore the direction of this relationship, whether increasing obesity may influence sweet taste perception through dysregulation of the insulin-leptin feedback system (Amitani et al., 2013; Behrens & Meyerhof, 2019), or *vice-versa*, whether an enhanced sweet liking may cause obesity. Importantly, the data presented in this paper suggest that the hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia in the obese state is linked with an endocrine desensitisation of the sweet taste receptor. It is tempting to speculate that alterations in signal transduction pathways at the sweet taste receptors in the obese state may lead to long-term changes of taste preferences, thus contributing to a cycle of unhealthy food choices and disturbed appetite regulation and further increasing adiposity. The sweet taste receptor may be a powerful candidate and a potential target for future weight control interventions. The therapeutic potential of the taste receptor system is yet to be fully explored, but as the first point of contact between the food we eat and the endocrine regulation of adiposity, it could be a promising focus for future metabolic health research.

Acknowledgements

This present study was funded by the Health Research Council (HRC) of New Zealand. We would like to thank the HRC. SK would like to thank Massey University for the doctoral scholarship (College of Health). The authors would like to thank the PROMISE participants for their devoted participation in this trial. The authors would like to thank all the students and staff who participated in data collection for this study: PhD and MSc candidates: Nikki Renall, Jo Slater, Shivon Singh, Elizabeth Cullen, Bronte Anscombe, Beatrice Drury and Laura Mickleson. We gratefully acknowledge our research staff, assistants and volunteers: Niamh Brennan, Moana Manukia, Marilize Richter, Owen Mugridge, Shakeela Jayasinghe, Sherina Holland, Guojiao (Maggie) Cao, Ashleigh Jackson, PC Tong, Sunna Jacobsen and Carolin Friedle. We additionally thank Eric Thorstensen for his assistance with blood sample analysis and study advice. In addition, we would like to thank Plant and Food Research for blood sample analysis. **Suppl 4.1.** Associations with bitter taste and milk fat perception liking groups and plasma blood glucose and cholesterol markers (N=304).

	Pacific #	NZ European #	TOTAL ^
	(n= 142)	(n=162)	(n= 304)
			· · · · ·
	Bitter likers	versus dislikers (OR, 95	% C.I.)
Glucose (mmol/L)	0.67 (0.27, 1.36)	1.59 (0.68, 3.70)	1.00 (0.55, 1.82)
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	0.79 (0.30, 2.07)	1.07 (0.44, 2.64)	0.94 (0.48, 1.83)
HDL (mmol/L)	1.36 (0.54, 3.38)	1.88 (0.74, 4.79)	1.76 (0.93, 3.32)
LDL (mmol/L)	1.00 (0.40, 2.52)	0.44 (0.18, 1.05)	0.60 (0.32, 1.13)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	0.98 (0.38, 2.53)	0.76 (0.32, 1.81)	0.80 (0.42, 1.50)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.32 (0.53, 3.27)	1.00 (0.44, 2.30)	1.17 (0.64, 2.15)
	Bitter ranking task i	ncorrect versus correc	et (OR, 95% C.I.)
Glucose (mmol/L)	0.74 (0.36, 1.52)	1.47 (0.78, 2.78)	1.10 (0.69, 1.76)
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	2.20 (1.02, 4.73)*	0.64 (0.32, 1.29)	1.13 (0.67, 1.89)
HDL (mmol/L)	1.03 (0.48, 2.20)	0.90 (0.47, 1.71)	0.94 (0.58, 1.52)
LDL (mmol/L)	1.52 (0.71, 3.22)	0.90 (0.47, 1.74)	1.12 (0.69, 1.82)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.59 (0.73, 3.46)	0.76 (0.39, 1.47)	1.03 (0.63, 1.69)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.80 (0.39, 1.66)	0.97 (0.52, 1.82)	0.90 (0.56, 1.44)
	Milk fat liker	s versus dislikers (OR, 9	5% C.I.)
Glucose (mmol/L)	1 11 (0 53 2 31)	1 04 (0 50 2 12)	1.06 (0.63, 1.76)
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	0.58 (0.25, 1.36)	0.72(0.33, 1.55)	0.65(0.37, 1.13)
HDL (mmol/L)	1.09(0.50, 2.37)	0.72(0.33, 1.53) 0.80(0.38, 1.68)	0.03 (0.57, 1.13) 0.94 (0.56, 1.60)
LDL (mmol/L)	1.09(0.50, 2.57) 1.47(0.68, 3.18)	1.29(0.61, 2.73)	1.38(0.81, 2.34)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	1 50 (0 68, 3 34)	1.27(0.59, 2.72)	1 38 (0 80, 2 37)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.77 (0.36, 1.61)	0.72 (0.35, 1.47)	0.74 (0.44, 1.23)
	Milk fat ranking task	incorrect versus corre	ect (OR, 95% C.I.)
Glucose (mmol/L)	0.58 (0.27, 1.24)	0.71 (0.38, 1.34)	0.63 (0.39, 1.01)
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	1.06 (0.47, 2.43)	0.96 (0.48, 1.92)	1.03 (0.61, 1.72)
HDL (mmol/L)	1.21 (0.54, 2.70)	1.33 (0.70, 2.53)	1.43 (0.87, 2.33)
LDL (mmol/L)	0.77(0.35, 1.68)	1.43 (0.74, 2.77)	1.01 (0.62, 1.64)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.25 (0.56, 2.80)	1.34 (0.69, 2.61)	1.18 (0.71, 1.94)
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.13 (0.53, 2.41)	1.18 (0.63, 2.20)	1.21 (0.75, 0.94)

Models adjusted for # age and NZDep2013; † age, NZDep2013, and ethnicity; ^ age, NZDep2013, BF% and ethnicity. *P< 0.05, **P< 0.01, ***P< 0.001. OR: odds ratio; CI confidence interval. §Calculated from complete datasets only (i.e. excludes dropouts and participants with missing blood data).

4.6. References

- Alexy, U., Schaefer, A., Sailer, O., Busch-Stockfisch, M., Huthmacher, S., Kunert, J., & Kersting, M. (2011). Sensory preferences and discrimination ability of children in relation to their body weight status. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 26(6), 409–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2011.00358.x
- Amitani, M., Asakawa, A., Amitani, H., & Inui, A. (2013). The role of leptin in the control of insulin-glucose axis. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7, 51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00051
- Asano, M., Hong, G., Matsuyama, Y., Wang, W., Izumi, S., Izumi, M., ... Kudo, T. aki. (2016). Association of oral fat sensitivity with body mass index, taste preference, and eating habits in healthy Japanese young adults. *Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 238(2), 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.238.93
- Asao, K., Miller, J., Arcori, L., Lumeng, J. C., Han-Markey, T., & Herman, W. H. (2015). Patterns of Sweet Taste Liking: A Pilot Study. *Nutrients*, 7(9), 7298–7311. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7095336
- Atkinson, J., Salmond, C., & Crampton, P. (2014). *NZDep2013 Index of Deprivation*. Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Backholer, K., Sarink, D., Beauchamp, A., Keating, C., Loh, V., Ball, K., ... Peeters, A. (2016). The impact of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages according to socio-economic position: a systematic review of the evidence. *Public Health Nutrition*, 19(17), 3070–3084. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001600104X
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Green, B. G., Hoffman, H. J., Ko, C.-W., Lucchina, L. A., ... Weiffenbach, J. M. (2004). Valid across-group comparisons with labeled scales: the gLMS versus magnitude matching. *Physiology & Behavior*, 82(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.02.033
- Behrens, M., & Meyerhof, W. (2019). A role for taste receptors in (neuro)endocrinology? *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 31(3), e12691. https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12691
- Besnard, P. (2016). Lipids and obesity: Also a matter of taste? *Reviews in Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11154-016-9355-2
- Blundell, J. E., de Graaf, C., Hulshof, T., Jebb, S., Livingstone, B., Lluch, A., ... Westerterp, M. (2010). Appetite control: methodological aspects of the evaluation of foods. *Obesity Reviews*, 11(3), 251–270. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00714.x
- Boesveldt, S., & Lundström, J. N. (2014). Detecting fat content of food from a distance: olfactory-based fat discrimination in humans. *PloS One*, *9*(1), e85977. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085977
- Bray, G. A., Heisel, W. E., Afshin, A., Jensen, M. D., Dietz, W. H., Long, M., ... Inge, T. H. (2018). The Science of Obesity Management: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocrine Reviews*, 39(2), 79–132. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00253
- Breslin, P. A. S. (2013). An Evolutionary Perspective on Food and Human Taste. *Current Biology*, 23(9), R409–R418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.010
- Bufe, B., Breslin, P. A. S., Kuhn, C., Reed, D. R., Tharp, C. D., Slack, J. P., ... Meyerhof, W. (2005). The molecular basis of individual differences in

phenylthiocarbamide and propylthiouracil bitterness perception. *Current Biology*, *15*(4), 322–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.01.047

- Burgess, B., Melis, M., Scoular, K., Driver, M., Schaich, K., Keller, K. L., ... Tepper, B. J. (2018). Effects of CD36 Genotype on Oral Perception of Oleic Acid Supplemented Safflower Oil Emulsions in Two Ethnic Groups: A Preliminary Study. *Journal of Food Science*, 83(5), 1373–1380. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.14115
- Burgess, B., Rao, S. P., & Tepper, B. J. (2016). Changes in liking for sweet and fatty foods following weight loss in women are related to prop phenotype but not to diet. *Obesity*, 24(9), 1867–1873. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21570
- Cadwallader, K. (2010). Instrumental measurement of milk flavour and colour. In *Improving the Safety and Quality of Milk* (pp. 181–206). Woodhead Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845699437.2.181
- Calvo, S. S., & Egan, J. M. (2015). The endocrinology of taste receptors. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *11*(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.7
- Casimiro, I., Sam, S., & Brady, M. J. (2019). Endocrine implications of bariatric surgery: a review on the intersection between incretins, bone, and sex hormones. *Physiological Reports*, 7(10), e14111. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14111
- Chamoun, E., Mutch, D. M., Allen-Vercoe, E., Buchholz, A. C., Duncan, A. M., Spriet, L. L., ... Study, on behalf of the G. F. H. (2016). A review of the associations between single nucleotide polymorphisms in taste receptors, eating behaviours, and health. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 00–00. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2016.1152229
- Chen, J., & Eaton, L. (2012). Multimodal mechanisms of food creaminess sensation. *Food & Function*, *3*(12), 1265–1270. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2fo30116d
- Costanzo, A., Nowson, C., Orellana, L., Bolhuis, D., Duesing, K., & Keast, R. (2018). Effect of dietary fat intake and genetics on fat taste sensitivity: a co-twin randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 107(5), 683– 694. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy022
- Covey, S. D., Wideman, R. D., McDonald, C., Unniappan, S., Huynh, F., Asadi, A., ... Kieffer, T. J. (2006). The pancreatic β cell is a key site for mediating the effects of leptin on glucose homeostasis. *Cell Metabolism*, 4(4), 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2006.09.005
- Cox, D. N., Hendrie, G. A., & Carty, D. (2015). Sensitivity, hedonics and preferences for basic tastes and fat amongst adults and children of differing weight status: A comprehensive review. *Food Quality & Preference*, 41(Part B), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.014
- D'Elia, L., Strazzullo, P., Iacone, R., Russo, O., & Galletti, F. (2019). Leptin levels predict the development of insulin resistance in a sample of adult men–The Olivetti Heart Study. *Nutrition Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases*, 29(1), 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2018.10.003
- D'souza, A. M., Neumann, U. H., Glavas, M. M., & Kieffer, T. J. (2017). The glucoregulatory actions of leptin. *Molecular Metabolism*, 6(9), 1052–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2017.04.011
- Dando, R. (2015). The Plasticity of Taste Function Links the Appetitive Taste of Fats with Obesity. *Chemosensory Perception*, 8(2), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-015-9187-6
- Dickey, R. A., Doris Bartuska, C. G., George Bray, F. W., Wayne Callaway, M. C., Eugene Davidson, F. T., Stanley Feld, M., ... Westbrock, D. A. (1998).

AACE/ACE position statement on the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of obesity (1998 Revision) AACE/ACE Obesity Task Force. *Endocrine Practice*, 4(5), 297–350.

- Donaldson, L. F., Bennett, L., Baic, S., & Melichar, J. K. (2009). Taste and weight: is there a link? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90(3), 800S-803S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.27462Q
- Dotson, C. D., Zhang, L., Xu, H., Shin, Y. K., Vigues, S., Ott, S. H., ... Munger, S. D. (2008). Bitter taste receptors influence glucose homeostasis. *PLoS ONE*, 3(12), e3974. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003974
- Dubé, L. (2010). *Obesity prevention : the role of brain and society on individual behavior. Obesity Prevention*. Elsevier/Academic Press.
- Ettinger, L., Duizer, L., & Caldwell, T. (2012). Body fat, sweetness sensitivity, and preference: determining the relationship. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice & Research*, *73*(1), 45–48. https://doi.org/10.3148/73.1.2012.45
- Farooqi, I. S., Bullmore, E., Keogh, J., Gillard, J., O'Rahilly, S., & Fletcher, P. C. (2007). Leptin Regulates Striatal Regions and Human Eating Behavior. *Science*, 317(5843), 1355–1355. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1144599
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering Statistics using IBM SPSS Statistics*. (M. Carmichael, Ed.), *Statistics* (4th ed.). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Fushan, A. A., Simons, C. T., Slack, J. P., Manichaikul, A., & Drayna, D. (2009). Allelic Polymorphism within the TAS1R3 Promoter Is Associated with Human Taste Sensitivity to Sucrose. *Current Biology*, 19(15), 1288–1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.06.015
- Garneau, N. L., Nuessle, T. M., Mendelsberg, B. J., Shepard, S., & Tucker, R. M. (2018). Sweet liker status in children and adults: Consequences for beverage intake in adults. *Food Quality & Preference*, 65, 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.10.005
- Gero, D., Dib, F., Ribeiro-Parenti, L., Arapis, K., Chosidow, D., & Marmuse, J.-P. (2017). Desire for Core Tastes Decreases After Sleeve Gastrectomy: a Single-Center Longitudinal Observational Study with 6-Month Follow-up. *Obesity Surgery*, 27(11), 2919–2926. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-017-2718-2
- Glaysher, M. A., Mohanaruban, A., Prechtl, C. G., Goldstone, A. P., Miras, A. D., Lord, J., ... Teare, J. P. (2017). A randomised controlled trial of a duodenal-jejunal bypass sleeve device (EndoBarrier) compared with standard medical therapy for the management of obese subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *BMJ Open*, 7(11), e018598. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018598
- Glendinning, J. I., Stano, S., Holter, M., Azenkot, T., Goldman, O., Margolskee, R. F., ... Sclafani, A. (2015). Sugar-induced cephalic-phase insulin release is mediated by a T1r2+T1r3-independent taste transduction pathway in mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 309(5), R552–R560. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00056.2015
- Green, B. G., Dalton, P., Cowart, B., Shaffer, G., Rankin, K., & Higgins, J. (1996). Evaluating the "labeled magnitude scale" for measuring sensations of taste and smell. *Chemical Senses*, 21(3), 323–334. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/21.3.323
- Han, P., Keast, R., & Roura, E. (2017). Salivary leptin and TAS1R2/TAS1R3 polymorphisms are related to sweet taste sensitivity and carbohydrate intake from a buffet meal in healthy young adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 118(10), 763– 770. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114517002872
- Hanage, W. P. (2014). Microbiology: Microbiome science needs a healthy dose of

scepticism. Nature, 512(7514), 247-248. https://doi.org/10.1038/512247a

- Hardikar, S., Höchenberger, R., Villringer, A., & Ohla, K. (2017). Higher sensitivity to sweet and salty taste in obese compared to lean individuals. *Appetite*, 111, 158– 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2016.12.017
- Hayes, J. E., Feeney, E. L., & Allen, A. L. (2013). Do polymorphisms in chemosensory genes matter for human ingestive behavior? *Food Quality and Preference*, *30*(2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2013.05.013
- Henquin, J. C. (2012). Do pancreatic β cells "taste" nutrients to secrete insulin? *Science Signaling*. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2003325
- Hwang, L.-D., Breslin, P. A. S., Reed, D. R., Zhu, G., Martin, N. G., & Wright, M. J. (2016). Is the Association Between Sweet and Bitter Perception due to Genetic Variation? *Chemical Senses*, 41(9), 737–744. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw083
- Iatridi, V., Hayes, J., Yeomans, M., Iatridi, V., Hayes, J. E., & Yeomans, M. R. (2019). Quantifying Sweet Taste Liker Phenotypes: Time for Some Consistency in the Classification Criteria. *Nutrients*, 11(1), 129. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010129
- Jo, A., & Mainous, A. G. (2018). Informational value of percent body fat with body mass index for the risk of abnormal blood glucose: a nationally representative cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8(4), e019200. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019200
- Kaufman, A., Choo, E., Koh, A., & Dando, R. (2018). Inflammation arising from obesity reduces taste bud abundance and inhibits renewal. *PLOS Biology*, 16(3), e2001959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001959
- Kawai, K., Sugimoto, K., Nakashima, K., Miura, H., & Ninomiya, Y. (2000). Leptin as a modulator of sweet taste sensitivities in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(20), 11044–11049. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.190066697
- Keller, K. L., & Adise, S. (2016). Variation in the Ability to Taste Bitter Thiourea Compounds: Implications for Food Acceptance, Dietary Intake, and Obesity Risk in Children. *The Annual Review of Nutrition*, *36*, 157–182. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-050916
- Kieffer, T. J., & Habener, J. F. (2000). The adipoinsular axis: effects of leptin on pancreatic β-cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 278(1), E1–E14. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.2000.278.1.E1
- Kim, J.-Y., Prescott, J., & Kim, K.-O. (2017). Emotional responses to sweet foods according to sweet liker status. *Food Quality & Preference*, 59, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.01.013
- Kim, J. Y., Prescott, J., & Kim, K. O. (2014). Patterns of sweet liking in sucrose solutions and beverages. *Food Quality & Preference*, 36, 96–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.03.009
- Kindleysides, S., Beck, K. L., Walsh, D. C. I., Henderson, L., Jayasinghe, S. N.,
 Golding, M., & Breier, B. H. H. (2017). Fat Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and
 Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited Eating Behaviour. *Nutrients*, 9(8), 879. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9080879
- Kindleysides, S., Kruger, R., Douwes, J., Tannock, G. W., Renall, N., Slater, J., ...
 Breier, B. H. (2019). Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity. *JMIR Res Protoc*, 8(8), e14529. https://doi.org/10.2196/14529

- Kubasova, N., Burdakov, D., & Domingos, A. I. (2015). Sweet and Low on Leptin: Hormonal Regulation of Sweet Taste Buds. *Diabetes*, 64(11), 3651–3652. https://doi.org/10.2337/dbi15-0004
- Laffitte, A., Neiers, F., & Briand, L. (2014). Functional roles of the sweet taste receptor in oral and extraoral tissues. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 17(4), 379–385. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.000000000000058
- Lenard, N. R., & Berthoud, H.-R. (2008). Central and peripheral regulation of food intake and physical activity: pathways and genes. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, *16 Suppl 3*(SUPPL. 3), S11-22. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.511
- Lipchock, S. V., Mennella, J. A., Spielman, A. I., & Reed, D. R. (2013). Human bitter perception correlates with bitter receptor messenger RNA expression in taste cells. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 98(4). https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.066688
- Loper, H. B., La Sala, M., Dotson, C., & Steinle, N. (2015). Taste perception, associated hormonal modulation, and nutrient intake. *Nutrition Reviews*, 73(2), 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuu009
- Martinez-Cordero, E., Malacara-Hernandez, J. M., & Martinez-Cordero, C. (2015). Taste perception in normal and overweight Mexican adults. *Appetite*, *89*, 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.015
- Maruoka, D., Arai, M., Tanaka, T., Okimoto, K., Oyamada, A., Minemura, S., ... Yokosuka, O. (2015). Mosapride Citrate Increases Postprandial Glucagon-Like Peptide-1, Insulin, and Gene Expression of Sweet Taste Receptors, *60*(2), 345– 353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10620-014-3271-7
- Mattes, R. D. (2009). Oral detection of short-, medium-, and long-chain free fatty acids in humans. *Chemical Senses*, *34*(2), 145–150. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjn072
- Mattes, R. D. (2011). Accumulating evidence supports a taste component for free fatty acids in humans. *Physiology & Behavior*, *104*(4), 624–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.05.002
- Methven, L., Xiao, C., Cai, M., & Prescott, J. (2016). Rejection thresholds (RjT) of sweet likers and dislikers. *Food Quality & Preference*, 52, 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2016.03.012
- Ministry of Health. (2017). Annual Data Explorer 2016/17: New Zealand Health Survey [Data File]. Retrieved from https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/nz-health-survey-2016-17-annual-update
- Misaka, T. (2013). Molecular mechanisms of the action of miraculin, a taste-modifying protein. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 24(3), 222–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2013.02.008
- Nakamura, Y., Sanematsu, K., Ohta, R., Shirosaki, S., Koyano, K., Nonaka, K., ... Ninomiya, Y. (2008). Diurnal variation of human sweet taste recognition thresholds is correlated with plasma leptin levels. *Diabetes*, *57*(10), 2661–2665. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-1103
- Nakhimovsky, S. S., Feigl, A. B., Avila, C., O'Sullivan, G., Macgregor-Skinner, E., & Spranca, M. (2016). Taxes on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages to Reduce Overweight and Obesity in Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(9), e0163358. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163358
- Nance, K., Eagon, J., Klein, S., & Pepino, M. (2017). Effects of Sleeve Gastrectomy vs. Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass on Eating Behavior and Sweet Taste Perception in Subjects with Obesity. *Nutrients*, 10(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10010018

- Oliveros, E., Somers, V. K., Sochor, O., Goel, K., & Lopez-Jimenez, F. (2014). The Concept of Normal Weight Obesity. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 56(4), 426–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2013.10.003
- Ortega, F. J., Agüera, Z., Sabater, M., Moreno-Navarrete, J. M., Alonso-Ledesma, I., Xifra, G., ... Fernández-Real, J. M. (2016). Genetic variations of the bitter taste receptor TAS2R38 are associated with obesity and impact on single immune traits. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 60(7), 1673–1683. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201500804
- Owei, I., Umekwe, N., Provo, C., Wan, J., & Dagogo-Jack, S. (2017). Insulin-sensitive and insulin-resistant obese and non-obese phenotypes: role in prediction of incident pre-diabetes in a longitudinal biracial cohort. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care*, *5*(1), e000415. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2017-000415
- Park, J.-H., & Song, D.-K. (2019). Sweet taste receptors as a tool for an amplifying pathway of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic β cells. *Pflügers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology*, 471(4), 655–657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-019-02271-6
- Peng, M., Hautus, M. J., Oey, I., and Silcock, P. (2016). Is there a generalized sweetness sensitivity for an individual? A psychophysical investigation of interindividual differences in detectability and discriminability for sucrose and fructose. Physiology & Behavior, 165, 239–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2016.08.004
- Pepino, M. Y., Finkbeiner, S., Beauchamp, G. K., & Mennella, J. A. (2010). Obese women have lower monosodium glutamate taste sensitivity and prefer higher concentrations than do normal-weight women. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 18(5), 959–965. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2009.493
- Poppitt, S. D., Shin, H. S., McGill, A.-T., Budgett, S. C., Lo, K., Pahl, M., ... Ingram, J. R. (2017). Duodenal and ileal glucose infusions differentially alter gastrointestinal peptides, appetite response, and food intake: a tube feeding study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 106(3), 725–735. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.117.157248
- Power, M. L., & Schulkin, J. (2008). Anticipatory physiological regulation in feeding biology: Cephalic phase responses. *Appetite*, 50(2–3), 194–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2007.10.006
- Proserpio, C., Laureati, M., Bertoli, S., Battezzati, A., & Pagliarini, E. (2016). Determinants of Obesity in Italian Adults: The Role of Taste Sensitivity, Food Liking, and Food Neophobia. *Chemical Senses*, 41(2), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv072
- Puputti, S., Aisala, H., Hoppu, U., & Sandell, M. (2018). Multidimensional measurement of individual differences in taste perception. *Food Quality & Preference*, 65, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.12.006
- Rawal, S., Hoffman, H. J., Honda, M., Huedo-Medina, T. B., & Duffy, V. B. (2015). The Taste and Smell Protocol in the 2011–2014 US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES): Test–Retest Reliability and Validity Testing. *Chemosensory Perception*, 8(3), 138–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-015-9194-7
- Risso, D. S., Giuliani, C., Antinucci, M., Morini, G., Garagnani, P., Tofanelli, S., & Luiselli, D. (2017). A bio-cultural approach to the study of food choice: The contribution of taste genetics, population and culture. *Appetite*, *114*, 240–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.03.046

- Roberto, C. A., Swinburn, B., Hawkes, C., Huang, T. T.-K., Costa, S. A., Ashe, M., ... Brownell, K. D. (2015). Patchy progress on obesity prevention: Emerging examples, entrenched barriers, and new thinking. *The Lancet*, 385(9985). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61744-X
- Rodrigues, L., Espanca, R., Costa, A. R., Antunes, C. M., Pomar, C., Capela-Silva, F., ... Lamy, E. (2017). Association between Salivary Leptin Levels and Taste Perception in Children. *Journal of Clinical Nutrition & Metabolism*, 2017, 7260169. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/7260169
- Rodriguez-Cabaleiro, D., Van Uytfanghe, K., Stove, V., Fiers, T., & Thienpont, L. M. (2007). Pilot Study for the Standardization of Insulin Immunoassays with Isotope Dilution Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Clinical Chemistry*, 53(8), 1462–1469. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2007.088393
- Rousseuw, P. J., & Kaufman, L. (1990). Finding Groups in Data: An Introduction to Cluster Analysis. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics (1st ed., Vol. 344).
 Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.2307/2532178
- Running, C. A., Craig, B. A., & Mattes, R. D. (2015). Oleogustus: The Unique Taste of Fat. *Chemical Senses*, 40(7), 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv036
- Running, C. A., & Hayes, J. E. (2016). Individual Differences in Multisensory Flavor Perception. In B. Piqueras-Fiszmanô & C. Spence (Eds.), *Multisensory Flavor Perception: From Fundamental Neuroscience Through to the Marketplace* (1st ed., pp. 191–194). Duxford, UK: Woodhead Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100350-3.00010-9
- Sable, S., Warren, M., DuFlo, A., Bartoshuk, L. M., & Skarulis, M. C. (2012). Taste Perception, Race, and Ethnicity: A Novel Link to Differences in Cardiometabolic Risk? *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, 6(3), 238–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12170-012-0232-6
- Sanematsu, K., Nakamura, Y., Nomura, M., Shigemura, N., & Ninomiya, Y. (2018). Diurnal Variation of Sweet Taste Recognition Thresholds Is Absent in Overweight and Obese Humans. *Nutrients*, 10(3), 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10030297
- Schutz, H. G., and Cardello, A. V. (2001). A labeled affective magnitude (LAM) scale for assessing food liking/disliking. Journal of Sensory Studies, 16(2), 117–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2001.tb00293.x
- Schwartz, M. W., Seeley, R. J., Zeltser, L. M., Drewnowski, A., Ravussin, E., Redman, L. M., & Leibel, R. L. (2017). Obesity Pathogenesis: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocrine Reviews*, 38(4), 267–296. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00111
- Seufert, J. (2004). Leptin effects on pancreatic beta-cell gene expression and function. *Diabetes*, 53 Suppl 1, S152-8.
- Shintani, T. T., & Hughes, C. K. (1994). Traditional Diets of the Pacific and Coronary Heart Disease. *The European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 1(1), 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/174182679400100104
- Shoar, S., Naderan, M., Shoar, N., Modukuru, V. R., & Mahmoodzadeh, H. (2019). Alteration Pattern of Taste Perception After Bariatric Surgery: a Systematic Review of Four Taste Domains. *Obesity Surgery*, 29(5), 1542–1550. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-019-03730-w
- Sinclair, P., Docherty, N., & Roux, C. W. le. (2018). Metabolic Effects of Bariatric Surgery. *Clinical Chemistry*, 64(1), 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1373/CLINCHEM.2017.272336
- Stewart, A., Marfell-Jones, M., Olds, T., & de Ridder, H. (2011). International

standards for anthropometric assessment. Lower Hutt.: The International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry.

- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., Golding, M., Delahunty, C., Clifton, P., & Keast, R. (2010). Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510000267
- Swamy, K. B., Hadi, S. A., Sekaran, M., & Pichika, M. R. (2014). The Clinical Effects of Synsepalum dulcificum : A Review. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 17(11), 1165– 1169. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2013.3084
- Swinburn, B. A., Sacks, G., Hall, K. D., McPherson, K., Finegood, D. T., Moodie, M. L., & Gortmaker, S. L. (2011). The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. *The Lancet*, 378(9793), 804–814. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1
- Szajer, J., Jacobson, A., Green, E., & Murphy, C. (2017). Reduced brain response to a sweet taste in Hispanic young adults. *Brain Research*, 1674, 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2017.08.024
- Tan, S.-Y., & Tucker, R. (2019). Sweet Taste as a Predictor of Dietary Intake: A Systematic Review. Nutrients, 11(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010094
- Tchernof, A., & Després, J.-P. (2013). Pathophysiology of Human Visceral Obesity: An Update. *Physiological Reviews*, 93(1), 359–404. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00033.2011
- Tupai-Firestone, R., Tuisano, H., Manukia, M., Kaholokula, K., Foliaki, S., Kingi, T. K., ... Ellison-Loschmann, L. (2016). Understanding Pasifika youth and the obesogenic environment, Auckland and Wellington, New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 129(1434), 23–35. https://doi.org/2
- Turner, A., Veysey, M., Keely, S., Scarlett, C., Lucock, M., & Beckett, E. (2018). Interactions between Bitter Taste, Diet and Dysbiosis: Consequences for Appetite and Obesity. *Nutrients*, 10(10), 1336. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10101336
- Van Vuuren, M. A. J., Strodl, E., White, K. M., & Lockie, P. D. (2017). Taste, Enjoyment, and Desire of Flavors Change After Sleeve Gastrectomy-Short Term Results. *Obesity Surgery*, 27(6), 1466–1473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11695-016-2497-1
- Verbiest, M., Borrell, S., Dalhousie, S., Tupa'i-Firestone, R., Funaki, T., Goodwin, D., ... Ni Mhurchu, C. (2018). A Co-Designed, Culturally-Tailored mHealth Tool to Support Healthy Lifestyles in Māori and Pasifika Communities in New Zealand: Protocol for a Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR Research Protocols*, 7(8), e10789. https://doi.org/10.2196/10789
- Wen, J. Y. J., Rush, E. C., & Plank, L. D. (2010). Assessment of obesity in New Zealand Chinese: a comparative analysis of adults aged 30-39 years from five ethnic groups. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *123*(1327), 87–98.
- WHO. (2018). Obesity and Overweight factsheet from the World Health Organisation WHO [online] 2018.
- Williams, J. A., Bartoshuk, L. M., Fillingim, R. B., & Dotson, C. D. (2016). Exploring ethnic differences in taste perception. *Chemical Senses*, 41(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw021
- Wise, P. M., Nattress, L., Flammer, L. J., & Beauchamp, G. K. (2016). Reduced dietary intake of simple sugars alters perceived sweet taste intensity but not perceived pleasantness. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 103(1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.115.112300

- Yoshida, R., Noguchi, K., Shigemura, N., Jyotaki, M., Takahashi, I., Margolskee, R. F., & Ninomiya, Y. (2015). Leptin Suppresses Mouse Taste Cell Responses to Sweet Compounds. *Diabetes*, 64(11), 3751–3762. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-1462
- Zakeri, R., & Batterham, R. L. (2017). Potential mechanisms underlying the effect of bariatric surgery on eating behaviour. *Current Opinion in Endocrinology & Diabetes and Obesity*, 25(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.00000000000379
- Zhou, X., Shen, Y., Parker, J. K., Kennedy, O. B., & Methven, L. (2016). Relative Effects of Sensory Modalities and Importance of Fatty Acid Sensitivity on Fat Perception in a Real Food Model. *Chemosensory Perception*, 9(3), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-016-9211-5

Chapter V.

Associations between taste perception, dietary intake and eating behaviour in Pacific and NZ European women

5.1. Abstract

Taste perception may influence dietary preferences, potentially contributing to increased dietary intake of energy dense and nutrient poor foods, which may consequently contribute to the development of obesity. The aims of this study are to characterise sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception in two populations with markedly different metabolic disease risk (Pacific and European women) and different levels of body fat (normal and obese) and to explore the association of taste perception with dietary intake and eating behaviour.

Sweet taste perception, assessed as intensity, hedonic liking and discrimination of taste concentration by ranking task was investigated in 304 women (18 – 45 years) selected based on ethnicity (47% Pacific and 53% NZ European) and body fat percentage (body fat %; 51% normal and 49% high, using a cut-point of 35% body fat). Body fat percentage (BF%) was measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Hedonic liking and intensity ratings of taste were investigated using the labelled affective magnitude (LAM) and general labelled magnitude scales (gLMS). Hierarchical cluster analysis was used to obtain taste liking clusters of 'likers' and 'dislikers' from LAM ratings. Dietary intake was assessed using a 5-day estimated food record to measure total energy and macronutrient intake. Eating behaviour was assessed by the three-factor eating questionnaire. Socioeconomic status was measured by deprivation index

(NZDep2013).

In NZ European women, sweet likers had a significantly higher intake of carbohydrates, sugars and starch (199.4 \pm 51.1, 87.9 \pm 27.4 and 111.1 \pm 34.6 g/day) when compared to sweet taste dislikers (165.9 \pm 48.7, 71.4 \pm 25.2 and 94.1 \pm 34.7 g/day, respectively; *P*< 0.001, *P*< 0.01, and *P*< 0.01). In contrast, in Pacific women there was no difference in dietary intake between sweet liking groups. NZ European women in the sweet liking group had an increased disinhibited eating behaviour score (adjusted, *P*< 0.01). Pacific (>35 BF%) and NZ European (<35 BF%) bitter likers had a decreased protein intake (g) compared to bitter dislikers (adjusted, *P*< 0.05). NZ European bitter likers had a higher intake of dietary fibre (% energy) than bitter dislikers (adjusted, *P*< 0.01). Pacific milk fat likers with >35 BF% had a higher intake of protein (g) than milk fat dislikers (adjusted, *P*< 0.05).

The present study provides evidence that sweet taste perception and hedonic liking of taste at suprathreshold concentrations are associated with carbohydrate and sugar intake, which is further associated with disinhibited eating behaviour. It further reveals ethnic group-specific differences in the association between taste perception and dietary intake.

Contributing authors: Sophie Kindleysides, Rozanne Kruger, Jeroen Douwes, Marine Corbin, Nikki Renall, Jo Slater, Bernhard H Breier.

5.2. Introduction

Obesity is a global pandemic with a multitude of complex interrelated causes. One of the key drivers is the over-consumption of highly palatable, inexpensive, energy-dense and nutrient poor foods (Swinburn et al., 2011; Vandenbroeck, Goossens, and Clemens, 2007). Furthermore, in New Zealand, major health inequities appear to be linked with obesity. Pacific people are disproportionately affected and 2.5 times more likely to be obese than NZ European people (Ministry of Health, 2016; Sundborn et al., 2010).

Taste perception has been proposed to contribute to weight gain and obesity, as taste preferences influence food choice (Loper, La Sala, Dotson, and Steinle, 2015). A number of studies have shown a range of associations between taste perception, dietary intake, appetite regulation and eating behaviour (Han, Keast, and Roura, 2017; Nakamura et al., 2008; Pasquet, Laure Frelut, Simmen, Marcel Hladik, and Monneuse, 2007; Sanematsu, Nakamura, Nomura, Shigemura, and Ninomiya, 2018; Stafford, Tucker, and Gerstner, 2013). Dietary interventions focusing on low fat and sugar intakes have shown an increase in fatty acid taste sensitivity (Costanzo et al., 2018; Stewart and Keast, 2012), and improved sweet taste acuity respectively (Wise, Nattress, Flammer, and Beauchamp, 2016). Cross-sectional studies have found that increased fatty acid taste sensitivity is associated with decreased dietary fat intake (Heinze et al., 2018; Keller et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2012; Martínez-Ruiz, López-Díaz, Wall-Medrano, Jiménez-Castro, and Angulo, 2014; Stevenson et al., 2016) or energy intake (Stewart et al., 2010). However, inconclusive and contradictory results have been observed. Some cross-sectional studies have found increased sweet taste perception to be associated with a reduced intake of sweet-tasting food (Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Low, Lacy, McBride, and Keast, 2016; Martinez-Cordero, Malacara-Hernandez, and Martinez-Cordero, 2015), while other studies have found no association (Cicerale, Riddell, and Keast, 2012; Leong, Forde, Tey, and Henry, 2018). Few studies to date have compared the outcomes of different taste perception measurements (e.g. sweet, bitter, fat) to each other and how they might relate to dietary intake and eating behaviour.

Differences and limitations in study design may contribute to the variations in findings from different studies, including study participants (e.g. age, gender, ethnicity), assessment methods of taste perception (i.e. the concentration of stimuli), and dietary intake assessment methods (Cox, Hendrie, and Carty, 2015). For example, a number of studies measuring taste perception have used food frequency questionnaires (FFQs). Whilst FFQs have low participant and researcher burden, they are prone to inaccurate reporting of quantities consumed due to their reliance on memory (Garneau, Nuessle, Mendelsberg, Shepard, and Tucker, 2018; Low et al., 2016; Methven, Xiao, Cai, and Prescott, 2016; Thompson and Subar, 2013). Food records are more accurate for measuring macronutrient intake (Bingham et al., 1994; Thompson and Subar, 2013). In addition, few studies on taste perception account for the importance of external influences on dietary intake such as socio-cultural and socio-economic factors which may impact on taste-diet associations (Baumann, Szabo, and Johnston, 2017; Low et al., 2016; Overberg, Hummel, Krude, and Wiegand, 2012).

Increasing evidence demonstrates links between higher detection threshold levels (low taste sensitivity) to primary tastes and a higher body mass index (BMI) (Donaldson, Bennett, Baic, and Melichar, 2009; Park et al., 2015). Additionally, studies have shown a link between BMI and the hedonic liking of sweetness (Bartoshuk, Duffy, Hayes, Moskowitz, and Snyder, 2006; Deglaire et al., 2015; Ettinger, Duizer, and Caldwell, 2012; Proserpio et al., 2016). There is increasing interest in the role of sweet, bitter and fatty acid taste perception and together how these mechanisms may impact on energy intake (Burgess, Rao, and Tepper, 2016).

Currently, there are few studies that have compared associations between taste perception and dietary intake by obesity status (Martinez-Cordero et al., 2015; Tucker, Edlinger, Craig, and Mattes, 2014). Investigation of taste perception status in non-obese and obese groups is an important development as weight status may impact taste perception (Tyrovolas, Koyanagi, Stickley, and Haro, 2015). In addition, the investigation of different population groups which have different metabolic disease risk profiles may provide new insights. Taste perception is variable between people for a number of other reasons, including genetics (Behrens and Meyerhof, 2019; Neiers, Canivenc-Lavier, and Briand, 2016; Risso et al., 2017; Sable, Warren, DuFlo, Bartoshuk, and Skarulis, 2012). For example, differences in taste perception associated with genetics have been observed between different ethnic groups (Sable et al., 2012), however, few studies have investigated ethnic differences in taste perception in relation to dietary intake (Williams, Bartoshuk, Fillingim, and Dotson, 2016).

Taste perception may also influence eating behaviour. The modulation of hunger, satiety and energy balance is associated with eating behaviour, which is further influenced by taste perception (Tomassini Barbarossa et al., 2013). Previous studies have found associations between taste perception and eating behaviour (Kindleysides et al., 2017; Stafford et al., 2013; Tomassini Barbarossa et al., 2013). However, there is a lack of studies which compare taste perception and eating behaviour alongside other influences on energy intake, such as body weight.

This study is the first to characterise sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception in two population groups with markedly different metabolic disease risk, Pacific and NZ European women, and different levels of body fat, obese and non-obese. The specific aims of this study are (1) to characterise in 18 to 45-year-old Pacific and NZ European women sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception, and (2) explore the association of taste perception with dietary intake and eating behaviour. The potential identification of a distinct role for taste perception in modifying dietary intake and eating behaviour will advance our understanding of the aetiology of obesity and contribute to the development of new therapeutic approaches.

5.3. Materials and methods

5.3.1. Participants

Participants for this sub-analysis of the PROMISE (PRedictors linking Obesity and the gut MIcrobiomE) study, which investigated the role of the gut microbiome in obesity, were recruited in Auckland, New Zealand. Details of the study protocol and recruitment strategy have been published elsewhere (Kindleysides et al., 2019). The PROMISE study involved a range of assessments including diet, taste perception, eating behaviour and anthropometric measurements. Inclusion criteria were: women aged 18-45 years, being post menarche and pre-menopausal (as defined by a regular menstrual cycle for the last year), and ethnicity (self-identifying as NZ European and having lived in NZ for at least five years or self-identifying as Pacific and having at least one parent of full Pacific ethnicity). Participants were required to have a BMI categorised as normal (18.5 -24.9 kg/m^2) or obese ($\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$), with the study designed so that approximately half in each ethnic group had a normal BMI, and the other half a BMI defined as obese. Exclusion criteria included pregnancy and lactation, presence of any diagnosed chronic illness (e.g. type 2 diabetes, CVD, cancer, etc), bariatric surgery, severe food allergies, severe dietary restriction or avoidances (e.g. vegan), taking medication that interferes with appetite or the immune system, antibiotic use in the last three months and smoking. Participants were either screened online, in-person or over the phone and self-reported height and weight were used to determine BMI. The protocol for this study was approved by the Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee (16/STH/32) and written informed consent was provided by each participant. This study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki for medical research involving human subjects. The trial was registered at anzctr.org.nz as ACTRN12618000432213.

5.3.2. Study procedure

The study was conducted at the Massey University Human Nutrition Research Unit (HNRU) between July 2016 and September 2017. All participants attended two visits, with the second visit scheduled 11-14 days after the first. At visit one, participants

arrived at 07:00 am in a fasted state (not eating or drinking anything apart from water since 10pm the previous night) and were asked not to wear perfume, exercise or taste any other products prior to taste testing. Participants completed a health and demographic face-to-face interview, had their height and weight measured, underwent sensory testing (between 07:00 and 09:00) and completed the three-factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ). A 5-day food record was completed at home between visits 1 and 2. At visit 2, participants underwent a whole-body scan using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA).

5.3.3. Health and demographic face-to-face interview and deprivation index

General participant information was obtained by a one-on-one interview which included questions about occupation, work patterns, dietary supplement use, frequency of alcohol consumption and recruitment method (not all data reported). The New Zealand index of deprivation 2013 (NZDep2013) was used as a measurement of socioeconomic status based on the participant's home address, which combines census data relating to income, home ownership, employment, qualifications, family structure, housing, access to public transport and communications (Atkinson, Salmond, and Crampton, 2014). NZDep2013 is a scale ranging from 1-10, with 1 representing the least deprived and 10 the most deprived levels (Atkinson et al., 2014).

5.3.4. Body composition and anthropometric measurements

Stretched height (stadiometer) and weight (Sauter platform scale E1200, GmbH, Germany) were measured. BMI was calculated as weight (kg) / height (m²). A wholebody scan was performed using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (Hologic QDR Discovery A, Hologic Inc, Bedford, MA with APEX V. 3.2 software) to obtain data on body composition using a standardised protocol.

5.3.5. Taste perception measurements

Three measurements of taste perception were performed by sensory testing; hedonic

liking rating, intensity rating and discrimination of taste concentration by ranking task. All three psychophysical tests were conducted for sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception. All stimuli were evaluated at room temperature (20°C) in individual taste testing booths as whole mouth samples which were evaluated using a sip-and-spit procedure with no solution ingested (Martinez-Cordero et al., 2015; Mattes, 2009). Between each set of tasting stimuli, participants rinsed their palate with water and expelled the water. Prior to sensory testing, a short training procedure was conducted to familiarise each participant with the general labelled magnitude scale (gLMS) and labelled affective magnitude (LAM) scale independently (intensity and hedonic liking, respectively). The blank water solution (labelled "sweet") was tasted first as a control, followed by all sweet taste solutions, all bitter taste and finally all milk fat solutions. Glucose was the chosen tastant for sweet taste, as it has been used in similar studies and cited as having clearly defined links with sweet taste perception being a simple sugar (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). Quinine was the chosen tastant for bitter taste (Rawal, Hoffman, Honda, Huedo-Medina, and Duffy, 2015) and milk and cream were chosen to create a series of milk fat perception tastants (Zhou, Shen, Parker, Kennedy, and Methven, 2016). Milk and cream is a complex tastant due to comprising at least three further elements responsible for the sensory properties of milk, including: (1) mouthfeel and texture due to presence of macromolecules, such as fat globules and colloidal proteins, (2) salt and sweet taste due to milk salts and lactose, respectively, and (3) aroma (Cadwallader, 2010).

5.3.5.1. Preparation of sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception solutions

Solutions for taste testing were prepared on the day of testing. Sweet taste solutions were prepared by dissolving glucose (dextrose monohydrate, Sherratt ingredients, Auckland, New Zealand) in distilled water. Bitter taste solutions were prepared from a stock solution made from distilled water and quinine hydrochloride dehydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis MO, USA) and refrigerated. Fresh stock was prepared weekly. This was used to create a dilution series from 0.4 mL of 80 mM stock solution added to 200 mL of filtered water (0.16 mM solution/0.06 g/L).

Milk fat perception samples were made from full fat milk (Anchor[™] Blue Top standardised milk, New Zealand) and cream (Anchor[™] Fresh Cream, New Zealand). Mixtures of milk and cream were prepared on the day of testing and used once only after opening. Each individual sample was mixed by drawing the solution 5-6 times with a 10 mL pipette (Eppendorf Research® pipette, Hamburg, Germany).

5.3.5.2. Intensity and hedonic liking measurements of sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception

Hedonic liking and intensity rating scales were evaluated simultaneously (i.e. LAM scale questions on the same single-sided page) for each of the individual solutions presented. Hedonic liking for each solution was rated using a LAM scale with the extreme anchors of 'strongest imaginable dislike of any kind' (scale score = -50) through to 'strongest imaginable like of any kind' (50). Intermediate labels on the gLMS liking scale were: 'very strongly dislike' (-26.5), 'strongly dislike (-17.5), 'moderately dislike' (-8.5), 'weakly dislike' (-3), 'neutral' (0), 'weakly like' (3), 'moderately like' (8.5), 'strongly like' (17.5), and 'very strongly like' (26.5) (Schutz and Cardello, 2001). Sweet taste intensity for each solution was rated using a gLMS with the extreme anchors 'no sensation' (scale score =0) to 'strongest imaginable sensation of any kind' (200), with intermediate labels 'barely detectable' (1.5), 'weak sensation' (6), 'moderate sensation' (17), 'strong sensation' (35), and 'very strong sensation' (53) (Bartoshuk et al., 2004).

Taste solutions were presented in a randomised manner, with no side-by-side comparisons and identified by a random 3-digit code. Participants initially sampled water (blank), followed by tasting the four individual 10 mL solutions of glucose dissolved in distilled water (30 g/L, 60 g/L, 120 g/L and 240 g/L). These concentrations were selected as they span a range of sweetness levels (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). Quinine samples were evaluated for hedonic liking and intensity of bitter taste, after evaluation of sweet taste samples, at four concentration levels in a randomised order (0.008 g/L, 0.016 g/L, 0.03 g/L and 0.06 g/L) using LAM and gLMS rating scales. Next, milk fat perception samples were evaluated for hedonic liking and intensity in a randomised order (3.3%, 11.8%, 20.3% and 37.3% milk fat).

5.3.5.3. Taste concentration ranking task

After tasting all the individual solutions of the same type, starting with glucose, four new solutions (30 g/L, 60 g/L, 120 g/L and 240 g/L glucose) were presented to perform the taste ranking task. All four solutions were presented at once, randomised and identified with unique 3-digit random codes. The four samples were tasted and placed in order from the highest to the lowest perceived concentration of taste. Similarly, after evaluation of the individual quinine solutions, the ranking task procedure took place for bitter taste (0.008 g/L, 0.016 g/L, 0.03 g/L and 0.06 g/L quinine). To end, milk fat perception ranking task was completed after evaluating the milk fat solutions. The milk fat ranking task solutions (3.3%, 11.8%, 20.3% and 37.3% fat) were covered in foil and tasted through a straw to prevent any visuals cues affecting the taste ranking.

5.3.6. Dietary intake

Participants were given a schedule to ensure that a non-consecutive 5-day food record was kept across both week- and weekend days. Dietary intake was recorded every second day with a minimum of one weekend day, with most participants recording two weekend days and three weekdays of food record data. The 5 days were selected in advance with research staff liaising with each participant to determine suitable data collection days. The 5 days were aligned with the wider PROMISE study at-home data collection protocol (Kindleysides et al., 2019). A 10-minute instructional video was viewed providing in-depth instructions and examples of how to keep a detailed estimated food record. Each participant received further training for estimating and documenting portion sizes. Each food record was reviewed by a registered dietitian at visit 2, in a one-on-one interview to identify any gaps, to clarify reported data, to clarify brands consumed, and to confirm portion size information by using visual aids (e.g. picture guides, measuring cups, spoons, etc). Additional ambiguities in the food record were clarified by the participant providing empty food packages, detailed recipes, food labels, or photographs of meals eaten (e.g. restaurant, takeaway and café meals).

5.3.7. Eating behaviour

Eating behaviour was assessed using the validated three-factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ) to measure cognitive dietary restraint (21 items), disinhibition of control (16 items) and susceptibility to hunger (14 items) (Kruger, De Bray, Beck, Conlon, and Stonehouse, 2016; Stunkard and Messick, 1985). The TFEQ was administered using an online questionnaire hosted on SurveyMonkey© survey software.

5.3.8. Data handling

5.3.8.1. Taste perception measurements

A hierarchical cluster analysis was performed on LAM scale hedonic ratings of 5 variables for sweet taste (5 concentrations), 4 variables for bitter taste (4 concentrations) and 4 variables for milk fat (4 concentrations) to allocate participants into liking clusters. Hierarchical cluster analysis examines the underlying structure of seemingly homogenous data whilst not requiring a *priori* decisions regarding the number of clusters (Garneau et al., 2018). Two clusters for each tastant were derived from the analysis, with one group labelled as 'likers' and the other group labelled as 'dislikers' based on the average LAM scale rating of liking of the group.

5.3.8.2. Dietary intake measurements

Nutrient analysis of the food record was performed using the Foodworks 9 (Xyris Software (Australia) Pty Ltd, Queensland, Australia) dietary analysis software, which uses FOODfiles 2016 (developed by the NZ Institute for Plant & Food Research and the NZ Ministry of Health) as a reference food composition table for analysis. Additionally, the Xyris database AusFoods 2017 and AusBrands 2017, which are based on the Australian food composition databases AUSNUT 2011-13 (developed by Food Standards Australia New Zealand) were used (Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing, Ministry of Health NZ, 2018) when food and beverage data were unavailable through the NZ FOODfiles. The data were used to assess dietary adequacy

in terms of energy and nutrient intakes using the current Australia/NZ Nutrient Reference Values (NRV) (Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing; Ministry of Health NZ, 2018).

Dietary data were assessed for over- and underreporting by assessing the plausibility of intakes and using epidemiological cut-offs; >2,100kJ and <27,000kJ, as the range for under and over reported energy intakes in this population group (Carroll et al., 2012; House, Shearrer, Boisseau, Bray, and Davis, 2018; Willett, 2013). No dietary data were excluded for the primary analysis (N=304). Sensitivity analysis was conducted to verify that removal of under- and over-reporters, as defined by the Goldberg criteria (Black, 2000; Goldberg et al., 1991), did not change key outcomes of the study (Suppl 5.6.). Goldberg cut-offs were calculated using a low-moderate physical activity (PAL) of 1.55 and the Schofield equation to calculate basal metabolic rate. The ratio of reported energy intake (EIrep): estimated basal metabolic rate (BMRest) gave the interval 1.04 - 1.90, which was used to determine plausible reporters.

5.3.8.3. Eating behaviour measurements

TFEQ scores were allocated for each category and associated subscales were calculated under each of the three factors (Bond, McDowell, and Wilkinson, 2001; Westenhoefer, 1991; Westenhoefer, Stunkard, and Pudel, 1999). Higher scores denoted higher levels of restrained eating, disinhibited eating and predisposition to hunger (Stunkard and Messick, 1985).

5.3.8.4. Body composition grouping

An obesity cut-off point for body fat percentage was obtained from the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology (AACE/ACE) guidelines (obesity in women >35%) (Dickey et al., 1998; Jo and Mainous, 2018; Oliveros, Somers, Sochor, Goel, and Lopez-Jimenez, 2014). For this analysis, BF% was used instead of BMI to classify obesity status, because previous studies have shown BMI can grossly misclassify population groups known to have higher metabolic disease risk (Hunma et al., 2016).

5.3.9. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS software for Windows (version 24.0; SPSS Inc, Armonk, NY: IBM Corp, USA). Data were checked for normality using Shapiro-Wilks test. Descriptive statistics were reported as arithmetic means and standard deviation (SD). Descriptive unadjusted data were presented as medians (25th, 75th percentiles) and compared with Mann-Whitney U independent samples t-tests. Group differences were compared using chi-square tests. Unadjusted dietary intake data in bar graphs were presented as means (95% C.I.) and compared using independent samples t-tests.

Hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using LAM liking ratings for each taste. Distinct taste liker phenotypes were identified. This method derives meaningful groups (clusters) of participants using the agglomerative method with Ward's minimum variance algorithm (Asao et al., 2015). Clusters define those who shared similar liking patterns within each group but were heterogenous in the between-group contrasts. The squared Euclidean distance between pairs of cases or clusters and the between-groups (averages) linkage method were selected to assist with the merging process (Iatridi et al., 2019). These results were checked with the elbow method, silhouette method and gap statistics to observe the optimal number of clusters. Using the majority rule, two liking clusters for each tastant (sweet, bitter and milk fat) were selected (Rousseuw & Kaufman, 1990).

Assessment of linear trends between the concentrations of the different solutions and the taste perception measures was carried out using linear mixed models and random intercepts to account for repeated measurements within each individual. For example, this showed that sweet taste likers rated taste as significantly less intense at 60 g/L, 120 g/L and 240 g/L concentrations when compared to sweet dislikers (P< 0.001). Similarly, bitter likers rated all concentrations of taste as significantly less intense than bitter

dislikers (P < 0.01). In contrast, milk fat likers rated fat perception intensity as significantly more intense than milk fat dislikers at the two highest concentration levels only (20.3% and 37.3% fat, P < 0.05).

Univariate general linear models were used to estimate the effects of age, BF% and NZDep2013 on dietary intake (e.g. macronutrients). For general linear models, unstandardized coefficient estimates (B) were reported along with 95% C.I. Univariate general linear models for eating behaviour scores were stratified by ethnicity and the data were log-transformed where exponential of B (ratio) were reported along with 95% C.I. A P-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.4. Results

5.4.1 Participant characteristics and dietary intake

In this study, Pacific women were younger (P < 0.001), lived in more socioeconomically deprived areas (P < 0.001) and had a higher BMI (P < 0.01) than NZ European women. Pacific women had higher intakes of carbohydrate (g), total sugar (g) and starch (g, % energy); and lower intakes of protein (% energy), fat (% energy), polyunsaturated fat (g, % energy), dietary fibre (g, % energy) and alcohol (g, % energy) compared with NZ European women (P < 0.05; Table 1). On average, all Pacific and NZ European women consumed more fat, saturated fat and total sugar; and had inadequate carbohydrate intakes (P < 0.05) compared with general recommendations (NHMRC, 2006; WHO, 2015). Only NZ European women with <35 BF% met the recommended intake for dietary fibre (Table 5.1).

In Pacific women, there were no differences between BF% groups in demographic or dietary intake measures. In NZ European women, those with >35 BF% had a higher NZDep2013 score (P< 0.05) and were older than women with <35 BF% (P< 0.001; Table 5.1). NZ European women with <35 BF% had lower saturated fat intake (% energy), higher polyunsaturated fat (% energy), dietary fibre (g, % energy) and alcohol intake (g) (P< 0.05) than those with >35 BF%.

			Pacific			NZ European	
		Low body fat	High body fat	TOTAL	Low body fat	High body fat	TOTAL
		(<35%)	(>35%)	$Mean \pm SD$	(<35%)	(>35%)	$Mean \pm SD$
		Mean \pm SD (n= 68)	Mean \pm SD (n= 74)	(n= 142)	Mean \pm SD (n= 87)	Mean \pm SD (n= 75)	(n= 162)
Age (yrs)		$24.9 \pm 6.74 \ \#$	25.2 ± 5.81 #	$25.0\pm 6.25\ddagger$	$29.7 \pm 6.53 \ddagger$	33.5 ± 7.01	31.5 ± 7.00
NZDep2013		$7.24 \pm 2.55 \ \#$	$7.86 \pm 1.96 \#$	$7.57 \pm 2.27 \ddagger$	3.77 ± 2.44 †	4.61 ± 2.30	4.16 ± 2.41
Total body fat (%)		$30.0 \pm 3.22 + , #$	40.0 ± 3.81	35.2 ± 6.15	$27.9 \pm 4.42 \ddagger$	41.1 ± 3.77	34.0 ± 7.80
BMI (kg/m^2)		$25.8 \pm 3.84 \div \#$	$36.1 \pm 6.18 \#$	$31.2\pm7.29\ddag$	$22.5 \pm 2.11 +$	33.7 ± 3.76	27.7 ± 6.33
Weight (kg)		73.7 ± 11.7 † ,#	$102.3 \pm 19.2 \#$	$88.6 \pm 21.5 \ddagger$	$63.1 \pm 7.53 \ddagger$	94.4 ± 13.2	77.6 ± 18.9
Height (cm)		169.0 ± 6.96	168.3 ± 6.92	168.6 ± 6.92	167.3 ± 5.58	167.2 ± 7.0	167.2 ± 6.26
Macronutrient intake Total energy (kJ)	Reference values 8700 – 8800 kJ ¹						8237.4 +
		8904.4 ± 2727.8	8557.3 ± 2749.0	8723.5 ± 2734.7	8230.4 ± 1638.1	8245.5 ± 1729.7	1675.9
Protein (g)	46 g ²	83.0 ± 27.3	82.8 ± 25.3	82.9 ± 26.2	83.6 ± 18.0	84.0 ± 17.9	83.8 ± 17.9
Protein (%)	15-25% ³	$16.0 \pm 3.21 \ \#$	16.8 ± 3.35	$16.4\pm3.3\ddagger$	17.5 ± 3.61	17.6 ± 3.25	17.6 ± 3.44
Fat (g)	n/a	92.9 ± 30.9	89.6 ± 33.0	91.2 ± 32.0	89.7 ± 26.1	91.0 ± 30.4	90.3 ± 28.1
Fat (%)	$20 - 35\%^{3}$	38.6 ± 5.50	38.3 ± 4.84	$38.4\pm5.15\ddagger$	40.1 ± 7.59	40.0 ± 7.80	40.1 ± 7.66
Saturated fat (g)	n/a	36.0 ± 13.6	35.0 ± 14.1	35.5 ± 13.8	32.6 ± 11.6	36.2 ± 14.4	34.3 ± 3.06
Saturated fat (%)	<10% ³	14.9 ± 2.71	14.9 ± 2.89	14.9 ± 2.79	$14.6\pm3.89~\div$	15.9 ± 4.01	15.2 ± 3.99
Polyunsaturated fat (g)	n/a	12.5 ± 4.62	11.3 ± 4.84	$11.9\pm4.75\ddagger$	14.0 ± 6.27	12.3 ± 5.81	13.2 ± 6.10
Polyunsaturated fat (%)	n/a	$5.25 \pm 1.49 \ \#$	4.94 ± 1.54	5.09 ± 1.52	6.21 ± 1.97	5.44 ± 1.95	5.85 ± 1.99
Monounsaturated fat	n/a						33.4 ± 10.7
(g)		34.9 ± 12.0	34.2 ± 13.6	34.6 ± 12.8	33.7 ± 10.0	33.1 ± 11.4	
Monounsaturated fat	n/a						14.9 ± 3.44
(%)		14.6 ± 2.52	14.6 ± 2.67	14.6 ± 2.59	15.1 ± 3.44	14.6 ± 3.44	
Carbohydrate (g)	n/a	$223.3 \pm 76.7 \#$	$215.6 \pm 76.4 \ \#$	$219.3\pm76.4\ddagger$	178.0 ± 53.1	184.5 ± 51.6	181.0 ± 52.4
Carbohydrate (%)	45-65% ³	42.7 ± 7.05 #	$42.9 \pm 5.55 \#$	$42.8\pm6.29\ddagger$	36.8 ± 8.28	38.5 ± 8.94	37.6 ± 8.61
Total sugar (g)	n/a	$92.3 \pm 39.0 \ \#$	85.8 ± 40.0	$88.9\pm39.5\ddagger$	77.0 ± 26.6	81.0 ± 28.3	78.8 ± 27.4
Total sugar (%)	<10% ⁴	17.6 ± 5.30	17.1 ± 5.30	17.3 ± 5.30	16.1 ± 4.90	17.0 ± 6.0	16.5 ± 5.42
Starch (g)	n/a	$130.4 \pm 46.8 \#$	$129.6 \pm 48.7 \ \#$	$130.0\pm47.7\ddagger$	100.5 ± 38.4	103.2 ± 32.1	101.8 ± 35.6
Starch (%)	n/a	$25.0 \pm 4.56 \#$	25.7 ± 4.34 #	$25.3\pm4.45\ddagger$	20.6 ± 6.32	21.5 ± 5.81	21.0 ± 6.09
Dietary fibre (g)	25g ⁵	$19.5 \pm 6.96 \ \#$	$18.6 \pm 6.66 \#$	$19.0\pm 6.80\ddagger$	$25.8\pm8.98~\ddagger$	22.0 ± 6.50	24.1 ± 8.13
Dietary fibre (%)	n/a	$1.78 \pm 0.45 \ \#$	$1.80 \pm 0.52 \ \#$	$1.79\pm0.48\ddagger$	2.53 ± 0.74	2.19 ± 0.63	2.37 ± 0.71
Alcohol (g)	<20 g ⁶	$4.44 \pm 14.0 \ \#$	$1.50 \pm 5.18 \ \#$	$2.91\pm10.5\ddagger$	9.28 ± 13.1 \ddagger	5.53 ± 10.4	7.55 ± 12.0
Alcohol (%)	n/a	$1.16 \pm 3.27 \ \#$	$0.50 \pm 1.71 \ \#$	$0.81\pm2.59\ddagger$	3.15 ± 4.38	1.92 ± 3.70	2.58 ± 4.12
Means \pm SD. $\ddagger P < 0.05$ f	or t-test comparing	g body fat groups with	in the ethnic group. [#]	P < 0.05 for t-tes	t comparing between	ethnic groups within	body fat group. ‡ <i>I</i>
0.05 for t-test comparing	between ethnicity	only.					

Table 5.1. Participant characteristics, dietary intake and body fat percentage groups in Pacific (N=142) and NZ European women (N=162).

 \sim
1. Estimated energy requirement calculation based on women aged 19 – 50 years and physical activity level 1.6 (minimally active) (NHMRC, 2006).
2. RDI for women between 19 – 50 years, Australian National Health and Medical Research Council & New Zealand Ministry of Health (NHMRC, 2006).
3. AMDR for adults. Macronutrients expressed as a percentage of energy in kJ (NHMRC, 2006).
4. World Health Organisation (WHO) recommendation for 'free sugar' intake as a percentage of energy intake (not including intrinsic sugars) (WHO, 2015).
5. Adequate intake of dietary fibre (NHMRC, 2006).
6. Based on guidelines from the Ministry of Health, equivalent to no more than two standard drinks per day (Ministry of Health, 2019)

5.4.2. Participant eating behaviour and taste perception

In Pacific women, disinhibition scores were lower, and hunger scores higher when compared with NZ European women (P< 0.05). There was no difference in cognitive restraint scores between ethnicities (Table 5.2). Averages for restraint and disinhibition scores were within the low range in Pacific and NZ European women compared to reference values (Stunkard and Messick, 1985). However, Pacific women had a high hunger score (score 7; high range 7-14) and NZ European women a medium hunger score compared to reference values (score 5; medium range 4-6) (Table 5.2).

Disinhibited eating behaviour was highest in NZ European women with >35 BF% and was in the medium range (P < 0.05) (score 11; medium range 9-12). In Pacific women, those with >35 BF% had a higher disinhibition score than those with <35 BF% (P < 0.05). In NZ European, women with >35 BF% had higher disinhibition, lower restraint and higher hunger score compared to NZ European with <35 BF% (P < 0.05; Table 5.2).

There were no significant differences in the number of likers and dislikers of sweet taste, bitter taste or milk fat perception when comparing BF% groups or ethnicity (Table 5.2). Most participants correctly discriminated sweet taste concentration by ranking task (>73%; Table 2). In contrast, less than half of the participants correctly ranked the bitter taste task, and on average less than half correctly ranked the milk fat ranking task (Table 5.2). Pacific women with <35 BF% were more likely to correctly rank the sweet taste ranking task than Pacific women with >35 BF% (P< 0.05).

Table 5.2. Eating behaviour	scores and taste per	ception parameters in	n Pacific (N=142) a	nd NZ European wo	men (N=162).	
		Pacific			NZ European	
	Low BF (<35%) N=68	High BF (>35%) N=74	TOTAL N= 142	Low BF (<35%) N=87	High BF (>35%) N=75	TOTAL N= 162
	Median (25 th , 75 th	Median (25 th , 75 th	Median (25 th , 75 th	Median (25 th , 75 th	Median (25 th , 75 th	Median (25 th , 75 th
	percentiles)	percentiles)	percentiles)	percentiles)	percentiles)	percentiles)
Eating behaviour						
Cognitive dietary restraint	¹ 6.0 (4.0, 10) #	7.0 (5.0, 11)	7.0 (4.0, 10.5)	$9.0(6.0,12)\ddagger$	7.0 (5.0, 10)	$8.0\ (5.0,\ 11.0)$
Flexible control restraint	2.0(1.0, 4.0) #	3.0(1.0, 4.0) #	2.0(1.0, 4.0)	3.0(2.0,4.0)†	2.0(1.0, 3.0)	2.0(1.0,4.0)
Rigid control restraint	1.0(0.0, 3.0) #	2.0(1.0, 4.0)	1.5~(1.0, 3.0)‡	3.0(2.0, 4.0)	2.0(1.0, 3.0)	3.0 (2.0, 4.0)
Disinhibition ²	6.0(4.0, 9.0)	8.0(6.0, 10.0) #	7.0~(5.0, 9.0)‡	7.0(4.0, 10.0)	11 (8.0, 13.0)	8.0(5.0, 12.0)
Habitual disinhibition	1.0(1.0, 3.0)	2.0 (1.0, 3.0) #	1.5(1.0, 3.0)	$1.0(0.0,2.0)\ddagger$	3.0(1.0, 4.0)	$1.0\ (0.0,\ 3.0)$
Emotional disinhibition	$0.0\ (0.0,\ 2.0)$	1.0(0.0, 2.0) #	1.0~(0.0, 2.0)‡	$1.0(0.0,2.0)\ddagger$	3.0(2.0, 3.0)	2.0 (0.0, 3.0)
Situational disinhibition	3.0(1.0, 4.0)	3.0 (2.0, 4.0) #	3.0~(2.0, 4.0)‡	3.0(2.0, 4.0)	4.0(3.0, 5.0)	3.0(2.0, 4.0)
Hunger ³	6.0(3.0, 8.0)	7.0(5.0, 10)	7.0(4.0, 9.0)	4.0(3.0, 8.0)	6.0(4.0, 9.0)	5.0(3.0, 9.0)
Internal locus hunger	2.0(1.0, 4.0)	3.0(2.0, 5.0) #	3.0(1.0,4.0)	2.0(1.0,3.0)	2.0(1.0,4.0)	2.0(1.0, 4.0)
External locus hunger	2.0(1.0, 4.0)	3.0(1.0,4.0)	2.0(1.0,4.0)	2.0(1.0, 3.0)	3.0(1.0,4.0)	2.0(1.0,4.0)
•						
Taste clusters ⁸	n (0)	n (0)	(0%) u	(%) u	n (%)	n (%) n
Sweet likers (group)	25 (37%)	27 (37%)	52 (37%)	34 (39%)	38 (51%)	73 (45%)
Bitter likers (group)	16(24%)	9 (12%)	25(18%)	18 (21%)	10(13%)	28 (17%)
Milk fat likers (group)	50 (74%)	48 (65%)	98 (69%)	63 (72%)	54 (72%)	117 (72%)
Taste rankino task						
Sweet (correct)	61 (90%) †	54 (73%)	115 (81%)	76 (87%)	58 (78%)	134 (83%)
Bitter (correct)	20 (29%) #	26 (35%)	46 (32%)‡	43 (49%)	37 (49%)	80 (49%)
Milk fat (correct)	27 (40%)	20 (27%) #	47 (33%)‡	37 (43%)	40 (53%)	77 (48%)
Median (25 th , 75 th percentiles)	Mann-Whitney U test	$\div P < 0.05$ for test com	nparing body fat grou	ps within the ethnic gr	oup. $^{\#}P < 0.05$ for test	comparing between ethnic
groups within body fat group. reference values = $I \text{ ow } 1-8 \cdot N$	<i>F</i> = 0.05 for t-test con <i>A</i> edium 9-12· Hiαh 1	mparing ethnicity only. 3-16 ⁻³ Hunger reference	¹ Restraint reference $e values = I ow 0-3$.	values = Low, 4-14; N Medium 4-6: Hioh 7	/ledium, 15-17; High, 1 -14 (Stimkard and Mes	[8-21. ² Disinfution seick 1985)
[§] Sweet taste likers rated taste <i>i</i>	is significantly less int	ense at 60 g/L, 120 g/L	and 240 g/L concent	rations when compare	ed to sweet dislikers (P_{ϵ}	< 0.001). Bitter likers rated
all concentrations of taste as si	gnificantly less intense	e than bitter dislikers (<i>H</i>	P < 0.01). In contrast,	milk fat likers rated fa	t perception intensity a	is significantly more intense
UNARI TITLIK TAL CUSTIKETS AL UNE LV	/o mgnest concentration	ib %c.uz) yind siəvəl nu	nu 57.7% läl, F< U.U	.(0		

5.4.3. Taste perception and dietary intake

Across all participants (N= 304), sweet likers had a higher percentage of carbohydrate intake compared to sweet dislikers (mean 41 versus 39%, P < 0.05). Conversely, sweet likers had a decreased intake of fat (% energy) compared to sweet dislikers (mean 38 versus 40%, P < 0.01). However, there was no significant difference in the grams of carbohydrate (mean 202.9 versus 196.1 g) or fats (mean 88.3 versus 92.3 g) when comparing sweet likers and dislikers, respectively (P > 0.05).

When stratified by ethnic group, NZ European sweet likers had a significantly higher intake of carbohydrates, sugars and starch (199, 88 and 111 g/day respectively) when compared to sweet taste dislikers (166, 71 and 94 g/day, respectively; P < 0.01). As a percentage of energy, carbohydrates, sugars and starch intake were also significantly higher in NZ European sweet likers (41, 18 and 23% respectively) than in dislikers (35, 15 and 20% respectively, P < 0.01). There were no significant differences between Pacific sweet likers and sweet dislikers when comparing intake of macronutrients in grams or percentage of energy (unadjusted, Figure 1). There were no clear differences found for either bitter or milk fat hedonic liking clusters in relation to macronutrient (grams and percentage) or total energy intake in either ethnic group (Figure 5.1).



Pacific (N=142) and (B, D, F) NZ European (N= 162), unadjusted. Means (95% C.I.). C.I., confidence interval. Independent samples t-test. **P<

0.01, ***P < 0.001.

253

5.4.4. Associations between taste perception, dietary intake and body fat % groups

Linear regression analysis showed that Pacific sweet likers had a significantly higher protein intake (% energy), after adjusting for age, BF% and NZDep2013 (P< 0.01) and this effect was most pronounced in Pacific women with <35 BF% (Table 5.3). However, there were no other significant differences in total energy or macronutrient intake between sweet likers and dislikers in Pacific women (Table 5.3). Sensitivity analysis by removal of Pacific under- and over-reporters (n=53), as defined by the Goldberg equation, did not change the significant differences observed between sweet likers and dislikers in Pacific women (Suppl 5.6).

NZ European sweet likers had higher carbohydrate, sugar and starch intake compared to sweet dislikers, after adjustment for age, BF% and NZDep2013 (Table 5.3). NZ European sweet likers had a significantly decreased intake of fat and monounsaturated fat (% energy) (adjusted, P < 0.01; Table 3). Sugar (as % energy) and starch intake (in g) were significantly higher for sweet likers versus dislikers in NZ European women with >35 BF% (P < 0.05), but not in NZ European women with <35 BF% (Table 5.3). Sensitivity analysis by removal of NZ European under- and over-reporters (n=36), as defined by the Goldberg equation, did not change the significant differences observed between sweet likers and dislikers in NZ European women (Suppl 5.6).

Pacific (>35 BF%) and NZ European (<35 BF%) bitter likers had a decreased protein intake (g) compared to bitter dislikers (P< 0.05; Suppl 5.1). NZ European bitter likers had a higher intake of dietary fibre (% energy) than bitter dislikers (P< 0.01; Suppl 5.1). Pacific bitter likers (>35% BF%) had a higher alcohol intake (% energy) than bitter dislikers in the same BF% group (P< 0.05; Suppl 5.1). There were no other clear associations found in relation to bitter liking clusters in macronutrient or total energy intake within each BF% group in either NZ European or Pacific women (Suppl 5.1).

Pacific milk fat likers with >35 BF% had a higher intake of protein (g) than milk fat dislikers (P< 0.05; Suppl 5.2). NZ European milk fat likers with >35 BF% had a lower alcohol intake than milk fat dislikers (P< 0.05; Suppl 5.2). There were no other clear

associations found in relation to milk fat liking clusters in macronutrient or total energy intake in either NZ European or Pacific women (Suppl 5.2).

5.4.5. Taste ranking task outcome and dietary intake

There were no associations found in relation to ranking task outcomes and macronutrient or total energy intake (Suppl 5.3).

Table 5.3. Associatic	ons between macron	utrient intake and sw	eet liking in Pacific and	NZ European women (N=304).	
		Pacific (N= 142)		New 2	Zealand European (N	= 162)
Macronutrient intake	Sweet liking	Sweet liking	Sweet liking (groups)§	Sweet liking	Sweet liking	Sweet liking
	(groups)§	(groups)§	Pacific (all)	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§
	Low body fat (<35%)) High body fat (>35%	5) (n= 142)	Low body fat (<35%)	High body fat	NZ European (all)
	(n= 68)	(n= 74)		(n= 87)	(>35%) (n= 75)	(n= 162)
	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)^	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	
						B (95% C.I.)^
Total energy (kJ)	-608.6 (-2056.7,	-313.9 (-1670.1,	-458.8 (-1431.7, 514.1)	509.4 (-248.7,	156.0 (-641.0, 953.0)	271.6 (-260.7, 803.9)
	839.5)	1042.3)		1267.6)		
Protein (g)	1.09 (-13.2, 15.4)	1.97 (-10.4, 14.4)	2.11 (-7.15, 11.4)	-1.22 (-9.65, 7.20)	0.32 (-8.12, 8.76)	-0.83 (-6.56, 4.90)
Protein (%)	$1.80 \ (0.23, 3.38)^{*}$	1.06 (-0.58, 2.70)	$1.53 \ (0.41, 2.66)^{**}$	-1.15 (-2.82, 0.53)	-0.47 (-1.95, 1.01)	-0.79 (-1.88, 0.29)
Fat (g)	-4.05 (-20.3, 12.2)	-2.74 (-18.9, 13.4)	-3.40 (-14.7, 7.90)	-2.07 (-14.1, 9.92)	-8.02 (-22.1, 6.06)	-5.09 (-13.9, 3.73)
Fat (%)	1.08 (-1.82, 3.99)	-0.22 (-2.56, 2.11)	0.30 (-1.50, 2.10)	-3.97 (-7.29, -0.64)*	-4.43 (-7.90, -0.96)**	-3.99 (-6.29, -1.69)**
Saturated fat (g)	-0.99 (-8.11, 6.13)	-0.25 (-6.73, 7.23)	-0.20 (-5.11, 4.71)	-0.78 (-4.57, 6.13)	-2.80 (-9.52, 3.91)	-1.17 (-5.26, 2.92)
Saturated fat (%)	0.64 (-0.78, 2.05)	0.56 (-0.87, 1.98)	0.62 (-0.37, 1.61)	-0.93 (-2.70, 0.84)	-1.50 (-3.35, 0.35)	-1.18 (-2.41, 0.04)
Polyunsaturated fat (g)	-0.94 (-3.36, 1.47)	-1.48 (-3.77, 0.82)	-1.36 (-2.98, 0.27)	-0.15 (-3.06, 2.76)	-0.67 (-3.38, 2.04)	-0.38 (-2.29, 1.54)
Polyunsaturated fat (%)	-0.05 (-0.83, 0.72)	-0.41(-1.14, 0.33)	-0.31 (-0.82, 0.21)	-0.44 (-1.36, 0.47)	-0.42 (-1.33, 0.49)	-0.39 (-1.00, 0.23)
Monounsaturated fat (g)	-2.08 (-8.48, 4.33)	-1.72 (-8.31, 4.87)	-1.95 (-6.50, 2.60)	-2.38 (-7.00, 2.24)	-4.01 (-9.28, 1.26)	-3.14 (-6.48, 0.20)
Monounsaturated fat (%)0.26 (-1.10, 1.62)	-0.55 (-1.83, 0.73)	-0.23 (-1.15, 0.69)	-2.14 (-3.66, -0.62)**	-2.20 (-3.73, 0.67)**	-2.07 (-3.10, -
						1.04)***
Carbohydrate (g)	-26.3 (-66.2, 13.6)	-16.5 (-54.2, 21.3)	-21.4 (-48.3, 5.58)	33.1 (9.61, 56.6)**	29.9 (8.29, 51.4)**	29.8 (14.3, 45.4)***
Carbohydrate (%)	-2.94 (-6.39, 0.52)	-1.35 (-3.95, 1.26)	-2.04 (-4.13, 0.05)	4.97 (1.42, 8.52)**	5.76 (1.87, 9.66)**	5.42 (2.90, 7.93)***
Total sugar (g)	-15.5 (-34.4, 3.50)	-6.09 (-25.3, 13.1)	-11.4 (-24.8, 2.04)	15.9 (4.09, 27.7)**	15.0 (2.60, 27.3)*	15.1 (6.88, 23.4)***
Total sugar (%)	-2.24 (-4.80, 0.33)	-0.00 (-2.42, 2.41)	-1.16 (-2.93, 0.61)	2.18 (-0.01, 4.37)	3.32 (0.62, 6.02)*	2.93 (1.27, 4.58)**
Starch (g)	-10.51 (-35.6, 14.6)	-10.5 (-34.2, 13.3)	-9.82 (-26.8, 7.16)	17.0 (-0.56, 34.5)	14.8 (0.81, 28.8)*	14.6 (3.69, 25.5)**
Starch (%)	-0.62 (-2.99, 1.75)	-1.36 (-3.42, 0.70)	-0.85 (-2.37, 0.67)	2.75 (-0.07, 5.57)	2.43 (-0.23, 5.08)	2.48 (0.62, 4.34)**
Dietary fibre (g)	-2.89 (-6.42, 0.65)	-0.01 (-3.20, 3.17)	-1.55 (-3.87, 0.77)	0.46 (-3.74, 4.66)	1.72 (-1.34, 4.78)	1.18 (-1.31, 3.67)
Dietary fibre (%)	-0.16 (-0.38, 0.06)	0.13 (-0.12, 0.38)	-0.01 (-0.18, 0.15)	-0.09 (-0.44, 0.25)	0.16 (-0.14, 0.45)	0.06 (-0.16, 0.28)
Alcohol (g)	-0.34 (-7.85, 7.17)	1.14 (-1.40, 3.68)	0.12 (-3.55, 3.80)	1.58 (-4.44, 7.60)	-2.44 (-7.44, 2.55)	-1.34 (-5.19, 2.52)
Alcohol (%)	0.18 (-1.56, 1.93)	0.37 (-0.46, 1.20)	0.21 (-0.70, 1.11)	0.30 (-1.72, 2.32)	-0.97 (-2.74, 0.79)	-0.65 (-1.96, 0.67)
General linear model co	pefficients and 95% C	I adjusted for # age an	d NZDep2013 and for $^{\Lambda}$ $_{i}$	ige, NZDep2013 and B	F% (groups). *P< 0.0:	5, **P < 0.01, ***P <
0.001. BF%, body fat p	ercentage. §Reference	e category: sweet dislil	kers, Pacific sweet dislike	rs n= 90; NZ European	sweet dislikers n= 89.	. Statistically significant
observations are highlight	ghted in bold.					

5.4.6. Relationships between eating behaviour and sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat liking and ranking task outcome

NZ European sweet likers had a 19% increase in disinhibition score compared to NZ European sweet dislikers (adjusted, P < 0.01; Table 5.4), however, no differences were observed in Pacific women. In NZ European, situational disinhibition was significantly higher in sweet likers than dislikers, after adjusting for age, NZDep2013 and BF% (adjusted, P < 0.01; Table 5.4). Emotional disinhibition was 26% higher in NZ European sweet likers compared to NZ European dislikers without adjusting for BF% (P < 0.05), however adjustment for BF% attenuated this association (adjusted, P > 0.05; Table 5.4). No significant associations were found between sweet taste ranking task outcomes and eating behaviour scores, after adjustment for confounders.

Pacific bitter likers had a 34% higher habitual disinhibition score than Pacific bitter dislikers (adjusted ratio = 1.3, P < 0.05; Suppl. 5.4). In addition, Pacific milk fat likers had a 25% higher external locus hunger score compared to Pacific milk fat dislikers (adjusted ratio = 1.3, P < 0.05; Suppl 5.5). No other significant associations were found between bitter and milk fat taste liking groups and eating behaviour scores (Suppl. 5.4 and 5.5), or between bitter and milk fat ranking task outcomes and eating behaviour scores.

÷
÷
X
\mathcal{Q}
ω
<u>, II</u>
Z
E
-
\sim
60
·=
\mathbf{A}
• —
0
0
ŭ
<u> </u>
∇
O)
<u>н</u>
a
d
E
P
0
<u></u>
J
pD
đ
.=
—
()
9
5
E
<u> </u>
i.
5
<u>×</u>
Ψ.
~
5
•1
Ч
5
~
5
-
1
.9
-2-
5
<u></u>
<u> </u>
e
9
60
·=
Ľ
ŭ
e
H
Q.
õ
2
5
60
ň
<u> </u>
\sim
Õ.
· 🗖
Ч
\sim
5
Ξ
.2
Ξ.
Ð.
O,
~
(.
Ľ.
4. F
. 4. F
5.4. F
5.4. F
le 5.4. F
ole 5.4. F
hble 5.4. F
able 5.4. F
Fable 5.4. F

		Unadjusted			Adjusted	
	Sweet liking	Sweet liking	Sweet liking	Sweet liking	Sweet liking	Sweet liking
	(groups)	(groups)	(groups)	(groups)	(groups)	(groups)
	Low BF (<35%)	High BF (>35%)	TOTAL ‡	Low BF (<35%) #	High BF (>35%) #	TOTAL ^
Pacific $(N = 142)$	(n= 68)	(n= 74)	(n= 142)	(n= 68)	(n= 74)	(n= 142)
	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)
Cognitive dietary restraint ¹	1.06(0.77, 1.46)	1.08 (0.84, 1.40)	1.07 (0.88, 1.31)	$1.05\ (0.75,\ 1.46)$	$1.06\ (0.82,\ 1.38)$	1.05 (0.85, 1.29)
Flexible control restraint	1.07 (0.79, 1.44)	1.24 (0.95, 1.62)	1.15(0.95, 1.41)	1.06(0.78, 1.44)	1.23 (0.93, 1.61)	1.15(0.94, 1.40)
Rigid control restraint	1.25(0.89, 1.74)	1.00 (0.74, 1.34)	1.11 (0.89, 1.39)	1.25(0.89, 1.75)	$0.94\ (0.70,\ 1.26)$	$1.09\ (0.87, 1.35)$
Disinhibition ²	0.98 (0.76, 1.27)	0.96 (0.79, 1.17)	0.97 (0.83, 1.14)	0.95 (0.73, 1.25)	$0.97\ (0.80,\ 1.19)$	0.96 (0.81, 1.12)
Habitual disinhibition	$0.87 \ (0.66, 1.15)$	$0.86\ (0.65,\ 1.14)$	0.87 (0.71, 1.05)	$0.85\ (0.63,\ 1.13)$	$0.86\ (0.64,\ 1.15)$	$0.86\ (0.70,1.05)$
Emotional disinhibition	0.96(0.74, 1.26)	1.16 (0.89, 1.52)	1.06 (0.88, 1.28)	1.00(0.75, 1.32)	1.16(0.88, 1.52)	1.08(0.89, 1.30)
Situational disinhibition	1.11 (0.84, 1.45)	1.03 (0.84, 1.25)	1.07 (0.90, 1.26)	$1.04\ (0.79,\ 1.38)$	1.05(0.86, 1.28)	1.03 (0.87, 1.22)
Hunger ³	1.28 (0.94, 1.73)	0.89 (0.72, 1.10)	1.06 (0.88, 1.27)	1.25(0.91, 1.72)	0.90 (0.72, 1.12)	1.05(0.87, 1.27)
Internal locus hunger	$1.67\ (0.85, 1.60)$	$0.84 \ (0.66, 1.07)$	0.99(0.81, 1.20)	1.13 (0.81, 1.59)	$0.84\ (0.65,\ 1.08)$	$0.96\ (0.79,1.18)$
External locus hunger	1.19 (0.91, 1.57)	0.97 (0.76, 1.24)	1.07 (0.90, 1.29)	1.15 (0.87, 1.53)	1.00 (0.78, 1.28)	1.07 (0.89, 1.29)
NZ European (N=162)	(n= 87)	(n= 75)	(n= 162)	(n= 87)	(n= 75)	(n= 162)
Cognitive dietary restraint ¹	0.92 (0.72, 1.18)	0.96 (0.75, 1.24)	0.94 (0.79, 1.12)	0.90 (0.67, 1.12)	0.95 (0.74, 0.23)	0.91 (0.76, 1.08)
Flexible control restraint	0.92 (0.75, 1.12)	1.04 (0.84, 1.29)	0.97 (0.84, 1.12)	$0.86\ (0.70,\ 1.05)$	$1.04\ (0.83,\ 1.30)$	$0.94\ (0.82, 1.09)$
Rigid control restraint	$0.91 \ (0.73, 1.14)$	1.04 (0.82, 1.32)	$0.97\ (0.83,1.14)$	0.92(0.73, 1.16)	$1.02\ (0.80,\ 1.30)$	0.95(0.81, 1.11)
Disinhibition ²	1.28 (1.04, 1.57)*	1.15 (0.98, 1.36)	1.22 (1.07, 1.39)**	1.23(1.00, 1.53)	1.16(0.98, 1.38)	1.19 (1.04, 1.36)
Habitual disinhibition	1.15(0.88, 1.50)	1.11 (0.84, 1.46)	1.13 (0.94, 1.37)	$1.18\ (0.90,1.55)$	1.15 (0.88, 1.52)	1.13 (0.93, 1.37)
Emotional disinhibition	1.16(0.90, 1.50)	1.18 (0.96, 1.46)	1.17 (0.99, 1.38)	1.15(0.88, 1.52)	1.19(0.96, 1.48)	1.17(0.99, 1.39)
Situational disinhibition	$1.24 \ (1.04, 1.48)^{*}$	1.18 (1.00, 1.39)	1.21 (1.07, 1.37)**	1.20(0.99, 1.45)	1.18(1.00, 1.39)	1.18 (1.04, 1.32)**
Hunger ³	1.07 (0.85, 1.35)	1.11 (0.85, 1.46)	1.09 (0.92, 1.30)	1.06 (1.83, 1.34)	1.08(0.82, 1.43)	1.05(0.88, 1.25)
Internal locus hunger	1.03 (0.79, 1.34)	1.06 (0.78, 1.43)	1.04 (0.86, 1.27)	$1.02\ (0.77,\ 1.35)$	1.04(0.77, 1.42)	1.03 (0.84, 1.25)
External locus hunger	1.14 (0.90, 1.44)	1.18 (0.90, 1.54)	1.16 (0.97, 1.38)	1.12 (0.88, 1.44)	1.15(0.89, 1.50)	1.10 (0.93, 1.32)
All dependent values log tra	insformed. General li	near model exponer	ntiated coefficients and	1 95% CI adjusted fo	rt ‡ BF% group; # age	, NZDep; for $^{\wedge}$ age,
NZDep2013 and BF% groul	p. *P< 0.05, **P< 0.0	01, ***P< 0.001. C.	I., confidence interval	. BF%, body fat perc	centage. Reference cat	egory: sweet dislikers,
Pacific sweet dislikers n= 9(0; NZ European swee	et dislikers n= 89. 1 F	Restraint reference valuation	les = Low, 4-14; Me	dium, 15-17; High, 18	8-21. ² Disinhibition
reference values = Low , 1-8	i; Medium, 9-12; Hig	h, 13-16. ³ Hunger r	eference values = Low	['] , 0-3; Medium, 4-6;	High, 7-14 (Stunkard	and Messick, 1985).
Statistically significant obse	trvations are highligh	ted in bold.				

5.5. Discussion

The present study aimed to increase our understanding of sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception and associations with dietary intake, using a 5-day food record, and eating behaviour, using a three-factor eating questionnaire, in Pacific and NZ European women. These associations were explored in obese and non-obese participants. An adjustment was made for potential factors influencing dietary intake, including age, adiposity and socioeconomic status.

5.5.1. Participant demographics, dietary intake and eating behaviour

Associations between taste perception, dietary intake and eating behaviour were explored separately in Pacific and NZ European women. Pacific women in this study were younger, more likely to reside in a socioeconomically deprived area and had a higher BMI than NZ European women. NZ European women with obesity were older and had a significantly higher deprivation score than non-obese NZ European. However, there were no significant differences between any of the study groups (Pacific and NZ European; obese versus non-obese) for mean energy intakes. Our results are similar to energy intakes reported in previous studies (Pacific: 8700 to 10,300 kJ/day; NZ European: 8100 to 8500 kJ/day) (Metcalf et al., 2008; Ministry of Health, 2011). Participants consumed adequate protein but higher fat, saturated fat and sugar; and lower levels of carbohydrate compared to the acceptable macronutrient distribution ranges (AMDRs) for NZ adults (NHMRC, 2006).

Pacific women had a higher intake of total carbohydrates, sugar and starch; but lower intake of dietary fibre and alcohol in comparison to NZ European women. There are a number of well documented factors contributing to differences in dietary intake between Pacific and NZ European women. For example, some Pacific families have an increased number of social and special occasions where food can play an important role (Tupai-Firestone et al., 2016). Other factors which may influence dietary intake in Pacific

women are socioeconomic status and food availability. For example, it has been observed that takeaway food outlets are more common in socioeconomically deprived areas (Mackay, Vandevijvere, Xie, Lee, and Swinburn, 2017; Oaken, Vaughan, Fa'avale, Ware, and Schubert, 2017) and decreased intake of healthy food options may be due to cost (Pechey and Monsivais, 2016). However, some Pacific women residing in NZ may have a similar dietary intake to that of NZ European women through acculturation (Wall et al., 2016). Therefore, it was considered necessary to adjust for socioeconomic status in the current study to acknowledge how dietary quality can be impacted by socioeconomic factors.

Disinhibited eating behaviour was higher and predisposition to hunger was lower in NZ European compared with Pacific women. This implies NZ European women may be more prone to eating in times of stress or eating in response to heightened palatability, as reported in previous studies (Haynes, Lee, and Yeomans, 2003; Yeomans, 2010). Susceptibility to feelings of hunger may result in impulsive eating, or increased consumption of food outside of mealtimes (Booth, Spronk, Grol, and Fox, 2018). Feelings of increased hunger in Pacific women may be associated with dysregulated reward signalling pathways, which has been associated with the metabolic dysregulation of satiety signals (Barkeling, King, Näslund, and Blundell, 2007). In both Pacific and NZ European women, those with higher body fat had significantly higher disinhibition score than non-obese women. This finding is similar to other studies in New Zealand where disinhibition was positively associated with BMI in premenopausal women (Kruger et al., 2016). Another study showed that individuals who have difficulty maintaining their weight had a higher disinhibition score than those described as resistant to obesity (Brown et al., 2014). Similar associations were also observed in a French population (Lesdéma et al., 2012). NZ European women with high body fat % from the present study had lower restraint and higher hunger scores compared with women with low body fat %. Interestingly, these differences were not observed in Pacific women, and no differences in the other eating behaviour scores were observed in Pacific women when comparing body fat % groups. In summary, there were underlying differences in both dietary intake and eating behaviour observed when comparing Pacific and NZ European women.

5.5.2. Sweet taste liking and dietary intake

This study showed clear associations between sweet taste liking and increased carbohydrate, starch and sugar intakes in NZ European women. However, no significant associations were observed in Pacific women. The results from this study are similar to data published by Jayasinghe et al (2017), where dietary sugar and carbohydrate intake in NZ European women were positively correlated with hedonic liking and negatively correlated with intensity ratings of suprathreshold concentrations of glucose. In both studies, heterogeneity in sweet taste perception was observed between participants and sweet taste was measured using glucose solutions as tastants. In contrast, other studies have used sucrose and found no association between taste intensity perception and diet (Leong et al., 2018; Stevenson et al., 2016).

Sweet taste intensity ratings have been shown to be linked with specific dietary preferences and can change when dietary patterns change, as shown in diet intervention studies, being attributed to the alteration in the expression of associated taste receptors TAS1R2 and TAS1R3 (Wise et al., 2016). In the dietary intervention study by Wise et al, it was shown that during the third month of low-sugar dietary intervention, both low and high in sugar puddings were rated as 40% sweeter than the control group ratings, compared to no difference in the ratings at baseline (Wise et al., 2016). The present study clearly shows that a lower sweet taste perception combined with a higher sweet taste preference is linked with an increase in dietary intake of sweet-tasting food in NZ European women. Previous work has shown that the liking of sweet and fat together may be linked to the overconsumption of corresponding foods (Deglaire et al., 2015). In this study, total fat intake was high (~40% of total energy intake) and saturated fat intake (~15% of total energy intake) exceeded the AMDRs (NHMRC, 2006) together with an excess of total sugar intake. These data suggest a shift in dietary habits, where highly palatable and highly processed foods become a major part of the diet, as opposed to well balanced meals. Further supporting evidence for this concerning relationship comes from intervention studies which have provided evidence that high-fat diets are associated with desensitised fatty acid taste perception in humans (Stewart and Keast, 2012) and in animal models (Zhang et al., 2011).

In the present study, associations between sweet taste perception and dietary intake and eating behaviour that we observed in NZ European women were not observed in Pacific women. It can be speculated that differences in taste-diet associations may be linked to cultural differences in nutrition (Overberg et al., 2012). When comparing Pacific sweet likers and dislikers there was no difference observed in carbohydrate, sugar or starch intakes, but instead, there was a difference in protein intake. There may be a long-term biological adaptation to sugar in NZ European women, which may act to condition inherited taste preferences, influencing life-long dietary habits (Mennella, 2014). For example, traditional diets of the Pacific Islands are high in fresh fruits, complex carbohydrates and fibre (Shintani and Hughes, 1994). On the other hand, traditional European recipes and diets are higher in sugar (Baschetti, 1998). Another study has shown significant differences in maternal child-feeding style between ethnic groups, which may be further linked to long-term eating behaviour (Korani, Rea, King, and Brown, 2018). In addition, another study showed that Hispanics and African Americans rated taste sensations higher than non-Hispanic Whites (Williams et al., 2016).

In this study, however, there was no difference between the number of sweet likers versus dislikers when comparing Pacific and NZ European women, so it is difficult to speculate that differences in the perceived taste of food is associated with variation in food intake. The differences observed between Pacific and NZ European women in sweet taste perception and dietary intake may be indicative of differences in the cognitive response to taste perception instead, in association with appetite and long-term signalling pathways (Rolls, 2016; Veldhuizen et al., 2017). NZ European sweet likers had a higher cognitive disinhibition score than dislikers, which was not observed in Pacific women. This finding supports an association between reward signalling pathways, sweet taste perception and dietary intake. However, further research in this area is warranted, alongside a range of other potential influences on taste and dietary intakes, such as physical activity and sleep (Lenard and Berthoud, 2008; Smith, Ludy, and Tucker, 2016).

5.5.3. Bitter and milk fat perception and dietary intake

Firstly, we established that bitter intensity ratings were associated with hedonic liking, establishing a clear dose-dependent relationship. Milk fat liking and intensity ratings showed a less pronounced relationship, with the hedonic liking rating of bitter taste only corresponding to taste intensity rating at high concentrations (>20.3% fat). However, we found only minor associations between bitter taste and milk fat hedonic liking cluster groups and dietary intake. NZ European bitter likers had an increased intake of dietary fibre compared to bitter dislikers. For both Pacific and NZ European women (obese and non-obese groups, respectively), bitter likers had a decreased protein intake compared to dislikers. It is feasible that bitter liking may influence dietary fibre intake, as this may be indicative of increased cruciferous vegetable intake, due to a less adverse response to bitter-tasting compounds (Ortega et al., 2016), which has been observed in previous studies (Barajas-Ramírez, Quintana-Castro, Oliart-Ros, and Angulo-Guerrero, 2016; Duffy et al., 2010). The basis for an association between dietary protein and bitter taste perception is unclear.

Interestingly, being a milk fat liker was not associated with the increased intake of dietary fat when compared to dislikers. Similar results have been observed in other studies investigating fatty acid taste perception and dietary intake of fat (Costanzo, Orellana, Nowson, Duesing, and Keast, 2017; Stewart and Keast, 2012; Tucker, Nuessle, Garneau, Smutzer, and Mattes, 2015). The present study found that NZ European milk fat likers with higher body fat had decreased alcohol intake compared to milk fat dislikers. The basis for this association is also unclear. Further investigation into food choice and food group intake is warranted in order to substantiate these results.

5.5.4. Taste perception and eating behaviour

Disinhibited eating behaviour, measured by the TFEQ, was linked with sweet liking, however, this relationship was dependent on ethnicity. NZ European sweet likers had a significantly higher disinhibition score than sweet dislikers. Alongside increased disinhibition, NZ European sweet likers had higher situational disinhibition eating behaviour scores than sweet dislikers. Decreased intensity ratings of both sweet and fatty solutions have been previously associated with a greater reinforcing value of food, or the motivation to get food, as a predictor of energy intake (Panek-Scarborough, Dewey, and Temple, 2012). Therefore, this study supports the hypothesis that people with lower sensitivity to sweet taste, could be vulnerable to overconsumption in order to compensate for a diminished reward that they may experience (Noel, Sugrue, and Dando, 2017). In Pacific women, there were no differences in eating behaviour when comparing sweet likers and dislikers. The reason for a lack of an association between taste perception and eating behaviour in Pacific women is currently unclear, however, it does mirror the lack of an association between taste perception and dietary intake. This indicates that there are important links between taste, diet and eating behaviour that warrants further investigation. A few studies have shown that increased disinhibition is associated with decreased fatty acid taste perception (Kindleysides et al., 2017; Tomassini Barbarossa et al., 2013). To date, few studies which have investigated associations between taste perception and eating behaviour.

5.5.5. Strengths and limitations

One of the strengths of this taste perception study was that the number of participants was relatively high compared to other sensory studies (Tan and Tucker, 2019). In addition, we were able to make comparisons between low and high body fat groups, thus filling a knowledge gap that has been identified in previous studies (Zhou et al., 2016). The sweet taste glucose solutions used in this study provided clear data on taste perception, similar to a recent study that drew comparisons between taste perception and the dietary intake of sweet foods (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). Quinine was chosen to measure bitter taste perception as it has been shown to be representative of broader taste function, as well as being strongly correlated with other bitter taste sensations, such as propylthiouracil (Rawal et al., 2015). Finally, milk and cream solutions were used to measure the perception of fat perception or creaminess, which has been suggested to play a role in influencing satiety (Proserpio et al., 2016).

The results presented in this study need to be considered alongside several limitations, which may have confounded our results. Firstly, all taster groups were described as

either 'liker' or 'disliker' phenotype groups due to the derivation of only two groups from the hierarchical cluster analysis. However, the group 'bitter likers' may be more accurately described as 'bitter neutral' and the group 'milk fat dislikers' may be more accurately described as 'milk fat neutral'. In studies where three groups are derived from hierarchical cluster analysis, the naming of the middle group as a taster 'neutral' group is clearly appropriate. Response patterns for taste, such as sweet taste, would be best represented by three distinct phenotypes (likers, neutral and dislikers) (Iatridi et al., 2019). In this study it could be argued that taster 'neutral' individuals were therefore categorised into either the 'liker' or 'disliker' group for each taste type. It is acknowledged there is a lack of an intermediate phenotype for each taste type and this may have obfuscated associations and health outcomes of interest.

In the current study glucose was the sweet taste stimulus chosen because glucose is a simple sugar/monosaccharide which is sensed throughout the body, including the gastrointestinal tract (Jayasinghe et al., 2017). However, the majority of previous studies have used the disaccharide sucrose as a sweet taste stimulus instead (Cox et al, 2015, Tan and Tucker, 2019). The choice of the sweet taste stimulus and the concentrations tested (0 g/L – 240 g/L) may in part explain the lack of a neutral or middle phenotype derived from the hierarchical cluster analysis. The testing of higher concentrations of sweetness or the use of sucrose, which is perceived as sweeter than glucose (Peng, Hautus, Oey, and Silcock, 2016), may have also resulted in a decreased number of sweet taste dislikers found in recent studies from the US (Garneau et al., 2018), Korea (Kim et al., 2017) and the UK (Iatridi et al., 2019) where 20-25% of participants were sweet dislikers. Future studies will compare different types of sweeteners and sweet taste phenotype.

Secondly, the study was cross-sectional and therefore can only infer associations, but the results do not inform causality (Sedgwick, 2014). Thirdly, a range of dietary assessments can be used to evaluate both actual energy intake (food records, 24-hour recalls) and usual dietary intake (food frequency questionnaires, diet history) (Biro, Hulshof, Ovesen, and Amorim Cruz, 2002). The use of the 5-day non-consecutive food record is considered a limitation, as self-reported measurements of diet are less reliable than validation methods using biomarkers (i.e. double labelled water). In addition, women with higher body fat are more likely to under report (Gemming, Jiang, Swinburn, Utter, and Mhurchu, 2014). As such, data was further explored using sensitivity analysis by the removal of under- and over reporters as determined by the Goldberg equation (Black, 2000; Goldberg et al., 1991), which verified no differences in key study outcomes. The epidemiological cut-offs used in this study are therefore considered valid and reliable and exclusion of participants by the Goldberg equation did not provide any added advantage, as reported previously (Rhee et al., 2015).

Measurements of milk fat perception (liking, intensity, and ranking task) were not a direct measurement of 'taste', primarily due to the presence of non-taste sensory inputs such as mouthfeel and aroma. In contrast, the measurements of sweet and bitter taste were liquid solutions that are suggested to have less relevance to 'real world' experiences (Cox et al., 2015; Rozin and Tuorila, 1993). This study lacked comprehensive descriptions of sensory attributes, which would be representative of actual foods consumed. Measurement of taste perception using food-based tastants would have provided additional information (Alexy et al., 2011; Lanfer et al., 2012). Therefore, it is recommended that future studies consider incorporating the sensory evaluation of whole foods, alongside the consideration of percepts such as olfaction, to determine the multi-modal sensory impact on dietary intake and food preferences (Cox et al., 2015). Future studies may further investigate differences between sub-populations within an ethnic group (i.e. Pacific peoples of Tongan, Samoan and Fijian descent).

5.5.6. Conclusion

This study has several important findings. The primary finding was that increased hedonic liking of sweet taste is associated with the increased intake of carbohydrates, sugars and starch in NZ European women. This aligned with decreased sweet taste intensity perception being associated with increased hedonic liking of sweet taste. In addition, the increased hedonic liking of sweet taste was associated with disinhibited eating behaviour in the same population group. However, these associations were not observed in Pacific women. Other minor associations were observed. Pacific and NZ

European bitter likers (high and low body fat %, respectively) had a decreased protein intake compared to bitter dislikers. NZ European bitter likers had a higher intake of dietary fibre (% energy) than bitter dislikers and Pacific milk fat likers with high body fat % had a higher intake of protein than milk fat dislikers.

This is the first study to report relationships between taste perception, eating behaviour and dietary intake, adjusting for socioeconomic status and age in non-obese and obese Pacific and NZ European women. These findings may inform future longitudinal and intervention studies. Future longitudinal studies may be able to determine if taste perception changes alongside variations in dietary intake. Future intervention studies may consider targeting the association between taste perception and post-ingestive effects, where taste receptor expression may be targeted to adjust long-term dietary intake. However, a better understanding of the relationship between taste perception may be influencing eating behaviour, and therefore, dietary intake; however, the relative degree of this influence is further affected by ethnicity, socio-economic cultural and environmental factors.

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by the Health Research Council (HRC), New Zealand. We would like to thank the HRC. SK would like to thank Massey University for the Doctoral Scholarship (College of Health). The authors would like to thank the PROMISE participants for their devoted participation in this trial. The authors would like to thank all the students and staff who participated in data collection for this study: MSc candidates: Shivon Singh, Elizabeth Cullen, Bronte Anscombe, Beatrice Drury and Laura Mickleson. We gratefully acknowledge our research staff, assistants and volunteers: Niamh Brennan, Moana Manukia, Marilize Richter, Owen Mugridge, Shakeela Jayasinghe, Sherina Holland, Guojiao (Maggie) Cao, Ashleigh Jackson, PC Tong, Sunna Jacobsen and Carolin Friedle.

Suppl 5.1. Association	n between daily mac	ronutrient intake and	bitter liking clusters	in Pacific and NZ Eu	ropean women (N=	304).
		Pacific $(N=142)$		New Z	ealand European (N:	= 162)
Macronutrient intake	Bitter liking	Bitter liking	Bitter liking	Bitter liking	Bitter liking	Bitter liking
	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§
·	Low body fat (<35%)	High body fat (>35%)	Pacific (all)	Low body fat (<35%)	High body fat	NZ European (all)
	(n= 68)	(n= 74)	(n= 142)	(n= 87)	(>35%) (n= 75)	(n= 162)
	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)^	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)^
Total energy (kJ)	-385.0 (-1262.0,	-1636.8 (-3646.6,	-349.2 (-1594.2,	-621.0 (-1511.2,	-47.2 (-1218.5,	-413.2 (-1112.7,
	2032.0)	373.1)	895.8)	269.2)	1124.0)	286.3)
Protein (g)	0.26 (-16.0, 16.5)	-23.0 (-40.8, -5.09)*	-8.42 (-20.2, 3.33)	-11.6 (-21.2, -2.03)*	0.61 (-11.8, 13.0)	-7.44(-14.9,0.01)
Protein (%)	-0.14 (-2.00, 1.72)	-1.16 (-3.65, 1.32)	-0.62 (-2.09, 0.85)	-1.37 (-3.33, 0.60)	0.19 (-1.98, 2.37)	-0.86 (-2.29, 0.57)
Fat (g)	1.83 (-16.6, 20.3)	-16.2 (-40.3, 7.80)	-5.05 (-19.5, 9.37)	-8.29 (-22.3, 5.69)	2.76 (-18.1, 23.6)	-4.09 (-15.7, 7.55)
Fat (%)	-0.42 (-3.72, 2.88)	0.25 (-3.26, 3.77)	-0.33 (-2.63, 1.97)	-0.21 (-4.25, 3.83)	1.25 (-4.06, 6.57)	0.39 (-2.75, 3.53)
Saturated fat (g)	0.62 (-7.45, 8.69)	-7.00 (-17.4, 3.39)	-2.28 (-8.54, 3.98)	-5.64(-11.8, 0.53)	1.04 (-8.86, 10.9)	-3.18 (-8.54, 2.18)
Saturated fat (%)	-0.33 (-1.94, 1.28)	-0.47 (-2.63, 1.69)	-0.44 (-1.71, 0.83)	-0.97 (-3.05, 1.11)	0.57 (-2.20, 3.33)	-0.38 (-2.01, 1.25)
Polyunsaturated fat (g)	-0.03 (-2.78, 2.73)	-2.27 (-5.73, 1.19)	-0.84 (-2.93, 1.26)	0.55 (-2.87, 3.97)	0.95 (-3.03, 4.93)	0.83 (-1.70, 3.35)
Polyunsaturated fat (%)	0.07 (-0.81, 0.95)	0.19(-0.93, 1.30)	-0.10 (-0.57, 0.76)	0.56 (-0.51, 1.63)	0.47 (-0.87, 1.81)	0.58 (-0.24, 1.39)
Monounsaturated fat (g)	1.56 (-5.71, 8.83)	-5.29 (-15.2, 4.58)	-1.06 (-6.88, 4.76)	-2.45 (-7.89, 2.99)	0.52 (-7.35, 8.38)	-1.40 (-5.84, 3.03)
Monounsaturated fat (%)	0.02 (-1.52, 1.56)	0.48 (-1.46, 2.41)	0.13 (-1.05, 1.30)	0.18 (-1.69, 2.05)	0.15 (-2.22, 2.52)	0.14(-1.29, 1.56)
Carbohydrate (g)	15.5 (-30.1, 61.2)	-42.9 (-99.1, 13.4)	-4.84 (-39.5, 29.9)	-15.5 (-44.2, 13.2)	-11.5 (-44.8, 21.7)	-13.8 (-35.1, 7.44)
Carbohydrate (%)	0.58 (-3.41, 4.58)	-0.33 (-4.28, 3.63)	0.49 (-2.21, 3.19)	-0.50 (-4.86, 3.87)	1.69 (-7.74, 4.36)	-0.83 (-4.32, 2.66)
Total sugar (g)	-0.70 (-22.6, 21.2)	-19.8 (-48.5, 8.82)	-7.26 (-24.5, 10.0)	-6.25 (-20.7, 8.16)	-8.93 (-27.7, 9.84)	-7.05 (-18.3, 4.19)
Total sugar (%)	-1.54 (-4.49, 1.42)	-0.03 (-3.66, 3.61)	-0.82 (-3.10, 1.45)	0.01 (-2.63, 2.65)	-1.97 (-6.08, 2.13)	-0.58 (-2.84, 1.68)
Starch (g)	16.5 (-11.8, 44.8)	-23.3 (-58.9, 12.3)	2.43 (-19.4, 24.2)	-9.41 (-30.3, 11.5)	-2.55 (-23.7, 18.6)	-6.78 (-21.4, 7.87)
Starch (%)	2.18 (-0.45, 4.81)	-0.38 (-3.52, 2.76)	1.31 (-0.63, 3.24)	-0.55 (-3.93, 2.84)	0.28 (-3.71, 4.27)	-0.26 (-2.76, 2.24)
Dietary fibre (g)	-0.23 (-4.32, 3.86)	-3.03 (-7.77, 1.71)	-1.29 (-4.27, 1.68)	1.74 (-3.18, 6.66)	4.25 (-0.17, 8.67)	2.70 (-0.56, 5.96)
Dietary fibre (%)	-0.02 (-0.27, 0.24)	0.07 (-0.31, 0.45)	0.01 (-0.21, 0.22)	0.34 (-0.06, 0.74)	$0.44 (-0.01, 0.86)^{*}$	$0.38 \ (0.10, \ 0.66)^{**}$
Alcohol (g)	1.99 (-6.50, 10.5)	3.71 (-0.04, 7.45)	2.68 (-1.99, 7.35)	4.40 (-2.62, 11.4)	-0.35 (-7.73, 7.04)	2.42 (-2.65, 7.49)
Alcohol (%)	0.01 (-1.96, 1.99)	1.27 (0.05, 2.49)*	0.50 (-0.65, 1.66)	1.69 (-0.66, 4.03)	-0.35 (-2.96, 2.26)	0.84 (-0.90, 2.57)
General linear model cot	efficients and 95% CI	adjusted for # age and	NZDep2013 and for $^{\wedge}$	age, NZDep2013 and B	F% (groups). *P<0.	05, ** <i>P</i> < 0.01, *** <i>P</i> <
0.001. B, unstandardizec	l coefficient; C.I., con	fidence interval; BF%,	body fat percentage. §	Reference category: Bit	ter dislikers, Pacific b	oitter dislikers n= 117;
NZ European bitter disli	kers n= 134.					

Suppl 5.2. Association	n between daily macr	onutrient intake and	d milk fat liking clust	ers in Pacific and NZ	European women (N	=304).
		Pacific (N= 142)		New 2	Zealand European (N=	= 162)
Macronutrient intake	Milk fat liking					
	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§	(groups)§
	Low body fat (<35%)	High body fat	Pacific (all)	Low body fat (<35%)	High body fat	NZ European (all)
	(n= 68)	(>35%) (n= 74)	(n= 142)	(n= 87)	(>35%) (n=75)	(n= 162)
	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)^	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)^
Total energy (kJ)	-733.2 (-2346.8, 880.4)	515.6 (-853.3, 1884.5)	33.4 (-989.4, 1056.2)	-339.4 (-1133.3, 454.4)	-376.1 (-1306.7, 554.5)	-342.3 (-939.8, 255.1)
Protein (g)	-6.04 (-21.9, 9.85)	12.7 (0.48, 24.8)*	5.58 (-4.09, 15.2)	5.10 (-3.59, 13.8)	-2.32 (-12.2, 7.56)	2.24 (-4.19, 8.68)
Protein (%)	0.36 (-1.47, 2.19)	1.56 (-0.08, 3.19)	1.09 (-0.11, 2.28)	1.67 (-0.06, 3.39)	0.26 (-1.48, 2.00)	1.12 (-0.10, 2.33)
Fat (g)	-9.68 (-27.7, 8.33)	7.65 (-8.60, 23.9)	1.03 (-10.8, 12.9)	-5.33 (-17.8, 7.11)	-0.03 (-16.7, 16.6)	-2.95 (-12.9, 7.00)
Fat (%)	0.11 (-3.14, 3.36)	-1.26 (-1.08, 3.60)	0.82 (-1.06, 2.70)	-1.20 (-4.77, 2.37)	0.86 (-3.38, 5.11)	-0.31 (-2.99, 2.38)
Saturated fat (g)	-4.18(-12.1, 3.70)	2.41 (-4.64, 9.45)	-0.14 (-5.28, 5.01)	-2.64 (-8.18, 2.90)	2.17 (-5.73, 10.1)	-0.57 (-5.16, 4.03)
Saturated fat (%)	-0.25 (-1.83, 1.34)	0.41 (-1.04, 1.86)	0.15 (-0.90, 1.19)	-0.62 (-2.47, 1.23)	1.42 (-0.76, 3.61)	0.24 (-1.16, 1.63)
Polyunsaturated fat (g)	-1.44 (-4.13, 1.24)	1.74 (-0.57, 4.06)	0.45 (-1.27, 2.17)	-0.50 (-3.53, 2.52)	-0.25 (-3.43, 2.93)	-0.41 (-2.56, 1.75)
Polyunsaturated fat (%)	-0.04(-0.90, 0.83)	0.40 (-0.34, 1.14)	0.20 (-0.34, 0.74)	-0.09(-1.04, 0.86)	-0.12 (-1.19, 0.95)	-0.11 (-0.81, 0.59)
Monounsaturated fat	-2.58 (-9.72, 4.56)	2.86 (-3.78, 9.51)	0.89 (-3.89, 5.67)	-2.32 (-7.13, 2.49)	-2.14 (-8.39, 4.12)	-2.12 (-5.90, 1.65)
(g)						
Monounsaturated fat	0.57 (-0.94, 2.08)	0.31 (-0.98, 1.61)	0.46 (-0.51, 1.41)	-0.71 (-2.36, 0.94)	-0.68 (-2.57, 1.21)	-0.65 (-1.86, 0.57)
(%)				120/2021157		1022 2007201
Carbohydrate (g)	-23.4 (-08.2, 21.3)	2.65 (-55.8, 41.0)	-1.82 (-30.3, 20.6)	-15.9 (-39.3, 11.3)	(C.01, C.05-)/9.6-	-12.6(-30.7, 5.58)
Carbonyurate (%) Total mage (%)	-1.00 (-0.48, 2.00) 2 10 / 04 7 18 4)	-2.40 (-4.99, 0.20) 1 68 (11 8 21 1)	-2.07 (-4.20, 0.12) 0.24 / 14 0 14 4)	-0.82 (-4.08, 3.04) 7 54 (15 2 10 2)	(co.c ,cn.+-) 6/.0	-0.51 (-5.50, 2.01) 0 0 1 1 1 6 84
Total sugar (%)	-0.12 (-24.7, 10.4)	-0.55(-7.99, 1.89)	-0.60(-2.46, 1.77)	0.36 (-1.97.2770)	-2.34 (-17.4, 12.7) 1 25 (-2 03 4 54)	-2:00 (-12:4, 0:04) 0 58 (-1 35 2 51)
Starch (g)	-20.4 (-48.1, 7.27)	-2.09 (-26.3, 22.1)	-8.12 (-25.9, 9.72)	-11.5 (-30.0, 6.94)	-7.43 (-24.2, 9.37)	-9.84 (-22.3, 2.61)
Starch (%)	-1.47 (-4.09, 1.15)	-1.86 (-3.92, 0.20)	-1.49(-3.07, 0.09)	-1.23 (-4.22, 1.75)	-0.42 (-3.61, 2.76)	-0.91(-3.04, 1.21)
Dietary fibre (g)	-0.38 (-4.40, 3.65)	2.90 (-0.24, 6.05)	1.45 (-0.99, 3.88)	-3.80 (-8.09, 0.49)	1.28 (-2.32, 4.89)	-1.51 (-4.30, 1.29)
Dietary fibre (%)	0.09 (-0.16, 0.33)	0.14 (-0.11, 0.40)	0.10 (-0.07, 0.28)	-0.30 (-0.65, 0.05)	0.26(-0.08, 0.60)	-0.05 (-0.30, 0.19)
Alcohol (g)	4.37 (-3.94, 12.7)	-1.87 (-4.41, 0.67)	0.63 (-3.22, 4.48)	0.95 (-5.32, 7.22)	-6.18 (-11.9, -0.47)*	-1.83 (-6.16, 2.50)
Alcohol (%)	0.99 (-0.94, 2.91)	-0.61 (-1.44, 0.22)	0.02 (-0.93, 0.97)	0.56 (-1.54, 2.66)	-2.18 (-4.20, -0.16)*	-0.51 (-1.99, 0.97)
General linear model cot	efficients and 95% CI a	adjusted for # age and	I NZDep2013 and for $^{\prime}$	age, NZDep2013 and F	3F% (groups). $*P < 0.1$	05, **P < 0.01, ***P <
0.001. B, unstandardizec	l coefficient; C.I., confi	idence interval; BF%	, body fat percentage.	§Reference category: Mi	ilk fat dislikers, Pacific	: milk fat dislikers n= 44;
NZ European milk fat di	slikers n= 45.					

Suppl 5.3. Compariso (N=162).	ns of dietary intake b	y sweet, bitter and	milk fat ranking t	ask outcome in (A)	Pacific (N=142) and	(B) NZ European women
Macronutrient intake	Sweet ranking (groups)†	Sweet ranking (groups)†	Bitter ranking (groups)‡	Bitter ranking (groups)‡	Milk fat ranking (groups)#	Milk fat ranking (groups)#
	Pacific	NZ European	Pacific	NZ European	Pacific	NZ European
	B (95% C.I.)	B (95% C.I.)	B (95% C.I.)	B (95% C.I.)	B (95% C.I.)	B (95% C.I.)
Total energy (kJ)	455.0 (-767.3, 1677.4)	150.4 (-559.6, 860.5)	-1.81 (-995.8, 992.1)	49.3 (-474.8, 573.3)	-344.8 (-1395.1, 705.5)	180.7 (-344.2, 705.7)
Protein (g)	2.44(-9.18, 14.1)	1.49 (-6.15, 9.13)	-0.63 (-10.1, 8.81)	-2.27 (-7.88, 3.35)	-3.90 (-13.9, 6.06)	2.33 (-3.31, 7.96)
Protein (%)	-0.47 (-1.91, 0.98)	0.19 (-1.26, 1.65)	0.13 (-1.05, 1.30)	-0.62 (-1.69, 0.45)	-0.05 (-1.29, 1.19)	0.09 (-0.99, 1.16)
Fat (g)	7.05 (-7.09, 21.2)	2.14 (-9.66, 13.9)	-1.75 (-13.3, 9.76)	0.27 (-8.43, 8.97)	-4.65 (-16.8, 7.51)	3.10 (-5.61, 11.8)
Fat (%)	1.10(-1.16, 3.35)	-0.15 (-3.33, 3.04)	-0.64 (-2.48, 1.19)	-0.18 (-2.52, 2.16)	-0.70 (-2.64, 1.24)	0.55 (-1.79, 2.90)
Saturated fat (g)	3.00 (-3.14, 9.14)	0.99 (-4.46, 6.43)	-1.17 (-6.16, 3.83)	-1.04 (-5.06, 2.97)	-3.17 (-8.43, 2.09)	0.61 (-3.42, 4.64)
Saturated fat (%)	0.27 (-0.98, 1.52)	-0.08 (-1.73, 1.58)	-0.54 (-1.55, 0.47)	-0.60 (-1.81, 0.61)	-1.01 (-2.07, 0.05)	-0.01 (-1.23, 1.21)
Polyunsaturated fat (g)	0.84 (-1.21, 2.90)	0.10 (-2.46, 2.66)	0.49 (-1.18, 2.16)	0.43 (-1.45, 2.31)	-0.01 (-1.78, 1.76)	1.02 (-0.86, 2.91)
Polyunsaturated fat (%)	0.23 (-0.41, 0.88)	-0.14 (-0.96, 0.69)	0.26 (-0.27, 0.79)	0.19 (-0.42, 0.80)	0.19 (-0.37, 0.74)	0.37 (-0.24, 0.98)
Monounsaturated fat (g)	2.70 (-3.00, 8.40)	0.53 (-3.97, 5.02)	-1.16 (-5.80, 3.48)	1.09 (-2.22, 4.40)	-0.81 (-5.72, 4.10)	1.07 (-2.25, 4.39)
Monounsaturated fat (%)	0.57 (-0.57, 1.72)	-0.09 (-1.53, 1.36)	-0.40 (-1.33, 0.53)	0.36 (-0.70, 1.42)	0.28 (-0.71, 1.27)	0.10 (-0.96, 1.17)
Carbohydrate (g)	10.3 (-23.7, 44.4)	-0.83 (-22.5, 20.8)	6.30 (-21.4, 34.0)	1.80 (-14.1, 17.7)	-7.79 (-37.1, 21.5)	2.78 (-13.2, 18.8)
Carbohydrate (%)	-0.24 (-2.90, 2.42)	-0.68 (-4.22, 2.86)	0.83 (-1.32, 2.98)	0.26 (-2.35, 2.86)	0.32 (-1.97, 2.60)	-0.44 (-3.06, 2.17)
Total sugar (g)	7.09 (-9.87, 24.0)	-1.90 (-13.3, 9.53)	3.18 (-10.6, 17.0)	-0.96 (-9.39, 7.46)	-5.34 (-19.9, 9.23)	-0.83 (-9.28, 7.62)
Total sugar (%)	0.26(-1.98, 2.49)	-0.37 (-2.66, 1.93)	0.74 (-1.07, 2.55)	-0.21 (-1.90, 1.48)	-0.24 (-2.16, 1.69)	-0.84 (-2.52, 0.85)
Starch (g)	3.29 (-18.1, 24.7)	1.26 (-13.6, 16.2)	3.12 (-14.3, 20.5)	2.93 (-8.03, 13.9)	-2.58 (-21.0, 15.8)	3.64 (-7.34, 14.6)
Starch (%)	-0.49(-2.40, 1.43)	-0.27 (-2.80, 2.27)	0.09 (-1.47, 1.64)	0.49 (-1.37, 2.36)	0.52 (-1.12, 2.16)	0.40 (-1.47, 2.27)
Dietary fibre (g)	0.57 (-2.36, 3.50)	1.27 (-2.06, 4.60)	-0.15 (-2.52, 2.23)	-0.58 (-3.04, 1.87)	-1.45 (-3.96, 1.05)	0.88 (-1.58, 3.33)
Dietary fibre (%)	-0.03 (-0.24, 0.17)	0.09 (-0.20, 0.38)	-0.00 (-0.17, 0.16)	-0.07 (-0.28, 0.14)	-0.06 (-0.23, 0.12)	0.03 (-0.19, 0.24)
Alcohol (g)	-0.95 (-5.56, 3.66)	1.60 (-3.54, 6.74)	-1.11 (-4.85, 2.63)	2.05 (-1.73, 5.82)	1.24 (-2.72, 5.19)	-1.10 (-4.90, 2.70)
Alcohol (%)	-0.38 (-1.52, 0.75)	0.51 (-1.25, 2.26)	-0.30 (-1.22, 0.63)	0.70 (-0.59, 1.99)	0.50 (-0.48, 1.47)	-0.29 (-1.58, 1.02)
General linear model coeff	icients and 95% CI adjus	sted for age, NZDep20	[3 and BF% (groups).	*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,	*** <i>P</i> < 0.001. B, unstand	ardized coefficient; C.I.,
confidence interval; BF%,	body fat percentage. †Re	efrence category: Swe	et ranking incorrect, P	acific n= 27; NZ Euro	pean n= 27. ‡Reference c	ategory: Bitter ranking incorrect,
Pacific n= 96; NZ Europea	n n= 82. Reference categ	gory: #Milk fat ranking	incorrect, Pacific n=	95; NZ European n= 8	5.	

		Unadjusted			Adjusted	
	Bitter liking (grps) Low BF (<35%) (n= 68)	Bitter liking (grps) High BF (>35%) (n= 74)	Bitter liking (grps) TOTAL ‡ (n= 142)	Bitter liking (grps) Low BF (<35%) # (n= 68)	Bitter liking (grps) High BF (>35%) # (n=74)	Bitter liking (grps) TOTAL ^ (n= 142)
Pacific (N = 142)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)
Cognitive dietary restraint ¹	0.87 (0.61, 1.26)	1.34 (0.93, 1.94)	1.04 (0.80, 1.34)	0.80 (0.55, 1.15)	1.31 (0.90, 1.92)	0.97 (0.74, 1.25)
Flexible control restraint	1.10(0.79, 1.54)	$1.19\ (0.80,\ 1.76)$	1.13 (0.88, 1.46)	1.03(0.73, 1.46)	$1.18\ (0.78,1.78)$	$1.08\ (0.83,\ 1.40)$
Rigid control restraint	$0.93\ (0.64,1.37)$	1.42(0.93, 2.17)	1.10(0.83, 1.46)	$0.85\ (0.58,\ 1.25)$	1.28 (0.83, 1.97)	1.00(0.75, 1.32)
Disinhibition ²	$1.12\ (0.84, 1.50)$	0.95(0.72, 1.26)	1.05(0.86, 1.28)	1.10(0.81, 1.50)	0.95 (0.71, 1.26)	$1.04 \ (0.85, 1.28)$
Habitual disinhibition	1.26(0.92, 1.72)	1.33 (0.89, 2.01)	1.29 (1.01, 1.65)*	1.31 (0.95, 1.82)	1.37 (0.90, 2.10)	$1.34 \ (1.04, 1.72)^{*}$
Emotional disinhibition	1.34(1.00, 1.81)	$0.99\ (0.67,1.45)$	1.19(0.94, 1.51)	1.31 (0.96, 1.79)	0.96(0.64,1.44)	1.16(0.91, 1.48)
Situational disinhibition	$0.89\ (0.65, 1.21)$	$0.76\ (0.58,\ 1.01)$	$0.84\ (0.68,\ 1.03)$	$0.85\ (0.62,1.16)$	$0.75\ (0.56,\ 1.01)$	$0.81 \ (0.66, 1.00)$
Hunger ³	$0.95\ (0.67,1.35)$	$1.02\ (0.75,\ 1.40)$	0.98 (0.77, 1.23)	$1.00\ (0.69,\ 1.45)$	1.06(0.77, 1.47)	$1.02\ (0.80, 1.30)$
Internal locus hunger	$1.09\ (0.76, 1.58)$	1.23(0.79, 1.61)	1.11 (0.86, 1.42)	1.13(0.77, 1.66)	1.13(0.77, 1.64)	1.13(0.87, 1.47)
External locus hunger	0.91 (0.67, 1.24)	$0.95\ (0.67,1.35)$	0.93 (0.74, 1.16)	0.96 (0.70, 1.32)	1.01 (0.70, 1.45)	0.98 (0.77, 1.23)
NZ European (N= 162)	(n= 87)	(n= 75)	(n= 162)	(n= 87)	(n= 75)	(n= 162)
Cognitive dietary restraint ¹	1.12(0.83, 1.52)	$0.99\ (0.68, 1.43)$	1.07 (0.85, 1.34)	$1.21 \ (0.89, 1.63)$	1.04 (0.71, 0.51)	1.13(0.90, 1.42)
Flexible control restraint	$1.14\ (0.90, 1.45)$	1.02(0.74, 1.40)	$1.09\ (0.90,\ 1.32)$	$1.17\ (0.92,1.49)$	$1.08\ (0.78,\ 1.49)$	1.13(0.93, 1.36)
Rigid control restraint	$0.98\ (0.75,1.28)$	1.01(0.71, 1.43)	0.99(0.80, 1.23)	1.06(0.81, 1.39)	1.07 (0.74, 1.52)	$1.04\ (0.85, 1.29)$
Disinhibition ²	$1.03\ (0.80, 1.33)$	1.16(0.90, 1.48)	1.07 (0.90, 1.28)	$1.08\ (0.84,1.39)$	1.17(0.91, 1.51)	1.10(0.92, 1.32)
Habitual disinhibition	1.11(0.81, 1.53)	1.10(0.73, 1.65)	1.11 (0.86, 1.42)	1.23(0.89, 1.70)	1.08 (0.72, 1.63)	1.12(0.87, 1.44)
Emotional disinhibition	$1.02\ (0.75, 1.40)$	$1.09\ (0.80,\ 1.49)$	1.05 (0.84, 1.31)	1.06(0.77, 1.47)	$1.08\ (0.78,\ 1.49)$	1.06(0.85, 1.33)
Situational disinhibition	$0.98\ (0.78,1.23)$	1.21 (0.95, 1.54)	1.06(0.90, 1.25)	0.99(0.79, 1.25)	1.27 (0.99, 1.61)	1.08(0.92, 1.27)
Hunger ³	$0.89\ (0.68,1.18)$	$0.81 \ (0.54, 1.21)$	$0.86\ (0.68,\ 1.08)$	0.95(0.72, 1.26)	$0.82\ (0.54,1.22)$	$0.88\ (0.70,1.11)$
Internal locus hunger	0.81 (0.59, 1.12)	$0.81 \ (0.53, 1.26)$	$0.81 \ (0.63, 1.05)$	$0.83\ (0.60,1.15)$	$0.82\ (0.52,1.29)$	$0.82\ (0.63,1.07)$
External locus hunger	$0.98\ (0.73,1.30)$	$0.89\ (0.60,1.32)$	0.94 (0.75, 1.19)	$1.05\ (0.78,\ 1.40)$	$0.93\ (0.63,1.37)$	0.97 (0.77, 1.22)
All dependent values log tra	nsformed. General lir	near model exponentia	ted coefficients and 9	5% CI adjusted for ‡	BF% group; # age, NZ	CDep2013; for $^{\wedge}$ age,
NZDep2013 and BF% group	p. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.05)1, *** <i>P</i> < 0.001. C.I.,	confidence interval. H	3F%, body fat percent	age. Reference catego	ry: bitter dislikers, Pacifi
bitter dislikers n= 117: NZ E	European bitter dislike	ers n= 134. ¹ Restraint	reference values = Lo	w. 4-14; Medium. 15	-17: High. 18-21. ² Disi	inhibition reference valu

Suppl 5.4. Eating behaviour outcome by bitter taste likers (compared to dislikers group) (N= 304).

fic Jes =

÷.
30
П
S
$\widehat{\mathbf{O}}$
Inc
Ĕ
S
(ei
iii
dis
9
q1
ure
- di
Ш
ğ
\mathbf{S}
ke
Ξ
on
Ţ
- Sel
ere
t p
fat
lk
'n.
y 1
- P
m
3
'n
r o
nc
<u>.</u>
ha
þe
50
tin
Ea
6
5
þ
d
S

		Unadjusted			Adjusted	
	Milk fat liking	Milk fat liking	Milk fat liking	Milk fat liking	Milk fat liking (grps)	Milk fat liking
	(grps)	(grps)	(grps)	(grps)	High BF (>35%) #	(grps)
	Low BF (<35%)	High BF (>35%)	TOTAL ‡	Low BF (<35%) #	(n= 74)	TOTAL ^
	(n= 68)	(n= 74)	(n= 142)	(n= 68)		(n=142)
Pacific $(N = 142)$					Ratio (95% C.I.)	
	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)	Ratio (95% C.I.)		Ratio (95% C.I.)
Cognitive dietary restraint ¹	0.92 (0.64, 1.31)	1.01 (0.78, 1.31)	0.97 (0.78, 1.19)	0.99(0.68, 1.44)	1.02 (0.78, 1.32)	0.99 (0.80, 1.23)
Flexible control restraint	0.89 (0.64, 1.24)	0.96(0.73, 1.26)	0.93 (0.76, 1.15)	0.93 (0.65, 1.32)	0.98 (0.74, 1.29)	$0.95\ (0.76,\ 1.18)$
Rigid control restraint	1.02(0.70, 1.49)	1.12(0.83, 1.50)	1.08 (0.85, 1.36)	$1.07\ (0.73,\ 1.59)$	1.11 (0.83, 1.49)	1.10 (0.87, 1.39)
Disinhibition ²	1.05(0.79, 1.40)	$1.15\ (0.95,\ 1.40)$	1.10 (0.94, 1.31)	1.08(0.79, 1.47)	1.13 (0.93, 1.38)	1.10(0.93, 1.30)
Habitual disinhibition	$1.09\ (0.80, 1.48)$	$0.97\ (0.73,1.29)$	1.02 (0.83, 1.25)	$1.07\ (0.76,\ 1.49)$	0.97 (0.72, 1.30)	1.01 (0.81, 1.25)
Emotional disinhibition	0.99(0.73, 1.34)	1.14(0.87, 1.49)	1.07 (0.88, 1.30)	1.04 (0.75, 1.44)	1.13 (0.86, 1.49)	1.09 (0.89, 1.34)
Situational disinhibition	1.05(0.77, 1.42)	1.20(0.99, 1.47)	1.13 (0.95, 1.35)	$1.07\ (0.78,\ 1.47)$	1.18 (0.97, 1.44)	1.11 (0.93, 1.33)
Hunger ³	1.10(0.78, 1.55)	1.17(0.95, 1.45)	1.14 (0.94, 1.38)	1.02 (0.70, 1.48)	1.18 (0.95, 1.47)	1.11 (0.91, 1.36)
Internal locus hunger	0.90 (0.63, 1.29)	$1.28 (1.01, 1.63)^{*}$	1.10 (0.89, 1.36)	$0.88\ (0.60,\ 1.29)$	1.28 (1.00, 1.64)	1.10 (0.88, 1.36)
External locus hunger	1.38 (1.03, 1.86)*	1.15 (0.91, 1.47)	1.25 (1.04, 1.50)*	1.29 (0.94, 1.78)	1.16 (0.91, 1.48)	1.21 (1.00, 1.46)
NZ European (N= 162)	(n= 87)	(n= 75)	(n= 162)	(n= 87)	(n= 75)	(n= 162)
Cognitive dietary restraint ¹	1.30 (1.00, 1.69)	0.95 (0.72, 1.25)	1.12 (0.93, 1.36)	1.32 (1.02, 1.71) *	$0.96\ (0.71,1.30)$	1.15 (0.95, 1.40)
Flexible control restraint	1.08 (0.87, 1.34)	$0.92\ (0.72,1.17)$	1.00 (0.86, 1.18)	1.08(0.87, 1.34)	0.91 (0.70, 1.18)	1.00(0.85, 1.18)
Rigid control restraint	1.20 (0.94, 1.52)	1.04 (0.80, 1.37)	1.13 (0.94, 1.34)	1.23 (0.98, 1.56)	1.06 (0.80, 1.42)	1.17 (0.98, 1.40)
Disinhibition ²	0.99 (0.78, 1.24)	1.00 (0.83, 1.21)	0.99 (0.85, 1.15)	0.99 (0.79, 1.24)	0.95 (0.77, 1.16)	0.98 (0.84, 1.14)
Habitual disinhibition	1.03 (0.77, 1.37)	$1.09\ (0.80, 1.48)$	1.05 (0.85, 1.30)	1.06(0.79, 1.41)	0.98 (0.71, 1.36)	1.05 (0.85, 1.31)
Emotional disinhibition	1.01 (0.76, 1.34)	0.89 (0.71, 1.13)	0.96 (0.79, 1.15)	$1.02\ (0.77,\ 1.36)$	$0.89\ (0.69,1.14)$	0.96 (0.79, 1.16)
Situational disinhibition	0.96 (0.78, 1.17)	1.04 (0.86, 1.26)	1.00 (0.87, 1.14)	0.96 (0.78, 1.17)	0.98 (0.80, 1.20)	0.97 (0.84, 1.12)
Hunger ³	0.93 (0.72, 1.19)	1.02 (0.75, 1.39)	0.97 (0.80, 1.18)	0.94 (0.74, 1.21)	0.93 (0.67, 1.29)	0.95 (0.78, 1.16)
Internal locus hunger	0.98 (0.74, 1.31)	$0.97\ (0.69,1.35)$	0.98 (0.79, 1.21)	0.99(0.74, 1.33)	$0.95\ (0.66,\ 1.36)$	0.97 (0.78, 1.22)
External locus hunger	0.93 (0.72, 1.21)	1.04(0.77, 1.41)	0.98 (0.81, 1.19)	0.95(0.73, 1.23)	$0.92 \ (0.67, 1.25)$	$0.95\ (0.78,1.16)$
All dependent values log tr. NZDen2013 and BF% oron	ansformed. General n *P< 0.05 **P<	<pre>[linear model expoi 0 01 ***P< 0 001</pre>	nentiated coefficien C I confidence int	tts and 95% CI adjust terval BF% body fa	ted for ‡ BF% group, # ag	e, NZDep2013; ^ age, ateonry milk fat dislikers
Pacific milk fat dislikers n= reference values = Low, 1-	: 44; NZ European 3; Medium, 9-12; H	milk fat dislikers n= ligh, 13-16. ³ Hunge	= 45. ¹ Restraint refe r reference values =	rence values = Low, 0-3; Medium,	4-14; Medium, 15-17; Hi ,4-6; High, 7-14 (Stunkar	gh, 18-21. ² Disinhibition d and Messick, 1985).

Suppl 5.6. Associat	ions between macron	utrient intake and sw	eet liking in Pacific an	d NZ European:	under- and over-repor	ters removed (N=215).
		Pacific (N= 89)			New Zealand European	(N= 126)
Macronutrient intake	Sweet liking (groups)§	Sweet liking (groups)§	Sweet liking (groups) Pacific (all)	Sweet liking (groups)§	Sweet liking (groups)§	Sweet liking (groups) \$NZ European (all)

		Pacific $(N=89)$		New	Zealand European (N= 126)
Macronutrient intake	Sweet liking (groups)§ Low body fat (<35%) (n= 46)	Sweet liking (groups)§ High body fat (>35%) (n= 43)	Sweet liking (groups)§ Pacific (all) (n= 89)	Sweet liking (groups)§ Low body fat (<35%) (n=72)	Sweet liking (groups)§ High body fat (>35%) (n= 54)	Sweet liking (groups)§ NZ European (all)) (n= 126)
	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.) ^A	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)#	B (95% C.I.)^
Total energy (kJ)	-309.7 (-1325.1, 705.7)	-573.9 (-1794.0, 646.2)	-241.2 (-1003.1, 520.8)	-93.3 (-747.2, 560.5)	-168.0 (-937.3, 601.2)) -64.8 (-542.4, 412.8)
Protein (g)	5.12 (-6.72, 17.0)	4.13 (-7.79, 16.1)	6.91 (-1.12, 14.9)	-3.73 (-12.3, 4.83)	-0.32 (-9.17, 8.53)	-2.00(-8.01, 4.01)
Protein (%)	$1.76\ (0.02, 3.50)*$	1.41 (-0.10, 2.91)	1.65 (0.54, 2.77)**	-0.43 (-2.23, 1.38)	-0.13 (-1.66, 1.92)	-0.26 (-1.49, 0.96)
Fat (g)	-5.48 (-17.7, 6.71)	-5.98 (-21.7, 9.74)	-3.19 (-13.1, 6.73)	-9.65 (-21.3, 2.02)	-13.5 (-27.6, 0.74)	-9.77 (-18.5, 1.03)
Fat (%)	-0.78 (-4.03, 2.47)	-0.45 (-3.20, 2.30)	-0.50 (-2.57, 1.58)	-4.00 (-7.36, -0.63)*	-5.06 (-8.63, -1.50)**	· -4.03 (-6.42, -1.64)**
Saturated fat (g)	-1.79 (-7.65, 4.07)	-1.17 (-8.09, 5.74)	-0.34 (-4.75, 4.07)	-3.78 (-8.99, 1.44)	-5.58 (-13.0, 1.89)	-4.06(-8.26, 0.14)
Saturated fat (%)	-0.31 (-1.81, 1.19)	0.43 (-1.33, 2.19)	0.17 (-0.95, 1.30)	-1.56 (-3.32, 0.20)	-2.03 (-4.07, 0.02)	-1.62 (-2.90, -0.35)*
Polyunsaturated fat (g)	-1.17 (-3.70, 1.37)	-2.46 (-5.24, 0.33)	-1.72 (-3.55, 0.12)	-0.83 (-3.21, 1.55)	-1.00 (-4.43, 2.43)	-0.61 (-2.51, 1.30)
Polyunsaturated fat (%)	-0.15(-1.18, 0.89)	-0.72 (-1.48, 0.03)	-0.51 $(-1.11, 0.10)$	-0.33 (-1.19, 0.52)	-0.33 (-1.55, 0.89)	-0.25 (-0.93, 0.43)
Monounsaturated fat (g)	-2.34 (-7.15, 2.46)	-2.64 (-9.53, 4.26)	-1.43 (-5.70, 2.84)	-4.11(-9.02, 0.80)	-5.71 (-11.1, -0.31)*	-4.23 (-7.76, -0.71)*
Monounsaturated fat (%)	-0.38 (-2.02, 1.27)	-0.40(-1.76, 0.96)	-0.32 (-1.39, 0.75)	-1.69 (-3.31, -0.06)*	-2.29 (-4.00, -0.59)**	· -1.79 (-2.93, -0.65)**
Carbohydrate (g)	-15.0(-48.1, 18.1)	-25.7 (-64.1, 12.8)	-16.3 (-40.3, 7.65)	16.2 (-3.42, 35.8)	21.0 (-6.10, 48.1)	$19.9 (4.42, 35.4)^{**}$
Carbohydrate (%)	-1.73 (-5.69, 2.23)	-1.13 (-4.47, 2.21)	-1.56 (-4.10, 0.98)	4.03 (0.54, 7.52)*	5.05 (0.66, 9.44)*	$4.46(1.83,7.09)^{**}$
Total sugar (g)	-10.5 (-29.3, 8.42)	-12.2 (-37.5, 13.1)	-11.1 (-26.5, 4.41)	9.37 (-2.34, 21.1)	6.56 (-8.33, 21.4)	9.52~(0.58, 18.5)*
Total sugar (%)	-1.58 (-4.52, 1.36)	-0.55 (-3.87, 2.77)	-1.35 (-3.57, 0.88)	2.31 (-0.03, 4.65)	1.68 (-0.89, 4.25)	$2.17 (0.51, 3.83)^{**}$
Starch (g)	-3.82 (-25.3, 17.7)	-13.5 (-38.1, 11.1)	-4.82 (-20.2, 10.6)	6.65 (-7.00, 20.3)	14.2 (-3.40, 31.8)	$10.3 \ (0.00, 20.5)*$
Starch (%)	-0.01(-3.06, 3.04)	-0.57 (-3.33, 2.19)	-0.13 (-2.10, 1.83)	1.69 (-0.80, 4.18)	3.32 (0.30, 6.34)*	$2.27 (0.44, 4.10)^{**}$
Dietary fibre (g)	-3.05 (-6.35, 0.25)	-1.68 (-5.47, 2.12)	-2.18 (-4.62, 0.27)	0.81 (-4.72, 3.10)	1.74 (-2.15, 5.64)	0.61 (-2.03, 3.24)
Dietary fibre (%)	-0.20 (-0.45, 0.06)	-0.06(-0.29, 0.18)	-0.15 (-0.31, 0.02)	-0.06 (-0.44, 0.31)	0.23 (-0.10, 0.56)	0.08 (-0.16, 0.32)
Alcohol (g)	-2.94 (-4.11, 9.99)	0.75 (-2.87, 4.37)	1.78 (-2.09, 5.65)	2.09 (-4.80, 8.99)	-1.32 (-6.97, 4.34)	-0.40 (-4.87, 4.08)
Alcohol (%)	0.94 (-1.12, 3.01)	0.22 (-0.72, 1.15)	0.54 (-0.56, 1.65)	0.50 (-1.85, 2.84)	-0.35 (-2.07, 1.37)	-0.22 (-1.70, 1.26)
General linear model coet	ficients and 95% CI adju	isted for # age and NZDe	p2013 and for ^ age, NZD	ep2013 and BF% (groups	s). $*P < 0.05$, $**P < 0.0$	1, *** <i>P</i> < 0.001. BF%, body fat

percentage. §Reference category: sweet dislikers, Pacific sweet dislikers n = 55; NZ European sweet dislikers n = 66. Statistically significant observations are highlighted in bold. Removal of n=72 under-reporters and n=17 over-reporters.

5.6. References

- Alexy, U., Schaefer, A., Sailer, O., Busch-Stockfisch, M., Huthmacher, S., Kunert, J., and Kersting, M. (2011). Sensory preferences and discrimination ability of children in relation to their body weight status. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 26(6), 409–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2011.00358.x
- Asao, K., Miller, J., Arcori, L., Lumeng, J. C., Han-Markey, T., and Herman, W. H. (2015). Patterns of Sweet Taste Liking: A Pilot Study. *Nutrients*, 7(9), 7298–311. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7095336
- Atkinson, J., Salmond, C., and Crampton, P. (2014). *NZDep2013 Index of Deprivation*. Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Barajas-Ramírez, J. A., Quintana-Castro, R., Oliart-Ros, R. M., and Angulo-Guerrero, O. (2016). Bitter taste perception and TAS2R38 genotype: effects on taste sensitivity, food consumption and anthropometry in Mexican adults. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 31(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.3319
- Barkeling, B., King, N. A., Näslund, E., and Blundell, J. E. (2007). Characterization of obese individuals who claim to detect no relationship between their eating pattern and sensations of hunger or fullness. *International Journal of Obesity*, 31(3), 435– 439. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803449
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Green, B. G., Hoffman, H. J., Ko, C.-W., Lucchina, L. A., ... Weiffenbach, J. M. (2004). Valid across-group comparisons with labeled scales: the gLMS versus magnitude matching. *Physiology & Behavior*, 82(1), 109–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.02.033
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Hayes, J. E., Moskowitz, H. R., and Snyder, D. J. (2006). Psychophysics of sweet and fat perception in obesity: problems, solutions and new perspectives. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological Sciences*, 361(1471), 1137–48. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2006.1853
- Baschetti, R. (1998). Diabetes epidemic in newly westernized populations: Is it due to thrifty genes or to genetically unknown foods? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 91(12), 622–625.
- Baumann, S., Szabo, M., and Johnston, J. (2017). Understanding the food preferences of people of low socioeconomic status. *Journal of Consumer Culture*, 146954051771778. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469540517717780
- Behrens, M., and Meyerhof, W. (2019). A role for taste receptors in (neuro)endocrinology? *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, *31*(3), e12691. https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12691
- Bingham, S. A., Gill, C., Welch, A., Day, K., Cassidy, A., Khaw, K. T., ... Day, N. E. (1994). Comparison of dietary assessment methods in nutritional epidemiology: weighed records v. 24 h recalls, food-frequency questionnaires and estimated-diet records. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 72(4), 619–43. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn19940064
- Biro, G., Hulshof, K., Ovesen, L., and Amorim Cruz, J. A. (2002). Selection of methodology to assess food intake. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56, S25–S32. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601426
- Black, A. E. (2000). The sensitivity and specificity of the Goldberg cut-off for EI:BMR for identifying diet reports of poor validity. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 54(5), 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600971

- Bond, M. J., McDowell, A. J., and Wilkinson, J. Y. (2001). The measurement of dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger: An examination of the factor structure of the Three Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ). *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(6), 900–906.
- Booth, C., Spronk, D., Grol, M., and Fox, E. (2018). Uncontrolled eating in adolescents: The role of impulsivity and automatic approach bias for food. *Appetite*, *120*, 636–643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.10.024
- Brown, R. C., McLay-Cooke, R. T., Richardson, S. L., Williams, S. M., Grattan, D. R., and Chisholm, A. W.-A. H. (2014). Appetite Response among Those Susceptible or Resistant to Obesity. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2014, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/512013
- Burgess, B., Rao, S. P., and Tepper, B. J. (2016). Changes in liking for sweet and fatty foods following weight loss in women are related to prop phenotype but not to diet. *Obesity*, 24(9), 1867–1873. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21570
- Cadwallader, K. (2010). Instrumental measurement of milk flavour and colour. In *Improving the Safety and Quality of Milk* (pp. 181–206). Woodhead Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845699437.2.181
- Carroll, R. J., Midthune, D., Subar, A. F., Shumakovich, M., Freedman, L. S., Thompson, F. E., and Kipnis, V. (2012). Taking advantage of the strengths of 2 different dietary assessment instruments to improve intake estimates for nutritional epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 175(4), 340–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwr317
- Cicerale, S., Riddell, L., and Keast, R. (2012). The association between perceived sweetness intensity and dietary intake in young adults. *Journal of Food Science*, 77(1), H31-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02473.x
- Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing; Ministry of Health NZ, C. Nh. (2018). *Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand, including recommended dietary intakes*. Canberra, Australia. Retrieved from https://www.nrv.gov.au/home
- Costanzo, A., Nowson, C., Orellana, L., Bolhuis, D., Duesing, K., and Keast, R. (2018). Effect of dietary fat intake and genetics on fat taste sensitivity: a co-twin randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 107(5), 683– 694. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy022
- Costanzo, A., Orellana, L., Nowson, C., Duesing, K., and Keast, R. (2017). Fat taste sensitivity is associated with short-term and habitual fat intake. *Nutrients*, *9*(7), 781. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070781
- Cox, D. N., Hendrie, G. A., and Carty, D. (2015). Sensitivity, hedonics and preferences for basic tastes and fat amongst adults and children of differing weight status: A comprehensive review. *Food Quality & Preference*, 41(Part B), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.014
- Deglaire, A., Méjean, C., Castetbon, K., Kesse-Guyot, E., Hercberg, S., and Schlich, P. (2015). Associations between weight status and liking scores for sweet, salt and fat according to the gender in adults (The Nutrinet-Santé study). *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 69(1), 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2014.139
- Dickey, R. A., Doris Bartuska, C. G., George Bray, F. W., Wayne Callaway, M. C., Eugene Davidson, F. T., Stanley Feld, M., ... Westbrock, D. A. (1998).
 AACE/ACE position statement on the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of obesity (1998 Revision) AACE/ACE Obesity Task Force. *Endocrine Practice*,

4(5), 297–350.

- Donaldson, L. F., Bennett, L., Baic, S., and Melichar, J. K. (2009). Taste and weight: is there a link? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90(3), 800S-803S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.27462Q
- Duffy, V. B., Hayes, J. E., Davidson, A. C., Kidd, J. R., Kidd, K. K., and Bartoshuk, L. M. (2010). Vegetable intake in college-aged adults is explained by oral sensory phenotypes and TAS2R38 genotype. *Chemosensory Perception*, 3(3–4), 137–148.
- Ettinger, L., Duizer, L., and Caldwell, T. (2012). Body fat, sweetness sensitivity, and preference: determining the relationship. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice & Research*, 73(1), 45–8. https://doi.org/10.3148/73.1.2012.45
- Garneau, N. L., Nuessle, T. M., Mendelsberg, B. J., Shepard, S., and Tucker, R. M. (2018). Sweet liker status in children and adults: Consequences for beverage intake in adults. *Food Quality & Preference*, 65, 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.10.005
- Gemming, L., Jiang, Y., Swinburn, B., Utter, J., and Mhurchu, C. N. (2014). Underreporting remains a key limitation of self-reported dietary intake: an analysis of the 2008/09 New Zealand Adult Nutrition Survey. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 68(2), 259–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2013.242
- Goldberg, G. R., Black, A. E., Jebb, S. A., Cole, T. J., Murgatroyd, P. R., Coward, W. A., and Prentice, A. M. (1991). Critical evaluation of energy intake data using fundamental principles of energy physiology: 1. Derivation of cut-off limits to identify under-recording. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 45(12), 569–581.
- Han, P., Keast, R., and Roura, E. (2017). Salivary leptin and TAS1R2/TAS1R3 polymorphisms are related to sweet taste sensitivity and carbohydrate intake from a buffet meal in healthy young adults. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 118(10), 763– 770. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114517002872
- Haynes, C., Lee, M. D., and Yeomans, M. R. (2003). Interactive effects of stress, dietary restraint, and disinhibition on appetite. *Eating Behaviors*, *4*(4), 369–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2003.07.005
- Heinze, J., Costanzo, A., Baselier, I., Fritsche, A., Frank-Podlech, S., and Keast, R. (2018). Detection thresholds for four different fatty stimuli are associated with increased dietary intake of processed high-caloric food. *Appetite*, 123, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.12.003
- House, B. T., Shearrer, G. E., Boisseau, J. B., Bray, M. S., and Davis, J. N. (2018). Decreased eating frequency linked to increased visceral adipose tissue, body fat, and BMI in Hispanic college freshmen. *BMC Nutrition*, 4(10). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40795-018-0217-z
- Hunma, S., Ramuth, H., Miles-Chan, J. L., Schutz, Y., Montani, J.-P., Joonas, N., and Dulloo, A. G. (2016). Body composition-derived BMI cut-offs for overweight and obesity in Indians and Creoles of Mauritius: comparison with Caucasians. *International Journal of Obesity* (2005), 40(12), 1906–1914. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2016.176
- Jayasinghe, S. N., Kruger, R., Walsh, D. C. I., Cao, G., Rivers, S., Richter, M., and Breier, B. H. (2017). Is sweet taste perception associated with sweet food liking and intake? *Nutrients*, *9*(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070750
- Jo, A., and Mainous, A. G. (2018). Informational value of percent body fat with body mass index for the risk of abnormal blood glucose: a nationally representative cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8(4), e019200. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019200

- Keller, K. L., Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., van Belle, C., Breen, C., ... Chung, W. K. (2012). Common variants in the CD36 gene are associated with oral fat perception, fat preferences, and obesity in African Americans. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 20(5), 1066–73. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2011.374
- Kindleysides, S., Beck, K. L., Walsh, D. C. I., Henderson, L., Jayasinghe, S. N.,
 Golding, M., and Breier, B. H. H. (2017). Fat Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and
 Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited Eating Behaviour. *Nutrients*, 9(8), 879. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9080879
- Kindleysides, S., Kruger, R., Douwes, J., Tannock, G. W., Renall, N., Slater, J., ...
 Breier, B. H. (2019). Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity. *JMIR Res Protoc*, 8(8), e14529. https://doi.org/10.2196/14529
- Korani, M., Rea, D. M., King, P. F., and Brown, A. E. (2018). Significant differences in maternal child-feeding style between ethnic groups in the UK: the role of deprivation and parenting styles. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 31(5), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/jhn.12557
- Kruger, R., De Bray, J. G., Beck, K. L., Conlon, C. A., and Stonehouse, W. (2016). Exploring the relationship between body composition and eating behavior using the three factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ) in young New Zealand women. *Nutrients*, 8(7), 386. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8070386
- Lanfer, A., Knof, K., Barba, G., Veidebaum, T., Papoutsou, S., De Henauw, S., ... Lissner, L. (2012). Taste preferences in association with dietary habits and weight status in European children: Results from the IDEFICS study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.164
- Lenard, N. R., and Berthoud, H.-R. (2008). Central and peripheral regulation of food intake and physical activity: pathways and genes. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, *16 Suppl 3*(SUPPL. 3), S11-22. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.511
- Leong, C. S.-F., Forde, C. G., Tey, S. L., and Henry, C. J. (2018). Taste perception and diet in people of Chinese ancestry. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 27(2), 478–486. https://doi.org/10.6133/apjcn.052017.08
- Lesdéma, A., Fromentin, G., Daudin, J.-J., Arlotti, A., Vinoy, S., Tome, D., and Marsset-Baglieri, A. (2012). Characterization of the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire scores of a young French cohort. *Appetite*, 59(2), 385–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.05.027
- Liang, L. C. H., Sakimura, J., May, D., Breen, C., Driggin, E., Tepper, B. J., ... Keller, K. L. (2012). Fat discrimination: a phenotype with potential implications for studying fat intake behaviors and obesity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(2), 470–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.09.002
- Loper, H. B., La Sala, M., Dotson, C., and Steinle, N. (2015). Taste perception, associated hormonal modulation, and nutrient intake. *Nutrition Reviews*, 73(2), 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuu009
- Low, J., Lacy, K., McBride, R., and Keast, R. (2016). The Association between Sweet Taste Function, Anthropometry, and Dietary Intake in Adults. *Nutrients*, 8(5), 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8040241
- Mackay, S., Vandevijvere, S., Xie, P., Lee, A., and Swinburn, B. (2017). Paying for convenience: comparing the cost of takeaway meals with their healthier homecooked counterparts in New Zealand. *Public Health Nutrition*, 20(13), 2269–2276. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980017000805

- Martinez-Cordero, E., Malacara-Hernandez, J. M., and Martinez-Cordero, C. (2015). Taste perception in normal and overweight Mexican adults. *Appetite*, *89*, 192–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.015
- Martínez-Ruiz, N. R., López-Díaz, J. A., Wall-Medrano, A., Jiménez-Castro, J. A., and Angulo, O. (2014). Oral fat perception is related with body mass index, preference and consumption of high-fat foods. *Physiology and Behavior*, *129*, 36–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.010
- Mattes, R. D. (2009). Oral detection of short-, medium-, and long-chain free fatty acids in humans. *Chemical Senses*, *34*(2), 145–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjn072
- Mennella, J. A. (2014). Ontogeny of taste preferences: basic biology and implications for health. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *99*(3), 704S-711S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.067694
- Metcalf, P. A., Scragg, R. R. K., Schaaf, D., Dyall, L., Black, P. N., and Jackson, R. (2008). Dietary intakes of European, Māori, Pacific and Asian adults living in Auckland: the Diabetes, Heart and Health Study. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 32(5), 454–460. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2008.00279.x
- Methven, L., Xiao, C., Cai, M., and Prescott, J. (2016). Rejection thresholds (RjT) of sweet likers and dislikers. *Food Quality & Preference*, *52*, 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2016.03.012
- Ministry of Health. (2011). A Focus on Nutrition, Key Findings of the 2008/09, NZ Adult Nutrition Survey. Wellington, New Zealand. Retrieved from http://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/a-focus-onnutrition-v2.pdf
- Ministry of Health. (2016). Annual Update of Key Results 2015/16: New Zealand Health Survey. Wellington, New Zealand.
- Ministry of Health. (2019). *Alcohol intake guidelines*. Retrieved from https://www.health.govt.nz/your-health/healthy-living/addictions/alcohol-anddrug-abuse/alcohol
- Nakamura, Y., Sanematsu, K., Ohta, R., Shirosaki, S., Koyano, K., Nonaka, K., ... Ninomiya, Y. (2008). Diurnal variation of human sweet taste recognition thresholds is correlated with plasma leptin levels. *Diabetes*, 57(10), 2661–5. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-1103
- Neiers, F., Canivenc-Lavier, M.-C., and Briand, L. (2016). What Does Diabetes "Taste" Like? Current Diabetes Reports, 16(6), 49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-016-0746-2
- NHMRC. (2006). Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand including recommended dietary intakes. Canberra, Australia; Wellington, New Zealand.
- Noel, C. A., Sugrue, M., and Dando, R. (2017). Participants with pharmacologically impaired taste function seek out more intense, higher calorie stimuli. *Appetite*, *117*, 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2017.06.006
- Oaken, H., Vaughan, L., Fa'avale, N., Ware, R. S., and Schubert, L. (2017). Charting Availability of Processed and Unprocessed Foods in School Neighbourhood Nutrition Environments in an Urban Australian Setting. *Journal of Environmental* and Public Health, 2017, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8397469
- Oliveros, E., Somers, V. K., Sochor, O., Goel, K., and Lopez-Jimenez, F. (2014). The Concept of Normal Weight Obesity. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 56(4), 426–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2013.10.003

Ortega, F. J., Agüera, Z., Sabater, M., Moreno-Navarrete, J. M., Alonso-Ledesma, I., Xifra, G., ... Fernández-Real, J. M. (2016). Genetic variations of the bitter taste receptor TAS2R38 are associated with obesity and impact on single immune traits. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 60(7), 1673–1683. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201500804

Overberg, J., Hummel, T., Krude, H., and Wiegand, S. (2012). Differences in taste sensitivity between obese and non-obese children and adolescents. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 97(12), 1048–52. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2011-301189

Panek-Scarborough, L. M., Dewey, A. M., and Temple, J. L. (2012). Sensation and perception of sucrose and fat stimuli predict the reinforcing value of food. *Physiology & Behavior*, 105(5), 1242–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.01.001

Park, D. C., Yeo, J. H., Ryu, I. Y., Kim, S. H., Jung, J., and Yeo, S. G. (2015). Differences in taste detection thresholds between normal-weight and obese young adults. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, 135(5), 478–83. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489.2014.975370

Pasquet, P., Laure Frelut, M., Simmen, B., Marcel Hladik, C., and Monneuse, M.-O. (2007). Taste perception in massively obese and in non-obese adolescents. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 2(4), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1080/17477160701440521

Pechey, R., and Monsivais, P. (2016). Socioeconomic inequalities in the healthiness of food choices: Exploring the contributions of food expenditures. *Preventive Medicine*, 88, 203–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.04.012

Peng, M., Hautus, M. J., Oey, I., and Silcock, P. (2016). Is there a generalized sweetness sensitivity for an individual? A psychophysical investigation of interindividual differences in detectability and discriminability for sucrose and fructose. Physiology & Behavior, 165, 239–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2016.08.004

Proserpio, C., Laureati, M., Invitti, C., Pasqualinotto, L., Bergamaschi, V., and Pagliarini, E. (2016). Cross-modal interactions for custard desserts differ in obese and normal weight Italian women. *Appetite*, *100*, 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.033

Rawal, S., Hoffman, H. J., Honda, M., Huedo-Medina, T. B., and Duffy, V. B. (2015). The Taste and Smell Protocol in the 2011–2014 US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES): Test–Retest Reliability and Validity Testing. *Chemosensory Perception*, 8(3), 138–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-015-9194-7

Rhee, J. J., Sampson, L., Cho, E., Hughes, M. D., Hu, F. B., and Willett, W. C. (2015). Comparison of methods to account for implausible reporting of energy intake in epidemiologic studies. American Journal of Epidemiology, 18(4), 225–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwu308

Risso, D. S., Giuliani, C., Antinucci, M., Morini, G., Garagnani, P., Tofanelli, S., and Luiselli, D. (2017). A bio-cultural approach to the study of food choice: The contribution of taste genetics, population and culture. *Appetite*, *114*, 240–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.03.046

Rolls, E. T. (2016). Reward Systems in the Brain and Nutrition. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, *36*, 435–470. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-050725

Rozin, P., and Tuorila, H. (1993). Simultaneous and temporal contextual influences on

food acceptance. *Food Quality and Preference*, 4(1–2), 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/0950-3293(93)90309-T

- Sable, S., Warren, M., DuFlo, A., Bartoshuk, L. M., and Skarulis, M. C. (2012). Taste Perception, Race, and Ethnicity: A Novel Link to Differences in Cardiometabolic Risk? *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, 6(3), 238–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12170-012-0232-6
- Sanematsu, K., Nakamura, Y., Nomura, M., Shigemura, N., and Ninomiya, Y. (2018). Diurnal Variation of Sweet Taste Recognition Thresholds Is Absent in Overweight and Obese Humans. *Nutrients*, 10(3), 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10030297
- Schutz, H. G., and Cardello, A. V. (2001). A labeled affective magnitude (LAM) scale for assessing food liking/disliking. Journal of Sensory Studies, 16(2), 117–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2001.tb00293.x
- Sedgwick, P. (2014). Cross sectional studies: Advantages and disadvantages. *BMJ* (*Online*), 348, g2276. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g2276
- Shintani, T. T., and Hughes, C. K. (1994). Traditional Diets of the Pacific and Coronary Heart Disease. *The European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 1(1), 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/174182679400100104
- Smith, S. L., Ludy, M.-J., and Tucker, R. M. (2016). Changes in taste preference and steps taken after sleep curtailment. *Physiology & Behavior*, 163, 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.05.002
- Stafford, L. D., Tucker, M., and Gerstner, N. (2013). A bitter sweet asynchrony. The relation between eating attitudes, dietary restraint on smell and taste function. *Appetite*, 70, 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.06.084
- Stevenson, R. J., Boakes, R. A., Oaten, M. J., Yeomans, M. R., Mahmut, M., and Francis, H. M. (2016). Chemosensory abilities in consumers of a western-style diet. *Chemical Senses*, 41(6), 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw053
- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., Golding, M., Delahunty, C., Clifton, P., and Keast, R. (2010). Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 104(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510000267
- Stewart, J., and Keast, R. (2012). Recent fat intake modulates fat taste sensitivity in lean and overweight subjects. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36(6), 834–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2011.155
- Stunkard, A. J., and Messick, S. (1985). The three-factor eating questionnaire to measure dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 29(1), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(85)90010-8
- Sundborn, G., Metcalf, P. A., Gentles, D., Scragg, R., Dyall, L., Black, P., and Jackson, R. (2010). Overweight and obesity prevalence among adult Pacific peoples and Europeans in the Diabetes Heart and Health Study (DHAHS) 2002-2003, Auckland New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*.
- Swinburn, B. A., Sacks, G., Hall, K. D., McPherson, K., Finegood, D. T., Moodie, M. L., and Gortmaker, S. L. (2011). The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. *The Lancet*, 378(9793), 804–814. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1
- Tan, S.-Y., and Tucker, R. (2019). Sweet Taste as a Predictor of Dietary Intake: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients*, *11*(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010094
- Thompson, F. E., and Subar, A. F. (2013). Dietary assessment methodology. In A. M. Coulson, J. Boushey, and G. Ferruzzi (Eds.), *Nutrition in the prevention and treatment of disease* (Third ed, pp. 5–30). Oxford, UK: Elsevier.

- Tomassini Barbarossa, I., Carta, G., Murru, E., Melis, M., Zonza, A., Vacca, C., ... Banni, S. (2013). Taste sensitivity to 6-n-propylthiouracil is associated with endocannabinoid plasma levels in normal-weight individuals. *Nutrition*, 29(3), 531–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2012.09.018
- Tucker, R. M., Edlinger, C., Craig, B. A., and Mattes, R. D. (2014). Associations between BMI and fat taste sensitivity in humans. *Chemical Senses*, 39(4), 349–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bju006
- Tucker, R. M., Nuessle, T. M., Garneau, N. L., Smutzer, G., and Mattes, R. D. (2015). No Difference in Perceived Intensity of Linoleic Acid in the Oral Cavity between Obese and Nonobese Individuals. *Chemical Senses*, 40(8), 557–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv040
- Tupai-Firestone, R., Tuisano, H., Manukia, M., Kaholokula, K., Foliaki, S., Kingi, T. K., ... Ellison-Loschmann, L. (2016). Understanding Pasifika youth and the obesogenic environment, Auckland and Wellington, New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 129(1434), 23–35. https://doi.org/2
- Tyrovolas, S., Koyanagi, A., Stickley, A., and Haro, J. M. (2015). Weight Perception, Satisfaction, Control, and Low Energy Dietary Reporting in the US Adult Population: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2007-2012. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *116*(4), 579–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2015.09.022
- Vandenbroeck, P., Goossens, J., and Clemens, M. (2007). Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Building the Obesity System Map. *Foresight*. https://doi.org/10.1037/e602972011-001
- Veldhuizen, M. G., Babbs, R. K., Patel, B., Fobbs, W., Kroemer, N. B., Garcia, E., ... Small, D. M. (2017). Integration of Sweet Taste and Metabolism Determines Carbohydrate Reward. *Current Biology*, 27(16), 2476-2485.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2017.07.018
- Wall, C. R., Gammon, C. S., Bandara, D. K., Grant, C. C., Atatoa Carr, P. E., and Morton, S. M. B. (2016). Dietary Patterns in Pregnancy in New Zealand-Influence of Maternal Socio-Demographic, Health and Lifestyle Factors. *Nutrients*, 8(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8050300
- Westenhoefer, J. (1991). Dietary restraint and disinhibition: Is restraint a homogeneous construct? *Appetite*, *16*(1), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0195-6663(91)90110-E
- Westenhoefer, J., Stunkard, A. J., and Pudel, V. (1999). Validation of the flexible and rigid control dimensions of dietary restraint. *The International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 26(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199907)26:1<53::AID-EAT7>3.0.CO;2-N
- WHO. (2015). *Guideline. Sugars intake for adults and children.* World Health Organization.
- Willett, W. (2013). Issues in Analysis and Presentation of Dietary Data. In *Nutritional Epidemiology* (pp. 1–53). Oxford Scholarship Online. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199754038.003.0013
- Williams, J. A., Bartoshuk, L. M., Fillingim, R. B., and Dotson, C. D. (2016). Exploring ethnic differences in taste perception. *Chemical Senses*, 41(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw021
- Wise, P. M., Nattress, L., Flammer, L. J., and Beauchamp, G. K. (2016). Reduced dietary intake of simple sugars alters perceived sweet taste intensity but not perceived pleasantness. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 103(1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.115.112300

- Yeomans, M. R. (2010). Development of Human Learned Flavor Likes and Dislikes. In R. Y. Y. Laurette Dubé, Antoine Bechara, Alain Dagher, Adam Drewnowski, Jordan Lebel, Philip James (Ed.), *Obesity Prevention* (pp. 161–178). Academic Press, Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374387-9.00013-1
- Zhang, X. J., Zhou, L. H., Ban, X., Liu, D. X., Jiang, W., and Liu, X. M. (2011). Decreased expression of CD36 in circumvallate taste buds of high-fat diet induced obese rats. *Acta Histochemica*, 113(6), 663–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acthis.2010.09.007
- Zhou, X., Shen, Y., Parker, J. K., Kennedy, O. B., and Methven, L. (2016). Relative Effects of Sensory Modalities and Importance of Fatty Acid Sensitivity on Fat Perception in a Real Food Model. *Chemosensory Perception*, 9(3), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-016-9211-5
Chapter VI.

Overall discussion and conclusions

6.1. Background and rationale

New Zealand ranks as the third most obese country in the OECD (OECD, 2017). Approximately 32% of the NZ adult population are classified as obese, and, approximately 34% are within the normal weight range (Ministry of Health., 2017). There is an urgent need to build on our current knowledge of the environmental and physiological factors that drive weight gain and its associated metabolic health consequences. The increasing prevalence of obesity appears to be exacerbated by an increase in the availability of energy-dense, highly processed, inexpensive and highly palatable, food and beverage options (Swinburn et al., 2011). Therefore, the physiological factors (e.g. taste perception) which further contribute to the onset of obesity in this setting, are potentially critical targets for future health interventions (Schwartz et al., 2017; Story, Kaphingst, Robinson-O'Brien, & Glanz, 2008).

Taste perception is an important physiological factor, integral to foods that are selected and consumed, thereby mediating energy intake (Breslin, 2013). For example, highlyenergy dense and processed food options have an appealing taste, therefore leading to intake in excess of requirements and subsequent weight gain (Drewnowski, 1997). Taste perception has been shown to be dysregulated in an obese state and this dysregulation may reverse with weight loss (Berthoud & Zheng, 2012; Kaufman, Choo, Koh, & Dando, 2018). Therefore, taste perception could be a target for future weight control interventions, with an aim to reduce the intake of energy dense food options. However, determining the clear associations between taste perception and obesity needs to be established first (Kaufman et al., 2018; Newman, Bolhuis, Torres, & Keast, 2016). This thesis endeavoured to measure multiple associations between taste perception, dietary intake, eating behaviour and measurements of metabolic health. Firstly, the Dessert Taste study investigated the test-retest repeatability and reliability of fatty acid taste perception and compared multimodal fatty acid chemosensory perception (i.e. taste, aroma and mouthfeel) with adiposity, eating behaviour and dietary intake. Secondly, in the PROMISE study, sweet taste, bitter taste and milk fat perception were measured with LAM and gLMS ratings of hedonic liking and intensity, as well as discrimination of taste by ranking task to determine associations between taste perception, body composition, hormonal adiposity signals, dietary intake and eating behaviour. Taste perception was compared with detailed parameters of adiposity which were measured by whole-body DXA scan (body fat %). Measurements of endocrine regulators of energy metabolism, including fasting plasma insulin, leptin, glucose, glycated haemoglobin and blood cholesterol were further investigated. Detailed measurements of dietary intake were conducted to provide robust data on actual dietary intake (5-day non-consecutive food record), alongside eating behaviour characteristics (TFEQ) to measure its associations with taste perception. This research on taste perception contributes to the growing body of knowledge on influences on dietary intake. These advances will support research efforts to improve health outcomes related to poor dietary choices.

6.2. Summary of results

An overview of key associations between and within chapters of this PhD thesis are presented in Figure 6.1. New knowledge was built, and methodology developed across this PhD thesis, with a central focus on taste perception and adiposity (Figure 6.1). In chapter three, detection thresholds of oleic acid taste were shown to be heterogeneous between individuals. This research added to the recently growing body of evidence that there is a perceivable fatty acid taste. Additionally, the taste perception of oleic acid was significantly correlated with olfactory detection of oleic acid (r=0.325; P<0.02). This was a novel finding that has important implications for future studies that endeavour to establish complex associations between multiple sensory modalities (i.e. taste, aroma, and mouthfeel). Establishing such interactions between each sensory modality may reveal distinct associations between sensory perception, cognitive processing and reward signalling pathways. This study also found that fatty acid taste hyposensitivity was associated with higher BMI values and a higher disinhibited eating behaviour score in premenopausal NZ European women (P < 0.05). In addition, the dietary intake of nuts, nut spreads and seeds was positively correlated with olfactory sensitivity to oleic acid (r_s = -0.410, P< 0.01).

In chapter four, hedonic liking and intensity rating were measured using LAM and gLMS at a range of concentrations for glucose (sweet taste), quinine (bitter taste) and milk fat perception (milk and cream). Discrimination of taste by ranking task was used as a comparative tool for the measurement of taste perception. In Pacific and NZ European women, taster status was derived using cluster analysis from the LAM scale ratings of hedonic liking, which classified the study population into 'likers' and 'dislikers' for each taste. Important patterns of taster status were found, whereby sweet and bitter likers rated taste as less intense at all concentration levels in comparison to sweet and bitter dislikers, respectively. In contrast, milk fat likers rated milk fat intensity by gLMS as more intense than milk fat dislikers, but at higher concentrations only. Therefore, taste liking status was intimately linked with intensity ratings of taste, so this was used as distinct groups to determine further associations.

NZ European sweet likers were twice as likely to have higher body fat (>35%) compared to NZ European sweet dislikers (adjusted, OR 2.1, P< 0.01). In addition, women who incorrectly discriminated sweet taste by ranking task had higher body fat levels (>35%) (adjusted, OR 2.9, P< 0.01). Furthermore, increased fasting plasma leptin and insulin concentrations were associated with being a sweet liker (adjusted; OR 1.7, P< 0.05). In contrast, bitter taste liking was significantly associated with the decreased likelihood of having body fat >35% (adjusted, OR 0.4, P< 0.01). These results have shown differences in sweet taste and bitter taste perception which relate to adiposity.

In chapter five, dietary intake of carbohydrates, starch and sugars were significantly higher in NZ European sweet likers $(199.4 \pm 51.1, 87.9 \pm 27.4 \text{ and } 111.1 \pm 34.6 \text{ g/day})$ when compared to sweet dislikers $(165.9 \pm 48.7, 71.4 \pm 25.2 \text{ and } 94.1 \pm 34.7 \text{ g/day}, P < 0.001, P < 0.01, and P < 0.01, respectively) and sweet taste hedonic liking was associated with higher disinhibited eating behaviour ($ *P*< 0.01). However, there were no clear tastediet or taste-eating behaviour relationships between Pacific sweet likers and dislikers. This study suggests that sweet taste perception in NZ European women may influence dietary intake and eating behaviour. Additional taste-diet associations were minor and will be discussed in more detail below.



Figure 6.1. Venn diagram and summary of key factors that are associated with taste perception

6.2.1. Associations between fatty acid taste, olfaction, eating behaviour, dietary intake and adiposity

In the study of chapter 3, fatty acid taste was measured and found to be a reproducible and reliable measurement, validating this approach as a quantitative tool. Fatty acid taste detection, alongside olfaction and mouthfeel perception, was found to vary between individuals and was associated with eating behaviour and adiposity (**hypothesis 1 accepted**). We found no clear associations between fatty acid taste perception and dietary intake. It is likely that dietary intake measurement by a FFQ is less suitable for comparing direct taste-diet relationships and that a food record to measure actual intake should be explored in future studies.

In a 'real world' food setting, the perception of fat content would be further enhanced

by the combined perception of taste, olfaction and mouthfeel (Rolls, 2015). Olfactory based discrimination of individual fatty acids supports the notion that humans can detect small concentrations of fat content by odour alone (Kallas & Halpern, 2011). Fatty acid recognition mechanisms are complex, and this study has provided evidence to suggest that multimodal sensory inputs which contribute to fat sensation are interrelated. A recently published *in vitro* study has found that functional olfactory receptors are present in the vicinity of human taste receptors in taste buds of the tongue (Malik, Elkaddi, Turkistani, Spielman, & Ozdener, 2019). To our knowledge, this was the first study to compare oleic acid taste, olfaction and mouthfeel perception alongside dietary intake, eating behaviour and adiposity. Our research suggests that it is feasible for future studies to consider using multimodal classifications of fatty acid hyper- and hyposensitivity. It is conceivable that the multimodal classification of fatty acid sensitivity will have a stronger link with long-term food choice, as the enjoyment and liking of food is based on the experience of the whole food (e.g. taste, aroma, mouthfeel, appearance, etc). Therefore, the future implications of this work are that multiple sensory modalities will continue to be measured and compared, with a view to better understand the associations and non-associations that may exist between each sensation related to dietary fats.

6.2.2. Associations between sweet taste, bitter taste and fatty acid taste perception and obesity

The results of this thesis indicate that some measurable differences in taste perception are associated with obesity. In the PROMISE study, we found that incorrectly ranking the sweet taste task was significantly associated with higher body fat. This finding was further supported by additional measurements of sweet taste liking, whereby NZ European sweet taste likers were twice as likely to have higher body fat % when compared to sweet taste dislikers (**hypothesis 2 accepted; for sweet taste perception**). Bitter taste disliking was associated with having >35% body fat when compared to bitter taste liking (**hypothesis 2 accepted; for bitter taste perception**). In the Dessert Taste study, fatty acid taste hyposensitivity was associated with higher BMI (**hypothesis 2 accepted; for fatty acid taste perception**). However, in the PROMISE study, there were no associations between milk fat perception measurements (discrimination of taste by ranking task, hedonic liking or intensity rating) and body fat % (hypothesis 2 rejected; milk fat perception).

Past studies investigating sweet taste sensitivity have shown varying results, where taste sensitivity was positively correlated with BMI (Hwang et al., 2016; Joseph, Reed, & Mennella, 2015), and negatively correlated with BMI (Bartoshuk, Duffy, Hayes, Moskowitz, & Snyder, 2006; Overberg, Hummel, Krude, & Wiegand, 2012). Furthermore, a large number of studies have reported no association (Cox, Hendrie, & Carty, 2015; Jayasinghe et al., 2017; Tan & Tucker, 2019). In comparison with previous studies, this study used body fat % instead of BMI to draw these comparisons with obesity, nevertheless, the current study supports the notion that a decreased perception of sweet taste is associated with increased adiposity. In addition, an incorrect sweet taste ranking task outcome, indicative of a poor acuteness of broader taste functioning (Kaufman et al., 2018), was associated with increased adiposity in our study. However, these results should be interpreted with caution as complex variations can exist within sub-populations and environmental factors may further confound such associations (Methven, Allen, Withers, & Gosney, 2012; Williams, Bartoshuk, Fillingim, & Dotson, 2016).

Previous studies have suggested that increased sensitivity to bitterness may lead to a decrease in the consumption of healthy, bitter-tasting foods (i.e. cruciferous vegetables) (Turner et al., 2018). Like sweet taste perception, several studies on bitter taste perception have attempted to relate taster status to obesity. However, results are mixed, and to date, a clear link has not been confirmed (Deshaware & Singhal, 2017; Drewnowski, Henderson, & Cockroft, 2007). Bitter taste perception has been regarded as a marker for general taste acuity (i.e. supertaster status, or PROP taster), and that people with a genetic sensitivity to bitter may also be more sensitive to other tastes; however these associations were disputed recently (Garneau et al., 2014). The current study suggests an increased hedonic liking of bitter taste, specifically to that of quinine, is associated with decreased adiposity.

As previously mentioned, (chapter three) fatty acid taste perception was associated with increased adiposity. In healthy weight individuals, maintaining a lower body weight has been previously linked with higher sensitivity to oral fatty acids (Brown, McLay-Cooke,

Gray, & Tey, 2015; Stewart et al., 2010). Chapter three supports a proposed mechanism of fatty acid taste hypersensitivity being an innate predisposition toward improved long-term weight maintenance. Therefore, long-term fat hyposensitivity may have a subtle influence on increasing the dietary intake of fat.

In the PROMISE study (chapter four), the increased hedonic liking of sweet taste was associated with the dose-dependent decrease in gLMS intensity ratings of glucose solutions. Additionally, increased circulating plasma concentrations of the adipogenic hormones leptin and insulin were significantly associated with sweet taste liking status. Important associations have been identified between circulating leptin concentrations and sweet taste perception in previous studies, including that sweet taste recognition matches the diurnal variation in circulating leptin concentration levels (Nakamura et al., 2008). However, this pattern of sweet taste recognition alongside circulating leptin is disassociated in the obese state (Sanematsu, Nakamura, Nomura, Shigemura, & Ninomiya, 2018). Taken together, this information indicates there may be important suppressive effects on the sweet taste receptor by leptin, which has been previously shown to impact on sweet taste perception in vitro (Kawai, Sugimoto, Nakashima, Miura, & Ninomiya, 2000; Yoshida et al., 2015). These results further explain the role of leptin and insulin for the maintenance of glucose homeostasis and long-term healthy body weight (Amitani, Asakawa, Amitani, & Inui, 2013). A detailed description of these mechanisms and taste perception associations are described below.

In relation to body weight, the adipocyte hormone leptin is an important regulator of metabolic homeostasis and is able to inhibit food intake and increase energy expenditure (Covey et al., 2006; D'souza, Neumann, Glavas, & Kieffer, 2017). This study has revealed associations which indicate that hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia, appear to be associated with sweet taste suppression via the functionality of the sweet taste receptor. However, these associations were specifically observed in a healthy group of premenopausal women. The sweet taste receptor cell itself has a receptor for leptin (Ob-Rb), but it does not have a receptor for insulin (Behrens & Meyerhof, 2019). The leptin receptor co-localises with T1R3 expressing sweet-sensing taste cells (Kubasova, Burdakov, & Domingos, 2015). The adipoinsular axis is a dual hormonal feedback system involving the hormones insulin and leptin, produced by pancreatic β -cells and adipose tissue, respectively (Kieffer & Habener,

2000). It is therefore likely that the apparent influence of insulin on taste perception, as observed in our present study, is indirect and rather based on insulin's effect of increasing adipose tissues mass and circulating leptin secretion (Kawai et al., 2000; Yoshida et al., 2015). Importantly, the taste-modifying effect of leptin *in vitro* is selective for the taste quality sweet, whereas bitter, umami, salt and sour tastes remain unchanged (Kawai et al., 2000). A lack of an association between leptin and bitter taste or milk fat perception was found in this study, which supports the specificity of the endocrine mechanism described above. These findings indicate that the insulin – leptin – sweet taste receptor feedback system, is an important taste regulating pathway and a potential focus for future research.

In the PROMISE study, higher levels of adiposity were associated with an increased disinhibited eating behaviour score in NZ European women. Disinhibition-BMI relationships have been observed in previous studies (Hays & Roberts, 2008; Kruger, De Bray, Beck, Conlon, & Stonehouse, 2016). It has been previously reported that overweight and obese individuals exhibit increased disinhibited or emotionally disinhibited eating behaviour compared to healthy weight individuals (McLay-Cooke, 2017). In both the Dessert Taste study and the PROMISE study, disinhibited eating behaviour was associated with fatty acid taste hyposensitivity and sweet taste liking, respectively. However, these findings were only found within the NZ European population. These findings indicate that fatty acid taste and sweet taste liking status may influence the type of foods that are consumed, which may be further associated with specific cognitive eating behaviours (Sijtsema, Reinders, Hiller, & Dolors Guàrdia, 2012). For example, psychological factors (i.e. chronic stress, mood) may influence appetite and food selection (Papier, Ahmed, Lee, & Wiseman, 2015) where it has been shown that increased adrenocortical activity is associated with reduced taste intensity (Al'Absi, Nakajima, Hooker, Wittmers, & Cragin, 2012).

6.2.3. Associations between taste perception and dietary intake

In chapter five, sweet likers had a significantly higher intake of carbohydrates, sugars and starch compared to sweet dislikers, in NZ European women only (**hypothesis 3 accepted; for sweet taste perception in NZ European women**). In contrast, in Pacific women, there were no differences in dietary intake between taster groups (**hypothesis 3 rejected; for sweet taste perception in Pacific women**). Other minor associations were found, for example, Pacific (>35 BF%) and NZ European (<35 BF%) bitter likers had decreased protein intake (grams) compared to bitter dislikers in the same body fat % group. In Pacific women with high body fat %, milk fat likers had higher protein intake (grams) than milk fat dislikers. In addition, NZ European bitter likers had higher dietary fibre intake (% energy) than bitter dislikers. However, it can be concluded that no consistent associations were found when comparing bitter taste and milk fat perception and milk fat perception).

The use of hierarchical cluster analysis provides an advanced approach to aid the investigation of the associations between taste perception and dietary intake, eating behaviour and body fat. This approach was important because previous studies have shown substantial variation in the pattern of hedonic responses to increasing concentrations of a taste stimulus. Furthermore, other studies have relied on determining hedonic liking status based on the rating of a single concentration of taste stimulus. In this study we were able to define sweet, bitter and milk fat likers and conversely sweet, bitter and milk fat dislikers from ratings at multiple concentrations. Hierarchical cluster analysis has been used in recent studies (Asao et al., 2015; Garneau, Nuessle, Mendelsberg, Shepard, & Tucker, 2018; Kim, Prescott, & Kim, 2014) and the present study supports the use of this method.

Recent studies have shown a link between suprathreshold sweet taste perception and energy intake (Low, Lacy, McBride, & Keast, 2016), as well as carbohydrate and sugar intake (Jayasinghe et al., 2017) and between carbohydrate taste sensitivity and energy intake (Low, Lacy, McBride, & Keast, 2017). This study has further substantiated these previous results by showing that NZ European women sweet likers consumed more carbohydrates and sugar in comparison to sweet dislikers.

In a recent systematic review, studies that used suprathreshold concentration levels of tastants were more likely to show associations with dietary intake (Tan & Tucker, 2019). For example, salt taste threshold measurements do not predict intake of salt or alcohol while suprathreshold measures do (Duffy, Peterson, & Bartoshuk, 2004; Hayes,

Sullivan, & Duffy, 2010; Lucas, Riddell, Liem, Whitelock, & Keast, 2011). However, a large number of studies to date have used threshold measurements to compare taste perception with dietary intake (Han, Keast, & Roura, 2017; Martinez-Cordero, Malacara-Hernandez, & Martinez-Cordero, 2015; Smith, Ludy, & Tucker, 2016) which may account for the variability in findings. There are still relatively few studies that have compared taste at suprathreshold levels to derive patterns of taste liking by hierarchical cluster analysis (Garneau et al., 2018; Iatridi et al., 2019).

This work has highlighted that there are dietary intake differences between population groups (i.e. Pacific and NZ European). Pacific women had higher intakes of carbohydrates, sugar, and starch and lower intakes of protein, fat, polyunsaturated fat, dietary fibre and alcohol, compared to NZ European women. In NZ, this may in part be due to Pacific people having a higher level of socioeconomic deprivation in comparison to the NZ European population. Socioeconomic factors, such as increased levels of income, have been previously associated with improved diet and food choice (Thiele, Mensink, & Beitz, 2004). In a large study in the USA, people with higher-income had higher diet quality scores than those with lower-income (Zhang et al., 2018). Further evidence of the increasing disparity between high- and low-income groups was evidenced in a study by Leung et al (2012). Lower-income adults were not consuming recommended amounts of whole grains, fruit, vegetables, fish, nuts, seeds and legumes with approximately 13-22% not meeting any of the food and nutrient guidelines (Leung et al., 2012). The conclusion we draw from these previous results is that socioeconomic status has an impact on food choice. Future work should obtain additional information on factors influencing food choice, such as genetic information, to better understand the taste-diet associations found in the present study.

6.2.4. Associations between sweet taste perception, dietary intake and regulators of energy metabolism

New Zealand European women who were sweet likers had higher fasting plasma insulin, plasma leptin, circulating glucose concentration and decreased HDL cholesterol when compared to sweet dislikers (chapter 4). This is the first clear evidence that sweet liking is linked with a range of regulators of energy metabolism and metabolic health status. Further, sweet taste liking (characterised by decreased sweet taste intensity rating) was associated with increased dietary intake of carbohydrates, starch and sugars (chapter 5). Brought together, there is a taste-diet association regarding carbohydrate intake, and this is related to changes in circulating concentrations of regulators of energy metabolism in NZ European women. This suggests that sweet taste perception is an important indicator of long-term health status driven by peripheral and central effects.

Leptin receptors have been shown to regulate glucose homeostasis by suppressing the production of glucagon and corticosterone, increasing glucose uptake and inhibiting hepatic glucose output (D'souza et al., 2017). The intimate link between sweet-sensing taste cells (T1R3) and the leptin receptor (Ob-Rb) in taste buds suggests an important regulatory pathway for the intake of sugar and carbohydrates (Martin et al., 2010). An important link exists between taste perception and peripheral energy balance, which involves hormonal signalling, impacting on both food intake and peripheral glucose homeostasis (Martin, Maudsley, White, & Egan, 2009). This is supported by decreased sweet taste intensity rating (i.e. sweet liking) being related to increased intake of dietary sugars in this study. The clinical implications of these results are promising, as leptin therapy alongside dietary intervention may have a stronger impact on long-term appetitive and regulatory mechanisms which are driven by the central nervous system (Monteiro & Batterham, 2017).

However, it is important to note that the participants who took part in the PROMISE study were healthy. The reason for the differences observed cannot be determined from a cross-sectional study, however, a higher proportion of the Pacific women in this study had hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia when compared to NZ European women. It can be speculated that there may be differences in the leptin receptor interface (Ob-Rb) which may be associated with the level of taste receptors (T1R3) in this population group (Yoshida et al., 2015). A better understanding of this pathway across different population groups may further explain the differences observed. Furthermore, these associations may be used to design intervention studies that prevent the cascade of events which lead to metabolic disorders such as type 2 diabetes.

6.3. Study strengths and limitations

In this PhD programme, a series of experiments were conducted to investigate associations between taste perception, dietary intake, eating behaviour and circulating concentrations of glucose and endocrine regulators of energy metabolism and body fat. Several previous studies have attempted to identify taste-diet associations, however, consistent relationships have not been found due to the heterogeneity in taste stimuli and variations in dietary intake assessment tools (Cox et al., 2015) used in these studies. Additionally, previous studies typically have used smaller sample sizes and often did not compare representative populations of participants both with, and without obesity (Appleton, Tuorila, Bertenshaw, de Graaf, & Mela, 2018; Cox et al., 2015; Keast, 2016). Key considerations and strengths of this PhD research programme were the use of reliable measurements of taste perception, robust dietary intake methodology and measurement of metabolic markers and endocrine regulators that are functionally linked to body fat. Each of these key factors will be discussed below.

6.3.1. Participant characteristics

Strengths of the studies

All participants who took part in both the Dessert Taste study and the PROMISE study were premenopausal women (aged 18 - 45 years). The women were healthy and lived in Auckland, NZ. The Dessert Taste study was a fatty acid taste test re-test study that involved 50 study participants, which only included NZ European women. The advantages included the homogenous study group to limit biological confounding factors (i.e. gender). Participant retention was high in this study (one dropout only).

The PROMISE study represented a larger study population of both Pacific and NZ European women. This larger study included participants who were representative of four different groups (i.e. Pacific and NZ European women stratified by low and high body fat %). Most of the recruitment was conducted outside of the university setting and through external contacts. In the PROMISE study, we had recruitment support from our research staff and a senior Pacific research nurse in partnership with the Fono Primary Healthcare Service (Kindleysides et al., 2019). This support framework was highly successful in supporting our engagement with the Pacific women, ensuring that the study was conducted in a culturally appropriate way.

Limitations

This research only included female, premenopausal women of 18 – 45 years of age. This was a limitation as associations in males, or else in older or younger age groups, was not ascertained. In the Dessert Taste study (Chapter 3), many of the participants in this convenience sample were university students or those with a keen interest in nutrition and health. Therefore, a limitation of the Dessert taste study was the convenience sample of participants who took part. However, the study population was adequately powered to meet the primary aims of the study. In the PROMISE study, there were difficulties in recruiting participants that had minimal interest in the research. Therefore, other recruitment strategies (e.g. transport) were required to maintain participant engagement (Kindleysides et al., 2019).

Participants were screened and invited to participate based on self-reported height and weight, based on having either a normal weight profile (BMI: $18.5 - 24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$) or an obese profile (BMI $\ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Subsequently, we grouped women into low or high body fat groups, using a cut point of 35% (Dickey et al., 1998; Jo & Mainous, 2018; Oliveros, Somers, Sochor, Goel, & Lopez-Jimenez, 2014). Based on this screening we expected approximately equal proportions of women in each body fat group. However, screening and recruiting women by body fat % initially would have been an advantage. For example, equal separation of the women into groups of <30% body fat, 30.1 – 34.9% body fat, and >35% body fat, may have given more precise information on metabolic risk profile.

In the PROMISE study, the deprivation index was significantly higher in Pacific women in comparison with NZ European women, highlighting the social inequities between the two populations. This is largely due to the current socioeconomic setting in Auckland and the residential areas that we recruited from, being a limitation because the Pacific and NZ European women typically reside in different areas. There was a range of other complex differences observed between Pacific and NZ European women, which may have been influenced by socio-cultural factors (i.e. dietary intake and eating behaviour). The current health inequalities observed in Pacific youth in NZ (Tupai-Firestone et al., 2016), indicate that socioeconomic status is an important influence on food choice. The associations between taste perception and dietary intake and how these are influenced by environmental drivers of food choice, including affordability and lifestyle, warrants further investigation.

In addition, further heterogeneity in genetics and socio-cultural setting may exist within the subpopulations of the PROMISE study. For example, NZ European women with high body fat % had a higher deprivation index score than NZ European with low body fat %. In our Pacific cohort, approximately half of the women were of Tongan descent, alongside women of Samoan, Fijian, Niuean, Tokelauan, Cook Island Māori and Tuvaluan descent. Similarly, in NZ European women approximately half of the women were born in NZ, alongside women who were born in Europe, South Africa and Australia. We chose to stratify by these broader population groups only (i.e. Pacific and NZ European) as current public health recommendations and reports are based on these classifications (Ministry of Health., 2017). Further associations may have been elucidated by the investigation into variations in single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and taste inheritability in our study population (Reed, Tanaka, & McDaniel, 2006). Genotype and phenotype comparisons could have provided more precise information on taster status.

6.3.2. Study design

Strengths

Cross-sectional studies allow for multiple comparisons at one point in time, and both the Dessert Taste study and the PROMISE study allowed for this. Biological measurements were compared across groups with approximately even representation in sample sizes. The allocation of participants into distinct categories in the PROMISE study allowed for stratification and effect modification. For example, the recruitment emphasis on obese versus normal body fat % groups in the PROMISE study was an efficient approach to identify and contrast biological parameters that are associated with obesity-related metabolic disease risk.

Limitations

The challenges of a cross-sectional study include the bidirectional nature of some associations. Therefore, the causality of the associations identified in this study cannot be inferred (Sedgwick, 2014). It is useful to first establish the existence of potential associations between taste perception, dietary intake, eating behaviour and markers of metabolic health, prior to determining causation. The multiple comparisons and a large number of assessments required stratification of the data. More research is required in order to establish the cause and effect of these study outcomes.

In the PROMISE study, the selection of obese women who self-reported as healthy (Kindleysides et al., 2019) meant that true random selection of the obese population was not obtained (Tripepi, Jager, Dekker, & Zoccali, 2010). Given that across the general population the number of 'unhealthy' women would be higher in those who are obese compared to non-obese (Schwartz et al., 2017), there is some risk of selection bias as only 'healthy' obese women were recruited into the PROMISE study. Therefore, we cannot rule out that observed differences may have been influenced by this.

6.3.3. Taste testing methodology

Strengths

A key aim of this research programme was to measure and characterise taste perception. Without reliable evaluation of taste perception, further comparisons with dietary intake or endocrine regulators of energy metabolism and body fat would not be feasible. Firstly, this research further established the test re-test reliability and reproducibility of oral fatty acid threshold testing. The modelling of taste was based on the probability of correctly identifying taste at each concentration level, which measured concentration levels beyond the previously proposed 'stopping point' rule (Mattes, 2007). Binomial regression models of fatty acid taste allowed for the interpolation of an individual's performance across multiple study visits, which classified each person as either hypo- or hypersensitive. Establishing a classification of taste perception based on modelling the probability of success or failure in the identification of oleic acid taste strengthened this data.

In the PROMISE study, the measurement of suprathreshold concentration ratings of intensity and hedonic liking by gLMS and LAM scales were used. This has been cited as an appropriate taste perception measurement for investigating comparisons with dietary intake (Low et al., 2016). In particular, taste perception measurement by suprathreshold concentrations of milk fat allowed for the measurement of hedonic liking at 'real-world' concentration levels (Low et al., 2016). As an additional measurement, non-subjective ranking tasks were conducted with sweet, bitter and milk fat solutions. Data from sweet taste perception measurements by LAM scales can be used to produce distinct hedonic liking clusters. Hierarchical cluster analysis is advantageous because it is a tool for examining the underlying structure of seemingly homogenous data and does not require a *priori* decision regarding the number of clusters (Garneau et al., 2018). Therefore, hierarchical cluster analysis has likely improved the quality of the study and created stronger associations than previously used "cut-off methods" (Methven, Xiao, Cai, & Prescott, 2016).

Limitations

The limitations of taste perception measurements in the PROMISE study included: (1) participant time constraint, (2) no fatty acid taste threshold measurements, and (3) lack of repeated, test re-test taste perception measurements. Fatty acid taste measurements would have been useful in order to substantiate the associations which were found in the previous Dessert Taste study. In the PROMISE study, we did not measure fatty acid taste perception by means of detection threshold (i.e. oleic acid taste) as the participant burden would have been too high. Participants in the PROMISE study did taste testing at one study visit only, in a fasted state, prior to breakfast. Similarly, repeated measurements of taste were not feasible due to the implications of the increased participant burden of repeated study visits. Ideally, future studies will incorporate the evaluation of real-world or as eaten stimuli as a measure of taste hedonics, as these have been defined as a superior measurement compared to liquid or model solutions (Cox et al., 2015). Studies which have used real-world or as eaten stimuli have further concluded that the results are more relevant and valid, particularly when drawing comparisons with dietary intake (Joseph et al., 2015; Mennella, Finkbeiner, Lipchock, Hwang, & Reed, 2014).

6.3.4. Dietary intake and eating behaviour assessment tools

6.3.4.1. Food record and food frequency questionnaire (FFQ)

Strengths

This study employed a 5-day non-consecutive estimated food record. Dietary intake data obtained using this assessment tool was robust. It is the 'gold standard method' to assess food intake (De Castro, 1994). Food records were reviewed by a NZ registered dietitian in a one on one interview with each participant. The 220-item validated multi-nutrient, culturally appropriate, semi-quantitative FFQ for use in young adult women (the New Zealand Women's Food Frequency Questionnaire (NZWFFQ)) was used in the Dessert Taste study (Beck, Houston, McNaughton, & Kruger, 2018). The advantages of using the FFQ was the low participant burden. The FFQ was useful in

obtaining information on usual intake of food groups.

Limitations

In the PROMISE study, associations between taste perception and macronutrient intake measured from the food record were reported. However, additional information on food group data and therefore choices of the types of food consumed would have ideally been reported also. Deriving information on food group intake from food record data is a complex process (Faber et al., 2013). It would be beneficial to expand carbohydrate analysis to include a breakdown of the quantities of added and free sugar contents, or the individual sugars (i.e. glucose, sucrose, fructose, maltose, lactose).

In the Dessert Taste study, the only dietary association found was that usual intake of nuts, nut spreads and seeds, were positively correlated with increased olfactory sensitivity of oleic acid. It is unknown if the lack of taste-diet associations was due to the true lack of any associations, or diluted FFQ measurement (Sandell et al., 2014), or if detection thresholds are less indicative of 'real-world' taste experiences (Low et al., 2016; Mennella et al., 2014). This research suggests that measurements of acute intake (i.e. food record) may strengthen taste-diet comparisons. Therefore, the use of an FFQ may be better for studies that measure long-term food intake, data in large populations, or for the development of dietary patterns (Schrijvers, McNaughton, Beck, & Kruger, 2016; Tan & Tucker, 2019). In addition, a FFQ is a useful tool for ranking individuals based on nutrient intake, rather than deriving absolute intake (Beck et al., 2018).

6.3.4.2. Three-factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ)

Strengths

The TFEQ is a well-known, validated eating behaviour tool which measures the cognitive domains of restraint, disinhibition and hunger, that has been used in a wide range of previous studies. Within the NZ European population, consistent relationships were found between eating behaviour scores. Eating behaviour scores and key associations in this study (i.e. BMI) were consistent with previous studies conducted in

young women (Lesdéma et al., 2012) and young NZ European women (Kruger et al., 2016).

Limitations

It is unknown in this study as to whether the results found in Pacific and NZ European women are comparable. Whilst the TFEQ is a validated tool across other ethnic groups (Chong et al., 2016; Löffler et al., 2015) it is unknown if it is a culturally appropriate tool in Pacific women. Previous studies have used or developed a culturally appropriate TFEQ (i.e. for a Thai population) (Chearskul, Pummoung, Vongsaiyat, Janyachailert, & Phattharayuttawat, 2010; Rosnah, Noor Hassim, & Shafizah, 2013). These previous studies required further adaptation beyond translating from the original English version (Stunkard & Messick, 1985).

6.4. Final conclusions

This PhD research programme presents several key and novel findings. Firstly, in the Dessert Taste study, we have shown that fatty acid taste perception is positively correlated with fatty acid olfaction sensitivity in humans. The eating behaviour factor of disinhibition, which was associated with increased adiposity, was significantly higher in women who were hyposensitive to oleic acid taste. Dietary intake of nuts, nut spreads, and seeds was significantly correlated with high olfactory sensitivity to oleic acid.

In the PROMISE study, participants with higher adiposity were more likely to incorrectly rank the sweet taste task. In support of this, the hedonic liking of sweet taste was associated with higher body fat %. Conversely, bitter taste likers had lower body fat % than dislikers. It was further demonstrated that increased circulating concentrations of plasma leptin and insulin were associated with being a sweet liker. Our findings in NZ European women generate new insights into the possible physiological mechanisms, involving the dual hormonal feedback system insulin and leptin, which may link taste perception and obesity in humans: (i) with increasing obesity, the increased circulating concentrations of leptin suppress sweet taste perception in sweet-sensing taste cells; (ii) sweet liking is significantly associated with decreased intensity rating of sweet taste, which is further indicative of suppressed sweet taste receptor action, (iii) consequently, an increase in the intake of refined carbohydrates and sugar occurs in order to compensate for a lack of sensitivity to sweet taste (Ettinger, Duizer, & Caldwell, 2012), and (iv) disinhibited eating behaviour may increase due to decreased sensitivity towards endocrine regulators of appetite and energy metabolism (Gerspach, Steinert, Schönenberger, Graber-Maier, & Beglinger, 2011). Increasing adiposity exacerbates this cycle due to an increase in plasma leptin, as well as plasma insulin concentrations and the dysregulation of the adipoinsular axis (Kaufman et al., 2018; Kieffer & Habener, 2000). The novel insights from this PhD research suggest that sweet taste perception may mirror a state of leptin sensitivity in healthy individuals. In leptin sensitive individuals, leptin inhibits insulin synthesis and secretion from pancreatic β cells. In contrast, leptin-resistance, as found in obesity, decreases the permeability of leptin to the brain, resulting in insufficient leptin signalling to the hypothalamus which dysregulates appetite and cognitive mechanisms that drive eating behaviour and appetite

305

control (Amitani et al., 2013).

Despite having shown that these important mechanistic pathways potentially link dietary intake with sweet taste perception, this cascade of associations was not clearly present in Pacific women. Fasting insulin and leptin concentrations were highest in Pacific women which may suggest that the hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia may reflect an advanced dysregulation within the adipoinsular axis and a re-setting of the feed-back loop with the sweet-taste receptor in Pacific women. Whether this re-setting of the feed-back loop with the sweet-taste receptor is based on genetic or environmental factors (e.g. diet) requires further investigation. However, it suggests that there are other important external drivers of dietary intake which may supersede these innate biological influences on eating behaviour. Additionally, only minor associations were found between bitter taste and milk fat perception with dietary intake, eating behaviour or circulating concentrations of glucose and endocrine regulators of appetite and energy metabolism. The findings of the current study support that there are important associations between taste perception and the long-term regulation of weight maintenance and metabolic health. However, multiple drivers of obesity, including environmental influences on food choice, need to be considered in order to determine the true impact of the biological associations observed in this study (Vandenbroeck, Goossens, & Clemens, 2007).

Finally, in the PROMISE study, comparisons were made between two populations with markedly different metabolic disease risk (Pacific and NZ European women) and different levels of body fat (low and high body fat %). In chapter 5, it was observed that there were differences in dietary intake between Pacific and NZ European women. For example, Pacific women consumed higher proportions of carbohydrates and starch, but lower proportions of dietary fibre, in comparison to NZ European women. However, all Pacific and NZ European women consumed more fat, saturated fat and total sugar; and had inadequate carbohydrate intakes compared with general recommendations (NHMRC, 2006; WHO, 2015). Only NZ European women with low body fat % met the recommended intake for dietary fibre. In addition to this, the associations between sweet taste liking and carbohydrate and sugar intake observed in NZ European women were not observed in Pacific women. The data suggest that in a population with higher metabolic disease risk (i.e. significantly higher insulin), dissimilarities in taste-diet

associations may occur in comparison to a population with lower metabolic disease risk. Future research may be able to further investigate these distinct associations in order to reduce current health inequities, which is a critical public health concern.

6.4.1. Public health implications

Based on the findings in this thesis, some future public health recommendations can be made. Firstly, the information gained through this cross-sectional study can be used to establish future longitudinal and intervention studies, that investigate if alterations in taste perception lead to shifts in preferences for unhealthy foods (Wise, Nattress, Flammer, & Beauchamp, 2016). Furthermore, novel or targeted therapies which reduce adiposity may aid in the control of circulating plasma leptin concentration, to alter sweet taste perception alongside dietary restrictions. Such therapies may improve leptin sensitivity, which would improve the long-term regulation of pathways which control food intake and cognitive signals which drive appetite and satiety (Amitani et al., 2013). Targeted weight loss therapies ideally would mimic the effects of bariatric surgery, which is known to enhance taste perception (Zakeri & Batterham, 2017), or potentially enhance taste acuity itself which may drive the improvements of long-term regulation pathways.

Potentially the strongest impact on public health would come from government strategies to reduce sugar intake, which could include the introduction of a 'sugar tax' (Backholer et al., 2016; Nakhimovsky et al., 2016). This would likely result in a population-wide decrease in the intake of food and beverages that are high in added sugar and consequently, would improve long term metabolic health outcomes. More crucially perhaps, this action would target population groups who have a lower socioeconomic status (Cropp, 2017). If taste-diet relationships are associated with habitual dietary intake, this public health action would theoretically improve the biological feedback mechanisms described in this chapter.

Previous studies have indicated that 'taste learning' can occur with multiple exposures to a new or novel tastant (i.e. non-esterified fatty acids) (Running, Mattes, & Tucker, 2013; Tucker & Mattes, 2013). This learning indicates that with repeated exposures an

307

individual may become more attuned to the stimulus. This suggests that 'taste learning' could be an additional tool to enhance taste perception in obesity research. A possible strategy for this would be to repeat exposures to distinct taste sensations that may improve the acceptance and reward signalling pathways associated with that taste (i.e. bitter taste). However, this type of therapy may be difficult to design given the genetic differences that exist for specific taste sensations, particularly for bitter taste, which is associated with food rejection (Keller & Adise, 2016; Yeomans, 2010). The further consideration of 'taste learning' and how this biological mechanism may be advantageous to metabolic health and public health interventions is warranted. It can be speculated that the acceptance of a diverse range of taste and sensory sensations would result in the acceptance of a diverse range of healthy food choices.

It is important that new breakthrough concepts to tackle the obesity epidemic become available, as current health recommendations and dietary guidelines are not being adhered to (Rush, Savila, Jalili-Moghaddam, & Amoah, 2018; Wall et al., 2016). Ideally, recommendations to the general public could become more personalised and informative, which may be based on individual phenotypic and genetic differences in taste perception. The nutrition information presented on food packages could provide further detail on this (i.e. how processed a food is) in comparison to products within the same food category (van Dongen, van den Berg, Vink, Kok, & de Graaf, 2012). For example, a highly processed food product which is high in added sugar could be labelled as a high-risk product for those phenotypically identified as 'taste insensitive to sweet'. This type of personalised system could be more engaging than the currently used health star rating or traffic light front-of-pack nutrition labelling systems (Jones, Thow, Ni Mhurchu, Sacks, & Neal, 2019). In this way, consumers can make informed choices and reduce their energy intake from highly processed foods which are high in added sugar and fat.

6.4.2. Food industry implications

In highly processed foods, the perception of taste and other sensory properties do not always accurately reflect the energy density of the food. This study has provided further evidence that there is heterogeneity in taste perception across different population groups that further impact on food and beverage product perception. There is potential for the use of taste-modifying products or ingredients such as Synsepalum dulcificum (i.e. 'miracle fruit' which modifies sour taste sensation into sweet) which could be used to mask healthy functional ingredients (Swamy, Hadi, Sekaran, & Pichika, 2014). Food reformulation should include clear guidelines and measurements of each basic taste as part of the manufacturing process, to design foods where taste is better perceived to reflect the energy value of the food.

6.4.3. Final statement of the implications of this work

The taste-diet, taste-endocrine and taste-adiposity associations observed in this PhD thesis suggest that the chemosensation of basic taste and subsequent signalling mechanisms can significantly impact on long-term dietary habits and eating behaviour. This work provides a strong foundation for future research on taste perception and the design of longitudinal studies and clinical interventions. Such studies will provide advanced strategies to improve dietary intake and food choice with a view to subsequently reduce the prevalence of obesity and improve metabolic health status globally.

6.5. Recommendations for future research

- Incorporate sensory testing of a wide range of whole foods or 'real-world' as eaten stimuli which are representative of dietary intake, by measuring comprehensive descriptions of sensory attributes.
- Further explore if similar taste-diet or adiposity associations exist within other population groups (e.g. males, different ethnic groups, children, adolescents, older adults, people with type 2 diabetes, etc).
- Expand taste testing methodology to include measures of sour, umami and salt taste perception to establish further relationships with the whole diet, endocrine regulators of metabolic health and eating behaviour.
- Future studies need to consider different patterns of taste perception, in order to separate different types of tasters (i.e. sweet likers from dislikers).
- It is recommended that future studies adjust findings with important influences on taste physiology such as age, gender and ethnicity.
- Expand olfactory methodology to establish further flavour-nutrient associations with the whole diet.
- Investigate taste receptor polymorphisms, genotypes and taste inheritability in comparison to taste perception phenotypes.
- Investigate and determine the changes to taste liking phenotype across different seasons or diurnally.
- Develop targeted intervention studies to determine if sweet taste perception can be enhanced or modified, particularly in obese populations.
- Further research and development into clear guidelines for each basic taste as a component of food reformulation, that can be individually tailored to be physically perceived in order to better reflect the energy value of food.
- Investigate longitudinally whether being a sweet liker is associated with any distinctive dietary patterns (i.e. Western-style diet) or long-term carbohydrate intake. Dietary patterns may help to provide a better understanding of the relationship between food choice and taste sensitivity.

- Clarify associations between taste perception and 'wanting' (i.e. the motivation and decision making in food consumption) and 'liking' (i.e. emotional state) to further elucidate long-term dietary habits.
- Conduct further research on biological associations (i.e. taste perception) and food intake in the setting of food insecurity and deprived socioeconomic settings. This is critical in determining if food intake is influenced by sensory sensitivity in a setting with limited access to nutritious food options.
- Investigate and design a culturally adapted version of the TFEQ for the Pacific population.

6.6. References

- Al'Absi, M., Nakajima, M., Hooker, S., Wittmers, L., & Cragin, T. (2012). Exposure to acute stress is associated with attenuated sweet taste. Psychophysiology, 49(1), 96– 103. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2011.01289.x
- Amitani, M., Asakawa, A., Amitani, H., & Inui, A. (2013). The role of leptin in the control of insulin-glucose axis. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 7, 51. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00051
- Appleton, K. M., Tuorila, H., Bertenshaw, E. J., de Graaf, C., & Mela, D. J. (2018). Sweet taste exposure and the subsequent acceptance and preference for sweet taste in the diet: systematic review of the published literature. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 107(3), 405–419. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqx031
- Asao, K., Miller, J., Arcori, L., Lumeng, J. C., Han-Markey, T., & Herman, W. H. (2015). Patterns of Sweet Taste Liking: A Pilot Study. Nutrients, 7(9), 7298–7311. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu7095336
- Backholer, K., Sarink, D., Beauchamp, A., Keating, C., Loh, V., Ball, K., ... Peeters, A. (2016). The impact of a tax on sugar-sweetened beverages according to socioeconomic position: a systematic review of the evidence. Public Health Nutrition, 19(17), 3070–3084. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001600104X
- Bartoshuk, L. M., Duffy, V. B., Hayes, J. E., Moskowitz, H. R., & Snyder, D. J. (2006). Psychophysics of sweet and fat perception in obesity: problems, solutions and new perspectives. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 361(1471), 1137–1148. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2006.1853
- Beck, K. L., Houston, Z. L., McNaughton, S. A., & Kruger, R. (2018). Development and evaluation of a food frequency questionnaire to assess nutrient intakes of adult women in New Zealand. Nutrition & Dietetics. https://doi.org/10.1111/1747-0080.12472
- Behrens, M., & Meyerhof, W. (2019). A role for taste receptors in (neuro)endocrinology? Journal of Neuroendocrinology, 31(3), e12691. https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12691
- Berthoud, H.-R., & Zheng, H. (2012). Modulation of taste responsiveness and food preference by obesity and weight loss. Physiology & Behavior, 107(4), 527–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.04.004
- Breslin, P. A. S. (2013). An Evolutionary Perspective on Food and Human Taste. Current Biology, 23(9), R409–R418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.010
- Brown, R., McLay-Cooke, R., Gray, A., & Tey, S. (2015). Oral Fatty Acid Sensitivity among Obesity Resistant and Obesity Susceptible Individuals. Journal of Clinical Nutrition & Dietetics, 01(01). https://doi.org/10.4172/2472-1921.100007
- Chearskul, S., Pummoung, S., Vongsaiyat, S., Janyachailert, P., & Phattharayuttawat, S. (2010). Thai version of Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire. Appetite, 54(2), 410–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.01.005
- Chong, M. F.-F., Ayob, M. N. M., Chong, K. J., Tai, E.-S., Khoo, C. M., Leow, M. K.-S., ... Khoo, E. Y.-H. (2016). Psychometric analysis of an eating behaviour questionnaire for an overweight and obese Chinese population in Singapore. Appetite, 101, 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.03.005
- Covey, S. D., Wideman, R. D., McDonald, C., Unniappan, S., Huynh, F., Asadi, A., ... Kieffer, T. J. (2006). The pancreatic β cell is a key site for mediating the effects of

leptin on glucose homeostasis. Cell Metabolism, 4(4), 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2006.09.005

- Cox, D. N., Hendrie, G. A., & Carty, D. (2015). Sensitivity, hedonics and preferences for basic tastes and fat amongst adults and children of differing weight status: A comprehensive review. Food Quality & Preference, 41(Part B), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.11.014
- Cropp, M. (2017). Petition to tax sugary drinks: NZ obese, kids' teeth rotting | RNZ News. Retrieved March 8, 2019, from https://www.radionz.co.nz/news/national/336756/petition-to-tax-sugary-drinks-nzobese-kids-teeth-rotting
- D'souza, A. M., Neumann, U. H., Glavas, M. M., & Kieffer, T. J. (2017). The glucoregulatory actions of leptin. Molecular Metabolism, 6(9), 1052–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2017.04.011
- De Castro, J. M. (1994). Methodology, correlational analysis, and interpretation of diet diary records of the food and fluid intake of free-living humans. Appetite, 23(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.1994.1045
- Deshaware, S., & Singhal, R. (2017). Genetic variation in bitter taste receptor gene TAS2R38, PROP taster status and their association with body mass index and food preferences in Indian population. Gene, 627, 363–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2017.06.047
- Drewnowski, A. (1997). Taste preferences and food intake. Annual Review of Nutrition, 17, 237–253. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.17.1.237
- Drewnowski, A., Henderson, S. A., & Cockroft, J. E. (2007). Genetic Sensitivity to 6-n-Propylthiouracil Has No Influence on Dietary Patterns, Body Mass Indexes, or Plasma Lipid Profiles of Women. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 107(8), 1340–1348. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JADA.2007.05.013
- Duffy, V. B., Peterson, J. M., & Bartoshuk, L. M. (2004). Associations between taste genetics, oral sensation and alcohol intake. Physiology and Behavior, 28(11), 1629–1637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.04.060
- Ettinger, L., Duizer, L., & Caldwell, T. (2012). Body fat, sweetness sensitivity, and preference: determining the relationship. Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice & Research, 73(1), 45–48. https://doi.org/10.3148/73.1.2012.45
- Faber, M., Wenhold, F. A. M., Macintyre, U. E. D., Wentzel-Viljoen, E., Steyn, N. P., & Oldewage-Theron, W. H. (2013). Presentation and interpretation of food intake data: Factors affecting comparability across studies. Nutrition, 29, 1286–1292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2013.03.016
- Fardet, A., Méjean, C., Labouré, H., Andreeva, V. A., & Feron, G. (2017). The degree of processing of foods which are most widely consumed by the French elderly population is associated with satiety and glycemic potentials and nutrient profiles. Food & Function, 8(2), 651–658. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6fo01495j
- Garneau, N. L., Nuessle, T. M., Mendelsberg, B. J., Shepard, S., & Tucker, R. M. (2018). Sweet liker status in children and adults: Consequences for beverage intake in adults. Food Quality & Preference, 65, 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2017.10.005
- Garneau, N. L., Nuessle, T. M., Sloan, M. M., Santorico, S. A., Coughlin, B. C., & Hayes, J. E. (2014). Crowdsourcing taste research: genetic and phenotypic predictors of bitter taste perception as a model. Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience, 8(May). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2014.00033
- Gerspach, A. C., Steinert, R. E., Schönenberger, L., Graber-Maier, A., & Beglinger, C. (2011). The role of the gut sweet taste receptor in regulating GLP-1, PYY, and

CCK release in humans. American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 301(2), E317-25. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00077.2011

- Han, P., Keast, R., & Roura, E. (2017). Salivary leptin and TAS1R2/TAS1R3 polymorphisms are related to sweet taste sensitivity and carbohydrate intake from a buffet meal in healthy young adults. British Journal of Nutrition, 118(10), 763– 770. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114517002872
- Hayes, J. E., Sullivan, B. S., & Duffy, V. B. (2010). Explaining variability in sodium intake through oral sensory phenotype, salt sensation and liking. Physiology and Behavior, 100(4), 369–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.03.017
- Hays, N. P., & Roberts, S. B. (2008). Aspects of eating behaviors disinhibition and restraint are related to weight gain and BMI in women. Obesity, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.12
- Hwang, L.-D., Cuellar-Partida, G., Ong, J.-S., Breslin, P. A. S., Reed, D. R., MacGregor, S., ... Rentería, M. E. (2016). Sweet Taste Perception is Associated with Body Mass Index at the Phenotypic and Genotypic Level. Twin Research and Human Genetics, 19(05), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1017/thg.2016.60
- Iatridi, V., Hayes, J., Yeomans, M., Iatridi, V., Hayes, J. E., & Yeomans, M. R. (2019). Quantifying Sweet Taste Liker Phenotypes: Time for Some Consistency in the Classification Criteria. Nutrients, 11(1), 129. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010129
- Jayasinghe, S. N., Kruger, R., Walsh, D. C. I., Cao, G., Rivers, S., Richter, M., & Breier, B. H. (2017). Is sweet taste perception associated with sweet food liking and intake? Nutrients, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070750
- Jones, A., Thow, A. M., Ni Mhurchu, C., Sacks, G., & Neal, B. (2019). The performance and potential of the Australasian Health Star Rating system: a fouryear review using the RE-AIM framework. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 1753-6405.12908. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12908
- Joseph, P. V., Reed, D. R., & Mennella, J. A. (2015). Individual Differences Among Children in Sucrose Detection Thresholds. Nursing Research, 65(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0000000000138
- Kallas, O., & Halpern, B. P. (2011). Retronasal Discrimination Between Vapor-Phase Long-Chain, Aliphatic Fatty Acids. Chemosensory Perception, 4(1–2), 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12078-011-9085-5
- Kaufman, A., Choo, E., Koh, A., & Dando, R. (2018). Inflammation arising from obesity reduces taste bud abundance and inhibits renewal. PLOS Biology, 16(3), e2001959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001959
- Kawai, K., Sugimoto, K., Nakashima, K., Miura, H., & Ninomiya, Y. (2000). Leptin as a modulator of sweet taste sensitivities in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 97(20), 11044–11049. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.190066697
- Keast, R. (2016). Effects of sugar and fat consumption on sweet and fat taste, 9, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2015.12.003
- Keller, K. L., & Adise, S. (2016). Variation in the Ability to Taste Bitter Thiourea Compounds: Implications for Food Acceptance, Dietary Intake, and Obesity Risk in Children. The Annual Review of Nutrition, 36, 157–182. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-050916
- Kieffer, T. J., & Habener, J. F. (2000). The adipoinsular axis: effects of leptin on pancreatic β-cells. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology & Metabolism, 278(1), E1–E14. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.2000.278.1.E1
- Kim, J. Y., Prescott, J., & Kim, K. O. (2014). Patterns of sweet liking in sucrose solutions and beverages. Food Quality & Preference, 36, 96–103.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2014.03.009

- Kindleysides, S., Kruger, R., Douwes, J., Tannock, G. W., Renall, N., Slater, J., ... Breier, B. H. (2019). Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity. JMIR Res Protoc, 8(8), e14529. https://doi.org/10.2196/14529
- Kruger, R., De Bray, J. G., Beck, K. L., Conlon, C. A., & Stonehouse, W. (2016). Exploring the relationship between body composition and eating behavior using the three factor eating questionnaire (TFEQ) in young New Zealand women. Nutrients, 8(7), 386. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8070386
- Kubasova, N., Burdakov, D., & Domingos, A. I. (2015). Sweet and Low on Leptin: Hormonal Regulation of Sweet Taste Buds. Diabetes, 64(11), 3651–3652. https://doi.org/10.2337/dbi15-0004
- Lesdéma, A., Fromentin, G., Daudin, J.-J., Arlotti, A., Vinoy, S., Tome, D., & Marsset-Baglieri, A. (2012). Characterization of the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire scores of a young French cohort. Appetite, 59(2), 385–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.05.027
- Leung, C. W., Ding, E. L., Catalano, P. J., Villamor, E., Rimm, E. B., & Willett, W. C. (2012). Dietary intake and dietary quality of low-income adults in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 96(5), 977–988. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.112.040014
- Löffler, A., Luck, T., Then, F. S., Sikorski, C., Kovacs, P., Böttcher, Y., ... Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2015). Eating Behaviour in the General Population: An Analysis of the Factor Structure of the German Version of the Three-Factor-Eating-Questionnaire (TFEQ) and Its Association with the Body Mass Index. PLOS ONE, 10(7), e0133977. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133977
- Low, J., Lacy, K., McBride, R., & Keast, R. (2016). The Association between Sweet Taste Function, Anthropometry, and Dietary Intake in Adults. Nutrients, 8(5), 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8040241
- Low, J., Lacy, K., McBride, R., & Keast, R. (2017). Carbohydrate Taste Sensitivity Is Associated with Starch Intake and Waist Circumference in Adults. The Journal of Nutrition, jn254078. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.117.254078
- Lucas, L., Riddell, L., Liem, G., Whitelock, S., & Keast, R. (2011). The Influence of Sodium on Liking and Consumption of Salty Food. Journal of Food Science, 76(1), S72-6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01939.x
- Malik, B., Elkaddi, N., Turkistani, J., Spielman, A. I., & Ozdener, M. H. (2019). Mammalian Taste Cells Express Functional Olfactory Receptors. Chemical Senses, bjz019. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjz019
- Martin, B., Maudsley, S., White, C. M., & Egan, J. M. (2009). Hormones in the nasooropharynx: endocrine modulation of taste and smell. Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM, 20(4), 163–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2009.01.006
- Martin, B., Shin, Y. K., White, C. M., Ji, S., Kim, W., Carlson, O. D., ... Egan, J. M. (2010). Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide-Null Mice Demonstrate Enhanced Sweet Taste Preference, Dysglycemia, and Reduced Taste Bud Leptin Receptor Expression. Diabetes, 59(5), 1143–1152. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-0807
- Martinez-Cordero, E., Malacara-Hernandez, J. M., & Martinez-Cordero, C. (2015). Taste perception in normal and overweight Mexican adults. Appetite, 89, 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.015
- Mattes, R. D. (2007). Effects of linoleic acid on sweet, sour, salty, and bitter taste thresholds and intensity ratings of adults. American Journal of Physiology.

Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 292(5), G1243-8.

https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.00510.2006

- McLay-Cooke, R. (2017). Characteristics of obesity resistance and susceptibility. University of Otago. Retrieved from
 - https://ourarchive.otago.ac.nz/handle/10523/7263
- Mennella, J. A., Finkbeiner, S., Lipchock, S. V, Hwang, L. D., & Reed, D. R. (2014). Preferences for salty and sweet tastes are elevated and related to each other during childhood. PLoS ONE, 9(3), e92201. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092201
- Methven, L., Allen, V. J., Withers, C. A., & Gosney, M. A. (2012). Ageing and taste. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 71(4), 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665112000742
- Methven, L., Xiao, C., Cai, M., & Prescott, J. (2016). Rejection thresholds (RjT) of sweet likers and dislikers. Food Quality & Preference, 52, 74–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODQUAL.2016.03.012
- Ministry of Health. (2017). Annual Data Explorer 2016/17: New Zealand Health Survey [Data File]. Retrieved from https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/nz-health-survey-2016-17-annual-update
- Monteiro, M. P., & Batterham, R. L. (2017). The Importance of the Gastrointestinal Tract in Controlling Food Intake and Regulating Energy Balance. Gastroenterology, 152(7), 1707-1717.e2. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.053
- Moor, K. R., Scott, A. J., & McIntosh, W. D. (2012). Mindful Eating and Its Relationship to Body Mass Index and Physical Activity Among University Students. Mindfulness, 4(3), 269–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0124-3
- Nakamura, Y., Sanematsu, K., Ohta, R., Shirosaki, S., Koyano, K., Nonaka, K., ... Ninomiya, Y. (2008). Diurnal variation of human sweet taste recognition thresholds is correlated with plasma leptin levels. Diabetes, 57(10), 2661–2665. https://doi.org/10.2337/db07-1103
- Nakhimovsky, S. S., Feigl, A. B., Avila, C., O'Sullivan, G., Macgregor-Skinner, E., & Spranca, M. (2016). Taxes on Sugar-Sweetened Beverages to Reduce Overweight and Obesity in Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review. PLOS ONE, 11(9), e0163358. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0163358
- Newman, L., Bolhuis, D., Torres, S., & Keast, R. (2016). Dietary fat restriction increases fat taste sensitivity in people with obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.), 24(2), 328–334. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21357
- OECD. (2017). OECD: Obesity Update 2017. Paris, France. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/health/health-systems/Obesity-Update-2017.pdf
- Overberg, J., Hummel, T., Krude, H., & Wiegand, S. (2012). Differences in taste sensitivity between obese and non-obese children and adolescents. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 97(12), 1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2011-301189
- Papier, K., Ahmed, F., Lee, P., & Wiseman, J. (2015). Stress and dietary behaviour among first-year university students in Australia: Sex differences. Nutrition, 31(2), 324–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2014.08.004
- Reed, D. R., Tanaka, T., & McDaniel, A. H. (2006). Diverse tastes: Genetics of sweet and bitter perception. Physiology & Behavior, 88(3), 215–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2006.05.033
- Rolls, E. T. (2015). Taste, olfactory, and food reward value processing in the brain. Progress in Neurobiology, 127–128, 64–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.03.002

- Rosnah, I., Noor Hassim, I., & Shafizah, A. S. (2013). A Systematic Translation and Cultural Adaptation Process for Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ-R21). The Medical Journal of Malaysia, 68(5), 424–434.
- Running, C. A., Mattes, R. D., & Tucker, R. M. (2013). Fat taste in humans: sources of within- and between-subject variability. Progress in Lipid Research, 52(4), 438– 445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2013.04.007
- Rush, E., Savila, F., Jalili-Moghaddam, S., & Amoah, I. (2018). Vegetables: New Zealand Children Are Not Eating Enough. Frontiers in Nutrition, 5, 134. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2018.00134
- Sandell, M., Hoppu, U., Mikkilä, V., Mononen, N., Kähönen, M., Männistö, S., ... Raitakari, O. T. (2014). Genetic variation in the hTAS2R38 taste receptor and food consumption among Finnish adults. Genes & Nutrition, 9(6), 433. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12263-014-0433-3
- Sanematsu, K., Nakamura, Y., Nomura, M., Shigemura, N., & Ninomiya, Y. (2018). Diurnal Variation of Sweet Taste Recognition Thresholds Is Absent in Overweight and Obese Humans. Nutrients, 10(3), 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10030297
- Schrijvers, J., McNaughton, S., Beck, K., & Kruger, R. (2016). Exploring the Dietary Patterns of Young New Zealand Women and Associations with BMI and Body Fat. Nutrients, 8(8), 450. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8080450
- Schwartz, M. W., Seeley, R. J., Zeltser, L. M., Drewnowski, A., Ravussin, E., Redman, L. M., & Leibel, R. L. (2017). Obesity Pathogenesis: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. Endocrine Reviews, 38(4), 267–296. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2017-00111
- Sedgwick, P. (2014). Cross sectional studies: Advantages and disadvantages. BMJ (Online), 348, g2276. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g2276
- Sijtsema, S. J., Reinders, M. J., Hiller, S. R. C. H., & Dolors Guàrdia, M. (2012). Fruit and snack consumption related to sweet, sour and salty taste preferences. British Food Journal, 114(7), 1032–1046. https://doi.org/10.1108/00070701211241608
- Smith, S. L., Ludy, M.-J., & Tucker, R. M. (2016). Changes in taste preference and steps taken after sleep curtailment. Physiology & Behavior, 163, 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.05.002
- Stewart, J., Feinle-Bisset, C., Golding, M., Delahunty, C., Clifton, P., & Keast, R. (2010). Oral sensitivity to fatty acids, food consumption and BMI in human subjects. British Journal of Nutrition, 104(1), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114510000267
- Story, M., Kaphingst, K. M., Robinson-O'Brien, R., & Glanz, K. (2008). Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches. Annual Review of Public Health, 29(1), 253–272. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090926
- Stunkard, A. J., & Messick, S. (1985). The three-factor eating questionnaire to measure dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 29(1), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(85)90010-8
- Swamy, K. B., Hadi, S. A., Sekaran, M., & Pichika, M. R. (2014). The Clinical Effects of Synsepalum dulcificum : A Review. Journal of Medicinal Food, 17(11), 1165– 1169. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2013.3084
- Swinburn, B. A., Sacks, G., Hall, K. D., McPherson, K., Finegood, D. T., Moodie, M. L., & Gortmaker, S. L. (2011). The global obesity pandemic: shaped by global drivers and local environments. The Lancet, 378(9793), 804–814. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60813-1
- Tan, S.-Y., & Tucker, R. (2019). Sweet Taste as a Predictor of Dietary Intake: A

Systematic Review. Nutrients, 11(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11010094

- Thiele, S., Mensink, G. B. M., & Beitz, R. (2004). Determinants of diet quality. Public Health Nutrition, 7(1), 29–37.
- Tripepi, G., Jager, K. J., Dekker, F. W., & Zoccali, C. (2010). Selection Bias and Information Bias in Clinical Research. Nephron Clinical Practice, 115(2), c94–c99. https://doi.org/10.1159/000312871
- Tucker, R. M., & Mattes, R. D. (2013). Influences of repeated testing on nonesterified fatty acid taste. Chemical Senses, 38(4), 325–332. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjt002
- Tupai-Firestone, R., Tuisano, H., Manukia, M., Kaholokula, K., Foliaki, S., Kingi, T. K., ... Ellison-Loschmann, L. (2016). Understanding Pasifika youth and the obesogenic environment, Auckland and Wellington, New Zealand. New Zealand Medical Journal, 129(1434), 23–35. https://doi.org/2
- Turner, A., Veysey, M., Keely, S., Scarlett, C., Lucock, M., & Beckett, E. (2018). Interactions between Bitter Taste, Diet and Dysbiosis: Consequences for Appetite and Obesity. Nutrients, 10(10), 1336. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10101336
- van Dongen, M. V, van den Berg, M. C., Vink, N., Kok, F. J., & de Graaf, C. (2012). Taste-nutrient relationships in commonly consumed foods. The British Journal Of Nutrition, 108(1), 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511005277
- Vandenbroeck, P., Goossens, J., & Clemens, M. (2007). Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Building the Obesity System Map. Foresight. https://doi.org/10.1037/e602972011-001
- Wall, C. R., Gammon, C. S., Bandara, D. K., Grant, C. C., Atatoa Carr, P. E., & Morton, S. M. B. (2016). Dietary Patterns in Pregnancy in New Zealand-Influence of Maternal Socio-Demographic, Health and Lifestyle Factors. Nutrients, 8(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8050300
- Williams, J. A., Bartoshuk, L. M., Fillingim, R. B., & Dotson, C. D. (2016). Exploring ethnic differences in taste perception. Chemical Senses, 41(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw021
- Wise, P. M., Nattress, L., Flammer, L. J., & Beauchamp, G. K. (2016). Reduced dietary intake of simple sugars alters perceived sweet taste intensity but not perceived pleasantness. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 103(1), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.115.112300
- Yeomans, M. R. (2010). Development of Human Learned Flavor Likes and Dislikes. In R. Y. Y. Laurette Dubé, Antoine Bechara, Alain Dagher, Adam Drewnowski, Jordan Lebel, Philip James (Ed.), Obesity Prevention (pp. 161–178). Academic Press, Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374387-9.00013-1
- Yoshida, R., Noguchi, K., Shigemura, N., Jyotaki, M., Takahashi, I., Margolskee, R. F., & Ninomiya, Y. (2015). Leptin Suppresses Mouse Taste Cell Responses to Sweet Compounds. Diabetes, 64(11), 3751–3762. https://doi.org/10.2337/db14-1462
- Zakeri, R., & Batterham, R. L. (2017). Potential mechanisms underlying the effect of bariatric surgery on eating behaviour. Current Opinion in Endocrinology & Diabetes and Obesity, 25(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.00000000000379
- Zhang, F. F., Liu, J., Rehm, C. D., Wilde, P., Mande, J. R., & Mozaffarian, D. (2018). Trends and Disparities in Diet Quality Among US Adults by Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Participation Status. JAMA Network Open, 1(2), e180237. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0237

APPENDIX

7.1. List of publications, presentations and awards

7.1.1. Publications and abstracts in international journals

<u>Kindleysides, S.</u>; Kruger, R.; Douwes, J.; Tannock G. W.; Renall, N.; Slater, J.; Lawley, B.; McGill, A-T.; Brennan, N.; Manukia, M.; Richter, M.; Tupai-Firestone, R.; Signal, T.L.; Gander, P.; Stannard, S. R.; Breier, B. H. Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity. *JMIR Res Protoc* **2019**, 8(8), e14529.

<u>Kindleysides, S</u>.; Kruger, R.; Corbin, M.; Richter, M.; Douwes, J.; Breier, B.H. Sweet Taste Perception in Pacific and NZ European Women is Associated with Dietary Intake and Eating Behaviour. *Proceedings* **2019**, *8*(1), 35.

<u>Kindleysides, S.</u>; Beck, K.L.; Walsh, D.C.I.; Henderson, L.; Jayasinghe, S.N.; Golding, M.; Breier, B.H. Fat Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and Olfaction Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited Eating Behaviour. *Nutrients* **2017**, *9*, 879.

7.1.2. Presentations (oral and poster presentations)

<u>Kindleysides, S</u>., Kruger, R., Corbin, M., Richter, M., Douwes, J., Breier, BH. *Sweet taste* perception in Pacific and NZ European women is associated with dietary intake and eating behaviour. Presented on Thursday, 29th Nov, 2018. Nutrition Society of New Zealand Conference. (Auckland, New Zealand).

<u>Kindleysides, S.</u>, Kruger, R., Singh, S., Breier, BH. *Taste sensitivity to glucose is linked to*

body fat percentage and body mass index in New Zealand European and Pacific women. Presented on Tuesday, 28 Nov, 2017. 10th Asia Pacific Conference on Clinical Nutrition (Adelaide Convention Centre, Adelaide, South Australia).

<u>Kindleysides, S</u>., Kruger, R., Singh, S., Breier, BH. *Taste sensitivity to glucose is linked to body fat percentage and body mass index in New Zealand European and Pacific women.* Presented on Friday, 24 Nov, 2017. 4th Annual Postgraduate and Early Career Nutrition Conference (Tamaki Yacht Club, Auckland, New Zealand).

<u>Kindleysides, S</u>., Beck, KL., Walsh DCI., Henderson, L., Jayasinghe, SN., Golding, M., Breier, BH. Fat Sensation: Are fat taste and olfaction sensitivity linked with eating behaviour? Poster presentation, Presented on Monday, 18th Sep, 2017. Journey through Science Day (The New York Academy of Sciences; New York, USA).

<u>Kindleysides, S</u>., Beck, KL., Walsh, D., Henderson, L., Jayasinghe, S., Golding, M., Breier, BH. Fat sensation: are fat taste and olfaction sensitivity linked with eating behaviour? Oral Presentation, Presented on Friday, 9th Dec 2016. Nutrition Society of New Zealand Conference. (Christchurch, New Zealand).

7.1.3. Awards

2017 New York Academy of Sciences (NYAS) and PepsiCo Travel Award to attend the Journey through Science Day at the NYAS; New York, USA.

2016 Nutrition Society Conference First place (winner) first time oral presentation.

7.1.4. Permission for thesis publication and statements of contribution

Chapter III, MPDI / Nutrients:

Articles are licensed under an open access Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license, meaning that anyone may download and read the paper for free. In addition, the article may be
reused and quoted provided that the original published version is cited. <u>Re-use is permitted</u> for all of the journal article: *https://www.mdpi.com/authors/rights*

MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66, 4052 Basel, Switzerland

JMIR Research Protocols (see Appendix 7.1.5.):

The copyright for all articles in JMIR journals is owned by the respective authors and copyright is NOT transferred to or owned by the publisher. Rather, all articles are published under a Creative Commons Attribution license, essentially giving everybody the right to reproduce the material freely as long as it is properly cited. Please do NOT contact the publisher for permission requests related to individual articles, as permission has already been granted. Authors who have published in JMIR journals also do NOT require our permission to reuse the material for example in a thesis or monograph: *https://www.jmir.org/about/contact*

JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East, Unit 1100 Toronto, ON, M5A 0P6 Canada

MASSEY UNIVERSITY GRADUATE RESEARCH SCHOOL

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate: Sophie Kindleysides					
Name/title of Primary Supervisor:	Prof. Bernhard H Breier				
Name of Research Output and full reference	e:,				
Kindleysides, et al. Fat Sensation: Fatty Acid Taste and Olfaction	n Sensitivity and the Link with Disinhibited	Eating Behaviour. Nutrients 2017, 9, 879.			
In which Chapter is the Manuscript /Publish	ned work:	3			
Please indicate:					
 The percentage of the manuscript/ contributed by the candidate: 	Published Work that was	80%			
and					
Describe the contribution that the Work:	candidate has made to the M	Manuscript/Published			
Main researcher/coordinator, ethics, development, recruitment and scree statistical analysis, Interpretation/dis	study design and senso ning, data collection, da cussion of results, man	ory methodology ta entry and analysis, uscriot			
For manuscripts intended for publication	on please indicate target jo	ournal:			
		7			
Candidate's Signature:	6	·			
Date:	15/9/2019				
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Bhad	Gredi			
Date:	19/9/2	019			

(This form should appear at the end of each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/ publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis)

GRS Version 4– January 2019

DRC 16



GRADUATE RESEARCH SCHOOL

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate:	Sophie Kindleysides				
Name/title of Primary Supervisor:	Prof. Bernhard H Breier				
Name of Research Output and full reference	e:				
Taste perception and its association with adiposity and	d endocrine regulation in Pacific an	d New Zealand European women			
In which Chapter is the Manuscript /Publish	ned work:	4			
Please indicate:					
The percentage of the manuscript/Published Work that was contributed by the candidate:					
and					
 Describe the contribution that the candidate has made to the Manuscript/Published Work: 					
Design of sensory methodology, data results, main author of manuscript.	Design of sensory methodology, data collection, data analysis, interpretation of results, main author of manuscript.				
For manuscripts intended for publication	on please indicate target jo	ournal:			
Nutrients or Journal of Endocrinology					
Candidate's Signature:	6				
Date:	15/9/2019	\bigcirc			
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Bahare	1 Bouch			
Date:	19/9/20	19			

(This form should appear at the end of each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/ publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis)

GRS Version 4– January 2019

DRC 16



GRADUATE RESEARCH SCHOOL

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION DOCTORATE WITH PUBLICATIONS/MANUSCRIPTS

We, the candidate and the candidate's Primary Supervisor, certify that all co-authors have consented to their work being included in the thesis and they have accepted the candidate's contribution as indicated below in the *Statement of Originality*.

Name of candidate:	Sophie Kindleysides			
Name/title of Primary Supervisor: Prof. Bernhard H Breier				
Name of Research Output and full reference	e:			
Associations between taste perception, dietary in	itake and eating behaviour in Pa	acific and NZ European women		
In which Chapter is the Manuscript /Publish	ned work:	5		
Please indicate:				
 The percentage of the manuscript/ contributed by the candidate: 	Published Work that was	80%		
and	- ×	1-27		
Describe the contribution that the Work:	candidate has made to the N	Nanuscript/Published		
Design of sensory methodology, data results, main author of manuscript.	a collection, data analys	is, interpretation of		
For manuscripts intended for publication	on please indicate target jo	ournal:		
Nutrients or The Ame	rican Journal of Clinical	Nutrition		
Candidate's Signature:	6	·		
Date:	15/9/2019			
Primary Supervisor's Signature:	Brind	Breen		
Date:	1992	019		

(This form should appear at the end of each thesis chapter/section/appendix submitted as a manuscript/ publication or collected as an appendix at the end of the thesis)

GRS Version 4– January 2019

DRC 16

Protocol

Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity

Sophie Kindleysides¹, MSc; Rozanne Kruger¹, PhD; Jeroen Douwes², PhD; Gerald W Tannock^{3,4,5}, PhD; Nikki Renall^{1,5}, MSc; Joanne Slater¹, MSc; Blair Lawley^{3,4}, PhD; Anne-Thea McGill⁶, PhD; Niamh Brennan¹, MSc; Moana Manukia⁷, NZRN; Marilize Richter¹, PhD; Ridvan Tupai-Firestone², PhD; T Leigh Signal⁸, PhD; Philippa Gander⁸, PhD; Stephen R Stannard¹, PhD; Bernhard H Breier^{1,4,5}, PhD

⁷The Fono Health and Social Services, Auckland, New Zealand

⁸Sleep/Wake Research Centre, College of Health, Massey University, Wellington, New Zealand

Corresponding Author:

Bernhard H Breier, PhD School of Exercise, Sport and Nutrition College of Health Massey University Oteha Rohe Albany Highway Auckland, 0745 New Zealand Phone: 64 09 2136652 Email: <u>b.breier@massey.ac.nz</u>

Abstract

Background: The prevalence of obesity has increased substantially over recent decades and is associated with considerable health inequalities. Although the causes of obesity are complex, key drivers include overconsumption of highly palatable, energy-dense, and nutrient-poor foods, which have a profound impact on the composition and function of the gut microbiome. Alterations to the microbiome may play a critical role in obesity by affecting energy extraction from food and subsequent energy metabolism and fat storage.

Objective: We report the study protocol and recruitment strategy of the PRedictors linking Obesity and the gut MIcrobiomE (PROMISE) study, which characterizes the gut microbiome in 2 populations with different metabolic disease risk (Pacific and European women) and different body fat profiles (normal and obese). It investigates (1) the role of gut microbiome composition and functionality in obesity and (2) the interactions between dietary intake; eating behavior; sweet, fat, and bitter taste perception; and sleep and physical activity; and their impact on the gut microbiome, metabolic and endocrine regulation, and body fat profiles. **Methods:** Healthy Pacific and New Zealand (NZ) European women aged between 18 and 45 years from the Auckland region were recruited for this cross-sectional study. Participants were recruited such that half in each group had either a normal weight (body mass index [BMI] 18.5-24.9 kg/m²) or were obese (BMI ≥ 30.0 kg/m²). In addition to anthropometric measurements and assessment of the body fat content using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry, participants completed sweet, fat, and bitter taste perception tests; food records; and sleep diaries; and they wore accelerometers to assess physical activity and sleep. Fasting blood samples were analyzed for metabolic and endocrine biomarkers and DNA extracted from fecal samples was analyzed by shotgun sequencing. Participants completed questionnaires on dietary intake, eating behavior, sleep, and physical activity. Data were analyzed using descriptive and multivariate regression methods to assess the associations between dietary intake, taste perception, sleep, physical activity, gut microbiome complexity and functionality, and host metabolic and body fat profiles. **Results:** Of the initial 351 women enrolled, 142 Pacific women and 162 NZ European women completed the study protocol.

A partnership with a Pacific primary health and social services provider facilitated the recruitment of Pacific women, involving

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 1 (page number not for citation purposes)

¹School of Exercise, Sport and Nutrition, College of Health, Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand

²Centre for Public Health Research, Massey University, Wellington, New Zealand

³Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand

⁴Microbiome Otago, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand

⁵Riddet Centre of Research Excellence, Palmerston North, New Zealand

⁶School of Health & Human Sciences, Southern Cross University, East Lismore, Australia

direct contact methods and networking within the Pacific communities. NZ European women were primarily recruited through Web-based methods and special interest Facebook pages.

Conclusions: This cross-sectional study will provide a wealth of data enabling the identification of distinct roles for diet, taste perception, sleep, and physical activity in women with different body fat profiles in modifying the gut microbiome and its impact on obesity and metabolic health. It will advance our understanding of the etiology of obesity and guide future intervention studies involving specific dietary approaches and microbiota-based therapies.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry ACTRN12618000432213; https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=370874

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR1-10.2196/14529

(JMIR Res Protoc 2019;8(8):e14529) doi: 10.2196/14529

KEYWORDS

diet; gut microbiome; body composition; women; overweight; obesity; physical activity; taste perception; sleep; metabolic diseases

Introduction

Background

Obesity is a global health issue of epidemic proportions [1]. The prevalence in New Zealand (NZ) has increased dramatically over the past three decades, with 1.2 million adults (32% of the population) currently being obese [2,3] and NZ ranking as the third most obese country in the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development [4]. Obesity is related to significant health inequities, that is, Pacific peoples (69%) and Mãori (50%) are disproportionately affected compared with the general population in NZ (32%), and rates are highest in the most deprived areas [5]. Recent trends in adult obesity in NZ show a significant rise in overweight (currently 64%) and obesity (currently 34%) in women, with major weight gains between the ages of 18 and 45 years [2,4]. This is of significant concern as increased adiposity in women of child-bearing age is associated with acute maternal, neonatal, and ongoing adverse health outcomes, including the perpetuation of increased obesity risk for the next generation [6]. Interventions to halt the epidemic have been unsuccessful [3.4].

Obesity is a complex, multifactorial condition contributing to a chronic prooxidant and proinflammatory state and to deterioration of glucose and lipid metabolism. It increases the risk of several noncommunicable diseases, including type 2 diabetes (T2D), cardiovascular disease (CVD), and some types of cancer [7,8]. Known contributing factors include imbalances in pathways of glucose and lipid metabolism that occur because of variations in quantity and quality of the diet, sedentary lifestyle, and genetic predisposition [9,10]. Obesity arises as a consequence of how the body regulates energy intake, energy expenditure, and energy storage, and it reflects a state of positive energy balance largely caused by westernized environmental pressures [11] resulting in an energy mismatch. This operates through dietary behaviors that do not trigger strong biological opposition [12]. A vicious cycle ensues, involving a state of excessive insulin secretion and a series of metabolic responses that produce systemic insulin resistance [13]. Desensitization to insulin action is accompanied by increased oxidative stress [14] and increased leptin secretion, inflammation, and a decreased ability to metabolize lipid and default energy storage as adipose tissue [15]. Furthermore, changes in the action of endocrine regulators including insulin, leptin, ghrelin, and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) disturb appetite regulation in the obese state, rendering sustained weight loss difficult to achieve [16]. In this setting, the regulation of energy balance is biased toward protection against weight loss, further fat accumulation, and disease progression [12,17].

Current public health research to curb obesity is aimed at developing effective food and nutrition policies [11], promoting healthier food choices [18], and community-based interventions [19]. However, the notion that obesity is caused solely because we consume more energy than we expend does not fully explain the substantial increase in obesity [4.20]. Efforts to reduce obesity by inducing a negative energy balance, by counseling people to either eat less or exercise more, are often ineffective because of multiple physiological, behavioral, and social feedback loops [21]. Commonly cited causes of obesity include major changes in our food environment [3,11], which have led to overconsumption of inexpensive, highly palatable, energy-dense, and nutrient-poor foods. These changes in nutritional habits have been reported to influence the gut microbiome, which comprises the bacterial community of the bowel and its associated genetic endowment [4,22]. Current evidence suggests that the gut microbiome plays an important role in the regulation of energy homeostasis and the development of fat storage and obesity [23]. Proposed mechanisms include the microbiome's capacity to modify energy extraction from food and its ability to influence host signaling pathways that regulate energy metabolism [24]. Furthermore, the gut microbiome can influence satiety and food consumption through gut hormones that trigger endocrine feedback loops regulating appetite [24]. In turn, nondigestible dietary components affect the composition and metabolism of the gut microbiome [25].

The gut microbiome can be viewed as a critical modifiable link between diet and host and may offer new avenues for obesity prevention [26]. Recent studies suggest that people with relatively less diverse microbiomes have higher overall body adiposity and more inflammation-associated characteristics, indicating a higher risk of metabolic diseases [27]. These findings suggest that microbiome complexity and diversity (or richness) may be predictive of the metabolic status of the host and may therefore function as a new biomarker of

> JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 2 (page number not for citation purposes)

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

metabolic health. Dietary patterns that are associated with gut microbiome composition and dietary interventions can increase microbiome richness [25]. In addition, dietary habits may be the most critical factor influencing microbiome status, and therefore, it is critical to understand diet-microbiome interactions and their effect on human health. Finally, a number of other modifiable biological and behavioral factors in the complex causes of obesity appear to be linked with the gut microbiome: sweet and fat taste perceptions influence appetite and dietary behavior and are linked with body weight [28,29], and sleep duration and quality are linked with changes in appetite regulation and energy metabolism [30,31]. Disruption to the circadian biological clock leads to dysbiosis of the gut microbiome [32], and physical activity increases gut microbiome diversity [33].

Objectives

The PRedictors linking Obesity and the gut MIcrobiomE (PROMISE) study is the first to characterize the gut microbiome in 2 population groups with markedly different metabolic disease risk (Pacific and NZ European women) and different body fat profiles (normal and obese). The potential identification of distinct roles for taste perception, diet, sleep, and physical activity in modifying the gut microbiome and its impact on obesity will greatly advance our understanding of the etiology of obesity and contribute to the discovery of new therapeutic targets. The specific aims of the PROMISE study are to assess in 18- to 45-year-old Pacific and NZ European women: (1) the potential association of gut microbiome complexity and diversity, gene richness, and biochemical endowment in obesity and body fat distribution; (2) interactions between sweet, fat, and bitter taste perception, dietary intake and eating behavior, sleep or physical activity, and their impact on the gut microbiome, metabolic regulation, and body fat profiles; and (3) associations between biomarkers of biological and behavioral risk factors referred to above and specific body fat profiles. This study is designed to test the primary hypothesis that reduced gut microbiome diversity, but high energy-harvest capacity is a key biological driver of obesity and unhealthy body fat distribution in women, whereas greater gut microbiome complexity and gene richness is protective. The secondary hypothesis is that differences in diet, taste perception, sleep, and physical activity affect the associations between the gut microbiome, metabolic regulation, and body fat profiles. This paper reports the outline of the study protocol and the recruitment strategy. Details of the analytical procedures, study outcomes, and clinical measurements will be published elsewhere.

Methods

Conceptual Framework and Study Design

Comparisons between Pacific and NZ European women, who are known to vary the most in terms of physical, ethnicKindleysides et al

cultural, and socioeconomic characteristics in NZ, will allow to assess whether findings are different between groups [2]. A further important distinction between the 2 ethnic groups is that a proportion of the participating Pacific women were born in the Pacific Island of origin, retaining their cultural lineage and dietary traditions, [34] and, as a consequence, may also have a distinctly different gut microbiome. This study involved the assessment of diet, taste perception, sleep, and physical activity, and we investigated the complex interactions between the gut microbiome and its impact on obesity, metabolic markers, and endocrine regulators, as described in Figure 1.

Figure 1 describes the central role of the gut microbiome in regulating energy homeostasis and body fat distribution. Aim 1 of this study investigates differential gut microbiome complexity, gene richness, and functionality between obese body fat profile women and normal body fat profile women stratified by ethnicity. For example, we investigate whether specific bacterial phyla are associated with obesity and/or characterized by relative abundances of genes associated with carbohydrate-active enzymes or whether a highly diverse microbiota with lower energy-harvest capacity is protective. Aim 2a investigates the fundamental influence of diet and food intake on body weight and body fat profile. We assess associations with gut microbiome complexity and functionality and explore whether specific microbiota profiles may be associated with specific dietary intakes or cultural dietary traditions. Aim 2b investigates interactions with sweet, bitter, and fat taste perception and Aim 2c explores the influence of sleep and physical activity. We assess independent effects or effect modification of taste perception, sleep, and physical activity and their impact on the gut microbiome and body fat profiles. Aim 3 examines interactions or effect modification with biomarkers and endocrine regulators and their relationships with food consumption, energy metabolism, and a range of risk factors that shape body fat profiles.

Participants

We have conducted a cross-sectional study in 174 Pacific women (who are known to have a high risk of obesity [5]) and 177 NZ European women (who are known to have a moderate risk of obesity [2,5]). Initial screening of body mass index (BMI), based on self-reported weight and height, was conducted on the Web, in person, or via the phone (Figure 2). The 351 participating women, aged 18 to 45 years, were selected such that half in each ethnic group had a normal body fat profile (BMI 18.5-24.9 kg/m²) and the other half an obese body fat profile (BMI ≥ 30.0 kg/m²), while recognizing that people with the same BMI can have substantial heterogeneity of body composition and metabolic disease risk factors [35,36].

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

Figure 1. The central role of the gut microbiome in regulating energy homeostasis and body fat distribution.



Figure 2. Flowchart describing the recruitment process of the PROMISE study. "a" indicates approximated value for Pacific women in-person screening or over the phone. "b" indicates that ethnicity inclusion was based on Pacific women requiring one parent of full Pacific ethnicity or New Zealand (NZ) European women having lived in NZ for a minimum of 5 years with European parents. "c" indicates approximated values since the majority of study bookings were managed over the phone.



Ethics

The study was approved by the Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee (16/STH/32). This trial was registered at anzetr.org.au (ACTRN12618000432213). All participants were informed in detail about the procedures and measurements and gave written consent. Access to data is restricted to the immediate research team, and only coded data are used for analysis.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The inclusion criteria included age 18 to 45 years, being postmenarche and premenopausal (as defined by a regular menstrual cycle for the last year), ethnicity (selfidentified Pacific ethnicity and having at least one parent of Pacific ethnicity or self-identified as NZ European ethnicity and having lived in NZ for a minimum of 5 years), written informed consent, willingness to comply with study requirements, and being generally healthy. The exclusion criteria included BMI outside of the predefined normal or

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 4 (page number not for citation purposes)

obese BMI ranges, pregnant or lactating, presence of any diagnosed chronic illness (eg, T2D and CVD), previous bariatric surgery, severe food allergies, medication that could interfere with appetite or the immune system (eg, appetite suppressants and corticosteroids), current smoker, severe dietary restrictions or avoidances (eg, vegan), and antibiotic use during the last month.

Participant Recruitment

The Auckland region has a culturally diverse population of 1,534,000, of which approximately 15% are Pacific peoples and 59% NZ European [37]. Health studies sometimes fail to address, or are not appropriately sensitive to, the cultural needs of the participants in terms of the recruitment approach or implementation of the study [38]. We therefore developed a partnership with The Fono, a large Pacific primary health care and social services organization based in Auckland, to integrate culturally appropriate recruitment and research procedures. This included the appointment of a senior Pacific nurse to lead the recruitment and support the data collection and management of the Pacific arm of the study. We also advertised on Pacific Facebook pages and contacted a wide range of special interest and cultural websites; however, we had little uptake from the Pacific organizations or groups that we contacted. As a result, Pacific women were mostly recruited in-person or by phone through the Pacific nurse (see Results). Other recruitment strategies included attending cultural festivals (ie, Pasifika festivals) and other cultural or preorganized events. Another successful strategy was recruiting Pacific students through the University Pacific networks. An additional Me'a'ofa (gift or donation) was offered to participants who could successfully enroll another participant who met the inclusion criteria and completed the study, thus enabling recruitment through existing networks. The services of 2 recruitment agencies, PRIME Research Ltd and Consumer Link, were also employed to support the recruitment of Pacific women with a BMI less than or equal to 24.9 kg/m². This was a successful strategy because previous networks were exhausted for this group of participants.

NZ European women typically heard of our study through Web-based advertisements such as Facebook community pages or *public figure* pages (well-known NZ nutritionists, etc), work or university email lists, or other social media sources (see Results). A number of Facebook pages, including local public figure pages, shared details of our study and endorsed the research on our behalf. Community Facebook pages (suburbs around Auckland, local businesses, etc) allowed for wide reach across the Auckland region. In contrast to Pacific women, social media (ie, Facebook) was a highly successful method for NZ European recruitment.

Participant gratuity (NZD \$100 gift voucher including options for petrol, shopping center, and supermarket vouchers) was handed out at the end of visit 2 to encourage study completion and the return of all home-use devices and data.

Study Procedures

The PROMISE study was conducted at the Massey University Human Nutrition Research Unit in Auckland, NZ, between July 2016 and September 2017. All eligible participants attended the research unit on 2 occasions, 11 to 14 days apart (Figure 3), where they completed a series of scheduled tasks. Between visits, participants completed the at-home data collection protocols described below. For Pacific women, we ensured that the Pacific nurse was present throughout the duration of Pacific participants' initial visits. She also performed the phlebotomy procedures for all Pacific participants and addressed all concerns about any aspects of the study that were raised. All Pacific participants were offered door-to-door transport to and from the research unit to enable participation in the study and to reduce the likelihood of *dropouts*.

At visit 1, participants were welcomed, asked to carefully read and sign a consent form, and had the opportunity to ask questions before commencing the study. Each participant was then allocated a unique study identifier (ID). Participants completed a one-on-one interview with a researcher to obtain a range of demographic and health information, including the number of biological children, household and personal income, occupation, work patterns, participants' birth weight and delivery method (if known), dietary supplement use, frequency of alcohol consumption, and recruitment method.

Figure 3 presents an overview of the PROMISE study visits and the sequence and timing of procedures. Visit 1 included the consent process, blood and urine sampling, taste perception testing, questionnaires, and instructions for athome data collection. Participants collected data at home for approximately 11 to 14 days. At-home data collection included a 5-day nonconsecutive estimated food record, measurement of sleep and physical activity, and fecal sample collection. Visit 2 included delivery of all at-home collected data, body composition measurements by DXA, questionnaires, and the one-on-one food record interview.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

Figure 3. Overview of the PRedictors linking Obesity and gut MIcrobiomE (PROMISE) study visits and schedule.

	Visit 1 (fasted)			Visit 2 (nonfasted)
	Arrival time: 7.30 – 8.45 am			
10 min	Informed consent, allocation of study identifier		5 min	Welcome and return of accelerometers, diet record and fecal samples
10 min	Anthropometric measurements (height, weight, bioelectrical impedance analysis body composition)	N	10 min	Anthropometric measurements (weight, waist and hip circumference, bioelectrical impedance
5 - 10 min	Blood sample 11	-14 days at home data collection	>	analysis body composition)
5 - 10 min	Urine sample	V	5 min	Blood pressure
25 min	Taste perception testing	Diet record: 5 day estimated		Online questionnaires (monitored by researchers)
15 – 20 min	Breakfast	non-consecutive food record.	25 min	 Food frequency questionnaire (FFQ)
	Online questionnaires (monitored by researchers)	A seal and an a big and	12 min	 Recent physical activity questionnaire
10 min	Dietary diversity questionnaire (DDO)	wrist mounted (7 consecutive	5 min	 Eating Attitudes Test (EAT-26)
10 min	 Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, Munich Chronotype questionnaire, 	days). Sleep and physical activity diary.	25 - 30 min	One-on-one food record interview with New Zealand Registered Dietitian (NZRD)
	Berlin questionnaire	Fecal sample: Collection	10 - 15 min	Dual X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA) whole body
10 min	 Inree Factor Eating Questionnaire (IFEQ) 	after food record completion		scan
3 min	Retrospective 7 day, sleep and work questionnaire	(-20°C) until visit 2.	3 min	Sagittal height measurement
10 min	Demographic interview (one-on-one)		3 min	Participant thanked for their participation and
10 min	Instructional video for diet record			provided with voucher
12 min	Participant provided with at home pack, personalized verbal instructions and written, at home data collection instructions			
Total: ~2.5 hrs			Total: ~2 hrs	

Blood Samples

Blood samples were obtained between 7:30 am and 9:00 am (after overnight fast, 10-15 hours), by an experienced phlebotomist. A tourniquet was applied moderately to the arm before venipuncture. Blood was drawn into 4 vacutainers (maximum total blood volume was 30 mL), to obtain serum and plasma for analysis of metabolic markers and endocrine regulators. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) 10 mL vacutainers (Becton Dickinson) were used for whole blood and stored immediately in a _80° C freezer before the remainder of the sample was placed on ice. The serum vacutainer was left to stand between 30 and 60 min at room temperature (18° C) to clot before centrifugation (10 mL, Becton Dickinson). For endocrine regulators, an additional plasma sample (2 mL Becton Dickinson vacutainer P800 EDTA, aprotinin, and dipeptidyl peptidase IV) was collected. The latter and all other vacutainers were placed on wet ice immediately after collection until centrifugation. Vacutainer tubes were centrifuged at 1500 g for 15 min at 4° C within 1 hour after blood samples were taken. Aliquots of plasma (23 aliquots, 120-500 µL) and serum (6 aliquots, 500-1300 µL) were transferred into prelabeled 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tubes (Eppendorf safe-lock polymerase chain reaction clean tubes) and cryovials (Cryo.S Greiner Bio-One, GmbH) and stored immediately at -80° C. Blood samples were analyzed for a range of biomarkers (eg, plasma glucose, insulin, glycated hemoglobin, lipids, and liver function tests), inflammation markers (eg, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, interleukin 6 and tumour necrosis factor alpha), and endocrine regulators (eg, GLP-1, ghrelin, leptin, and adiponectin).

Urine Samples

After completion of blood collection, participants were required to collect a fasting, midstream urine sample. Research staff provided a urine container (BD Vacutainer Urine Collection Cup) labeled with their unique participant ID, cleansing wipes, and gloves. Once urine was collected, participants were asked to place their urine sample container on wet ice inside a clearly labeled polystyrene box before it was further processed by research staff. Midstream urine (14 mL) was pipetted into a prechilled 15 mL falcon tube. Urine samples were centrifuged at 1500 g for 15 min, at 4° C, to remove cellular particles and debris [39]. Ten aliquots of 1000 μ L were transferred to each cryovial (Cryo.S, Greiner Bio-One, GmbH) and then transferred to $_{-80^{\circ}}$ C storage for later metabolomics analysis.

Anthropometric Measurements

At visit 1, anthropometric measurements included stretched height and fasting weight measurements. All anthropometric measurements were conducted using the International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry (ISAK) protocol [40]. All research staff conducting these measurements were level 1 ISAK trained. BMI was calculated using the Quetelet index (weight/height²). At visit 2, waist and hip circumferences were measured with a Lufkin W600PM flexible steel tape with the participant in a relaxed standing position with their arms folded across their chest. Sagittal abdominal diameter was measured at the umbilicus level using the Holtain-Kahn Abdominal Caliper (Holtain Ltd) and assessed in a supine position. Bioelectrical impedance analysis (InBody230) was used to assess body composition at both visits 1 and 2. Body composition measurements were performed using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA; Hologic QDR Discovery A, Hologic Inc with APEX V. 3.2 software) at visit 2 to accurately assess body composition profiles in terms of total and regional fat mass. Before DXA scanning, participants were asked to remove their jewelry and if they were pregnant or had a pacemaker or any metal implants. All staff who conducted DXA scanning procedures had Australian and NZ Bone Mineral Society clinical densitometry accreditation.

> JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 6 (page number not for citation purposes)

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

Blood Pressure

At visit 2, resting blood pressure was measured with an Omron digital blood pressure monitor (Omron HEM-907, Omron Healthcare Inc) using one of 2 arm cuff sizes (22-32 cm or 32-48 cm). In addition, a record was kept of each participant's pulse. Three measurements were taken consecutively at 1-min intervals. The mean of the second and third measurements was used to calculate systolic and diastolic blood pressure [41].

Dietary Intake and Behavior

Dietary intake was assessed for energy, macro- and micronutrient intakes, distribution of food intake throughout the day, and food choice. Our primary method for obtaining current dietary intake data was the gold-standard prospective, 5-day, food record [42-44]. The 5-day estimated food record included 2 weekend days and 3 weekdays. Estimated rather than weighed food records were used to improve adherence and to reduce participant burden [45,46]. Each participant received training for estimating and documenting portions, and every food record was reviewed by an NZregistered dietitian before a one-on-one, in-depth discussion with the participant to clarify portions of foods consumed, cooking methods, brands of food products reported, and any other ambiguities. Visual portion book aids, household measures (eg, metric cups and spoons), and Web-based tools were used to confirm specific portion sizes and brands consumed, respectively. During these one-on-one interviews, standardized diet behavior-related questions were asked such as intentional meal skipping, snacking behaviors, and food preferences. These detailed sessions were critical to ensure accurate dietary data were captured [47].

It is often debated that all dietary assessment instruments are vulnerable to measurement errors, and significant improvements of dietary intake data quality can be achieved when different dietary intake recording methods are combined, especially combining food recording with food frequency questionnaires (FFQs) [42]. The validated semiquantitative New Zealand Women's Food Frequency Questionnaire (NZWFFQ) that was adapted from the FFQs used in the National Nutrition Survey NZ [43,44,48,49] was also completed by participants at visit 2. This covered dietary intake retrospectively across the last month, including the days that the 5-day food record was completed, to ensure that the range of actual and usual intakes were captured [42,50]. The 220-item NZWFFQ was administered using a Web-based questionnaire hosted on SurveyMonkey survey software, and live progress was monitored by research staff.

Nutrient analysis of the food record and FFQ data was performed using the Foodworks 9 (Xyris Software Pty Ltd) dietary analysis software, which uses FOODfiles 2016 (developed by the NZ Institute for Plant & Food Research and the NZ Ministry of Health) as a reference food composition table for analysis. In addition, the Xyris database AusFoods 2017 and AusBrands 2017, which are based on the Australian food composition databases AUSNUT 2011-13 (developed by Food Standards Australia New Zealand) were used. The data will be used to assess dietary adequacy in terms of energy and nutrient intakes using the current Australia/New Zealand nutrient reference values [51].

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

Participants completed the Dietary Diversity Questionnaire to assess food choices and dietary diversity, the Eating Attitudes Test (EAT-26) questionnaire to assess eating disorder risk, and the Three Factor Eating Questionnaire [52] to assess eating behavior in terms of cognitive dietary restraint (restraint), disinhibition of control (disinhibition), and susceptibility to hunger (hunger) by calculating scores for these dimensions and their subcategories.

Taste Perception

At visit 1, taste perception testing was conducted in a fasting state in individual testing booths at room temperature (20° C), before consuming breakfast. Participants were individually trained on the testing procedure and how to use general labeled magnitude scales [53,54] to rate the intensity and hedonic liking of sweet, bitter, and fat taste stimuli. Four distinct concentrations of glucose (30 g/L, 60 g/L, 120 g/L, and 240 g/ L), quinine (0.008 g/L, 0.016 g/L, 0.03 g/L, and 0.06 g/L), and milk fat samples (3.3%, 11.8%, 20.3%, and 37.3% fat) were assessed using water as the control measure. Participants rated each solution by tasting the whole 10 mL of sample. They first rated the water stimuli (control, labeled sweet), followed by all sweet taste stimuli, before moving on to bitter taste stimuli and then milk fat stimuli. All stimuli were labeled with a 3digit number, and the order was randomized within the tastant set. Participants had to rinse their mouth with water between samples. A ranking task was also administered for glucose, quinine, and milk fat samples to evaluate taste sensitivity [55], which was administered at the end of each tastant set. Ranking task stimuli were presented as a set of 4 distinct concentrations, labeled with unique 3-digit numbers to be ranked from the lowest to highest concentration (ie, 30 g/L, 60 g/L, 120 g/L, and 240 g/L).

Physical Activity and Sleep

To objectively measure sleep and physical activity, participants were fitted with 2 accelerometers during visit 1, 1 hip-mounted w-GT3X accelerometer (Actigraph), to measure physical activity, and a wrist-worn AW2 actiwatch (Phillips Respironics) to measure sleep. Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometers on their hip and nondominant wrist continuously (24-hour protocol) for the following 7 days, except while bathing or participating in water activities such as swimming. During this 7-day collection period, participants recorded in a provided diary the time they woke up each morning and went to sleep each night, as well as any intentional physical activity they engaged in [56]. At visit 2, participants also completed physical activity and sleep questionnaires, including the Recent Physical Activity Questionnaire [57], the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index [58], the Berlin questionnaire for sleep apnea [59], and their chronotype was assessed by the Munich Chronotype Questionnaire [60].

Fecal Samples

Fecal samples were collected by participants at home during the period between visits 1 and 2. At the end of visit 1, participants were briefed on how to collect fecal samples and were provided with a collection kit. This kit contained 2 prelabeled screw-top containers with a scoop in the lid

> JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 7 (page number not for citation purposes)

(LBS3805 25 mL, ThermoFisher NZ), 2 larger prelabeled plastic containers (LBS30130 130mL PP, ThermoFisher NZ), kidney dishes, gloves, zip-lock plastic bags, ice-sheets, chiller carry bag, and detailed written instructions. Participants were given an individualized schedule for food record and accelerometer data collection days, with the fecal sample needing to be collected after completion of the food record. Participants collected 2 separate, walnut-sized aliquots, from the same fecal sample and were asked to write down the time and date the aliquots were collected. The outer (larger) container was filled with 2 to 3 cm of cold water and the smaller container was placed inside the larger, to create a water jacket. Samples were then placed immediately in their household freezer (-20° C) and transported inside the chiller bag with ice packs when returning to the research unit at visit 2. Similar fecal sample collection methods have been utilized in a range of previous studies [61].

Gut Microbiome and Bioinformatics

DNA was extracted from fecal samples using methods described in the Human Microbiome Project [62]. In brief, microbial cells in fecal homogenates were physically disrupted by bead-beating, and then DNA was purified using a Mo Bio PowerSoil DNA isolation kit. The DNA was checked for quantity and quality using a combination of gel electrophoresis, nanodrop spectrometry, and Qubit fluorometry. The DNA was shotgun sequenced by NZ Genomics Ltd using Nextera library preparation and pools of 12 barcoded samples run per lane on an Illumina HiSeq 2500 instrument (Illumina).

Gut microbiome sequence data were analyzed using recognized computation (bioinformatics) tools [27]. These tools include the preparation of species-sampling curves that are the classic means of evaluating ecological richness (alpha diversity—biodiversity). As the genomes of all microbial species present in the microbiota were sequenced as small DNA fragments, both phylogenetic (describing what kinds of microbes are there and their relative abundances; MetaPhlAn2, QIIME v2) and functional (the biochemical capacity encoded in the metagenome; HUMAnN2) information are available [61].

Deprivation Index

Deprivation index was assessed in this study as a measurement of socioeconomic status. New Zealand Deprivation Index 2013 (NZDep2013) combines census data relating to home ownership, housing, qualifications, income, employment, access to transport, communications, and family structure [63]. NZDep2013 provides a deprivation score for each meshblock in NZ. Meshblocks are the smallest geographical area defined by Statistics NZ, with a population of around 60 to 110 people. NZDep2013 groups deprivation scores into deciles, where 1 represents the areas with the least deprived scores and 10 the areas with the most deprived scores. Therefore, a value of 10 indicates that a meshblock is in the most deprived 10% of areas in NZ.

Power Calculations

We have based our power calculation on previous studies involving metagenome-based measures of gene richness Kindleysides et al

(gene counts) of fecal microbial communities [25,27] where individuals were categorized into clusters of high or low gene counts. Individuals in the low-gene count cluster may be at increased risk of progressing to obesity-associated comorbidities. On the basis of previous studies [27], we assumed the average gut microbiome complexity and gene richness in normal body fat profile women to equate to 640,000 genes. We then assumed a standard deviation of 350,000 in both normal and obese body fat profile women [25,27]. On the basis of these assumptions, we will have 76% power to detect a difference of 25% between both groups (68 per group). We will have 99% power to detect a difference of 40%, as previously observed in a European study [27]. We assumed that 33% of women have abnormal taste perception [28,29] or dietary intake [25], and 33% of women with normal taste perception and dietary intake have reduced gut microbiome complexity and functionality. On the basis of these assumptions, we will have 97% power to detect a 2-fold difference between both groups. We would have 83% power to detect the same difference if 25% of women with normal sweet and fat taste perception or dietary intake had reduced gut microbiome complexity. All power calculations are based on analyses for each ethnic group separately, as differences in associations between ethnic groups may exist.

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive statistical methods are used to summarize gut microbiome complexity and functionality; dietary intake and behavior; sweet, fat, and bitter taste perception; sleep, physical activity; and biomarkers. Differential gut microbiome complexity and gene richness are analyzed between obese body fat profile women and normal body fat profile women stratified by ethnicity using linear regression analyses. We also assess associations between gut microbiome complexity and functionality and biological and behavioral factors described above. Logistic regression analyses are used to compare reduced versus high gut microbiome complexity and gene richness, based on cut points employed in other studies. We will use multiple regression analysis to assess the independent effects of the biological and behavioral factors and perform stratified analyses to assess effect modification (or interactions). All analyses will be adjusted for potential confounders (socioeconomic position, age, etc).

Results

Recruitment of Pacific and New Zealand European Women

The order of recruitment completion of the main groups of study participants was as follows: (1) NZ European BMI 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m²; (2) Pacific BMI greater than or equal to 30.0 kg/m^2 ; (3) NZ European BMI greater than or equal to 30.0 kg/m^2 ; and (4) Pacific BMI 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m². Although the criteria for recruitment of Pacific descent, 10% of the Pacific participants recruited for the PROMISE study were accepted if they had only one parent of Pacific descent but identified clearly as being primarily of Pacific ethnicity. The NZ European BMI greater than or equal to 30.0 kg/m^2 group and the Pacific

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 8 (page number not for citation purposes)

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

BMI 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m² group required additional advertising and specifically targeted recruitment strategies in comparison with the other 2 groups of women. The specific recruitment methods and the number of participants recruited through each approach are summarized in Table 1.

Researchers made a number of observations during the study visits that characterized some of the logistical challenges during the recruitment period of the study. For Pacific women, key motivations to participate in the study included, but were not limited to, personal contact with the study facilitators through the Pacific community, *Me'a'ofa* (gift or donation), and interest in the outcomes of the study. For NZ European women, key motivations to participate in the study included, but were not limited to, interest in individual measurements such as blood markers (eg, cholesterol) and body composition measurements (eg, DXA scan), interest in the gut microbiome,

Me'a'ofa (gift or donation), and interest in the nutrition-related measurements in the study.

General Characteristics of the Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome Study

A total of 351 participants were eligible to participate in the study (Figure 2). An overview of basic phenotype characteristics of the PROMISE study participants is presented in Table 2. Although our main target was to recruit participants with a normal BMI (18.5-24.9 kg/m²) and an obese BMI (\geq 30.0 kg/m²), we also recruited an additional 54 participants in the overweight BMI (25.0-29.9 kg/m²) range. The overweight BMI groups were included in this study because, first, some participants had incorrectly assessed their own height and weight before they arrived at the human nutrition research unit, and second, to offset the enormous difficulties of recruiting normal BMI Pacific women.

 Table 1. Recruitment methods, examples, and the number of participants recruited (feedback from enrolled participants only, N=351).

Recruitment method	Examples	Number recru	lited ^a
		Pacific	New Zealand European
The Fono Primary Healthcare Service (West Auckland)	Pacific staff members recruited through their database and wider community. Transport to and from research clinic provided. Radio interview (Radio Samoa 1593 FM; Tongan segment discussing the <i>gut</i> <i>microbiome</i>)	102	N/A ^b
Participant word of mouth	University students, previous PROMISE ^c participants (interest increased with <i>Me'a'ofa</i> [gift or donation])	36	21
Community/University Facebook pages/ Special interest pages	Auckland (New Zealand) city central and surrounding suburbs, (approximately 38 Facebook pages; with repeat posts) and Pacific Heartbeat	4	52
Public figures Facebook pages ^d	Local nutritionists, sports celebrities	2	26
University/work email lists	Massey University (New Zealand), The University of Auckland (New Zealand), New Zealand Police	3	15
Hospital staff newsletter/magazine	Auckland hospital network and email lists	2	15
Job advertisement site or volunteer page	Job search website, volunteer to participate in research website, student job search website	5	5
One-on-one recruitment (handing out flyers)	University orientation week, early childhood centers, schools	1	9
Websites	University website article, The Fono Primary Healthcare Service	1	3
Magazine articles ^e	National magazines (ie, nutrition, current affairs, and lifestyle). Articles mentioned current study and provided contact details	0	9
Festivals	Local Pacific festivals (ie, Polyfest 2017, Pasifika 2017)	4	1
Posters ^e	Universities, hospitals, health clinics, libraries, cafes, leisure centers, public swimming pools, gyms, community boards, supermarket notice boards	0	11
Recruitment companies	Consumer paid market research databases to recruit Pacific women with a body mass index of $18.5-24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$ only	13	N/A
Instagram	Instagram story on local nutritionists/public figure Instagram feeds	1	2
Local newspaper articles/website ^e	Local free newspapers	0	3
Internal database of contacts ^e	List of names recontacted who previously completed a similar trial [43] (note: filtered to contact difficult body mass index categories only)	0	3

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR RESEARCH PROTOC	COLS	ŀ	Kindleysides et al
Recruitment method	Examples	Number re	cruited ^a
		Pacific	New Zealand European
Neighbourly, Twitter ^e	Local suburb page Web noticeboard, PROMISE study twitter account (@promise_study)	0	2

^aLevel of recruitment based on attendance at visit 1 of the PROMISE study.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cPROMISE: PRedictors linking Obesity and the gut MIcrobiomE.

^dPublic figure pages used at the stage of recruitment where NZ European BMI ≤ 24.9 kg/m² category was full; eg, one local nutritionist Facebook post resulted in 221 completed screening questionnaires, which resulted in 17 NZ European BMI ≥ 30.0 kg/m² participants.

^eAdvertisement method successful across NZ European women only.

Table 2.	General phenotype	characteristics and N	ew Zealand D	Deprivation In	ndex 2013	of the H	PRedictors	linking	Obesity	and the	gut N	AlcrobiomE
(PROMIS	E) study participant	s who completed the s	tudy protocol	(N=304).								

Variable	Pacific women (n=142)	New Zealand European women (n=162)
Normal (BMI ^a 18.5-24.9 kg/m ²)		
Participants, n	36	79
Age (years), mean (SD)	24 (6)	30 (6) ^{b,c}
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	23.0 (1.6)	22.0 (1.5) ^b
Waist circumference (cm), mean (SD)	74.3 (4.3)	72.5 (4.9)
Hip circumference (cm), mean (SD)	100.6 (5.6)	97.0 (5.9) ^b
WHR ^d , mean (SD)	0.74 (0.03)	0.75 (0.05)
Systolic BP ^e (mmHg), mean (SD)	109.4 (9.88)	111.7 (10.31)
Diastolic BP (mmHg), mean (SD)	68.5 (5.86)	70.6 (8.86)
NZDep2013 ^f , mean (SD)	7 (3)	4 (3) ^b
Overweight (BMI range 25.0-29.9 kg/m ²)		
Participants, n	33	13
Age (years), mean (SD)	26 (7)	28 (8)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	27.5 (1.6)	26.4 (1.8)
Waist circumference (cm), mean (SD)	83.1 (5.1)	79.6 (5.9)
Hip circumference (cm), mean (SD)	108.6 (4.8)	106.9 (5.8)
WHR, mean (SD)	0.77 (0.05)	0.75 (0.04)
Systolic BP (mmHg), mean (SD)	113.1 (7.27)	115.0 (6.88)
Diastolic BP (mmHg), mean (SD)	70.6 (7.83)	69.5 (3.90)
NZDep2013, mean (SD)	7 (3)	4 (2) ^b
Obese (BMI range >30.0 kg/m ²)		
Participants, n	73	70
Age (years), mean (SD)	25 (6)	34 (7) ^b
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	36.9 (5.4)	34.3 (3.0) ^b
Waist circumference (cm), mean (SD)	100.8 (11.4)	99.3 (8.9)
Hip circumference (cm), mean (SD)	123.7 (10.9)	121.6 (7.5)
WHR, mean (SD)	0.81 (0.06)	0.82 (0.06)
Systolic BP (mmHg), mean (SD)	119.6 (11.5)	121.9 (14.2)
Diastolic BP (mmHg), mean (SD)	78.9 (9.99)	81.1 (9.39)

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 10 (page number not for citation purposes)

Kindleysides et al

Variable	Pacific women (n=142)	New Zealand European women (n=162)	
NZDep2013, mean (SD)	8 (2)	5 (2) ^b	

^aBMI: body mass index.

^bP<.01 was deemed statistically significant.

^cIndependent samples *t* tests were performed to determine differences between ethnicities.

^dWHR: waist-to-hip ratio.

^eBP: blood pressure.

^fNZDep2013: NZ Deprivation Index 2013.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This paper reports the study protocol and the recruitment strategy of the PROMISE study, the details of the analytical procedures, study outcomes, and clinical and physiological measurements will be published elsewhere. The main objective of the PROMISE study is to characterize the gut microbiome in 2 population groups with markedly different metabolic disease risk (Pacific and European women) and different body fat profiles (normal and obese). The study describes the roles of taste perception, diet, sleep, and physical activity in women with different body fat profiles in modifying the gut microbiome and its impact on obesity and metabolic health. Only healthy participants were included in the study in accordance with strict inclusion and exclusion criteria. We established well-defined protocols of scheduled experimental conditions with standard operating procedures (SOPs) for all domains of the study. All participants followed the same SOPs according to specified timelines, and all specimen samples were treated identically. The main rationale for this approach was to collect high-quality data and to minimize variation related to data acquisition, data analysis, and sampling of biological specimens.

There is a dearth of data in populations at greatest risk of developing obesity. The PROMISE study will help to fill these gaps. Although a cross-sectional design will not infer causality [64], it is a highly efficient approach that will be able to identify distinct roles for diet, taste perception, sleep, and physical activity in modifying the gut microbiome and its impact on obesity and metabolic health. An additional strength of the PROMISE study is the recruitment of women from Pacific and European population groups. It allows us to assess potential differences and commonalities between population groups with markedly different metabolic disease risk profiles and will provide new insights and has the potential to contribute to novel hypotheses. A number of previous studies have presented convincing evidence that the gut microbiome may be a central modifiable link between diet and host and may be likely to offer new avenues to tackle obesity [22,25,26]. However, many important questions remain. First, how important is the ratio of the bacterial phyla Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes? Highly publicized studies reported low abundances of Bacteroidetes and higher abundances of Firmicutes as a characteristic of obesity [65]. However, later studies failed to find this association and, in general, meta-analyses show that most obesity-microbiome studies in humans to date have been underpowered to determine

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

valid differences between groups [66]. In addition, there is increasing evidence that whole genome shotgun sequencing, as used in the PROMISE study, has multiple advantages compared with the 16S amplicon method used in many previous studies. The advantages of shotgun metagenomics sequencing include enhanced detection of bacterial species, increased detection of diversity, and increased prediction of the most dominant gene pathways that are present in the particular genes [67]. Furthermore, much of the previous work has been conducted in mice, and the few human studies available were small and need to be replicated in larger studies. Second, how strong is the association between low gene count clusters and obesity? Metagenomic measures of gene richness (gene counts) of gut microbial communities have categorized individuals into clusters of high or low gene count, but the exact nature of this relationship is not known [25,27]. Third, is there an association between relative abundances of bacterial species with obese or lean phenotypes in humans [68]? Fourth, is there an association between abundance of specific gut microbiota with dietary intake of particular food groups or dietary patterns [69,70]? Finally, do ethnic and/or cultural differences, sleep, and physical activity modify associations between the gut microbiome and obesity?

Given the cultural diversity of the participants, it was vital that research staff from the Pacific community were actively involved in performing the study to ensure the study was conducted in a culturally appropriate manner and to support the collection of quality data and successful outcomes [71]. Furthermore, there is convincing evidence that community-based participatory research approaches, involving community members and organizational representatives can overcome recruitment challenges and enhance the quality of a study [71-73]. The participation of a senior Pacific research nurse in the research team and the partnership with The Fono were invaluable in providing support and understanding from a participant perspective. In NZ, the essence of showing respect and kindness is described as manaakitanga, which encompasses hosting visitors with care, developing a nurturing relationship, and being a responsible host [74]. Adoption of manaakitanga within the framework of the PROMISE study, incorporating socially and emotionally grounded beliefs, enhanced participant engagement in what could commonly be perceived as a formal clinical research setting. Therefore, we recommend that future studies incorporate a range of strategies and culturally appropriate approaches to support communitybased engagement throughout all aspects of the research [38].

> JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 11 (page number not for citation purposes)

Strengths and Limitations

A remarkable experience of the recruitment process was the success of using social media as a recruitment tool for NZ European women. Overall, we found that employing multiple recruitment methods, including social media (eg, community Facebook pages), newspaper advertisements, and business circulars (eg, work place email lists) gave this study a wider representation of the general population. It is important to keep in mind that although Auckland city has the highest population of resident Pacific peoples, the total number of Pacific women living in Auckland is much lower than that of NZ European women. In addition, many Pacific communities live in regions that are over 25 km away from the research unit such that transport issues were a significant barrier for some Pacific participants. Therefore, it was not surprising that Pacific women were more challenging to recruit than NZ European women. It has been recognized that barriers to participating in clinical research include fear and lack of trust in the study procedures or in research staff. In contrast, motivating factors include free health care access, feeling connected to the research outcomes that may support family or friends in the future (eg, developing treatments for specific diseases), and monetary incentives [72]. The PROMISE study team embraced these critical factors, paid attention to using appropriate language, and generated a culturally and genderappropriate setting during all procedures (ie, DXA scanning) to contribute to a positive experience for participants [72].

The recruitment of participants faced a number of challenges. For example, women with a high BMI may have felt less motivated to take part in obesity-related research because of a concern of negative evaluation, as reported previously [75]. Furthermore, difficulties in recruiting Pacific women with a normal BMI in this study were because of their low number within the general Pacific population, only 8% of adult Pacific women have a BMI between 18.5 and 24.9 kg/m² [5,37]. To address these barriers, additional efforts were made to

Kindleysides et al

advertise and recruit Pacific women into the PROMISE study. Therefore, we extended the recruitment range, especially for Pacific women, to include the overweight BMI range (25.0-29.9 kg/m²). Furthermore, we increased the Me'a'ofa and provided transport to and from the research unit to encourage participation and completion of the study protocol. The disadvantage of such tailored recruitment approaches is the risk of increasing selection bias. Although we are not able to quantify the potential selection bias because of the differences in the success rate of the range of recruitment methods presented in Table 1, we have made every effort to ensure participants are representative of each population group [76]. Furthermore, we tailored our advertising and recruitment strategy in a way that was most culturally appropriate for each population group; it ensured participant engagement and motivation, which is known to enhance data quality and study completion [38,77].

Challenges of a cross-sectional study design include the temporality of single assessments and the potential bidirectional nature of some associations. Furthermore, multiple comparisons and a large number of assessments and outcome variables and the potential for complex interactions may require further stratification. However, the study design and recruitment emphasis on obese versus normal BMI categories in the PROMISE study is an efficient approach to identify and contrast biological parameters that are associated with obesity-related metabolic disease risk. Most previous studies have focused on only 1 or 2 aspects that may influence the gut microbiome and obesity. The comprehensiveness of the PROMISE study design and our multidisciplinary approach are a particular strength. It will greatly advance our understanding of the etiology of obesity and will guide future longitudinal studies and interventions involving specific microbiota-based therapies, linking the outcomes of our study with strategies for the design of foods that offer metabolic health benefits through changes of the gut microbiome.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the volunteers who participated in this study. The authors also thank all the students and staff who participated in recruitment and data collection for this study: MSc students Elizabeth Cullen, Bronte Anscombe, Shivon Singh, Beatrice Drury, and Laura Mickleson. We gratefully acknowledge our research assistants Owen Mugridge, Shakeela Jayasinghe, Sherina Holland, Guojiao (Maggie) Cao, Ashleigh Jackson, and PC Tong and our 2 interns Sunna Jacobsen and Carolin Friedle. This study was funded by the Health Research Council of New Zealand. The authors would also like to thank Professor Elaine Rush for her advice on recruitment strategies.

Authors' Contributions

BB, RK, JD, and GT developed the study concept and design and wrote the grant application for funding support. RF, PG, TLS, SS, BL, and ATMG contributed to the study design. NB, MM, SK, JS, NR, BB, RK, and MR played key roles in participant recruitment, the organization of the study, and data acquisition. BB and SK drafted the manuscript, and all authors contributed to and accepted the final version.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. 2018. Obesity and Overweight: Key Facts URL:<u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- 2. Ministry of Health NZ. 2016. Annual Update of Key Results 2015/16: New Zealand Health Survey URL:<u>https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/annual-update-key-results-2015-16-new-zealand-health-survey</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 12 (page number not for citation purposes)

- Advertising Standards Authority. 2014. Tackling Obesity: Policy Briefing URL:<u>https://www.asa.co.nz/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/16A.-New-Zealand-Medical-Association-Policy-Briefing-2014_Tackling-Obesity.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. Lancet 2014 Aug 30;384(9945):766-781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60460-8] [Medline: 24880830]
- Ministry of Health NZ. 2017. Annual Update of Key Results 2016/17: New Zealand Health Survey URL: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/annual-update-key-results-2016-17-new-zealand-health-survey</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- Eriksson JG, Sandboge S, Salonen MK, Kajantie E, Osmond C. Long-term consequences of maternal overweight in pregnancy on offspring later health: findings from the Helsinki birth cohort study. Ann Med 2014 Sep;46(6):434-438. [doi: 10.3109/07853890.2014.919728] [Medline: 24910160]
- Huxley R, Mendis S, Zheleznyakov E, Reddy S, Chan J. Body mass index, waist circumference and waist:hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular risk--a review of the literature. Eur J Clin Nutr 2010 Jan;64(1):16-22. [doi: <u>10.1038/</u> ejcn.2009.68] [Medline: <u>19654593</u>]
- Heymsfield SB, Wadden TA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and management of obesity. N Engl J Med 2017 Apr 13;376(15):1492. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1701944] [Medline: 28402780]
- 9. Tchernof A, Després JP. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev 2013 Jan;93(1):359-404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/physrev.00033.2011] [Medline: 23303913]
- Phillips CM. Metabolically healthy obesity across the life course: epidemiology, determinants, and implications. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2017 Mar;1391(1):85-100. [doi: 10.1111/nyas.13230] [Medline: 27723940]
- Swinburn B, Sacks G, Vandevijvere S, Kumanyika S, Lobstein T, Neal B, INFORMAS. INFORMAS (international network for food and obesity/non-communicable diseases research, monitoring and action support): overview and key principles. Obes Rev 2013 Oct;14(Suppl 1):1-12. [doi: <u>10.1111/obr.12087</u>] [Medline: <u>24074206</u>]
- McGill AT. Past and future corollaries of theories on causes of metabolic syndrome and obesity related co-morbidities part 2: a composite unifying theory review of human-specific co-adaptations to brain energy consumption. Arch Public Health 2014;72(1):31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2049-3258-72-31] [Medline: 25708599]
- Thompson NM, Norman AM, Donkin SS, Shankar RR, Vickers MH, Miles JL, et al. Prenatal and postnatal pathways to obesity: different underlying mechanisms, different metabolic outcomes. Endocrinology 2007 May;148(5):2345-2354. [doi: 10.1210/en.2006-1641] [Medline: 17272392]
- Hayes JD, Dinkova-Kostova AT. The Nrf2 regulatory network provides an interface between redox and intermediary metabolism. Trends Biochem Sci 2014 Apr;39(4):199-218. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.tibs.2014.02.002</u>] [Medline: <u>24647116</u>]
- Saltiel AR. Insulin resistance in the defense against obesity. Cell Metab 2012 Jun 6;15(6):798-804 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.03.001] [Medline: 22682220]
- Steinert RE, Feinle-Bisset C, Asarian L, Horowitz M, Beglinger C, Geary N. Ghrelin, CCK, GLP-1, and PYY(3-36): secretory controls and physiological roles in eating and glycemia in health, obesity, and after RYGB. Physiol Rev 2017 Jan;97(1):411-463 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2014] [Medline: 28003328]
- 17. Wells JC. The evolution of human adiposity and obesity: where did it all go wrong? Dis Model Mech 2012 Sep;5(5):595-607 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1242/dmm.009613] [Medline: 22915021]
- Mhurchu CN, Eyles H, Schilling C, Yang Q, Kaye-Blake W, Genç M, et al. Food prices and consumer demand: differences across income levels and ethnic groups. PLoS One 2013;8(10):e75934 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/</u> journal.pone.0075934] [Medline: <u>24098408</u>]
- Rush E, McLennan S, Obolonkin V, Vandal AC, Hamlin M, Simmons D, et al. Project Energize: whole-region primary school nutrition and physical activity programme; evaluation of body size and fitness 5 years after the randomised controlled trial. Br J Nutr 2014 Jan 28;111(2):363-371. [doi: 10.1017/S0007114513002316] [Medline: 23867069]
- Taubes G. The science of obesity: what do we really know about what makes us fat? An essay by Gary Taubes. Br Med J 2013 Apr 15;346:f1050. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.f1050] [Medline: 23596125]
- Scheen AJ, van Gaal LF. Combating the dual burden: therapeutic targeting of common pathways in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014 Nov;2(11):911-922. [doi: <u>10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70004-X</u>] [Medline: <u>24731666</u>]
- Menni C, Jackson MA, Pallister T, Steves CJ, Spector TD, Valdes AM. Gut microbiome diversity and high-fibre intake are related to lower long-term weight gain. Int J Obes (Lond) 2017 Jul;41(7):1099-1105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ ijo.2017.66] [Medline: 28286339]
- Mulders RJ, de Git KC, Schéle E, Dickson SL, Sanz Y, Adan RA. Microbiota in obesity: interactions with enteroendocrine, immune and central nervous systems. Obes Rev 2018 Apr;19(4):435-451. [doi: <u>10.1111/obr.12661</u>] [Medline: <u>29363272</u>]
- Blaut M. Gut microbiota and energy balance: role in obesity. Proc Nutr Soc 2015 Aug;74(3):227-234. [doi: <u>10.1017/</u> <u>S0029665114001700</u>] [Medline: <u>25518735</u>]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

- Cotillard A, Kennedy SP, Kong LC, Prifti E, Pons N, le Chatelier E, ANR MicroObes Consortium, et al. Dietary intervention impact on gut microbial gene richness. Nature 2013 Aug 29;500(7464):585-588. [doi: <u>10.1038/nature12480</u>] [Medline: <u>23985875</u>]
- Walsh CJ, Guinane CM, O'Toole PW, Cotter PD. Beneficial modulation of the gut microbiota. FEBS Lett 2014 Nov 17;588(22):4120-4130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2014.03.035] [Medline: 24681100]
- le Chatelier E, Nielsen T, Qin J, Prifti E, Hildebrand F, Falony G, MetaHIT Consortium, et al. Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. Nature 2013 Aug 29;500(7464):541-546. [doi: <u>10.1038/nature12506</u>] [Medline: <u>23985870</u>]
- Laffitte A, Neiers F, Briand L. Functional roles of the sweet taste receptor in oral and extraoral tissues. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2014 Jul;17(4):379-385 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1097/MCO.00000000000058</u>] [Medline: <u>24763065</u>]
- Martínez-Ruiz NR, López-Díaz JA, Wall-Medrano A, Jiménez-Castro JA, Angulo O. Oral fat perception is related with body mass index, preference and consumption of high-fat foods. Physiol Behav 2014 Apr 22;129:36-42. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.010</u>] [Medline: <u>24534166</u>]
- Schmid SM, Hallschmid M, Schultes B. The metabolic burden of sleep loss. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015 Jan;3(1):52-62. [doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70012-9] [Medline: 24731536]
- Grandner MA, Chakravorty S, Perlis ML, Oliver L, Gurubhagavatula I. Habitual sleep duration associated with self-reported and objectively determined cardiometabolic risk factors. Sleep Med 2014 Jan;15(1):42-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2013.09.012] [Medline: 24333222]
- Thaiss CA, Zeevi D, Levy M, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Tengeler AC, et al. Transkingdom control of microbiota diurnal oscillations promotes metabolic homeostasis. Cell 2014 Oct 23;159(3):514-529 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2014.09.048] [Medline: 25417104]
- Clarke SF, Murphy EF, O'Sullivan O, Lucey AJ, Humphreys M, Hogan A, et al. Exercise and associated dietary extremes impact on gut microbial diversity. Gut 2014 Dec;63(12):1913-1920. [doi: <u>10.1136/gutjnl-2013-306541</u>] [Medline: <u>25021423</u>]
- Tupai-Firestone R, Tuisano H, Manukia M, Kaholokula K, Foliaki S, Kingi TK, et al. Understanding Pasifika youth and the obesogenic environment, Auckland and Wellington, New Zealand. N Z Med J 2016 May 6;129(1434):23-35. [Medline: <u>27349260</u>]
- Kramer CK, Zinman B, Retnakaran R. Are metabolically healthy overweight and obesity benign conditions?: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2013 Dec 3;159(11):758-769. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-159-11-201312030-00008] [Medline: 24297192]
- Oliveros E, Somers VK, Sochor O, Goel K, Lopez-Jimenez F. The concept of normal weight obesity. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2014;56(4):426-433. [doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2013.10.003] [Medline: 24438734]
- Stats NZ. 2013. Pacific Peoples Ethnic Group URL:<u>http://archive.stats.govt.nz/Census/2013-census/profile-and-summary-reports/quickstats-culture-identity/pacific-peoples.aspx?url=/Census/2013-census/profile-and-summary-reports/quickstats-culture-identity/pacific-peoples.aspx [accessed 2019-08-01]
 </u>
- Verbiest M, Borrell S, Dalhousie S, Tupa'i-Firestone R, Funaki T, Goodwin D, et al. A co-designed, culturally-tailored mhealth tool to support healthy lifestyles in Mãori and Pasifika communities in New Zealand: protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Aug 22;7(8):e10789 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10789] [Medline: 30135054]
- Bernini P, Bertini I, Luchinat C, Nincheri P, Staderini S, Turano P. Standard operating procedures for pre-analytical handling of blood and urine for metabolomic studies and biobanks. J Biomol NMR 2011 Apr;49(3-4):231-243. [doi: 10.1007/s10858-011-9489-1] [Medline: 21380509]
- 40. Stewart A, Marfell-Jones M, Olds T, de Ridder H. International Standards for Anthropometric Assessment. Lower Hutt, New Zealand: International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry; 2011.
- Brown RC, Tey SL, Gray AR, Chisholm A, Smith C, Fleming E, et al. Association of nut consumption with cardiometabolic risk factors in the 2008/2009 New Zealand adult nutrition survey. Nutrients 2015 Sep 8;7(9):7523-7542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu7095351] [Medline: 26371037]
- 42. Carroll RJ, Midthune D, Subar AF, Shumakovich M, Freedman LS, Thompson FE, et al. Taking advantage of the strengths of 2 different dietary assessment instruments to improve intake estimates for nutritional epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol 2012 Feb 15;175(4):340-347 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr317] [Medline: 22273536]
- Kruger R, Shultz SP, McNaughton SA, Russell AP, Firestone RT, George L, et al. Predictors and risks of body fat profiles in young New Zealand European, Mãori and Pacific women: study protocol for the women's EXPLORE study. Springerplus 2015;4:128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-0916-8] [Medline: 25825686]
- 44. Russell DG, Parnell W, Wilson N, Faed J. NZ Food, NZ People: Key Results of the 1997 National Nutrition Survey. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health; 1997.
- 45. Gibson RS. Principles of Nutritional Assessment. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- Livingstone MB, Black AE. Markers of the validity of reported energy intake. J Nutr 2003 Mar;133(Suppl 3):895S-920S. [doi: <u>10.1093/jn/133.3.895S</u>] [Medline: <u>12612176</u>]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 14 (page number not for citation purposes)

- Kruger R, Stonehouse W, von Hurst PR, Coad J. Combining food records with in-depth probing interviews improves quality of dietary intake reporting in a group of South Asian women. Aust N Z J Public Health 2012 Apr;36(2):135-140. [doi: 10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00809.x] [Medline: 22487347]
- Quigley R, Watts C. Ministry of Health NZ. 1997. Food Comes First: Methodologies for The National Nutrition Survey of New Zealand URL:<u>http://www.moh.govt.nz/notebook/nbbooks.nsf/ea5ef2c0e4ab8ac485256caa0065e3eb/ d4cf77e8acc3167a4c2565d7000e13be/\$FILE/meth41on.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- Beck KL, Houston ZL, McNaughton SA, Kruger R. Development and evaluation of a food frequency questionnaire to assess nutrient intakes of adult women in New Zealand. Nutr Diet 2018 Sep 14 (epub ahead of print). [doi: <u>10.1111/1747-0080.12472</u>] [Medline: <u>30277640</u>]
- 50. Oldewage-Theron W, Kruger R. Dietary diversity and adequacy of women caregivers in a peri-urban informal settlement in South Africa. Nutrition 2011 Apr;27(4):420-427. [doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2010.05.013] [Medline: 20688475]
- Nutrient Reference Values | Australia and New Zealand. 2018. URL:<u>https://www.nrv.gov.au/home</u> [accessed 2019-08-01]
- Stunkard AJ, Messick S. The three-factor eating questionnaire to measure dietary restraint, disinhibition and hunger. J Psychosom Res 1985;29(1):71-83. [doi: <u>10.1016/0022-3999(85)90010-8</u>] [Medline: <u>3981480</u>]
- Kalva JJ, Sims CA, Puentes LA, Snyder DJ, Bartoshuk LM. Comparison of the hedonic general labeled magnitude scale with the hedonic 9-point scale. J Food Sci 2014 Feb;79(2):S238-S245. [doi: <u>10.1111/1750-3841.12342</u>] [Medline: <u>24422940</u>]
- Bartoshuk LM, Duffy VB, Green BG, Hoffman HJ, Ko CW, Lucchina LA, et al. Valid across-group comparisons with labeled scales: the gLMS versus magnitude matching. Physiol Behav 2004 Aug;82(1):109-114. [doi: <u>10.1016/</u> j.physbeh.2004.02.033] [Medline: <u>15234598</u>]
- Haryono RY, Sprajcer MA, Keast RS. Measuring oral fatty acid thresholds, fat perception, fatty food liking, and papillae density in humans. J Vis Exp 2014 Jun 4(88) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3791/51236] [Medline: 24961177]
- 56. Signal TL, Gander PH, van den Berg MJ, Graeber RC. In-flight sleep of flight crew during a 7-hour rest break: implications for research and flight safety. Sleep 2013 Jan 1;36(1):109-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5665/sleep.2312] [Medline: 23288977]
- Besson H, Brage S, Jakes RW, Ekelund U, Wareham NJ. Estimating physical activity energy expenditure, sedentary time, and physical activity intensity by self-report in adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2010 Jan;91(1):106-114. [doi: <u>10.3945/</u> <u>ajcn.2009.28432</u>] [Medline: <u>19889820</u>]
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry Res 1989 May;28(2):193-213. [doi: <u>10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4</u>] [Medline: <u>2748771</u>]
- 59. Huth EJ, Case K. Annals of Internal Medicine at age 75: reflections on the past 25 years. Ann Intern Med 2002 Jul 2;137(1):34-45. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-137-1-200207020-00010] [Medline: 12093243]
- 60. Roenneberg T, Kuehnle T, Juda M, Kantermann T, Allebrandt K, Gordijn M, et al. Epidemiology of the human circadian clock. Sleep Med Rev 2007 Dec;11(6):429-438. [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2007.07.005] [Medline: 17936039]
- 61. Tannock GW. Understanding The Gut Microbiota. First Edition. New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons; 2016.
- Leimena MM, Ramiro-Garcia J, Davids M, van den Bogert B, Smidt H, Smid EJ, et al. A comprehensive metatranscriptome analysis pipeline and its validation using human small intestine microbiota datasets. BMC Genomics 2013 Aug 2;14:530 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-14-530] [Medline: 23915218]
- Atkinson J, Salmond C, Crampton P. University of Otago. 2014. A Comparison of the NZDep Index of Socioeconomic Deprivation and the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) URL:<u>https://www.otago.ac.nz/wellington/departments/</u> publichealth/research/hirp/otago020194.html [accessed 2019-08-01]
- Hanage WP. Microbiology: microbiome science needs a healthy dose of scepticism. Nature 2014 Aug 21;512(7514):247-248. [doi: 10.1038/512247a] [Medline: 25143098]
- Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. Nature 2006 Dec 21;444(7122):1022-1023. [doi: <u>10.1038/4441022a</u>] [Medline: <u>17183309</u>]
- Sze MA, Schloss PD. Looking for a signal in the noise: revisiting obesity and the microbiome. MBio 2016 Aug 23;7(4):pii: e01018 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1128/mBio.01018-16] [Medline: 27555308]
- Ranjan R, Rani A, Metwally A, McGee HS, Perkins DL. Analysis of the microbiome: advantages of whole genome shotgun versus 16S amplicon sequencing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2016 Jan 22;469(4):967-977 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.12.083] [Medline: 26718401]
- Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Cheng J, Duncan AE, Kau AL, et al. Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. Science 2013 Sep 6;341(6150):1241214 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1126/science.1241214</u>] [Medline: <u>24009397</u>]
- Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, MetaHIT Consortium, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. Nature 2011 May 12;473(7346):174-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1038/nature09944</u>] [Medline: <u>21508958</u>]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 15 (page number not for citation purposes)

- Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, Bittinger K, Chen YY, Keilbaugh SA, et al. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science 2011 Oct 7;334(6052):105-108 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1126/science.1208344</u>] [Medline: <u>21885731</u>]
- de las Nueces D, Hacker K, DiGirolamo A, Hicks LS. A systematic review of community-based participatory research to enhance clinical trials in racial and ethnic minority groups. Health Serv Res 2012 Jun;47(3 Pt 2):1363-1386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2012.01386.x] [Medline: 22353031]
- Arevalo M, Heredia NI, Krasny S, Rangel ML, Gatus LA, McNeill LH, et al. Mexican-American perspectives on participation in clinical trials: a qualitative study. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2016 Dec 15;4:52-57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2016.06.009] [Medline: 27570845]
- Levkoff S, Sanchez H. Lessons learned about minority recruitment and retention from the centers on minority aging and health promotion. Gerontologist 2003 Feb;43(1):18-26. [doi: 10.1093/geront/43.1.18] [Medline: 12604742]
- 74. Frydenberg E, Martin AJ, Collie RJ, editors. Social and Emotional Learning in Australia and the Asia-Pacific: Perspectives, Programs and Approaches. First Edition. Singapore: Springer Verlag; 2017.
- Tooze JA, Subar AF, Thompson FE, Troiano R, Schatzkin A, Kipnis V. Psychosocial predictors of energy underreporting in a large doubly labeled water study. Am J Clin Nutr 2004 May;79(5):795-804. [doi: <u>10.1093/</u> ajcn/79.5.795] [Medline: <u>15113717</u>]
- Sedgwick P. Bias in observational study designs: cross sectional studies. Br Med J 2015 Mar 6;350:h1286. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.h1286] [Medline: 25747413]
- Paine SJ, Priston M, Signal TL, Sweeney B, Muller D. Developing new approaches for the recruitment and retention of indigenous participants in longitudinal research: lessons from E Moe, Mãmã: maternal sleep and health in Aotearoa/New Zealand. MAI J 2013;2(2):121-132 [FREE Full text]

Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index
BP: blood pressure
CVD: cardiovascular disease
DXA: dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry
EDTA: ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FFQ: food frequency questionnaire
GLP-1: glucagon-like peptide-1
ISAK: International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry
NZZ New Zealand
NZDep2013: New Zealand Deprivation Index 2013
NZWFFQ: New Zealand Women's Food Frequency Questionnaire
PROMISE: PRedictors linking Obesity and gut MIcrobiomE
SOP: standard operating procedure
T2D: type 2 diabetes
WHR: waist-to-hip ratio

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.04.19; peer-reviewed by C Cairncross, B Idrisov; comments to author 16.06.19; revised version received 18.07.19; accepted 19.07.19; published 26.08.19

Please cite as:

Kindleysides S, Kruger R, Douwes J, Tannock GW, Renall N, Slater J, Lawley B, McGill AT, Brennan N, Manukia M, Richter M, Tupai-Firestone R, Signal TL, Gander P, Stannard SR, Breier BH Predictors Linking Obesity and the Gut Microbiome (the PROMISE Study): Protocol and Recruitment Strategy for a Cross-Sectional Study on Pathways That Affect the Gut Microbiome and Its Impact on Obesity JMIR Res Protoc 2019;8(8):e14529 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/</u> doi: <u>10.2196/14529</u> PMID:

©Sophie Kindleysides, Rozanne Kruger, Jeroen Douwes, Gerald W Tannock, Nikki Renall, Joanne Slater, Blair Lawley, Anne-Thea McGill, Niamh Brennan, Moana Manukia, Marilize Richter, Ridvan Tupai-Firestone, T Leigh Signal, Philippa Gander, Stephen R Stannard, Bernhard H Breier. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 26.08.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2019/8/e14529/

JMIR Res Protoc 2019 | vol. 8 | iss. 8 | e14529 | p. 16 (page number not for citation purposes)

7.2. Ethics approval, participant information sheet and consent

7.2.1. Low-risk ethics approval (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)



11 May 2015

Sophie Kindleysides C/O School of Food and Nutrition **Albany Campus**

Dear Sophie

Re: Dessert Taste Study: describing the ability to detect fat in food by taste, odour and mouth feel

Thank you for your Low Risk Notification which was received on 7 May 2015.

Your project has been recorded on the Low Risk Database which is reported in the Annual Report of the Massey University Human Ethics Committees.

You are reminded that staff researchers and supervisors are fully responsible for ensuring that the information in the low risk notification has met the requirements and guidelines for submission of a low risk notification.

The low risk notification for this project is valid for a maximum of three years.

Please notify me if situations subsequently occur which cause you to reconsider your initial ethical analysis that it is safe to proceed without approval by one of the University's Human Ethics Committees.

Please note that travel undertaken by students must be approved by the supervisor and the relevant Pro Vice-Chancellor and be in accordance with the Policy and Procedures for Course-Related Student Travel Overseas. In addition, the supervisor must advise the University's Insurance Officer.

A reminder to include the following statement on all public documents:

"This project has been evaluated by peer review and judged to be low risk. Consequently, it has not been reviewed by one of the University's Human Ethics Committees. The researcher(s) named above are responsible for the ethical conduct of this research.

If you have any concerns about the conduct of this research that you wish to raise with someone other than the researcher(s), please contact Dr Brian Finch, Director (Research Ethics), telephone 06 356 9099, extn 86015, e-mail humanethics@massey.ac.nz".

Please note that if a sponsoring organisation, funding authority or a journal in which you wish to publish requires evidence of committee approval (with an approval number), you will have to provide a full application to one of the University's Human Ethics Committees. You should also note that such an approval can only be provided prior to the commencement of the research.

Yours sincerely

B) Juich.

Brian T Finch (Dr) Chair, Human Ethics Chairs' Committee and Director (Research Ethics) Cc Professor Bernhard Breier, Dr Kathryn Beck Professor Matt Golding, Dr Daniel Walsh

> School of Food and Nutrition Albany Campus

Distinguished Professor Harjinder Singh Head of school. School of Food and Nutrition

Turitea campus

Massey University Human Ethics Committee Accredited by the Health Research Council



Health and Disability Ethics Committees Ministry of Health Freyberg Building 20 Aitken Street PO Box 5013 Wellington 6011

> 0800 4 ETHICS hdecs@moh.govt.nz

30 March 2016

Professor Bernhard Breier Private Bag 102904 North Shore Mail Centre Auckland 0745

Dear Professor Breier

Re:	Ethics ref:	16/STH/32
	Study title:	The gut microbiome: a new pathway to obesity prevention and metabolic health

I am pleased to advise that this application has been <u>approved</u> by the Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee. This decision was made through the HDEC-Expedited Review pathway.

Conditions of HDEC approval

HDEC approval for this study is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the commencement of the study in New Zealand. It is your responsibility, and that of the study's sponsor, to ensure that these conditions are met. No further review by the Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee is required.

Standard conditions:

- 1. Before the study commences at *any* locality in New Zealand, all relevant regulatory approvals must be obtained.
- 2. Before the study commences at *a given* locality in New Zealand, it must be authorised by that locality in Online Forms. Locality authorisation confirms that the locality is suitable for the safe and effective conduct of the study, and that local research governance issues have been addressed.

Non-standard conditions:

- Please remove the words 'exciting' and 'greatly' from the opening paragraph.
- Replace the word 'encourage' with 'invite'.
- Data needs to be kept for 10years (says 5years on the consent form).
- Please add the study name to the footer and version number.
- The sections in the information sheet about breastfeeding are confusing please re-word.
- Currently it is not clear whether participants could not be breastfeeding for longer than 6 months (i.e be breastfeeding but planning to stop within the next 6

months); whether they could not have breastfed for more than 6 months in total any sometime in the past; or whether they could not have breastfeed within the last 6 months.

Non-standard conditions must be completed before commencing your study. Nonstandard conditions do not need to be submitted to or reviewed by HDEC before commencing your study.

If you would like an acknowledgement of completion of your non-standard conditions letter you may submit a post approval form amendment. Please clearly identify in the amendment that the changes relate to non-standard conditions and ensure that supporting documents (if requested) are tracked/highlighted with changes.

For information on non-standard conditions please see section 128 and 129 of the Standard Operating Procedures at <u>http://ethics.health.govt.nz/home</u>.

After HDEC review

Please refer to the Standard Operating Procedures for Health and Disability Ethics Committees (available on www.ethics.health.govt.nz) for HDEC requirements relating to amendments and other post-approval processes.

Your next progress report is due by 29 March 2017.

Participant access to ACC

The Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee is satisfied that your study is not a clinical trial that is to be conducted principally for the benefit of the manufacturer or distributor of the medicine or item being trialled. Participants injured as a result of treatment received as part of your study may therefore be eligible for publicly-funded compensation through the Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC).

Please don't hesitate to contact the HDEC secretariat for further information. We wish you all the best for your study.

Yours sincerely,

Ms Raewyn Idoine Chairperson Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee

Encl: appendix A: documents submitted appendix B: statement of compliance and list of members

7.2.3. Participant information sheet and consent (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)



DESSERT TASTE STUDY PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Taste sensitivity to sweet and fatty flavour has been found to vary considerably between individuals. As variation in taste sensitivity influences food choice, there is much interest to understand the role of taste perception in the way people select food and how much they consume. The ability to identify food by smell may also be related to taste perception and therefore food choice. This project has been designed to better understand the relationship between taste, smell and mouth-feel and furthermore how this may influence diet.

Who can take part?

We are looking for women of:

- New Zealand European ethnicity
- 18-45 years of age
- Not be pregnant or breastfeeding
- Who are non-smokers
- Have had regular menstrual periods for a year
- Not have any chronic illnesses or clinical cause for a dry mouth

Project Procedures

The study requires you to attend **3 sessions** which are approximately 1 – 1.5 hours long at the sensory unit in Massey University, Albany. You will be required to come in for each session after an overnight fast and refrain from brushing your teeth for at least an hour prior to the appointment. These appointments will be conducted between 7.30-11 am on weekdays and selected weekends. During your first visit we will obtain your height, weight and basic body composition scale measurement (BIA).

Sensory testing

Part 1: Taste

Taste testing involves tasting food samples to determine your sensitivity to taste. You will be presented with 3 milk based samples at a time. You will then be asked to take the whole cup of each sample (~10 mL), swirl it in your mouth for 3 seconds and then spit it out to a waste cup* (swallowing the sample may affect the results). Two of the three samples will be identical and one is different. You will pick the sample with the 'different' taste. You will be asked to return the tray with the empty cups. In-between evaluation sets you will rinse your mouth with distilled water and wait 20 seconds before you move to the next sample. **Please keep your nose clip on during tasting**.

*Please note: it is important that you spit out the contents of the tasting sample as ingesting all the samples during testing may lead to a laxative effect. One ingredient incorporated (mineral oil) has a maximum daily intake of 100 mg (recommended by the World Health Organisation (WHO)).

Part 2: Smell

Your sense of smell will be tested to determine your sensitivity to aroma. You will receive three samples and you will inhale each sample, and you will be asked to identify which of these is

'different'. You will be asked to return the tray with sniffer bottles or pens. After a short break you will receive more sniffer samples to evaluate.

Part 3: Custard test

Again, your sensitivity to taste will be measured through a short vanilla custard evaluation. You will be presented with 2 samples of vanilla custard. You will need to taste each of these, and in your own time, fill in the corresponding questionnaire.

Part 4: Dietary analysis

In between the study visits you will be required to fill in online questionnaires on dietary habits and eating behaviour. These questionnaires are online and may be filled in at home; however we may have a brief discussion both prior to and after receiving your questionnaire responses in order to ensure we have a genuine dietary evaluation.

What will you receive?

You will be reimbursed for travel expenses with a **\$100 MTA petrol voucher** following the completion of testing (voucher received at the end of the third session). You will be given a breakfast after each sensory session. You will also receive a written report containing the main findings of the study once data analysis and interpretation is completed.

Confidentiality

All data collected will be used solely for research purposes and will be prepared for publication in a professional journal. All personal information will be kept confidential by assigning number codes to each participant. No names will be visible on any papers on which you provide information. If you are a student of one of the research teams please note that your academic grades will not be affected whether you decide to complete the study or withdraw at a later time. All data/information will be handled in confidence and will be stored in a secure location for five years on the Massey University Albany campus.

Participant's rights

You are under no obligation to accept this invitation. If you decide to participate, you have the right to:

- Decline to answer any particular question;
- Withdraw from the study at any time;
- Ask any questions about the study at any time during participation;
- Provide information on the understanding that your name will not be used unless you give permission to the researcher

Contact information

If you have any further questions or concerns about the project, either now or in the future, please contact the dessert taste study team on desserttastestudy@gmail.com. Specific contacts:

Professor Bernhard Breier <u>b.breier@massey.ac.nz</u> Sophie Kindleysides (PhD student) <u>s.j.kindleysides@massey.ac.nz</u>



Institute of Food and Nutrition Massey University Private Bag 102-904 North Shore Mail Centre Albany, Auckland New Zealand T 09 414 0800

DESSERT TASTE STUDY Participant Consent Form

I have read the Information Sheet and have had the details of the study explained to me.

My questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I understand that I may ask further questions at any time.

I understand that I will be trying **milk** and **vanilla custard** samples during this study. By signing this you are declaring that you are happy to taste a number of these samples during the visit.

I agree to participate in this study under the conditions set out in the Information Sheet.

Signatu	re:
---------	-----

Date:

Full Name



Questions regarding physical activity

1.	Does your job/occupation require any physical activity? If so, please describe:
2.	Do you play a sport or partake in any other physical activity in addition to any previously described activities? Yes \square No \square
	If yes, please describe the activity and how often you partake:
Iw	ould like to receive a brief report summarizing the main findings of the project:
	Yes 🗆 No 🗆
l ai Nư	m willing to be contacted in future research projects within the Institute of Food and trition:

Yes 🗆

No 🗆

349

C18:1 conc (mM)	Oleic acid (µL)	Base solution (mL)	Mineral oil (mL)
.02	.56	100.0	5
.06	1.9	100.0	5
1	31.5	100.0	5
1.4	44.1	100.0	5
2	63.1	99.9	5
2.8	88.4	99.9	5
3.8	119.9	99.9	5
5	157.8	99.8	5
6.4	202	99.8	5
8	250	99.8	5
9.8	309	99.7	5
12	380	99.6	5
20	631.2	99.4	5

Threshold testing (taste)

MILK BASE SOLUTION

-100g gum Arabic

-200 mg EDTA

Then add -

2 L non-fat UHT milk

homogenise => allocate 100mL to each of the 13 beakers with C18:1

To the remaining solution (blank) add 35mL mineral oil

Homogenise (do not contaminate threshold series, start with lowest and work up the dilution series)

Odour recognition – threshold series – Oleic acid in mineral oil

C18:1	Oleic acid	Oleic acid	Mineral oil	OA%
concentration	added to	added to mineral	(mL)	
(mM)	mineral oil (g)	oil (µL)		
6 mM	.01	10	5.0	0.2
12 mM	.02	19	5.0	0.5
24 mM	.03	38	5.0	0.7
48 mM	.07	75	4.9	1.7
95 mM	.13	150	4.9	3.1
190 mM	.27	300	4.7	6.4
380 mM	.54	600	4.4	12.7

Pipette mineral oil into labelled dropper bottles. All blanks to have 5mL mineral oil. Pipette oleic acid after mineral oil.

Custard – concentration series – Coconut oil in vanilla custard

CODE Coconut oil		Coconut oil added to	Vanilla custard
	concentration (%)	custard (g)	(g)
584	0	0	50
634	5	2.5g	47.5
931	10	5g	45
184	15	7.5g	42.5

CUSTARD BASE RECIPE

- 3 tablespoons cornstarch
- 500mL UHT non-fat milk
- 3 tablespoons sugar
- $\frac{1}{2}$ teaspoon vanilla essence
- $^{1}\!/_{\!4}$ teaspoon yellow food colouring

=stir well. Microwave for 4 minutes (4 minutes, stir). Microwave for

additional 1 + 1 + 1 (ideally 8 minutes total) but observe carefully and

ensure does not bubble over.

Bowls labelled (5% CO, 10% CO and 15% CO).

Start with Coconut Oil bowl measure set while custard is hot (so coconut oil melts in). Tare scale to 0.

Spoon coconut oil into bowl.

When correct amount of CO is added to bowl <u>do not tare</u>. At this point add custard to make a total of 50g.

Continue with remaining samples.

Thoroughly mix and then tare portion cups. Add 20g into appropriately labelled custard cups.

Dessert taste study; Researcher questionnaire/checklist. Example:

	Name:	Date:					
	DAY		TASTE	amplo	allocation		
	THREE		TASTES	sample		\checkmark	Х
А	level 1	0.02mM	718	696	211		
	level 2		232	807	682		
	level 3		186	786	502		
В	level 1	0.06mM	621	839	017		
	level 2		311	278	869		
	level 3		866	961	208		
С	level 1	1mM	408	190	367		
	level 2		699	088	224		
	level 3		803	108	916		
			_				
D	level 1	1.4mM	326	773	169		
	level 2		071	628	382		
	level 3		198	839	930		
Е	level 1	2mM	188	874	992		
	level 2		687	378	764		
	level 3		133	289	091		
F	level 1	2.8mM	439	336	190		
	level 2		247	093	376		
	level 3		640	997	806		
	_						
G	level 1	3.8mM	972	617	264		
	level 2		804	247	701		
	level 3		782	334	631		
Н	level 1	5mM	298	010	963		
	level 2		143	446	893		
	level 3		266	680	750		
	level 1	6.4mM	618	240	170		
	level 2		429	667	883		
	level 3		322	836	063		

J	level 1	8mM	291	764	986	
	level 2		164	869	669	
	level 3		614	561	786	
Κ	level 1	9.8mM	391	268	668	
	level 2		563	202	129	
	level 3		644	017	208	
L	level 1	12mM	879	284	346	
	level 2		743	281	664	
	level 3		271	018	671	
Μ	level 1	20mM	889	967	373	
	level 2		609	964	409	
	level 3		579	029	914	

DAY THREE			AROMA	A oleic C1 allocatio	\checkmark	x	
Α	level 1	6mM	402	135	670		
	level 2		764	880	097		
	level 3		175	831	425		
В	level 1	12mM	878	418	739		
	level 2		350	957	843		
	level 3		521	697	801		
С	level 1	24mM	751	641	368		
	level 2		203	389	156		
	level 3		616	990	146		
D	level 1	48mM	348	488	677		
	level 2		833	105	544		
	level 3		952	210	023		
Е	level 1	95mM	435	223	551		
	level 2		092	293	730		
	level 3		902	026	645		
				·		•	
F	level 1	190mM	013	866	180		
	level 2		163	715	966		

	level 3		774	926	637	
G	level 1	380mM	708	045	182	
	level 2		461	615	281	
	level 3		216	622	456	

ODD	AROMA SNIFFIN ST	\checkmark	x		
15	769	886	992		
13	408	081	179		
11	806	934	791		
9	592	172	683		
7	021	440	271		
5	811	145	302		
3	653	723	584		
1	102	844	376		

DAY THREE	CUSTARD				
	Hedonic taste 1				
	Hedonic taste 2				

7.2.5. Participant information and consent (PROMISE study, Chapter IV and V)



PROMISE STUDY

(PRedictors linking Obesity and gut MIcrobiomE)

INFORMATION SHEET

We are looking for women aged between 20 and 40 years of age to take part in the PROMISE study. We want to understand how the bacteria in our gut are affected by diet, physical activity, sleep and taste perception, and how this is linked to health and a healthy body weight. Please read this information sheet carefully before deciding whether or not to participate.

What is this research about?

Here in New Zealand we are experiencing an epidemic of obesity and metabolic diseases, such as diabetes. A key contributing factor is our diets and the types of food we eat. Food has a large impact on the number and types of bacteria in our bowel (gut microbiome). There are at least 1000 different types of bacteria. It is thought that these bacteria play a very important role in our health, and may be contributing to obesity in some people. In this study we will investigate how diet, taste perception, sleep and physical activity affect the gut microbiome. This new knowledge will help us understand obesity and how best to prevent it.

Who are we looking for?

We are looking for women to participate in this study. To take part in this study you need to:

- Be between 20 and 40 years of age
- Be of NZ European ethnicity OR of Pacific ethnicity
- Not be pregnant or breastfeeding
- Not have any chronic diseases such as heart disease, diabetes or cancer
- Not have any food-allergies
- Not be following a severely restricted diet

1
What is involved in the study?

If you decide to take part in the study, you will be asked to complete a screening questionnaire (online or over the phone) that will assess your eligibility. If you meet these eligibility criteria you will be invited to take part in the study, which includes 2 visits to the Massey University Human Nutrition Research Unit in Albany and collection of data at home.

Visit 1 (approximately 2.5 hours)

You will have to visit the Human Nutrition Research Unit early in the morning (between 7.30 and 8:30am), without having eaten breakfast. The visit will take approximately 2.5 hours. On the day we will first explain to you what is involved in the study and answer all your questions. We will then ask you to sign a consent form.

The following procedures will take place during this visit:

- Your height, weight and body composition will be measured.
- A blood sample will be taken from a vein in your arm by a trained person (a phlebotomist).
 For this blood sample you need to have fasted overnight. You should not eat or drink anything (other than water) from 10pm the previous evening until after the blood sample has been taken. We will use the blood samples to measure cholesterol and glucose levels, markers of inflammation and small molecules related to fat usage and storage.
- You will be asked to taste a few sweet, fat and bitter solutions by sipping a mouthful (10mL or 2 teaspoons), swirling it in your mouth and swallowing it, and then rating your preference on a scale.
- A buffet-style continental breakfast will be provided prior to further measures to ensure that you break your fasted state.
- You will also be asked to complete some questionnaires regarding your diet and sleep patterns.
- We will ask you to provide a small urine sample.

At home between Visits 1 & Visit 2

You will be asked to:

- Wear an Accelerometer (a small device similar to a step-counter that you wear around your waist to measure physical activity), and an Actiwatch (a watch worn on your wrist which records your sleep patterns) for 7 days. The accelerometer and watch will be provided by the researchers and you will receive detailed instructions on how to use them.
- Record your physical activity for 7 days while you are wearing the small devices above.
- Record your food intake for 5 days while you are wearing the small devices above.
- Provide two small faecal (stool) samples and bring these to Visit 2. It is important that
 these two small stool samples are frozen (in the containers provided by us) immediately
 after collection in your freezer. These samples allow us to determine the bacteria
 (microbes) in your gut.

Visit 2 (approximately 2 hours)

You will be asked to visit the Human Nutrition Research Unit during the day. For this visit we ask that you eat as usual before coming as no food will be provided during Visit 2. The visit will take about 2 hours.

At this visit:

- You will bring back all your devices and the stool samples and your physical activity and food records;
- An in-depth interview will be conducted regarding your data collection tasks including devices and food recording by the research staff.
- Your weight and height will be measured.
- Your blood pressure will be measured.
- You will undergo a full body composition assessment including waist, hip and abdominal height measurements as well as a whole body scan using a DXA machine. These measurements will take place in a private, enclosed room.
- You will also be asked to complete some questionnaires regarding your diet and activity patterns.



DXA machine

What are the benefits and risks of taking part in this study?

There will be no charges made for any of the tests that you undertake. You will receive information regarding your own individual measurements (blood results including blood sugar, cholesterol, blood pressure, % body fat and BMI) and an explanation of the data. In recognition of your participation, you will receive a \$100 supermarket or petrol voucher at the end of visit 2. You will also receive a brief report summarising the main findings of the project via mail or e-mail after analysis of the data has been completed. This is also a chance for you to receive some information about your current health status. In addition, this information will help us to provide better recommendations for preventing obesity.

Some people may have a fear of having a blood sample taken or experience discomfort when the blood samples are taken. Occasionally a slight bruise will result. We will take every measure to ensure that you are comfortable and respected. You may also be accompanied by a support person if required.

With the DXA body composition scan you will be exposed to a very low dose of radiation, unlikely to cause any harm. The total dose of radiation will be less than the amount of radiation you are exposed to during a trans-Tasman flight.

Project procedures

Sample Handling and Storage

Samples will be stored in a secure laboratory freezer at the Human Nutrition Research Unit until completion of the study – for a maximum of 10 years. Samples will be analysed by fullyaccredited laboratories, either in NZ or overseas, depending on the type of analysis being done. The data will be used only for the purposes of this project and no individual will be identified. Only the investigators and administrators of the study will have access to personal information and this will be kept secure and strictly confidential. Participants will be identified only by a study identification number to ensure anonymity and confidentiality of these samples. Following analysis samples will be destroyed following usual procedures, however, these blood samples can be returned to you upon request.

Data Handling

Results of this project may be published or presented at conferences or seminars. No individual will be able to be identified. At the end of this study the list of participants and their study identification number will be disposed of. Any raw data on which the results of the project depend will be retained in secure storage for 10 years, after which it will be destroyed.

Genetic analysis

Each person has a DNA make-up (their genes) which is different from that of everybody else – except in the case of identical twins. As part of this study we will be performing some DNAbased measures on blood samples that you provide us with. This will allow us to investigate possible links between the gut microbiome and genetic makeup, in particular, links that may relate to diet, body composition, sleep patterns, taste perception and physical activities. This may further our understanding of specific risk factors for obesity. The genetic or DNA-based measures that we will be performing will be research-based and will not have any medical significance for you. Therefore you will not receive the results of these genetic measures as any information gathered will be purely theoretical. As with all other aspects of the study, ID numbers will be used so that your samples are not identifiable and all information will be kept confidential and will only be used for the specific purposes of this study.

Consenting to allow DNA-based measures to be performed on your samples is entirely optional. If you do not wish to participate in this aspect of the research please indicate this on your consent form. You may withdraw your consent to the use of your sample in this research at any time and your samples will be destroyed.

Who is funding the research?

This research is funded by the Health Research Council (HRC) of New Zealand (Grant #15/273).

Participant's rights

You are under no obligation to accept this invitation. If you decide to participate, you have the right to:

- decline to answer any particular question;
- withdraw from the study at any time;
- ask any questions about the study at any time during participation;
- provide information on the understanding that your name will not be used unless you give permission to the researcher;
- be given access to a summary of the project findings when it is concluded.

Project contacts

If you have any further questions or concerns about the project, either now or in the future, please contact the research team on 09 212 7013 or 021 082 74425 or e-mail <u>promise@massey.ac.nz</u> or website www.massey.ac.nz/promise.

The lead researchers for this study are Professor Bernhard Breier and Associate Professor Rozanne Kruger. If you have any concerns please contact Bernhard [b.breier@massey.ac.nz, (09) 213 6652] or Rozanne [r.kruger@massey.ac.nz, (09) 213 6661]

Committee approval statement

This project has been reviewed and approved by the Health and Disability Ethics Committee, Southern Region, Ethics Reference 16/STH/32. If you have any concerns about the conduct of this research, please contact the Southern Health and Disability Ethics Committee on 0800 438442 or hdecs@moh.govt.nz

Compensation for injury

If physical injury results from your participation in this study, you should visit a treatment provider to make a claim to ACC as soon as possible. ACC cover and entitlements are not automatic and your claim will be assessed by ACC in accordance with the Accident Compensation Act 2001.

 Massey Institute of Food Science and Technology – School of Food and Nutrition

 Private Bag 102904, North Shore, Auckland 0745, New Zealand T +64 9 213 6653
 http://sfn.massey.ac.nz



PROMISE Study

Consent Form for Participants

I have read the Information Sheet* and have had the details of the study explained to me. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I understand that I may ask further questions at any time.

I agree to participate in this study under the conditions set out in the Information Sheet*. This consent form will be held for a period of ten (10) years.

🗆 Yes 🗆 No

DNA analysis will be performed on parts of the blood samples obtained. Do you consent to parts of your samples being used for DNA analysis?*

□ Yes □ No

The findings of this study may be the basis of further investigations by our team. Would you be happy for us to contact you in future about research related to this study?

🗆 Yes 🗆 No

*Please see the study Information Sheet for more details

Signature:

Date:

Full Name (printed)

 Massey Institute of Food Science and Technology – School of Food and Nutrition

 Private Bag 102904, North Shore, Auckland 0745, New Zealand T +64 9 213 6653
 http://sln.massey.ac.nz

7.2.6. Testing documents and SOP for the PROMISE study (Chapter IV and V)

(A) Glucose sample preparation for intensity and hedonic testing

- 1. Filtered, bottle water will be required to create glucose/ sweet taste samples
- 2. Add 57.7g glucose to 200 mL of filtered water. Add the water slowly and dissolve/stir (do not add all the water at once).
 - Formula weight Glucose (Food Grade, Sherratt Ingredients, NZ): 180.16 g/mol
 - Stock molarity required: 1,335 mM
 - Desired final volume of stock: 240 mL
 - Mass of glucose required: 57.7g glucose powder
- 3. To create serial dilution obtain 100 mL from the stock solution (1,335 mM stock) and add to a new beaker. To this beaker add 100 mL of water.

Molarity	Glucose solution required	Water required
1,335 mM	57.7 g glucose	200ml (final volume =240mL)
668 mM	100 ml from 1,335 mM	100 ml
334 mM	100ml from 668 mM	100ml
167 mM	100ml from 334 mM	100ml

Participants will evaluate 10 mL of each concentration (whole mouth sipand-spit) and evaluate the intensity and liking for each on a line scale questionnaire. 80 mL of sweet taste samples in total (concentration evaluation and ranking task).

Concentration testing 3-digit codes

Sweet C1	167 mM	753
Sweet C2	334 mM	329
Sweet C3	668 mM	018
Sweet C4	1,335 mM	837

Ranking task testing 3-digit codes

Sweet R1	167 mM	247
Sweet R2	334 mM	962
Sweet R3	668 mM	443
Sweet R4	1,335 mM	516

Quinine sample preparation for intensity and hedonic testing

1. Filtered, bottle water will be required to create quinine/ bitter taste samples

A super concentrated stock needs to be made in advance.

Measure 7g of quinine, add water and dissolve to a total of 220mL. This makes 80mM solution.

- Formula weight Quinine hydrochloride dehydrate (Food Grade, Sigma Aldrich): 396.91 g/mol

- 2. Add 0.4 mL of 80 mM quinine concentrated stock to 200 mL of filtered water (creates a 0.16mM stock).
- 3. To create serial dilution obtain 100 mL from the stock solution (0.16mM stock) and add to a new beaker. To this beaker add 100 mL of water.

Concentration	Quinine solution required	Water required
0.16mM (0.06 g/L)	0.4 mL high conc stock	200ml
0.08mM (0.03 g/L)	100 ml from stock (0.16mM)	100 ml
0.04mM (0.016 g/L)	100ml from 0.08mM	100ml
0.02mM (0.008 g/L)	100ml from 0.04mM	100ml

Tonic water has 83mg quinine per litre (that is, 0.083 g/L)

Participants will evaluate 10 mL of each concentration (whole mouth sipand-spit) and evaluate the intensity and liking for each on a line scale questionnaire. 80 ml of bitter taste samples in total (concentration evaluation and ranking task).

Bitter C1	0.02 mM	653
Bitter C2	0.04 mM	139
Bitter C3	0.08 mM	912
Bitter C4	0.16 mM	524

Concentration testing 3-digit codes

Bitter R1	0.02 mM	890
Bitter R2	0.04 mM	268
Bitter R3	0.08 mM	450
Bitter R4	0.16 mM	717

Fat taste preparation for intensity and hedonic testing

Anchor Blue top milk:	3.3g total fat
Anchor Blue top milk + cream [MIXED]: [ratio 75:25]	11.8g total fat
Anchor Blue top milk + cream [MIXED]: [ratio 50:50]	20.3g total fat
Anchor Cream:	37.3g total fat

Participants will evaluate 10 mL of each concentration (whole mouth sipand-spit) and evaluate the intensity and liking for each on a line scale questionnaire. 80 ml of milk taste samples in total (concentration evaluation and ranking task).

10 mL of each sample will be pipetted into a portion cup directly. The exception to this is the MIXED samples, where 5 mL of Anchor Blue top milk and 5 mL of Anchor cream will be pipetted separately, then the 10 mL sample will be drawn back and forth into the pipette tip 5 times in order to homogenise the solution thoroughly.

Concentration testing 3-digit codes

Milk C1	3.3% fat	455
Milk C2	11.8% fat	370
Milk C3	20.3% fat	284
Milk C4	37.3% fat	078

Milk R1	3.3% fat	113
Milk R2	11.8% fat	609
Milk R3	20.3% fat	761
Milk R4	37.3% fat	022

Testing procedure

- Participants will be individually briefed on testing procedure and informed of the 3 key ingredients (milk, quinine and glucose). They will be instructed to spit out all tasting samples
- TOTAL SENSORY TESTING TIME: Less than 30 minutes
- Samples will be accompanied by water and crackers (palate cleansers)
- Samples will be tested one at a time in a randomised order. For the ranking task 4 samples will be given and each tasted and ordered by perceived concentration
- Sweet samples will be tested first, followed by bitter and then milk taste

Protocol for when testing more than 5 participants (max. 9 participants)

SWEET TASTE

Add **115.4g** glucose to 400 mL of filtered water. Add the water slowly and dissolve/stir (do not add all the water at once). Final volume of stock will be 480mL.

To create serial dilution obtain 200 mL from the stock solution (1,335 mM stock) and add to a new beaker. To this beaker add 200 mL of water.

Molarity	Glucose solution required	Water required
1,335 mM	115.4 g glucose	400ml (final volume =480mL)
668 mM	200 ml from 1,335 mM	200 ml
334 mM	200ml from 668 mM	200ml
167 mM	200ml from 334 mM	200ml

BITTER TASTE

Add 0.8 mL of 80 mM quinine from <u>high concentrated stock</u> solution to 400 mL of filtered water (creates 0.16 mM stock).

To create serial dilution obtain 200 mL from the stock solution (0.16mM stock) and add to a new beaker. To this beaker add 200 mL of water.

Concentration	Quinine solution required	Water required
0.16mM (0.06 g/L)	0.8 mL high conc stock	400ml
0.08mM (0.03 g/L)	200 ml from stock (0.16mM)	200 ml
0.04mM (0.016 g/L)	200ml from 0.08mM	200ml
0.02mM (0.008 g/L)	200ml from 0.04mM	200ml

7.3. Questionnaire templates

7.3.1. Food frequency questionnaire (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)

Please make sure w	vhen filling o	out this o	question	naire that	you:				
• Tell us what YOU • Fill in the form YO	usually eat (URSELF.	(not som	eone els	se in your	househo	ld!).			
Answer EVERY qu must answer before	e moving or	asterisk ito the ne	symbol ext ques	(*) at the b tion.	u. Deginning	g of each	questio	n means t	that you
This will help us to	get the mos	st accura	te inforr	nation abo	out your	usual foo	od intake).	
	- I. J I.								
Please answer by ti food or drink in the	LAST MON	ox which TH and F	I best de IOW MU	CH vou w	ow OF I ould usu	EN you a allv have	te or dra e.	ank a part	icular
For example:									
1. EXAMPLE: How o	ften do you i	usually ha	ave suga	r? (Please	do not fil	out)			
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Sugar - 1 tsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
If every day you have 2 c	ups of coffee wi	ith 1 tsp sug	gar, 4 cups	of tea with 1	tsp sugar, o	one bowl of	cereal with	n 1 tsp sugar	and sugar
If every day you have 2 ci pancakes at dinner, you v Adjust your portion size a 2. EXAMPLE: How o	ups of coffee wi would choose fo nd frequency of ften do you t	ith 1 tsp sug our or more f intake to s usually ea	gar, 4 cups times per c uit your ea at bread?	of tea with 1 lay = '4+ x / c ting habits. ? (Please de	tsp sugar, o lay'. o not fill o	one bowl of out)	cereal with	n 1 tsp sugar	and sugar
If every day you have 2 ci pancakes at dinner, you v Adjust your portion size a 2. EXAMPLE: How o	ups of coffee wi vould choose fo nd frequency of ften do you to Never	ith 1 tsp sug our or more f intake to s usually ea <1x / month	gar, 4 cups times per c uit your ea at bread? 1-3x / month	of tea with 1 lay = '4+ x / c ting habits. ? (Please d 1x / week	tsp sugar, o lay'. o not fill o 2-3x / week	one bowl of out) 4-6x / week	cereal with Once / day	1 tsp sugar 2-3x / day	and sugar 4+ x / da
If every day you have 2 ci pancakes at dinner, you w Adjust your portion size a 2. EXAMPLE: How o	ups of coffee wi vould choose fo nd frequency of ften do you t Never	ith 1 tsp sug our or more f intake to s usually ea <1x / month	gar, 4 cups times per c uit your ea at bread? 1-3x / month	of tea with 1 lay = '4+ x / c ting habits. ' (Please de 1x / week	tsp sugar, o lay'. o not fill o 2-3x / week	one bowl of out) 4-6x / week	cereal with Once / day	1 tsp sugar 2-3x / day	and su 4+ x /

3.	Eating	Pattern
•••		

* 1. How would you describe your eating pattern? (Please choose one only)

Eat a variety of all foods, including animal products

Eat eggs, dairy products, fish and chicken but avoid other meats

Eat eggs, dairy products and fish, but avoid chicken and other red meats

Eat eggs and dairy products, but avoid all meats, chicken and fish

Eat eggs, but avoid dairy products, all meats and fish

Eat dairy products, but avoid eggs, all meats and fish

C Eat no animal products

O None of the above

Other (please state)

4. Dairy
* 1. Do you use milk? (e.g. fresh, UHT, powdered)
○ Yes
No
* 2. What type(s) of milk do you have most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose the ones you usually have)
Not applicable
Full cream milk (purple top)
Standard milk (blue top)
Skim milk (light blue top)
Trim milk (green top)
Super trim milk (light green top)
Calcium enriched milk (yellow top) e.g. Xtra, Calci-Trim
Calcium and vitamin enriched milk e.g. Mega, Anlene
Calcium and protein enriched milk e.g. Sun Latte
Standard soy milk (blue)
Light soy milk (light blue)
Calcium enriched soy milk (purple) e.g. Calci-Forte, Calci-Plus
Calcium, vitamin and omega 3 enriched soy milk e.g. Essential
Calcium and high fibre enriched soy milk e.g. Calci-Plus High Fibre
Rice milk
Other (please state)
4

Not applicable
Full cream milk (purple top)
Standard milk (blue top)
Skim milk (light blue)
Trim milk (green top)
Super trim milk (light green top)
Calcium enriched milk (yellow top) e.g. Xtra, Calci-Trim
Calcium and vitamin enriched milk e.g. Mega, Anlene
Calcium and protein enriched milk e.g. Sun Latte
Standard soy milk (blue)
Light soy milk (light blue)
Calcium enriched soy milk (purple) e.g. Calci-Forte, Calci-Plus
Calcium, vitamin and omega 3 enriched soy milk e.g. Essential
Calcium and high fibre enriched soy milk e.g. Calci-Plus High Fibre
Rice milk
Other (please state)
 * 4. On average, how many servings of milk do you have per day? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 250 mL or 1 cup/glass) e.g. 5 cups of coffee/tea using 50 mL of milk + ½ cup of milk on cereal = 1 ½ servings per day Not applicable Less than 1 serving 1-2 servings 3-4 servings 5 or more servings

*	5. How often do you usually have milk?											
		Ne	ver r	<1x / nonth	1-3x mont	/ · h w	1x / veek	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
	Flavoured milk (milkshake, iced coffee, Primo, Nesquil - 250 mL/ 1 cup	^{k)} ()	0	\bigcirc	(0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc
	Milk as a drink - 250 mL / 1 cup	C)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	(0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Milk on breakfast cereals or porridge - 125 mL/ 1/2 cup	• ()	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	(\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Milk added to water-based hot drinks (coffee, tea) - 50 mL / 1/5 cup	C)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	(\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Milk-based hot drinks (Latte, Milo) - 250 mL / 1 cup	C)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	(\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
* (6. How often do you usually eat cheese?		<1x	/ 1-3	x /	1x /	2-3x	/ 4-6x	Once	/ 2-3x/	4+ x /	4+ x /
	N	lever	mont	h mor	nth w	/eek	week	week	day	day	day	day
	matchbox cube	0	0	C		0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Edam, Gouda, Swiss - 2 heaped Tbsp / matchbox cube	0	\bigcirc	C		0	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Feta, Mozarella, Camembert - 1 heaped Tbsp / 1 med wedge	0	0	C		0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
	Brie, blue and other specialty cheese - 1 heaped Tbsp / 1 med wedge	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	C		0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Processed cheese slices - 1 slice	0	\bigcirc	C		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Cream cheese - 2 heaped Tbsp	0	\bigcirc	C		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Cottage or ricotta cheese - 2 heaped Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	C		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
* '	7. How often do you usually eat these dairy b	ased	food	s?								
		Ne	ver r	<1x / nonth	1-3x mont	/ ·	1x / veek	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
	Ice cream - 2 scoops	C		\bigcirc	0	(\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Custard or dairy food - 1 pottle / $\frac{1}{2}$ cup	C)	\bigcirc	0	(\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Yoghurt, plain or flavour - 1 pottle / ½ cup	C)	\bigcirc	0	(\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Milk puddings (semolina, instant) - ½ cup	C)	0	0	(0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Fermented or evaporated milk (buttermilk) - $\ensuremath{^{1\!\!\!/}_{\!\!\!\!2}}$ cup	C		0	0	(0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0

5. Bread
* 1. Do you eat bread?
No
Yes
 * 2. What type(s) of bread, rolls or toast do you eat most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose the ones you usually have) Not applicable
White
White – high fibre
Wholemeal or wheat meal
Wholegrain
Other (please state)
* 3. What type of bread slice do you usually have? (Please choose one only)
Not applicable
Sandwich slice
O Toast slice
Mixture of both sandwich and toast slices
 * 4. On average, how many servings of bread do eat per day? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 1 slice of bread or 1 small roll)
Not applicable
C Less than 1 serving
1–2 servings
3-4 servings
5–6 servings
7 or more servings

	ased to	oas?							
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x day
Plain white bread - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
High fibre white bread - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Wholemeal or wheat meal - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Wholegrain bread - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Fruit bread or fruit bun - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Wrap - 1 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Focaccia, bagel, pita, panini or other speciality breads - 1 medium	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Paraoa Parai (fry bread) - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Rewena bread - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Doughboys or Maori bread - 1 slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
. How often do you usually eat these other bre	ead ba	sed foc	ds?						
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x day
Crumpet or muffin split - 1 crumpet / 1 whole muffin spli	it 🔿	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Scone - 1 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Bran muffin or savoury muffin - 1 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Croissant - 1 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Waffle, pancakes or pikelets - 1 medium / 2 small	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Iced buns - 1 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Crackers (cream crackers, cruskits, corn / rice crackers, vitawheat) - 2 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc

* 8. What type(s) do you have most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose the ones you usually have)
Not applicable
Butter (all varieties)
Monounsaturated fat margarine e.g. Olive, Rice Bran, Canola Oil Spreads
Polyunsaturated fat margarine e.g. Sunflower Oil Spreads
Light monounsaturated fat margarine e.g. Olivio Spread Light
Light polyunsaturated fat margarine e.g. Flora Spread Light
Plant sterol enriched margarine e.g. Pro Active, Logical Spreads
Light plant sterol enriched margarine e.g. Pro Active Spread Light
Butter and margarine blend e.g. Country Soft, Butter Lea
Other (please state)
* 9 Choose the one you have the most
Not applicable
Butter (all varieties)
Monounsaturated fat margarine e.g. Olive, Rice Bran, Canola Oil Spreads
Polyunsaturated fat margarine e.g. Sunflower Oil Spreads
Light monounsaturated fat margarine e.g. Olivio Spread Light
Light polyunsaturated fat margarine e.g. Flora Spread Light
Plant sterol enriched margarine e.g. Pro Active, Logical Spreads
Light plant sterol enriched margarine e.g. Pro Active Spread Light
Butter and margarine blend e.g. Country Soft, Butter Lea
Other (please state)

* 10. On average, how many servings of butter, margarine or spreads do you have per day? (Please choose
(A (continue) = 1 continue contains on E continue contin
(A serving – Tiever teaspoon or 5 mL)
e.g. 1 sandwich with butter thinly spread on two pieces of bread = 2 servings
Not applicable
C Less than 1 serving
1–2 servings
3-4 servings
5–6 servings
7 or more servings

6. Breakfast Cereals and Porridge
 * 1. Do you usually eat breakfast cereal and/or porridge? No Yes
* 2. What breakfast cereal(s) do you eat most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose the ones you usually have)
Weetbix
Refined cereals e.g. Comflakes or Rice Bubbles Bran based cereals including fruity varieties e.g. Special K, Muesli, All Bran
Sweetened e.g. Nutrigrain, Cocoa Pops
Other (please state)
 * 3. On average, how many servings of breakfast cereal or porridge do you have per week? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = ½ cup porridge, muesli, cornflakes or 2 weetbix) e.g. ½ cup of porridge 3 times per week + 2 weetbix 4 times a week = 7 servings per week
Not applicable
Less than 4 servings
7–9 servings
10–12 servings
13–15 servings
16 or more servings
1

* 4. How often do you usually eat porridge or the second secon	nese cer	eal foo	ds?						
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Porridge, rolled oats, oat bran, oat meal - $\frac{1}{2}$ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Muesli (all varieties) - 1/2 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Weetbix (all varieties) - 2 weetbix	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Cornflakes or rice bubbles - 1/2 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Bran cereals (All Bran, Bran Flakes) - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Bran based cereals (Sultana Bran, Sultana Bran Extra - ½ cup	^{a)} ()	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Light and fruity cereals (Special K, Light and Tasty) - 2 cup	/2 ()	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Chocolate based cereals (Milo cereal, Coco Pops) - $\ensuremath{\mathcal{V}}$ cup	\sim	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Sweetened cereals (Nutrigrain, Fruit Loops, Honey Puffs, Frosties) - ½ cup	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Breakfast drinks (Up and Go) - Small carton / 250 mL	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

. Do you eat any type of starchy foods such No Yes	as rice,	pasta,	noodle	s and c	couscoi	s?			
. On average, how many servings of starch er week? (Please choose one only) A 'serving' = 1 cup cooked rice / pasta) .g. 1 cup of rice + ½ cup of pasta included	y foods s in a lasag	uch as	rice, p	asta, n + 1 cu	oodles ıp of sp	and cc	uscous = 2.5 s	s do yo	u eat s
Not applicable									
Less than 4 servings									
4–6 servings									
7–9 servings									
10–12 servings									
13–15 servings									
13–15 servings 16 or more servings									
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings . How often do you usually eat these starch 	y foods?								
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings . How often do you usually eat these starch 	y foods? Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings . How often do you usually eat these starch Rice, white - 1 cup 	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings . How often do you usually eat these starch Rice, white - 1 cup Rice, brown or wild - 1 cup 	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings How often do you usually eat these starch Rice, white - 1 cup Rice, brown or wild - 1 cup Pasta, white or wholegrain (spaghetti, vermicelli) - 1 cup 	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings How often do you usually eat these starch Rice, white - 1 cup Rice, brown or wild - 1 cup Pasta, white or wholegrain (spaghetti, vermicelli) - 1 cup Canned spaghetti (Watties) - 1 cup 	y foods? Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month 0	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O	2-3x / day 0	4+ x / day 0 0
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings How often do you usually eat these starch Rice, white - 1 cup Rice, brown or wild - 1 cup Pasta, white or wholegrain (spaghetti, vermicelli) - 1 cup Canned spaghetti (Watties) - 1 cup Instant noodles (2 minute noodles) - 1 packet 	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O O O O O O O O O O O O O	2-3x / day 0 0	4+ x / day O O O O O O O O O O
 13–15 servings 16 or more servings How often do you usually eat these starch Rice, white - 1 cup Rice, brown or wild - 1 cup Pasta, white or wholegrain (spaghetti, vermicelli) - 1 cup Canned spaghetti (Watties) - 1 cup Instant noodles (2 minute noodles) - 1 packet Egg and rice noodles (hokkien noodles, udon) - 1 cup 	Never	<1x / month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1-3x / month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O	2-3x / day 0 0 0 0	4+ x / day 0 0 0

8. Meat
* 1. Do you eat beef, mutton, hogget, lamb, or pork
○ No
○ Yes
* 2. Do you trim any excess fat (fat you can see) off these meats? (Please choose one only)
O Not applicable
Always
Often
Occasionally
Never cut the fat off meat
 * 3. On average, how many servings of meat e.g. beef, mutton, hogget, lamb or pork do you eat per week? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = palm size or ½ a cup of meat without bone) e.g. ½ cup of savoury mince + 2 small lamb chops = 2 servings Not applicable Less than 1 serving 1-3 servings 4-6 servings 7 or more servings

	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x day
Beef mince dishes (rissoles, meatloaf, hamburger pattie) - 1 slice / patty / ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	С
Beef or veal mixed dishes (casserole, stir-fry) - $\frac{1}{2}$ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	C
Beef or veal (roast, chop, steak, schnitzel, corned beef) - palm size / $\frac{1}{2}$ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	С
Lamb, hogget or mutton mixed dishes (stews, casserole, stir-fry) - ½ cup	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	С
Lamb, hogget or mutton (roast, chops, steak) - palm size / $\frac{1}{2}$ cup	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	С
Pork (roast, chop, steak) - palm size / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	О
Canned corned beef - 1 medium slice	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Sausage, frankfurter or saveloy - 1 sausage / frankfurter/ 2 savelovs		0	\bigcirc				0		C
. How often do you usually eat these other mea	ats?	<1x /	1-3x /	1x /	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x/	4+ x
Sausage, frankfurter or saveloy - 1 sausage / frankfurter/ 2 saveloys	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	C
Bacon - 2 rashers	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	С
		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	C
Ham - 1 medium slice	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\sim					
Ham - 1 medium slice Luncheon meats or brawn - 1 slice	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Ham - 1 medium slice Luncheon meats or brawn - 1 slice Salami or chorizo - 1 slice / cube	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ham - 1 medium slice Luncheon meats or brawn - 1 slice Salami or chorizo - 1 slice / cube Offal (liver, kidneys, pate) - palm size / ½ cup	0 0 0 0	0000	0	0	0	0 0 0	0	0	0

4. How often do you usually eat poultry?									
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Chicken legs or wings - palm size / $\frac{1}{2}$ cup / 1 unit (wing, drumstick)	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Chicken breast - palm size / ½ cup / ½ breast	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Chicken mixed dishes (casserole, stir-fry) - palm size / $\ensuremath{\mathcal{V}}$ cup	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Crumbed chicken (nuggets, patties, schnitzel) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Turkey or quail - palm size / 1/2 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Mutton bird or duck - palm size / ${\rm 1}{\rm 2}$ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

10. Fish and Seafood	
* 1. Do you eat any type of fish or seafood?	
No	
○ Yes	
 * 2. On average, how many servings of fish and seafood (all types; fresh, frozen, tinned) do you eat per week? (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 80 - 120g or palm size or small tin (85g)) e.g. 1 fish fillet and 1 small tin of tuna = 2 servings per week. 	
Not applicable	
C Less than 1 serving	
1-3 servings	
4-6 servings	
7 or more servings	
* 3. How do you normally cook / eat fish? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose the ones you usually have)	
Not applicable	
Raw / I don't cook it	
Oven baked / Grilled	
Deep fried	
Shallow fry	
Micro waved	
Steamed	
Poached	
Smoked	
	8

Canned Salmon - 1 small can (85-95g) Canned Tuna - 1 small can (85-95g) Canned Mackerel, sardines, anchovies, herring - 1 small can (85-95g) Frozen crumbed fish (patties, fillets, cakes, fingers, nuggets) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	001	4+ x /
Canned Salmon - 1 small can (85-95g) Canned Tuna - 1 small can (85-95g) Canned Mackerel, sardines, anchovies, herring - 1 small can (85-95g) Frozen crumbed fish (patties, fillets, cakes, fingers, nuggets) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	0	0	\bigcirc		week	week	day	2-3x / day	day
Canned Tuna - 1 small can (85-95g) Canned Mackerel, sardines, anchovies, herring - 1 small can (85-95g) Frozen crumbed fish (patties, fillets, cakes, fingers, nuggets) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Canned Mackerel, sardines, anchovies, herring - 1 small can (85-95g) Frozen crumbed fish (patties, fillets, cakes, fingers, nuggets) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets	0		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Frozen crumbed fish (patties, fillets, cakes, fingers, nuggets) - 1 medium / 4 nuggets		\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Snapper, Tarakihi, Hoki, Cod, Flounder - palm size / cup	^{1/2} ()	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Gurnard, Kahawai or Trevally - palm size / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Lemon fish or Shark - palm size / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Tuna - palm size / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Salmon, trout or eel - palm size / 1/2 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x day
Shrimp, prawn, lobster or crayfish - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Crab or surumi - ½ cup	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Scallops, mussels, oysters, paua or clams - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Pipi or cockle - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Kina - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Whitebait - ¼ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Roe - ¼ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
					\sim	\cap	\frown	\frown	

11. Fats and Oils	
* 1. Do you cook meat, chicken, fish, eggs and/or vegetables with fat or oil?	
Νο	
○ Yes	
* 2. What type(s) do you use most often? (You can choose up to 3 options, but please only choose you usually have)	the ones
Not applicable	
Butter (all varieties)	
Margarines (all varieties)	
Cooking oils (all varieties)	
Lard, Dripping, Coconut oil, Ghee (clarified butter)	
Cooking spray	
Other (please state)	
 * 3. Chose the one you use the most Not applicable Butter (all varieties) Margarines (all varieties) Cooking oils (all varieties) Lard, Dripping, Coconut oil, Ghee (clarified butter) Cooking spray Other (please state) 	
	20

* 4. When you use fat or oil to cook, how many servings of fat or oil do you use per dish? (Please choose one only)
(A 'serving' = 1 level teaspoon or 5 mL)
Not applicable
Less than 1 serving
1 serving
2 servings
◯ 3 servings
◯ 4 servings
5 or more servings
* 5. On average, how many servings of fat or oil do you use to cook per week? (Please choose one only)
Not applicable
Less than 1 serving
1-3 servings
4-7 servings
8-10 servings
11-14 servings
15 or more servings

12. Eggs									
1. Do you eat eggs?									
No									
Yes									
 ⁶ 2. On average, not counting eggs used in bakin (Please choose one only) Not applicable Less than 1 egg 1 egg 2 eggs 3 eggs 4 eggs 5 or more eggs 	ng / coo	oking, I	now ma	any egg	gs do y	ou usu:	ally eat	per we	æk?
* 3. How often do you usually act ages?									
o. now onen do you usually ear eggs?	Novor	<1x /	1-3x /	1x /	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /
Whole eggs (hard-boiled, poached, fried, mashed, omelette, scrambled) - 1 egg	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Whole eggs (hard-boiled, poached, fried, mashed, omelette, scrambled) - 1 egg Mixed egg dish (quiche, frittata, other baked egg) - 1 slice	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Whole eggs (hard-boiled, poached, fried, mashed, ormelette, scrambled) - 1 egg Mixed egg dish (quiche, frittata, other baked egg) - 1 slice	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Whole eggs (hard-boiled, poached, fried, mashed, ormelette, scrambled) - 1 egg Mixed egg dish (quiche, frittata, other baked egg) - 1 slice	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Whole eggs (hard-boiled, poached, fried, mashed, omelette, scrambled) - 1 egg Mixed egg dish (quiche, frittata, other baked egg) - 1 slice	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day

13. Legumes									
 * 1. Do you eat legumes e.g. chickpeas/dried pe Dahl? No Yes 	as, soy	vbeans	, dried/	canneo	d beans	, bake	d beans	s, lentil	s or
 * 2. On average, how many servings of legumes choose one only) (A 'serving' = ½ cup or 125g of cooked legume Not applicable Less than 1 serving 1 serving 	s (fresh s)	, frozer	n, cann	ed, drie	ed) do y	/ou eat	per we	ek? (P	lease
2 servings									
4-5 servings									
6-7 servings									
8 or more servings									
* 3. How often do you usually eat these legumes	s?								
Sauhaana 1/ aug	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Tofu - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
Dahl - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Canned or dried legumes, beans (baked beans, chickpeas, lentils, peas, beans) - ½ cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hummus - 2 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
									23

14. Vegetables
 * 1. Do you eat vegetables? No Yes * 2. On average, how many servings of vegetables (fresh, frozen, canned) do you eat per day? Do NOT include vegetable juices. (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 1 medium potato / kumara or ½ cup cooked vegetables or 1/2 cup of lettuce) e.g. 2 medium potatoes + ½ cup of peas = 3 servings Not applicable
Less than 1 serving 1 serving 2 servings 3 servings 4 or more servings
24

<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
				0 0 0 0 0			00000
	0 0 0 0 0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0 0 0				
0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0			0	0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0
0 0 0 0		00000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0	0	0	0
	0 0 0 0	00000	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
0	00000	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\sim	
0	0	0	\bigcirc		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
0	0	\bigcirc		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
\bigcirc		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
month	month	week	week	week	day	day	day
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
		\cap	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	127		\sim	-
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	<1x / month	<pre><1x / 1-3x / month month</pre>	<1x1	<1x/	<1x/	<1x1	<1x/
15. Fruit							
--							
* 1. Do you eat fruit?							
No							
Yes							
 * 2. On average, how many servings of fruit (fresh, frozen, canned or stewed) do you eat per day? Do NOT include fruit juice. (Please choose one only) (A 'serving' = 1 medium or 2 small pieces of fruit or 1/2 cup of chopped fruit) e.g. 1 apple + 2 small apricots = 2 servings) Not applicable 							
Less than one serving							
1 serving							
2 servings							
3 or more servings							
26							

App Pea Ban Ora sm	ole - 1 medium / ½ cup ar - 1 medium / ½ cup aana - 1 medium / ½ cup nge, mandarin, tangelo, grapefruit - 1 medium / 2	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
App Pea Ban Ora sm	ole - 1 medium / ½ cup ar - 1 medium / ½ cup aana - 1 medium / ½ cup nge, mandarin, tangelo, grapefruit - 1 medium / 2	0 0 0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Pea Bai Ora sm	ur - 1 medium / ½ cup nana - 1 medium / ½ cup nge, mandarin, tangelo, grapefruit - 1 medium / 2	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc		-	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Bar Ora sm	aana - 1 medium / ½ cup nge, mandarin, tangelo, grapefruit - 1 medium / 2	\bigcirc	\bigcirc		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Ora sm Pea	nge, mandarin, tangelo, grapefruit - 1 medium / 2		\sim	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Pea	all	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
sm	ach, nectarine, plum or apricot - 1 medium / $\frac{1}{2}$ cup / 2 all	² O	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Ма	ngo, paw-paw or persimmons / 1/2 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Pin	eapple - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Gra	pes - ½ cup / 8-10 grapes	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Str	awberries, other berries, cherries - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Me	on (watermelon, rockmelon) - ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Kiw	ifruit - 1 medium / 2 small	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Fei	oas - 1 medium / 2 small	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Tar	narillos - 1 medium / ½ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Sul	tanas, raisins or currants - 1 small box	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Oth	er dried fruit (apricots, prunes, dates) - 4 pieces	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

16.	Drinks

* 1. On average, how many drinks do you have per day? (Please choose one only)	
(A 'serving' = 250 mL or one cup/glass)	

Less than 1 serving

1-3 servings

4-5 servings

6-8 servings

9-10 servings11 or more servings

How often do you usually have these drinks	?								
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Coffee instant or brewed with or without milk (Nescafe, expresso) - 1 cup	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Specialty coffees (flat white, cappuccino, lattes) - 1 small cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Coffee decaffeinated or substitute (Inka) - 1 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Hot chocolate drinks (drinking chocolate, hot chocolate Koko) - 1 cup	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Milo - 1 tsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Tea (English breakfast tea, Earl Grey) - 1 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Herbal tea or Green tea - 1 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Soy drinks - 1 cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
4. How often do you usually have these alcoho	olic drin	ks?							
		<1x /	1-3x /	1x /	2-3x /	4-6x /	Once /	2-3x /	4+ x /
	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle	Never	<1x/ month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day () ()
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass White wine, champagne, sparkling wine - 1 small glass	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day () () () () () ()	4+ x / day 0 0
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass White wine, champagne, sparkling wine - 1 small glass Wine cooler - 1 small glass / bottle	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O	2-3x / day 0	4+ x / day 0
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass White wine, champagne, sparkling wine - 1 small glass Wine cooler - 1 small glass / bottle Sparkling grape juice - 1 glass / cup	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day 0	4+ x / day 0
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass White wine, champagne, sparkling wine - 1 small glass Wine cooler - 1 small glass / bottle Sparkling grape juice - 1 glass / cup Sherry or port - 100 mL	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O	2-3x / day 0	4+ x / day 0
Beer – Iow alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass White wine, champagne, sparkling wine - 1 small glass Wine cooler - 1 small glass / bottle Sparkling grape juice - 1 glass / cup Sherry or port - 100 mL Spirits, liqueurs - 1 shot or 30 mL	Never	<1x / month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O	2-3x / day 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	4+ x / day 0
Beer – low alcohol - 1 can or bottle Beer – ordinary - 1 can or bottle Red wine - 1 small glass White wine, champagne, sparkling wine - 1 small glass Wine cooler - 1 small glass / bottle Sparkling grape juice - 1 glass / cup Sherry or port - 100 mL Spirits, liqueurs - 1 shot or 30 mL RTD (KGB, Vodka Cruiser, Woodstock bourbon) - 1 bottle / can	Never	<1x / month () () () () () () () () () ()	1-3x / month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day O	2-3x / day 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	4+ x / day 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

30

Kava - 1 glass / cup

17. Dressings and Sauces

* 1. How often do you usually have these dressings or sauces?

	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Butter (all varieties) - 1 tsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Margarine (all varieties) - 1 tsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Oil (all varieties) - 1 tsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Cream or sour cream - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Mayonnaise or creamy dressings (aioli, tartae sauce) - 1 Tbsp	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0
Low fat/calorie dressing (reduced fat mayonnaise) - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Salad dressing (french, italian) - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Sauces (tomato, BBQ, sweet chilli, mint) - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Mustard - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Soy sauce - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Chutney or relish - 1 Tbsp	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Gravy homemade - ¼ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Instant Gravy (e.g. Maggi) - ¼ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
White sauce/cheese sauce - 1/4 cup	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

18. Miscellaneous - Cakes, Biscuits and Puddings

* 1. How often do you usually eat these baked products?

	Never	<1x / month	1-3x / month	1x / week	2-3x / week	4-6x / week	Once / day	2-3x / day	4+ x / day
Cakes, loaves, sweet muffins - 1 slice / 1 muffin	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Sweet pies or pastries, tarts, doughnuts - 1 medium	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Other puddings or desserts - not including milk-based puddings (sticky date pudding, pavlova) - $\frac{1}{2}$ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Plain biscuits, cookies (Round wine, Ginger nut) - 2 biscuits	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Fancy biscuits (chocolate, cream) - 2 biscuits	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

19. Miscellaneous

* 1. How often do you usually eat these other foods?

\circ
0 0
0 (
0 0
0 0
0 (

* 3. Do you use salt at the table?
Never
Rarely
Sometimes
Usually
○ Always

20. Miscellaneous - Takeaways									
1. On average, how often do you eat takeaway	′s per v	veek? (Please	choos	e one d	only)			
O Never									
Less than 1 times									
1-2 times									
3-4 times									
4-6 times									
O More than 7 times									
2. How often do you usually eat these takeawa	y foods	s?	1 24 /	1.1	2 24 /	AGVI	0000	2 24 /	A+ y /
	Never	month	month	week	week	4-6x / week	day	day	day
Meat pie, sausage roll, other savouries - 1 pie / 2 small sausage rolls or savouries	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0
Hot potato chips, kumara chips, french fries, wedges - $\ensuremath{\mathcal{V}}$ cup	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Chinese - 1 serve	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Indian - 1 serve	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Thai - 1 serve	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Pizza - 1 medium slice	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Burgers - 1 medium burger	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc
Battered fish - 1 piece	0	0	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0
Fried chicken (KFC, Country fried chicken) - 1 medium piece	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Bread based (Kebab, sandwiches, wraps, Pita Pit, Subway) - 1 medium	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0

21. Other
* 1. Are there any other foods or drinks that you can think of that you have on a regular basis that was not covered by this questionnaire?
○ No
○ Yes
36

22. Other

1. Please list these foods and drinks including; the serving size, and how many times per week you eat or
drink these items (e.g. Pizza, 4 slices, one time per week)

7.3.2. Three Factor Eating Questionnaire (TFEQ)

PROMISE Three Factor Eating Questionnaire
PROMISE Three Factor Eating Questionnaire
Please answer each question by choosing the the appropriate answer (True or False)
2. When I smell a sizzling steak or see a juicy piece of meat, I find it very difficult to keep from eating, even if I have just finished a meal
True
False
3. I usually eat too much at social occasions, like parties and picnics
U raise
4. I am usually so hungry that I eat more than three times a day
○ False
 5. When I have eaten my quota of calories, I am usually good about not eating any more True False
6. Dieting is so hard for me because I just get too hungry
C True False
7. I deliberately take small helpings as a means of controlling my weight
8. Sometimes things just taste so good that I keep on eating even when I am no longer hungry
True False
2

9. Since I am often hungry, I sometimes wish that while eating, an expert would tell me that I have had enough or that I can have something more to eat
True
○ False
10 When I feel anxious I find mutual feeting
False
11. Life is too short to worry about dieting
◯ True
C False
12 Since municipations up and down I have some on reducing distances then appe
False
13. I often feel so hungry that I just have to eat someting
◯ True
O False
14. When I am with someone who is overeating, I usually overeat too
○ True
○ False
15. I have a pretty good idea of the number of calories in common food
True
⊖ False
16. Sometimes when I start eating, I just can't seem to stop
◯ True
G False

17. It is not difficult for me to leave something on my plate
◯ True
G False
18. At certain times of the day, I get hungry because I have gotten used to eating someting then
◯ True
─ False
19. While on a diet, if I eat food that is not allowed, I consciously eat less for a period of time to make up for it
True
False
20. Being with someone who is eating often makes me hungry enough to eat also
◯ True
C False
21. When I feel blue, I often overeat
○ True
○ False
22 Loniov eating too much to speil it by counting calories or watching my weight
23. When I see a real delicacy, I often get so hungry that I have to eat right away
True
─ False
24. I often stop eating when I am not really full as a conscious means of limiting the amount that I eat
◯ True
C False
4

25. I get so hungry that my stomach often seems like a bottomless pit
◯ True
C False
26. My weight has hardly changed at all in the last ten years
◯ True
G False
27. I am always hungry so it is hard for me to stop eating before I finish the food on my plate
○ True
False
29. When I feel length Leongele mugelf by esting
False
29. I consciously hold back at meals in order not to gain weight
○ True
C False
30. I sometimes get very hungry late in the evening or at night
◯ True
C False
31. I eat anything I want, any time I want
◯ True
C False
32. Without even thinking about it, I take a long time to eat
⊖ True
C False
5

33. I count calories as a conscious means of controlling my weight
◯ True
False
34. I do not eat some foods because they make me fat
◯ True
○ False
35. I am always hungry enough to eat at any time
True
○ False
36 I hav a great deal of attention to changes in my figure
C False
37. While on a diet, if I eat a food that is not allowed, I often then splurge and eat other high calorie foods
◯ True
False
6

PROMISE Three Factor Eating Questionnaire
PROMISE Three Factor Eating Questionnaire
Please answer the following questions by choosing the response that is appropriate to you. 38. How often are you dieting in a conscious effort to control your weight? Rarely Sometimes Usually
Always
 39. Would a weight fluctuation of 2.5 kg (5 lbs) affect the way you live your life? Not at all Slightly Moderately Very much
40. How often do you feel hungry? Only at mealtimes Sometimes between meals Often between meals Almost always
 41. Do your feelings of guilt about overeating help you to control your food intake? Never Rarely Often Always

42. How difficult would it be for you to stop eating halfway through dinner and not eat for the next four hours?
Easy
Slightly difficult
Moderately difficult
Very difficult
43. How conscious are you of what you are eating?
Not at all
Slightly
Moderately
Exremely
44. How frequently do you avoid 'stocking up' on tempting foods?
Almost never
Seldom
Usually
Almost always
45. How likely are you to shop for low calorie foods?
Unlikely
Slightly likely
Moderately likely
Very likely
46. Do you got consibly in front of others and columns clone?
Always
8

47. How likely are you to consciously eat slowly in order to cut down on how much you eat?
Unlikely
Slighty likely
Moderately likely
Very Likely
48. How frequently do you skip dessert because you are no longer hungry?
Almost never
Seldom
At least once a week
Almost every day
49. How likely are you to consciously eat less than you want?
Unlikely
Slightly likely
Moderately likely
Very likely
50. Do you go on eating binges though you are not bungry?
At least once a week
51. On a scale of 0 to 5, where 0 means no restraint in eating (eating whatever you want, whenever you want it) and 5 means total restraint (constantly limiting food intake and never 'giving in'), what number would you give yourself?. Choose the answer which best describes you.
0. Eat whatever you want, whenever you want it
1. Usually eat whatever you want, whenever you want it
2. Often eat whatever you want, whenever you want it
3. Often limit food intake, but often 'give in'
4. Usually limit food intake, rarely 'give in'
5. Constantly limiting food intake, never 'giving in'
9

52 To what extent does this statement describe your eating behaviour?
'I start dieting in the morning, but because of any number of things that happen during the day, by evening I
have given up and eat what I want, promising myself to start dieting again tomorrow.'
Not like me
A little like me
Pretty good description of me
O Describes me perfectly
1

7.3.3. Sensory questionnaire for custard (fat mouthfeel sensation) questionnaire (Dessert Taste study, Chapter III)

Vanilla custard

Code: 821

Name:



6. How much do you like or dislike the **mouthfeel** of this vanilla custard?

		Dislike extremely		Like extremely
		(Strongest imaginable dislike)		(Strongest imaginable like)
7.	Compa	red to your ideal vanilla custo	ard, how would	I you rate the mouthfeel ?
		Too dry	Just right	Too fatty/oily
8.	How mu	ch do vou like or dislike the s	weetness of thi	s vanilla custard?
		Dislike extremely		Like extremely
		(Strongest imaginable dislike)		(Strongest imaginable like)
9.	Compai	red to your ideal vanilla custo	ard, how would	l vou rate the
	sweetne	ee2		
	34661116	:33 Y I		
		Not sweet enough	Just right	Too sweet
10		uld you rate the fat content l		
10	. 110 00 000			
		Very low fat content		Very high fat content
		(The lowest I have ever tasted	in (The h	nighest I have ever tasted in
		custard)		custard)

11. How would you rate the intensity of fat taste?

Very low fat taste	Very high fat taste
(The lowest I have ever tasted in	(The highest I have ever tasted in
custard)	custard)

12. Finally, did you notice any unusual taste? If so, can you please describe it? (Please be specific) 7.3.4. Hedonic liking and intensity rating LAM scale and gLMS template (PROMISE study, Chapter IV and V)

Sweet taste sample

Code: 753

Please place the full sample in your mouth and swirl for 3 seconds. Please answer the following two questions by placing a mark anywhere along the scale...

How much did you like the sweet taste of the sample you just tasted?	How would you rate the intensity of the sweet taste?					
Strongest imaginable like of any kind	Strongest imaginable sensation of any kind					
Very strong like						
Strongly like						
—— Moderately like						
Weakly like Neutral Weakly dislike	— Very strong sensation					
—— Moderately dislike						
Strongly dislike	—— Strong sensation					
Very strongly dislike						
	—— Moderate sensation					
	Weak sensation					
Strongest imaginable dislike of any kind	Barely detectable sensation No sensation					

→ Please open the hatch door to receive your next tasting sample....

7.3.5. Ranking task questionnaire template (PROMISE study, Chapter IV and V)

Sweet taste ranking task

Please taste **all** four samples in front of you.

Order these 4 samples starting from the **highest** concentration (1) to **lowest** concentration (4).

Please attempt to rank all the samples, by placing the empty portion cups in the 4 circles below. Please rank them all, even if you are uncertain of the correct order:



Please send through your completed ranking task through the hatch door...

7.3.6. Food Record (PROMISE study, Chapter V)







5 Day Food Record

Thank you very much for taking part in the PROMISE Study. We are extremely grateful for your time, effort and commitment!

If you have any questions, please contact PROMISE staff on: 414 0800 (extn 49013) email: promise@massey.ac.nz

All information in this diary will be treated with the strictest confidence. No one outside the PROMISE study will have access to this data.

Please bring this food diary with you to visit 2 at the Nutrition Laboratory

What to do?

- Record all that you eat and drink on the following dates.

- If possible record food at the time of eating or just after try to avoid doing it from memory at the end of the day.
- Include all meals, snacks, and drinks, even tap water.
- Include anything you have added to foods such as sauces, gravies, spreads, dressings, etc.
- Write down any information that might indicate **size or weight** of the food to identify the portion size eaten.
- Use a new line for each food and drink. You can use more than one line for a food or drink. See the examples given.
- Use as many pages of the booklet as you need.

Describing Food and Drink

- Provide as much detail as possible about the type of food eaten. For example **brand names and varieties / types** of food.

General description	Food record description
Breakfast example – cereal, milk,	1 cup Sanitarium Natural Muesli
sugar	1 cup Pam's whole milk
	1 tsp Chelsea white sugar
Coffee	1 tsp Gregg's instant coffee
	1 x 200ml cup of water
	2 Tbsp Meadow fresh light green milk
Pasta	1 cup San Remo whole grain pasta
	spirals (boiled)
Pie	Big Ben Classic Mince and Cheese
	Pie (170g)

- Give details of all the **cooking methods** used. For example, fried, grilled, baked, poached, boiled...

General description	Food record description
2 eggs	2 size 7 eggs fried in 2tsp canola oil
	2 size 6 eggs (soft boiled)
Fish	100g salmon (no skin) poached in 1
	cup of water for 10 minutes

- When using foods that are cooked (eg. pasta, rice, meat, vegetables, etc), please record the **cooked portion** of food.

General description	Food record description
Rice	1 cup cooked Jasmine rice (cooked on
	stove top)
Meat	90g lean T-bone steak (fat and bone
	removed)
Vegetables	1/2 cup cooked mixed vegetables
	(Wattie's peas, corn, carrots)

- Please specify the **actual amount of food eaten** (eg. for leftovers, foods where there is waste)

General description	Food record description
Apple	1 x 120g Granny Smith apple (peeled,
	core not eaten – core equated to 1/4 of
	the apple)
Fried chicken drumstick	100g chicken drumstick (100g
	includes skin and bone); fried in 3
	Tbsp Fern leaf semi-soft butter

- **Record recipes** of home prepared dishes where possible and the proportion of the dish you ate. There are blank pages for you to add recipes or additional information.

Recording the amounts of food you eat

It is important to also record the quantity of each food and drink consumed. This can be done in several ways.

- By using household measures for example, cups, teaspoons and tablespoons. eg. 1 cup frozen peas, 1 heaped teaspoon of sugar.
- By weight marked on the packages eg. a 425g tin of baked beans, a 32g cereal bar, 600ml Coke
- For bread describe the size of the slices of bread (eg. sandwich, medium, toast) also include brand and variety.
- Using comparisons eg. Meat equal to the size of a pack of cards, a scoop of ice cream equal to the size of a hen's egg.

General description	Food record description
Cheese	1 heaped tablespoon of grated cheese
	1 slice cheese (8.5 x 2.5 x 2mm)
	1 cube cheese, match box size
	Size 10B grated cheese,

- Use the food record instructions provided to help describe portion sizes.

- If you go out for meals, describe the food eaten in as much detail as possible.
- Please eat as normally as possible don't adjust what you would normally eat just because you are keeping a diet record and be honest! Your food record will be identified with a number rather than your name.

>
g
σ
Φ
d
Ε
g
.×

<u>Example day</u>		
Time food was eaten	Complete description of food (food and beverage name, brand, variety, preparation method)	Amount consumed (units, measures, weight)
7:55am	Sanitarium weetbix	2 weetbix
=	Anchor Blue Top milk	150ml
=	Chelsea white sugar	2 heaped teaspoons
=	Orange juice (Citrus Tree with added calcium – nutrition label attached)	1 glass (275 ml)
10.00am	Raw Apple (gala)	Ate all of apple except the core, whole apple was 125g (core was ¼ of whole apple)
12.00pm	Home made pizza (recipe attached)	1 slice (similar size to 1 slice of sandwich bread, 2 Tbsp tomato paste, 4 olives, 2 rashers bacon (fat removed), 1 Tbsp chopped spring onion, 3 Tbsp mozzarella cheese)
1.00pm	Water	500ml plain tap water
3.00pm	Biscuits, chocolate covered Girl Guide biscuits	6 x (standard size)
6.00pm	Lasagne	½ cup cooked mince, 1 cup cooked Budget lasagne shaped pasta, ½ cup Wattie's creamy mushroom and herb pasta sauce, ½ cup mixed vegetables (Pam's carrots, peas and corn), 4 Tbsp grated Edam cheese
6.30pm	Banana cake with chocolate icing (homemade, recipe attached)	1/8 of a cake (22cm diameter, 8 cm high), 2 Tbsp chocolate icing
=	Tip Top Cookies and Cream ice cream	1 cup (250g)
7.30pm	Coffee	 tsp Gregg's instant coffee × 300ml cup of water Tbsp Meadow fresh blue top milk tsp sugar

	Amount consumed						
DAY 1	Complete description of food (food and beverage name, brand, variety, preparation method)						
Date	Time food was eaten						

DAY 1

Recipes (Day 1)

7.4. Copyright clearance for images and figures (Chapter II only)

Figure 1.

Annual Reviews, Inc LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This is a License Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and Annual Reviews, Inc ("Annual Reviews, Inc") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Annual Reviews, Inc, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	4565551212569
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed content publisher	Annual Reviews, Inc
Licensed content title	Annual review of public health
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 1980
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	Academic institution
Format	Print
Portion	chart/graph/table/figure
Number of charts/graphs/tables/figures	1
The requesting person/organization is:	Sophie Kindleysides / student Massey University
Title or numeric reference of the portion(s)	Figure 1
Title of the article or chapter the portion is from	Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches
Editor of portion(s)	n/a
Author of portion(s)	Mary Story, Karen M. Kaphingst, Ramona Robinson- O'Brien, and Karen Glanz
Volume of serial or monograph.	n/a
Page range of the portion	253-272
Publication date of portion	November 21, 2007
Rights for	Main product
Duration of use	Life of current edition
Creation of copies for the disabled	no
With minor editing privileges	yes
For distribution to	Worldwide
In the following language(s)	Original language of publication

With incidental promotional use	no
The lifetime unit quantity of new product	Up to 499
Title	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	Oct 2019
Total (may include CCC user fee)	0.00 USD

Figure 2.

Society for Neuroscience Contract Number: SFN-19-3603



Release for Educational Use of BrainFacts Image

Agreement Number: 19-3603

July 25, 2019

Society for Neuroscience 1121 14th Street NW Suite 1010 Washington, DC 20005

Phone: 202-962-4000 Fax: 202-962-4947 http://www.sfn.org

About Society for Neuroscience: The Society for Neuroscience (SfN) is the world's largest organization of scientists and physicians devoted to advancing the understanding of the brain and nervous system. A membership society founded in 1969, SfN has grown to serve nearly 40,000 members in 87 countries. SfN promotes scientific exchange through its annual meeting, which attracts more than 30,000 attendees from around the globe, its two journals, *The Journal of Neuroscience* and *eNeuro*. SfN also supports the neuroscience community through professional development programming and is dedicated to sharing the excitement and progress of scientific discovery through public information and outreach. SfN advocates strongly for policies that advance science and improve health, such as robust federal research investments and the responsible use of animals in research.

Please sign and return two originals to SfN for Signature. Once they have been countersigned, a fully executed original will be sent to you for your records.

Return the originals to:

Society for Neuroscience Attn: Paul Troxell ptroxell 1121 14th Street NW Suite 1010 Washington, DC 20005

7/25/2019 Please Initial M Cont. 7/25/2019 Confidential Page 1

Society for Neuroscience Contract Number: SFN-19-3603



Release for Educational Use of BrainFacts Image

This Release, effective the date of the last signature below, is between the Society for Neuroscience (SfN) and the user: Sophie Kindleysides - School of Sport, Exercise and Nutrition, College of Health, Private Bag 102904, North Shore 0745, Auckland, New Zealand ("User").

Intended Purpose/Description of Use of the Image(s): The image will be part of the Users thesis: *New insights into taste perception and associations with dietary intake, obesity and metabolic health.* The Image will be used to help illustrate the physiological differences in the pathways of taste perception and olfactory perception. The User will convert the image from color into black and white image.

Permission for the Use of the copyrighted SfN BrainFacts Image(s) for scientific or educational use as described above is granted subject to the following conditions:

- 1) This waiver is for a non-transferable, non-exclusive use of the Image(s).
- 2) The Image(s) must be reproduced accurately and fairly without distortion or misrepresentation and without any association which would tend to degrade the Image(s) or SfN.
- Credit for the Image(s) must be given as follows: Courtesy the Society for Neuroscience, or as specifically delineated.
- 4) SfN makes no warranty or representation that any reproduction, distribution, performance, display, or other use of the Image(s) will be free from infringement of the rights of third parties.
- 5) Apart from the credit line above, User may not employ the name of SfN or BrainFacts in any advertising, promotional, or publicity material, nor make any formal presentation or statement that would constitute an express or implied endorsement of any product or service without the prior written consent of SfN.

The image(s) provided by SfN shall include the following:

 Society for Neuroscience (2012) Brain Facts: A Primer on the Brain and Nervous System, 7th ed., Society for Neuroscience, Washington DC, USA. - figure to be use is from page 22: Taste and smell are separate senses

Society for Neuroscience DATE Cori Spencer

Senior Director, Finance & Technology/CFO

7/25/2019

Confidential

Sophie Kindleysides



40 # SFN094
Figure 3.

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4565550161081
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Current Opinion in Neurobiology
Licensed Content Title	Metabolic and hedonic drives in the neural control of appetite: who is the boss?
Licensed Content Author	Hans-Rudolf Berthoud
Licensed Content Date	Dec 1, 2011
Licensed Content Volume	21
Licensed Content Issue	6
Licensed Content Pages	9
Start Page	888
End Page	896
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	print
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 2
Title of your thesis/dissertation	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Expected completion date	Oct 2019
Estimated size (number of pages)	250
Requestor Location	Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides Massey University Oteha Rohe campus, Albany Highway
	Auckland, 0632 New Zealand Attn: Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides

Publisher Tax ID Total GB 494 6272 12 0.00 AUD

Figure 4.

SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4565560466976
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature
Licensed Content Title	Gustatory system: The finer points of taste
Licensed Content Author	Bijal P. Trivedi
Licensed Content Date	Jun 20, 2012
Licensed Content Volume	486
Licensed Content Issue	7403
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	<501
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	Oct 2019
Portions	Figure 1
Requestor Location	Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides Massey University Oteha Rohe campus, Albany Highway
	Auckland, 0632

New Zealand Attn: Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides 0.00 USD

Total

Figure 5.

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4565570237540
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Progress in Lipid Research
Licensed Content Title	Fatty acid detection during food consumption and digestion: Associations with ingestive behavior and obesity
Licensed Content Author	Jessica E. Stewart,Christine Feinle- Bisset,Russell S.J. Keast
Licensed Content Date	Jul 1, 2011
Licensed Content Volume	50
Licensed Content Issue	3
Licensed Content Pages	9
Start Page	225
End Page	233
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	print
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 1
Title of your thesis/dissertation	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Expected completion date	Oct 2019
	431

Estimated size (number of pages)	250
Requestor Location	Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides Massey University Oteha Rohe campus, Albany Highway
	Auckland, 0632 New Zealand Attn: Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12
Total	0.00 USD

Table 1.

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4565561218999
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Wiley Books
Licensed Content Title	Importance of understanding mouth behavior when optimizing product texture now and in the future
Licensed Content Author	Melissa Jeltema, Jacqueline H. Beckley, Jennifer Vahalik
Licensed Content Date	Apr 11, 2014
Licensed Content Pages	20
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/Academic
Format	Print
Portion	Figure/table
Number of figures/tables	1
Original Wiley figure/table number(s)	Table 17.3
Will you be translating?	No

Title of your thesis / dissertation	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Expected completion date	Oct 2019
Expected size (number of pages)	250
Requestor Location	Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides Massey University Oteha Rohe campus, Albany Highway
	Auckland, 0632 New Zealand Attn: Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151

Total

0.00 AUD

Figure 6.

SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4565560818647
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature
Licensed Content Title	Neuroscience: Hardwired for taste
Licensed Content Author	Bijal P. Trivedi
Licensed Content Date	Jun 20, 2012
Licensed Content Volume	486
Licensed Content Issue	7403
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	<501
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
	433

Title	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	Oct 2019
Portions	Taste circuits image.
Requestor Location	Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides Massey University Oteha Rohe campus, Albany Highway
	Auckland, 0632 New Zealand Attn: Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides
Total	0.00 USD

Total

Table 2.

Annual Reviews, Inc LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 04, 2019

This is a License Agreement between Mrs. Sophie Kindleysides -- Sophie Kindleysides ("You") and Annual Reviews, Inc ("Annual Reviews, Inc") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Annual Reviews, Inc, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	4565570043101
License date	Apr 10, 2019
Licensed content publisher	Annual Reviews, Inc
Licensed content title	Annual review of nutrition
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 1981
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	Academic institution
Format	Print
Portion	chart/graph/table/figure
Number of charts/graphs/tables/figures	1
The requesting person/organization is:	Sophie Kindleysides / student Massey University
Title or numeric reference of the portion(s)	Table 1
Title of the article or chapter the portion is from	Structure-Function of CD36 and Importance of Fatty Acid Signal Transduction in Fat Metabolism
Editor of portion(s)	n/a
	434

Author of portion(s)	Marta Yanina Pepino, Ondrej Kuda, Dmitri Samovski and Nada A. Abumrad
Volume of serial or monograph.	34
Page range of the portion	281-303
Publication date of portion	May 16 2014
Rights for	Main product
Duration of use	Life of current edition
Creation of copies for the disabled	no
With minor editing privileges	yes
For distribution to	Worldwide
In the following language(s)	Original language of publication
With incidental promotional use	no
The lifetime unit quantity of new product	Up to 499
Title	New insights into taste perception, food choice and satiety inform the design of foods for health (working title)
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	Oct 2019
Total (may include CCC user fee)	0.00 USD